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Introduction 

n the words of Prof. Nkiru Nzegwu in   JENDA: A Journal of Culture and African Women 

Studies:   “Present  Benin  history  is  the  product  of  several  reconstructions  that 

I  commenced after the accession of Oba Eweka II in 1914. Two central problematics 

 shaped  these  reconstructions,  namely,  the  glorification  drive  of  cultural  nationalism, 

 and  the  male  privileging  ethos  of  a  patriarchal  gender  ideology.  The  other  was  the  cultural 

 nationalist project of restoring the pride of the Benins' after the humiliating defeat by the British 

 imperialists that led to the dissolution of the kingdom in 1897. This meant that the first phase of 

 historical reconstruction was steeped in romantic mystification, resulting in a literal account of 

 history” 

 The  second  phase  occurred  within  a  scholarly  convention  and  a  view  of  history  that 

 devalued women through assuming their irrelevance in political matters and through focusing 

 exclusively on European archival materials, giving scant attention to Benin oral and performative 

 traditions.”  Babacar M'bow's injunction in the introduction of the catalog,  Benin: A Kingdom in 

 Bronze,  is  relevant  in  reminding  us  that   “African  discourse  on  its  art  is  a  discourse  of 

 struggles  that  must  be  waged  outside  of  the  context  of  western  epistemological 

 hegemony.”   Mindful  that  not  just  foreigners  are  ensnared  by  this  hegemonic  framework,  we 

heed  the  injunction  to  move  the  boundary  of  discourse  outside  of  this  epistemological 

framework in which male hegemony is uncontested and men are the only subjects of history. 

The  history  of  Benin  was  extensively  re-examined  after  1956,  when  the  University  of 

Ibadan began the Scheme for the Study of Benin History and Culture, which brought together 

historian  Alan  Ryder,  who  examined  Benin  history  in  European  archives,  and  social 

anthropologist R. E. Bradbury, who conducted extensive field research. Although they produced 

important  modifications  in  historical  details  and  chronology,  both  scholars  in  their  various 

publications accepted the general outlines of Benin history as Egharevba laid them down. 

In  the  forestlands  of  western  Africa  south  of  the  Sahelian  states  (the  Sahel  is  the  area 

immediately south of the Sahara), Africans lived in small villages that were tribal and ruled over 

by chiefs. 

Sometime between 1000 and 1500 AD, many of these villages began to consolidate into 

larger  units  and  eventually  formed  powerful  and  centralized  states;  the  largest  and  longest 
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lasting  of  these  centralized  states  was  Benin.  The  reasons  for  this  development  are  lost  to 

history since the forest kingdoms of western Africa left no writing in their early history. 

Part of the reason for the development of centralized states may have been an influx of 

grassland-dwelling  people  from  the  Sudan,  driven  south  by  the  increasingly  harsh  climactic 

conditions.  They brought with them new forms of government, including hereditary monarchy in 

Edo  speaking  people  and  the  villages  of  the  Ibo,  Asante,  and  Yoruba  speaking  peoples 

gradually fused into small city-states. 

Africa:  Cradle of Humankind 

ccording to George Abungu, Director-General of the National Museums of Kenya, "So 

far the evidence that are currently avaliable in the world points to Africa as the Cradle 

A of Humankind."  Most of the available scientific evidence suggests Africa was the 

continent in which human life began. 

This  hypothesis  however  never  is  absolutely  sure,  as  there  is  always  the  possibility  of 

fossil discoveries being made in another part of the world, which could prove otherwise. 

However, it is in Africa that the oldest fossils of the early ancestors of humankind have 

been found, and it is the only continent that shows evidence of humans through the key stages 

of evolution. It is not known how exactly it happened but around 10,000 years ago humans took 

a  hugely  important  step  that  revolutionised  life.  They  began  to  domesticate  animals  and 

cultivate crops. 

However dramatic it may seem from any standpoint, it is likely that these developments 

occurred very gradually and over a long period of time.  Scientific techniques, ranging from fossil identification,  radiocarbon  dating  and  analysis  of  DNA  -  the  human  genetic  blueprint  passed 

down from one generation to the next - all support the notion that Africa, and in particular the 

eastern and southern regions, is the cradle of humankind. Africa is the birthplace of the human 

race. Here, early humans evolved from apes between 8 million and 5 million years ago. Modern 

human beings evolved between 130,000 and 90,000 years ago, and subsequently spread out of 

Africa.  Ancient  Egypt,  one  of  the  world’s  first  great  civilizations,  arose  in  northeastern  Africa 

more than 5,000 years ago. 
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State formation in West Africa 

frica has been home to many advanced, exotic civilizations. Many have been buried 

beneath the sands of time, but we know of others, and archaeologists continue to 

A uncover more clues about ancient African civilizations. Over time many other 

cultures and states rose and fell in Africa, and by 500 years ago there were prosperous cities, 

markets, and centers of learning scattered across the continent. 

In  the  last  100  years,  the  study  of  the  African  past,  attributing  innovation  to  outside 

origins and influences has been very common among researchers of European origin. 

Professor James Giblin, of the Department of History, The University of Iowa said that 

sometimes developments are said to be the work of people who came from outside Africa, while 

other changes are credited to Africans from other regions. 

The  development  of  states  and  institutions,  which  create  centralized  government, 

exercise political authority through bureaucracy and armies, and integrate territories into unified 

economic systems, is one of the aspects of African history which has frequently been explained 

in this way. 

Non-African  writers  have  often  claimed,  for  example,  that  the  idea  of  the  state  first 

developed in Africa among Egyptians during the era of the pharaohs, and thereafter spread to 

the  rest  of  Africa.  Because  these  explanations  remain  influential,  historians  have  been 

particularly  interested  in  what  might  be  called  the  "pre-history"  of  African  states,  that  is,  the 

developments which led African societies to create centralized political systems. 

In the last century, historians and  archaeologists have learned  a great  deal about  the 

developments, which preceded the emergence of states in Africa and are confident that in most 

cases, Africans developed states in response to local conditions and opportunities. Rarely does 

the diffusion of ideas from distant sources seem to have been important in bringing about the 

formation of a state. 

Today historians do not think that the history of African states is a story of the spread of 

influences from Egypt, Europe or Asia into the rest of Africa. Instead, the story they see involves 

African people living in a great variety of locations who use their political skills and wisdom to 

create for themselves centralized systems of government. 
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Besides  learning  about  the  local  origins  of  African  states,  historians  have  found  that 

states were most likely to arise in regions endowed with fertile soils, abundant rains, lakes or 

rivers rich in fish, and mineral deposits, and in societies which enjoyed plentiful opportunities to 

trade. 

In fact, most African societies possessed famous traditions of art precisely because they 

had  productive  economies  and  vibrant  commercial  systems  which  allowed  artists  and  craft 

workers freedom from scarcity, and provided access to metals, woods, clays and other media. 

Finally, historians have also learned that African states created sophisticated institutions 

of government, although, as has been true in all human societies, greed and love of power have 

often caused political instability and social crisis. It is therefore imperative, to concentrate on the 

local conditions which led to the creation of states and the creation and destruction of political 

institutions. 

Oral history in West Africa  

n  West  Africa,  there  is  a  great  oral  traditional  history.  For  thousands  of  years, 

professional  musicians  called  griots  played  an  important  role  as  historians  in  the 

I kingdoms that developed in the Guinea. Oral Tradition or Word of Mouth, preservation 

of  personal  and  cultural  history  in  the  oral  communication  of  stories,  songs,  and  poems.  By 

retelling or reenacting a tale learned from another, it is kept alive for a new generation. 

In the middle ages, the Bard, highly trained Celtic poet, composer, singer, and harpist 

served as oral historian, political critic, eulogizer, and entertainer. The poems were passed from 

one bard to another orally, each adding some personal embroidery to the text; memorization 

was  aided  by  the  use  of  certain  “formulas,”  such  as  fixed  phrases  and  repeated  verses  or 

groups of verses. 

The Celtic bardic tradition dates to ancient times but was most prominent in medieval 

and postmedieval Wales and Ireland. Many bards were resident in wealthy homes; others were 

itinerant. They were particularly important in Wales, where bards were often nobles, and where 

bardic guilds were formed to set standards for writing and reciting. 

Repeatedly outlawed by the English as politically inciting, the institution gradually died 

out.  Some  poetic  texts  survive,  but  little  music  remains.  Professional  musicians  with  similar 
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functions  have  existed  in  many  cultures;  they  include  the  Armenian   gusan,   the  Yugoslavian 

 guslari,  and the  aoidos of Homeric Greece. 

Modern African literatures  have  been  influenced  to  a  remarkable  degree  by  the 

continent’s long tradition of oral artistry. Before the spread of literacy in the 20th century, texts 

were preserved in memory and performed or recited. These traditional texts served many of the 

same  purposes  that  written  texts  serve  in  literate  societies—entertainment,  instruction,  and 

commemoration, for example. 

However, no distinctions were made between works composed for enjoyment and works 

that had a more utilitarian function. Africa’s oral literature takes the form of prose, verse, and 

proverb, and texts vary in length from the epic, which might be performed over the course of 

several days, to single-sentence formulations such as the proverb. The collective body of oral 

texts is variously described as folklore, verbal art, oral literature, or more recently orature. 

On  the  other  hand,  Folklore  is  the general term for the  verbal,  spiritual,  and  material 

aspects of any culture that are transmitted orally, by observation, or by imitation. People sharing 

a  culture  may  have  in  common  an  occupation,  language,  ethnicity,  age,  or  geographical 

location.  This  body  of  traditional  material  is  preserved  and  passed  on  from  generation  to 

generation,  with  constant  variations  shaped  by  memory,  immediate  need  or  purpose,  and 

degree of individual talent. 

Among  the  people  of  western  Africa,  professional  bards,  or   griots,   still  recount  the 

histories of powerful lineages and offer counsel to contemporary rulers.  Among the Yoruba of 

Nigeria, an incompetent or evil king often first heard the public’s command to abdicate from his 

“talking drummers.” 

When Ugandan government troops invaded the palace of the kabaka of Buganda in the 

1960s, they made sure that the royal musical instruments were destroyed first. In his memoirs, 

the kabaka described the royal drums as the “heart” of his kingdom. 

In  the  Benin  Kingdom,  the  royal  griot  who  called  Ogbelaka  is  a  learned  storyteller, 

entertainer,  and  historian.  Often  the  Ogbeleka  will  memorize  the  genealogy,  history,  of 

everyone of consequence in the kingdom going back centuries. In the kingdom of Benin, there 

is also the Ihogbe group who are also the Keepers of the Oba's ancestral records. 
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In 1966, the American writer Alex Haley met a griot among the Mandika that had memorized 

the entire story of the village of Juffure to a date two centuries in the past when his ancestor 

was enslaved. 

 " The old griot had talked for nearly two hours up to then . . . 'the oldest of these 

 four sons, Kunta, went away from his village and he was never seen again' . . . 

 I sat as if I were carved of stone. My blood seemed to have congealed. This man 

 whose lifetime had been in this back-country African village had no way in the 

 world to know that he had just echoed what I had heard all though my boyhood 

 years on my grandma's front porch in Henning, Tennessee." 

A great  deal  of  what  is known about  West Africa kingdoms and empires comes from the 

griots, but archaeologists are often surprised by new finds. 

In  the  last  fifteen  years,  scholars  have  concluded  that  civilization  had  developed  in  West 

Africa as much as one thousand years earlier than expected. It is now known that black Africa 

had an Iron Age culture with cities and trade routes about 750 years before the Common Era. 
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The Edo kingdom of Benin 



Prologue 


he Edo kingdom of Benin was the greatest of all the West African Rainforest states. 

At  the  height  of  her  power  in  the  sixteenth  century,  Benin's  territories  extended 

T from the neighbourhood of the trading city-state of Bonny in the Niger Delta in the 

southeast,  the domains of  the Shasha of  Ouidah;  a chiefdom in present  day Benin Republic 

(Dahomey) to the Accra area of today’s Republic of Ghana in the west.  Benin's Influence was 

felt from the coast of the Atlantic Ocean in the south to the Nupe and Igalla chiefdoms beyond 

the confluence of the River Niger and River Benue in the north. 

The  Gulf  of  Guinea  was  the  sea  of  the  Benin  Empire  and  the  great  Oba  in  Benin 

controlled all trade in the Bight of Benin. The names of both bodies of water were derived from 

the word ‘Ugbini’ which is the Itsekiri name for the Edo kingdom. 

About  the  4th.Century  ,  Benin  started  using  the  Carrot  &  Stick  strategy  to  coerce  the 

other neighbouring settlements into a confederation and within a life time, Oredo which was the 

name  of  the  original  Edo  settlement  had  grown  from  a  small  rainforest  city-state  into  an 

emergent kingdom. 

With the institution of the mornachy by the end of the 5th. Century AD, the ruling Ogie'Iso 

dynasty had created a nascent empire that wasthen known as Igodo mi’igodo. 

Though  Benin's  initial  power  and  wealth  came  from  the  long 

distance  Trans-Sahara  trade  of  which  the  city-state  was  the  southern 

terminus,  the  most  singular  factor  responsible  for  her  spectacular 

growth was the iron technology and weaponry that she developed and 

later usedin subjugating the other “Edo” tribesmen 

With  time  her  incessant  campaigns  for  territorial  expansion,  brought 

many other ethnic nationalities on both sides of the River Niger under 

her sway.                                                                                                       Obi of Onitsha 
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Several  city-states  in  the  Ibo  heartland  such  as  Onitsha  and  Oguta  were  founded  by 

Benin warriors while some Igbo Clans on the banks on the Cross River such as Ohafia, claim 

descent from Benin warriors. 

The  advent  of  the  Europeans  further  enhanced  Benin's  power  and  influence.  Benin 

acquired the Firearm and she was able to maintain a monopoly of this most 

modern weapon of the times for well over a century.    Armed with the gun, 

Benin  blasted  her  way  from  one  end  of  the  forest  to  the  other  and  in  the 

process built the greatest rainforest kingdom in Africa. 

   For  four  hundred  years,  the  Benin  Armies  enforced  the  Pax  Benin, 

ensured  the  security  of  her  frontiers,  made  her  vassal  states  pay  their 

tributes promptly, kept the Empire's economy most buoyant and made her 

overseas trade boom.                                                Iwoki; The Benin Musketter   

The great annual ceremonies were held with the usual pomp. 

During  this  period,  vassal  states  of  Benin  renewed  the  oaths  of  allegiance  while 

Emissaries and Trade  Missions came into the great  metropolis from  the four cardinal points; 

Hausa, Nupes Igallas, Igbiras, Idomas and Jukuns from the North, Igbos, Efiks and Kalabaris 

from the East of great river Ohimwin (Niger). 

From  the  west, the  Olukumi  (Yorubas)  of  Oyo-

Ile came in with coral and agate beads while the Ijebus, 

Awori,  Egun,  Popo,  Fon  and  Ewe  brought  gifts  and 

tributes.  From the  Atlantic  Seaboard  and  the  swamps 

to the south of Benin came the Izon, Iwere (Itsekiri) and 

Ilaje with their tributes. 

From across the great waters of Okun (Atlantic 

Ocean)  came  the  Dutch,  French, Portuguese,  English 

and  Danes.  Benin  exchanged  Ambassadors  with 

European  States,  new  Treaties  were  signed  as  these 

Europeans established new trade links. 

Oba Akenzua 11 at Ugie 
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For  centuries  the  Oba  reigned  and  ruled  the  vast  empire;  year  in  year  out,  the  great 

ceremonies and propitiation rituals were observed; Each dry season the Benin's armies went to 

wars; the empire waxed and waned according to the strength and will of the reigning Oba in a 

circle that ended with the British invasion of February, 1897 when all conquering Benin kingdom 

was  conquered  and  incorporated  as  a  part  of  the  various  British  protectorates  that 

metamorphosed into the nation state called Nigeria. 
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PART ONE 
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Chapter One 

The Edo Kingdom of Benin 


he  Edo  Kingdom  of  Benin,  is  located  in  the  tropical  rainforest  of  modern 

southern Nigeria, on a sandy coastal plain west of the Niger River and north of 

T the swamps and creeks of the Niger Delta.  It lies between latitude 40N and 

140N; also between latitude of and 40E and 450E. 

It was mainly populated by the Edo, who lived in several hundred rural communities and 

settlements centred around Oredo which is the ancient name for Benin City, the capital. Oredo 

which had served as the capital of the aboriginal City-state and kingdom for over a thousand 

years, was founded as a Stone Age settlement long before the institution of the monarchy. 

In the forestlands of western Africa immediately south of the Sahara, these people lived 

in small villages that were tribal and ruled over by elders. Sometime between 1000AD and 1500 

AD,  many  of  these  settlements  and  villages  began  to  consolidate  into  larger  units  and 

eventually  formed  powerful  and  centralized  states;  the  largest  and  longest  lasting  of  these 

centralized states was Benin. 

The reasons for this development are lost to history since the forest kingdoms of western 

Africa left no writing in their early history. Part of the reason for the development of centralized 

states may have been an influx of grassland-dwelling people from the Sudan, driven south by 

the increasingly harsh climactic conditions. They brought with them new forms of government, 

including hereditary monarchy, and the villages gradually fused into small city-states. 

According to the Benin dynastic traditions and several written sources, the fifteenth and 

sixteenth centuries were apparently the period of greatest expansion and stability of her political 

administration. It was during this period that the great warrior kings, reigned and by the middle 

of the fifteenth century, perhaps earlier, the Oba of Benin ruled over an area, which spread from 

the region of modern Lagos to the Igbo-speaking communities of the present Delta State. 
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In the west, at least from the 16th century, the Oba’s rule undoubtedly extended from 

Lagos and Badagry through Wydah in the present day Benin 

Republic to the border lands of the Ewes and Gas of modern 

Ghana  Republic.          Eko  (Lagos)  was  founded  by  Oba 

Orhogbua  and  he  established  it  as  his  war  camp.  Another 

indication of Edo's foundational roles in Lagos is the fact that 

the  traditional  ruler  of  Lagos  is  the  only  indigenous  king  in 

Nigeria west of the Niger, apart from the Oba of Benin, whose 

formal title is the word "Oba" itself.                                             The king of the Gas  

According to Chief Egharevba, the Edo influence in the Olukumi area dates back to the 

late 13th century. To the northeast of Benin, the chiefdom of the Deji of Akure, the entire Ekiti 

country and Owo kingdom were vassals of the Oba of Benin. As a matter of fact, in the Ijesha 

dynastic  traditions,  Atakun’mosa,  who  is  associated  with  Ijesha  expansion  to  the  east  and 

south, was said to have sojourned in Benin as a hostage. He is recorded in Benin traditions of 

the late sixteenth century as 'Ataku marha' who was in the palace as an Omu’ada and in the 

dynastic traditions of Akure, he is considered an ancestor of their ruling house. 

In  fact  as  late  as  the  1890s,  Owa  Ajimoko  I  claimed  jurisdiction  over  Akure  on  the 

grounds that Atakunmosa had set the boundary between Ijesha and Benin on the far eastern 

side of Akure.  Thus in 1897, the British did not have to fire a shot to takeover what is now Ekiti 

and Ondo states because they claimed jurisdiction over the area in the name of the deposed 

and exiled Oba Ovonramwen N’Ogbaisi. 

The  Benin  royal  dynastic  traditions  said  that  during  the  reign  of  Oba  Ehengbuda  who 

reigned  from1578  to  1608,  the  armies  of  the  Oba  of  Benin  and  the  Alafin  of  Oyo  planted 

ikhimwin (neubouda lieaves) trees at Otun at the boundary of Ekiti and Ijesha to demarcate the 

respective spheres of influence of the two empires. 

In  the  northeast,  after  the  Benin-Idah  war  of  1515-1517  AD,  Benin’s  influence  also 

extended beyond Idah to the Benue valley and westwards to Bida in the Nupe country. There 

are  several  brass  plaques  commemorating  the  defeat  of  Ighan(Jukun)  cavary  by  Iyase 

Ekpenede during the reign of Oba Ehengbuda r.1578-1608. 
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Though the early Portuguese maps extend the frontier as far as Bonny to the east, the 

Niger appears to have been the ultimate effective boundary of Benin rule. 

About  1823,  Lt.  King  of  the  British  Navy  wrote  that  the  agents  of  the  Oba  of  Benin 

controlled all the trade in Niger delta. The trading city-state of Onitsha’Ado on the eastern bank 

of the River Niger is Edo and has a ruling family that claims Benin origins.   The chiefdom of 

Aboh in the extreme south also have traditions of an Edo origin for her royalty. Edo traditions 

date the first conquest of the Igbo-speaking communities on the west side of the Niger River to 

the reign of Oba Ewuare mid 15th. Century. 

The ruling dynasties of most of the Igbo state between Agbor, Onitsha, Oguta and even 

Ohafia claim Edo origins, and most of their palace chieftancy titles are Edo terms. 

Kingship in Benin 

he Benin kingship Institution which dates back to 400 A.D, has survived practically 

unchanged in spite of the spiritual and psychological devastation precipitated by 

T the Fall of Benin in 1897.  The Edo people of Benin have never been subjected to 

conquest or subjugation since the emergence of the kingdom as a city-state almost 1850 years 

ago. 

Initially,  monarchs  of  Ogie’Iso  dynasty  (the  Sky-kings)  ruled  the  Edo  kingdom  then 

known as Evbotoe. After almost one millennium, the Ogie’iso dynasty eclipsed and the kingdom 

was ruled the Obas whose lineage is a continuation of the Ogie’Iso dynasty. A sophisticated 

bureaucracy made up of the Pre-dynastic nobles and chiefs aided them. 

Though  there  have  been  the  basic  ups  and  downs  in  the  fortune  of  the  kingdom  of 

Benin, these situations were usually associated to the strength of the reigning Oba. Thus these 

shifting fortunes resulted in the expansion and contraction of the frontiers of the empire till the 

catastrophe of 1897. 

Even with the catastrophe, the power, integrity and prestige of the ‘Oba’ the divine king 

of Benin, have remained unchanged neither has it diminished in spite of the stresses of past the 

intrigues  of  the  colonial  period  as  well  as  contemporary  events,  the  political  nature  of  the 

present day Nigerian nation state and the western cultural influences on the Edo tradition. 
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Bradbury  further  argues  that  it  is  clear  that  sentimental  attachment  to  Benin  and 

recognition of the Oba's temporal and spiritual authority did not necessarily depend on his ability 

to subdue a vassal by force of arm.  Thus, for example, Lagos continued to pay tribute after it 

became  a  British  Colony  in  1861,  and  in  the  reign  of  Eweka  1I  r.1914-1933,  chiefs  and 

traditional rulers in the Ondo Province of Yorubaland appealed for the Oba's ruling in disputes 

over land and succession. 

Today,  Benin  is  best  remembered  as  the  greatest 

kingdom of the West Africa rainforest and at the centre of 

this  ancient  empire  ruled  and  reigned  the  divine  king, 

known as Omo NÒba NÈdo Uku Akpokpolo. He was the 

ruler of all the Land and Great Waters and to the average 

Benin, he is still is God’s own representative on earth. 

Although representing the future and modernization, 

once  dressed  in  traditional  regalia,  the  Oba  of  Benin 

seemed to evolve naturally in the palace strange world and 

courtyard  of  altars  dedicated  to  past  kings  and  the  201 

deities of the Benin cosmology.        Omo N’Oba Erediauwa, 69th. King of Benin   

The Benin kingdom is often the theatre of such contrasts, where parallel worlds overlap 

in permanence, making it difficult for an outsider to analyze. As Benin society grew and became 

more complex, the Oba transformed into semi-divinity, and his art was used as a symbol of his 

presence and authority, depending on the occasion. 

Born of dynasties, which marked the history of Africa until the twentieth century, these 

kings are the source of  underground  power with which "modern governments" have to exist. 

Contrary to the Indian Maharajas, they have survived the upheavals of history, and evolve in a 

parallel  world  but  which  is  very  real.    However,  for  some  Africans,  they  are  the  shameful 

incarnation  of  the  failure  of  archaic  systems  in  the  face  of  western  colonization.  They  are 

blamed  for  their  tribal  conservatism  that  blocks  the  passage  of  traditional  African  societies 

toward modern states.  For others, they are the guarantors of old cultural bases, the ultimate 

rampart before the anguish of an uncertain and tumultuous future. 
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Be that as it may, they are still a presence in the countries, a reality that needs to be 

included.  In  Nigeria  and  elsewhere  on  the  African  continent,  there  are  still  several  hundred 

monarchs.      While  some  amongst  them  have  been  relegated  to  the  level  of  touristic 

curiousities, others such as the Oba of Benin still maintain significant traditional and spiritual 

power. 

                        

Edo Kingdom and her neighbours 

he  people  of  Benin  called  themselves,  their  kingdom  and  their  language  Edo. 

Speakers  of  a  group  of  closely  related  languages  also  called  Edo  populate  the 

T same kingdom bearing the same name.  Their neighbours to the west the Olukumi 

who  are  also  called  Lecumis  but  now  are  known  as  Yoruba,  call  them  Ado  which  is  a 

yorubanized version the name Edo. 

The Uzon(Ijaws) their neighbours who live in the mangrove swamps also call them Ado. 

The Urhobo and Isoko who themselves are Southern Edos call them Aka while their eastern 

neighbours, the Eka, Anioma and Igbos called them Idu.   This same Idu is also the Progenitor 

of  the Benin Royalty hence the collective Benin Royal Ancestors is called Erinmwin'Idu "The 

Spirit of Idu". 

Meanwhile it is their southwestern neighbours; the Itsekiris, who call them Ubini and this 

name Ubini was corrupted to "Beny or Benin" by the Portuguese who visited Benin 1472.  Thus 

Benin became the name with which the Portuguese in turn introduced the Edo kingdom to the 

rest of the world.  

The Gulf of Benin 

he Gulf of Guinea that also called the Gulf of Benin by 16th. & 17th. Century European 

cartographers was actually the sea of the Benin Empire because at a point in time, all 

T trade in this body of water was controlled by the great Oba in Benin City the capital. 

Scholars generally believe that the names of both bodies of water were derived from the word 

Ubini which the Itsekiri name for the Edo kingdom. 
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A  map  of  the  Gulf  of  Benin 

(Guinea) in 1672 AD 















A modern map of the Gulf 

The Edo Society 

he  basic  organizing  principle  within  both  the  village  and  the  urban  ward  is  the 

division of the population into age sets. Every three years, boys who reach the age 

T of puberty are initiated into the  iroghae  grade, whose main duties within the village 

include such tasks as sweeping open spaces, clearing brush, and fetching water. After the age 

of 25 to 30, they pass into the  ighele  grade, which executes the decisions made by the senior 

age set, the edion .  The elders are exempt from physical labor and constitute the executive and 

judicial council of the village, led by an Odion’Owere  ). 

Precolonial Benin society had a clearly demarcated class structure: a mostly urban elite, 

comprising  the  governmental,  religious,  and  educational  bureaucracies;  a  commoner  group, 

consisting  of  lower-status  urbanites,  such  as  artisans;  and  the  peasantry.  Formerly,  the  king 

and  chiefs  had  slaves,  primarily  acquired  through  warfare,  who  constituted  an  agricultural 

workforce for the elite. 
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In contemporary society, factors such as the extent of one's Western education and the 

nature of one's employment—or lack thereof—play a role in determining one's position in the 

multidimensional system of social stratification. 

 At  the  summit  of  precolonial  society  was  the  Oba ,   who  was  the  focal  point  of  al  

administrative,  religious,  commercial,  and  judicial  concerns.  He  was  the  last  resort  in  court 

matters, the recipient of taxes and tribute, the controller of trade, the theoretical owner of all the 

land in the kingdom, and the chief executive and legislator. 

As the divine king, he crystallized generalized ancestor worship in the worship of his own 

ancestors. It is in his office, then, that the various hierarchies met. The members of the king's 

family were automatically part of the nobility. His mother was a title holder the Iyoba   in one of 

the palace societies and maintained her own court near Benin City, and his younger brothers 

were sent to be hereditary chiefs of villages throughout the kingdom, thus constituting part of a 

limited, rural-based elite. 

Besides the king and his family, the political structure consisted of the holders of various 

chiefly  titles,  who  were  organized  into  three  main  orders  of  chiefs:  the  Edion’Uzama   ,  the 

Eghaevbo  N’Ogbe;  palace  chiefs,  and  the  Eghaevbo  N’Ore  N’Okhua;  town  chiefs.  These 

various orders of chiefs formed the administrative bureaucracy of the kingdom, and their main 

concern was to augment the king's civil and ritual authority. They constituted the state council, 

which had an important role in creating laws, regulating festivals, raising taxes, declaring war, 

and conducting rituals. 

The king controlled the granting of most of these chiefly titles and used this power to 

consolidate  his  control  over  governmental  processes.  Once  granted,  a  title  could  not  be 

rescinded unless treason could be proven. 

The kingdom was formerly divided into a number of tribute units, which corresponded to 

local territorial groupings. Each was controlled by a title holder in Benin City, who acted as the 

intermediary between the villagers and the king and whose main duty was to collect taxes and 

tribute  in  the  form  of  money  (cowries)  and  goods  (cattle,  yams,  etc.).  The  income  the  king 

received from these sources enabled him to carry on elaborate state rituals. The king could also 

call on villagers to supply labor for the upkeep of the royal palace. 
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Obas varied over time in their ability to control the political situation. At the end of the 

eighteenth  century,  for  example,  senior  chiefs  rebelled  against  the  king,  and  a  long  civil  war 

ensued,  which  the  king  finally  won.  According  to  oral  traditions,  some  Obas  were  in  fact 

deposed.  The  principle  of  the  judicial  system  was  that  every  head  of  a  compound,  quarter, 

village,  or  town  heard  cases  within  his  jurisdiction,  but  serious  issues—murder,  treason,  or 

succession  disputes—were  formerly  brought  before  the  king's  council  in  Benin  City.  Trial  by 

ordeal was used in cases of theft, perjury, and witchcraft; if the offender denied the charge. 

In precolonial times warfare was an important component of the state polity. It apparently 

was the custom for kings to declare war in the third year after their succession to the throne. 

Ruling princes of the empire who refused to pledge their allegiance at that time were considered 

rebels, and war was declared against them and their towns. 

Economic factors were undoubtedly central to Benin's expansion: the Edo were intent on 

increasing  their  income  from  tribute,  protecting  and  developing  trade,  and  augmenting  their 

army with captives and allies. There was a military organization involving specific chiefs who 

each  had  a  core  of  warriors  attached  to  his  household  but  also  recruited  soldiers  from  their 

villages.  For  long  campaigns,  the  soldiers  built  camps  where  they  lodged  and  grew  food  for 

themselves. 

To  the  Edo,  the  Oba  is  in  their  parables,  in  their  dos  and  don'ts  in  their  folklores 

inheritance,  marriage,  customs  funeral  rites  indeed  in  their  everyday  life,  including  ancestral 

veneration  which  like  the  umbilical  cord,  ties  the  Oba  and  his  subjects  into  one  spiritual, 

inseparable complex whole.  

The Edo Military 

ilitary  operations  relied  on  a  well-trained  disciplined 

force.  At  the  head  of  the  host  stood  the  Oba  of 

M Benin. The monarch of the realm served as supreme 

military  commander.  Beneath  him  were  subordinate 

generalissimos, the Iyase, the Ezomo and later the Ologbose. 

A plaque showing Oba Esigie; a Warrior Oba 
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The  Edogun  commanded  a  Metropolitan  Regiment  based  in  the 

capital.      The Ekaiwe; a Royal Regiment made up of members of 

the Royal family; sons of the Princesses made up this Metropolitan 

Regiment and also served as the Oba’s bodyguards. Benin's Queen 

Mother  also  retained  her  own  regiment,  the  "Queen's  Own."  The 

Metropolitan  and  Royal  regiments  were  relatively  stable  semi-

permanent or permanent formations. 

The  Village  Regiments  provided  the  bulk  of  the  fighting  force  and  were  mobilized  as 

needed,  sending  contingents  of  warriors  upon  the  command  of  the  king  and  his  generals. 

Formations were broken down into sub-units under designated commanders. Foreign observers 

often  commented  favorably  on  Benin's  discipline  and  organization  as  "better  disciplined  than 

any other Guinea nation " , contrasting them with the slacker troops from the Gold Coast. 

Until the introduction of guns in the 15th century, traditional weapons like the spear and 

bow  held  sway.  The  Portuguese  were  the  first  to  bring  firearms,  and  by  1645,  matchlock, 

Wheelock and flintlock muskets were being imported into Benin. Firepower made the armies of 

Benin  more  efficient,  and  led  to  several  triumphs  over  regional  rivals.  Efforts  were  made  to 

reorganize  a  local  guild  of  blacksmiths  in  the  1700s  to  manufacture  light  firearms,  but 

dependence  on  imports  was  still  heavy.  Before  the  coming  of  the  gun,  guilds  of  blacksmiths 

were charged with war production; particularly swords and iron spearheads. 

Benin's tactics were well organized, with preliminary plans weighed by the Oba and his 

sub-commanders. Logistics were organized to support missions from the usual porter forces, 

water  transport  via  canoe,  and  requisitioning  from  localities  the  army  passed  through. 

Movement of troops via canoes was critically important in the lagoons, creeks and rivers of the 

Niger Delta, a key area of Benin's domination. 

Tactics in the field seem to have evolved over time. While the head-on clash was well 

known, documentation from the 18th century shows greater emphasis on avoiding continuous 

battle lines, and more effort to encircle an enemy “ifianyako”. Fortifications were important in the 

region and numerous military campaigns fought by Benin's soldiers revolved around sieges. As 

noted  above,  Benin's  military  earthworks  are  the  largest  of  such  structures  in  the  world,  and 
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Benin's rivals also built extensively. Barring a successful assault, most sieges were resolved by 

a  strategy  of  attrition,  slowly  cutting  off  and  starving  out  the  enemy  fortification  until  it 

capitulated.  On  occasion  however,  European  mercenaries  were  called  on  to  aid  with  these 

sieges. 

In  1603–04  for  example,  European  cannon  helped  batter  and  destroy  the  gates  of  a 

town  near  present-day  Lagos,  allowing  10,000  warriors  of  Benin  to  enter  and  conquer  it.  In 

payment  the  Europeans  received  one  woman  captive  each  and  bundles  of  pepper.  The 

example of  Benin shows the genius of  indigenous military systems, but  also the role outside 

influences and new technologies brought to bear. 
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Chapter Two 

The Origin of Benin 


Edo Creation Stories 



he origin  of  the various settlement  that  metamorphosed into the Edo  kingdom of 

Benin are shrouded in myths and legends whose sources are lost in the  mist of 

T Time. 

Though  these  myths  and  legends  which  tell  stories  of  an  Age  of  Mortals  and  Spirits, 

Giants and Dwarfs and Gods and Hero/Heroines may sound impossible, they provide the base 

for gathering some of the very substantive materials relating to the socio-political development 

of the rainforest peoples during that Age of which hitherto, very little has been discovered. 

According to the Edo oral traditions, in the beginning, the Earth was a chaotic formless 

and  watery  mass  and  in  the  midst  of  the  waters  was  a  solitary  tree  called  Ikhinmwin 

(Neubouldia Leavis). For this reason, the Edo consider the Ikhinmwin as the oldest tree in the 

world; hence the saying "Erhan ghi dien Ikhinmwin, Osa o'Odion" meaning No tree can be older 

than the Ikhinmwin, God is the senior.   

   

Into this chaotic formless and watery mass, Osanobua; God the Creator sent his Sons 

down from Heaven with the mandate to subdue and 

inhabit  it.  Before  sending  them,  on  their  fateful 

journey,  Osanobua  asked  each  of  his  sons  who 

became  the  kings  of  all  the  kingdoms  on  earth,  to 

choose  those  material  things  that  would  be  of 

assistance  to  each  of  them  in  their  subjugation 

quest.                                                                           The Primordial Sea                             
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While  some  of  the  older  sons  chose  Weapons,  Farming  implements,  Wives,  Coral 

beads, Servants, and other valuable things according to their preferences .   

When it came to the turn of the youngest son, he chose a Snail's shell on the advice of 

the "Owonwon" the Toucan or Hornbill. Thus equipped the Sons of God set out on their journey 

to the earth. On arrival, they found the earth to be formless and full of heaving waters and into 

these primordial Seas, the Sons of God set sail. 

The  youngest  son  who  eventually  became  the  Oba  of  Benin  became  very  bitter  and 

annoyed with the Toucan when he saw all the great wealth his older brothers brought down to 

earth.  A  seemingly  worthless  snail's  shell  by  all  consideration  was  all  he  that  brought  from 

heaven. The bird flew in and perched upon the Ikhinmwin tree. From where it perched, it once 

more advised him to upturn the snail's shell. And in-spite of his great annoyance, the youngest 

son obeyed the bird and turned the shell upside down. A steady stream of sand flowed out the 

shell and on touching the primordial waters, the stream of sand brought forth dry land. 

The chameleon who had accompanied youngest son on his journey was asked to test 

the firmness of the new earth. When he got out of the boat, he took a few hesitant steps. For 

doubting, Osanobua the Creator God caused the chameleon to walk with the same hesitant gait 

as punishment since then even to this day. 

The youngest  son stepped down from the boat  and took possession of  the earth and 

became the owner of all of the lands. The other Sons of God who were the first kings of all the 

other  nations  of  the  earth  had  to  exchange  the  worldly  goods  and  other  materials  with  the 

youngest son who became the Oba of Benin for parcels of land. This is the source of the Benin 

adage "Oba ya'en Otoe ya s 'Evbo Ebo" The Oba owns all the land even up to the domains of 

the white man. 

nother version of the Benin creation legend is that, at the very beginning of things, 

there  was  no  lands  only  water  everywhere.  In  the  middle  of  the  water  stood  an 

A Ikhinmwin tree (Neubouldia Leavis) on top of which lived the Owonwon the toucan. 

One day Osanobua the Creator God decided to populate the world so He sent three of his sons, 

each with a choice of peculiar gift. 
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One of the three sons chose to have wealth and the next chose magical skills. As the 

youngest was about to make his choice known, Owonwon cried out to him to settle for a snail 

shell. This he did. When the canoe the three children were travelling in reached the middle of 

the waters, the youngest son turned his snail shell upside down to release endless stream of 

sand resulting in the emergence of land from the waters. The three sons at first were afraid to 

step on the land from the canoe. To test the firmness of the land, they sent the Chameleon, 

which is why Chameleons walk with hesitation. 

Osanobua  then  came  down  on  a  chain,  from  the  sky,  to  demarcate  the  earth  and 

allocate responsibilities. Osanobua appointed the younngest son as ruler of the earth. The son 

called the earth; Agbon and promptly set up his headquarters at Igodomigodo. Osanobua gave 

the oldest son control of the waters. The Edo calls this son, Olokun which means the owner of 

the great waters. The other son was allowed freedom to use his magical powers to balance out 

the negative and positive forces of nature.  He apparently represents evil and the Edo know him 

as  ‘Ogie’Uwu’  the  Lord  of  Death  and  his  messenger  is  called  Ofoe  the  harbinger  of  death. 

Ogiuwu is supposed to own the blood of all living things. In other words, he ensures that no 

living thing can live forever. 

Osanobua then settled in the realm of the spirit world across the waters where the sky 

and the earth meet. While Osanobua and Olokun represent aspects of life such as good health, 

long  life,  good  luck,  prosperity  and  happiness  to  which  man  may  apeal  through  ritual  purity, 

Ogiuwu represents mourning, evil omen and diseases. The youngest son, the ruler of the earth 

represents innocence and so is susceptible to the powers of the other deities. 

On  the  other  hand  the  Edo  has  on  version  of  the  creation  story.  According  to  Edo 

mythology  Orisa n’Oghodua, the supreme and creator God who lives in  Erhinwmin, the invisible 

spiritual realms, created  Agbon, the visible earthly realms. Then he sent sons (these sons are 

not gods but humans) to  Agbon to govern it. Before they left for the earth, each one of them 

was required to choose a gift to take along with him. One of the sons chose wealth, another son 

chose money, and another son took mystical knowledge. One other son preferred herbal skills 

and another one opted for leadership. 
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However, when the youngest son came to choose his gift, among the remaining items 

were a dirty snail shell containing some grain of sand, and  Uwenrhienota ( Glyphae Lateriflora ), 

a long slender white cane to which the red tail feather of a parrot is tied. A bird,  Owonwon, the 

toucan advised him to chose the snail shell, reluctantly he took these items. When sons of God 

arrived  on  earth  in  a  boat,  they  found  that  it  was  covered  with  water.  So  they  sailed  about 

aimlessly in their boat looking for dry land to anchor. Again the youngest son heeded the advice 

of  the  toucan  that  instructed  his  to  empty  the  contents  of  the  snail  shell  into  the  water. 

Immediately, he did so dry land was formed. 

The Edo people believe that the spot where the sand grains were emptied into the water 

is where  Aruoto, the altar to the Earth, is situated at Idunmwun’Ukhegie, in Benin City. They 

also believe that the magical snail shell is buried beneath this altar. This is the precise reason 

they refer to Benin City as “Edoisiagbon” the cradle of the world. 

After the formation of dry land, the other brothers had to buy portions of land from their 

youngest brother to establish their kingdoms. Hence the Edo people say Oba o’yaen Oto, the 

Oba is the owner of the land. 

Then the toucan told the youngest son to strike the dry land with the uwenrhienota. This 

he did, and different species of plants and animals were created. Again he struck the dry land 

with the uwenrhienota and human beings began to arrive from Erhinmwin to populate the site. 

Hence the Edo people say they came from the sky. 

Indeed an ancient town some 8 kilometres north of Benin City is known as Okhunmwun, 

sky. This creation story is supported and emphasised by many symbols and allusions. 

For example “Osagbaye”, the shrine dedicated to God. The shrine is made of a mound 

of  sand  with  an  uwenrhienota  planted  at  its  summit  and  an  empty  snail  shell,  placed  facing 

downward at the base. This is one reason why the veneration of the earth occupies a central 

role in many Edo rituals. Also the praise name of the city, Oto’Efa, Oto’Emehe, the land of Efa 

and Emehe corroborate this belief. This is in honour of Efa and Emehe, the two retainers, who 

accompanied this youngest son of God to the earth. 

30 





Chapter Three 

Stone Age in Benin  


r. P. Amaury Talbot the British Colonial Anthropologist wrote in his book “People of 

D Southern Nigeria” wrote about the origin of the various nationalities ….. “Around 

the seventh millennium BC, a further wave of Sudanic peoples began to pour in, 

first the Edo, Ewe, and then Igbos and followed maybe about the second millennium BC by the 

earliest Yoruba”. Linguistic evidence also shows that these Pre-Edo aborigines have occupied 

the Benin area for several thousand years in relative isolation. 

In 1964, R.G. Armstrong also said in his book “Study of West African Languages” that 

calculations  based  on  Glotto-chronology  put  the  separation  between  Edo,  Yoruba  and  Igbo 

between 3,000 and 6,000 years. 

Recent studies and archaeological researches have also proven that over 6,000 years 

ago, Benin started as a Stone Age settlement on the level plains of Ogboka and later spread 

over the plateau between the Ikpoba River and the Ogba River valleys. It is generally believed 

that it on this flat expanse of land that Great Benin had her humble origins. 

Early in the development of human cultures, before the use of metals, when tools and 

weapons were made of stone.  The dates of the Stone Age vary considerably for different parts 

of  the  world.  In  Europe,  Asia,  and  Africa  it  began  about  2  million  years  ago.    In  the  most 

advanced parts of the Middle East and Southeast Asia it ended about 6000 BC, but it lingered 

until 4000 BC or later in Europe, the rest of Asia, and Africa. The Stone Age in the Americas 

began when human beings first arrived in the New World, some 30,000 years ago, and ended 

in some areas about 2500 BC at the earliest. 
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Throughout the immense time span of the Stone Age, vast changes occurred in climate 

and in other conditions affecting human culture. Humans themselves evolved into their modern 

form during the latter part of it. The Stone Age has been divided accordingly into three periods: 



the  Paleolithic,  Mesolithic,  and  Neolithic. 

In  the  last 

century, during the course of Archaeological excavations 

in  Benin  City’s  center,  the  renowned  Archaeologist 

Graham  Connah  uncovered  evidences  of  an  aboriginal 

people that used Stone Age objects. 

These  finds  are  mainly  consisted  of  stone  tools 

such as the prehistoric hand axes which the Benin called 

Ugha’avan;  a  shortened  form  of  Ughanmwan  ’Avan 

N'Ukhunmwun; the Edo name for thunder axes. 

Graham’s Excavations in Benin  

According to Dr. P. Darling, long before Benin existed, in the time before the iya were 

built, the pre-Edoid people were living in the forests now belonging to Benin kingdom and Esan 

chiefdoms. Even today, when a giant forest tree is blown down and uprooted during one of the 

frequent  thunderstorms,  shreds  are  likely  to  be  exposed.  Perhaps  there  was  once  a  link 

between theses exposures and the practice of carefully collecting thunderstones; ughanvan, the 

polished stone axes and placing them on shrines. 

The ancient Greeks, who believed them to be the thunderbolts thrown down by Zeus, the 

Tree-splitter, also knew hand axes. They were held to be sacred and were put on display in the 

temples,  such  as  the  Temple  of  Apollo  at  Delphi,  which  had  two  of  them.  The  Christians 

destroyed these and all the sacred artifacts of the ancient world. 

The  reason  hand  axes  seem  to  have  no  specific  identifiable  use  is  probably  because 

they served a general purpose. They could be used for cutting meat, scraping skins, chopping 

wood, digging holes, hammering bone or wood, and even as a last resort defense against wild 

animals.  The proliferation and abundance of handaxes suggests that perhaps everyone had 

one,  both  men  and  women.    As  techniques  for  making  handaxes  slowly  improved  over  the 

millennia, these same techniques would have led to new types of specialized tools, ultimately 

32 



making  the  handaxe  obsolete.    The  handaxe  appears  almost  everywhere  that  early  man 

appears, with the exception of the very Far East. 

Ultimately the handaxe was replaced by an  array of  specialized  tools, and may have 

ceased to have any value beyond that of pure tradition and culture. Perhaps every youth who 

came  of  age  was  given,  or  made,  their  own  hand  axe.  Since  the  hand  axe  seems  to  have 

remained  long  after  it  became  obsolete,  it  may  have  become  primarily  ritualistic.  Some  late 

hand axes were excellently manufactured but seemed to receive little actual use. 

A number have been found that were deliberately driven point first into the ground and 

left, for unknown reasons. Hand axes come in many shapes and sizes, and many styles unique 

to cultures of specific periods and in specific geographical areas. Almost all hand axes have a 

point, are sized for the hand and shaped to be held.  Almost no hand axes have notches for 

mounting. 

On the Stone Age implements, Professor Grahame Clark in his book World Prehistory 

wrote  about  the  widespread  occurrence  of  polished  stone  axes  in  the  area  from  the  French 

Guinea in West Africa to the northern and eastern parts Congo in Central Africa. He believed 

that  these  stone  axes  were  discarded  when  the  hunters/gatherers  established  the  sedentary 

farms in these areas. 

In 1963, a prehistoric quartz industry was discovered at a rock shelter near the modern 

Yoruba town of Isharun in the present Ondo State of Nigeria though no microlithic industry was 

found  there.  Whereas  Professor  Thurstan  Shaw  while  excavating  at  the  Bosumpra  cave  in 

modern Ghana, found stone tools, pottery and a microlithic industry there. 

Polished stone hand axes that were used by the Stone Age farmers were found in the 

Rock shelter at Iwo Eleru about 125 kilometers in the northwest of Benin City and some 250 

kilometers to the east, Professor Hartle, another archaeologist, found pottery shreds and a set 

of non-microliths Stone Age tools in a rock shelter at Ezi'Ukwu Ukpa near Afikpo. 

Professor Obayemi also uncovered sites of stone axe factories with microliths belonging 

to the Late Stone Age about 200 kilometers north of Benin. 

Meanwhile in 1977, at Ugwu'agu Rock shelter, Chikwendu found pottery shreds among 

the stone tools dated to the Late Stone Age. The Benin stone tools were certainly brought in 

from elsewhere because there are no microlithic traditions in the rainforest zone. 
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In the Edo speaking areas the rocks from which the stone tools were apparently derived 

only occur in the savannah zone; so their occurrence in the almost stone less Benin and Esan 

forests is a strong indication of early communication. 

The  finds  in  Igboland  are  possibly  the  oldest  evidence  of  human  occupation  in  West 

Africa and these are at Ugwuele in Okigwe , Imo State . The Ugwuele site was continuously 

inhabited for thousands of years providing a very rich array of human remains and artefacts. 

At Afikpo , a rock shelter reveals human remains and artefacts dating as early as 10,000 

years  ago  (c.  8000  BC).  At  Opi  near  Nsukka  are  the  remains  of  the  oldest  evidence  of  iron 

works in the whole of Nigeria and it dates to 765 BC as well the Igbo Ukwu findings which dates 

from the ninth century AD (c. 800 AD) . 



Considering the rather compact land area of Igboland, the region is very rich in these 

findings and it confirms that the core Igbo region has been inhabited for thousands of years . 

The  Igbo  language  has  been  dated  to  4,000  BC  when  it  separated  from  the  branch  that 

ultimately  gave  rise  to  the  Yoruba,  Idoma,  Nupe  and  Edo  groups.  It  is  believed  that  the 

ancestors of these language groups may have pushed south as the Sahara became drier about 

5,000  to  6,000  years  ag  .  They  moved  towards  the  Niger  and  differenced  into  the  different 

branches as we now know them. 
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Chapter Four 

The Aborigines of Benin  


he  attempt  to  establish  with  reasonable  confidence  the  origin  of  Edo  people 

has not been easy. The question has always been: where did the people come 

T from?  The use of a Benin word  ivbi’oto   meaning “children of the Earth” but 

often  interpreted  as  “children  of  the  soil”  suggests  there  were  a  group  people  who  regard 

themselves as the original inhabitants of the land.  To further buttress this, there is an ancient 

quarter  in  Benin  City  called   Idunmwun  Ivbioto.  This  may  also  suggest  that  immigrants  from 

other areas joined the original inhabitants. 

The  Benin  oral  dynastic  traditions  and  studies  from  the  Benin/Edo  material  culture  by 

anthropologists, historian, archeologists and other researchers have been uncovering diverse 

evidences of an aboriginal people that inhabited the Edo area before the arrival of the Edo. The 

historian  believe  that  these  Proto-Edo  people  who  are  probably  the  ancestors  present  Benin 

and  Esan  tribes,  started  to  move  into  the  rainforest  area  from  the  savanna  zone  over  4000 

years ago. 

This migration that may have intensified around 100AD continued for over six hundred 

years and being a metal working culture, the newcomers who were armed with the iron weapon, 

easily conquered the Stone Age aborigines of rainforest settlements who are remembered in 

oral traditions as “Evbi’erimwineka”. 

Within  some  two  and  a  half  centuries,  the  conquest  of  rainforest  settlements  was 

completed with the aboriginal people being either expelled or absolved by their new masters. 

The  Proto-Edo  newcomers  brought  their  own  settlement  patterns  into  the  rainforest 

zone  and  as  they  moved  deeper  into  the  tsetse  fly-infested  rainforest,  they  set  up  their 

settlements far from the swampy area of the river valleys. 
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In their new habitat, the Proto-Edo created small mud and wattle settlements and farmed 

the fertile land in the rainforest areas and with their iron farm tools, they soon created larger 

nucleated farming settlements where they practice the rotational bush fallow farming techniques 

that did not allow the farmed area be reforested. 

In the words of Dr. Darling, the direct impact of the land use on ecology enhanced forest 

conservation because the most important determinant of the Edo agrarian practice was cultural 

and  not  ecological  and  the  cultivation  of  the  land  was  executed  in  a  manner  that  was 

reminiscent of the savanna-farming pattern. 

Between 200AD and 300 AD, more migrations came into the rainforest zone, the number 

of Iron Age settlements increased and the competition for space intensified. This resulted in the 

newcomers  pushing  the  remaining  Stone  Age  aborigines  and  their  primordial  communities 

gradually into the mangrove and salt-water swamplands of the Niger Delta. 

As late as 600 AD, more of these Iron Age migrants were still pushing the aborigines 

further down south till they themselves established new settlements in the Salt-water swamps 

on the coast of the Atlantic Ocean.  

These displaced aborigines probably became the ancestors of the Izon or Uzon tribes 

found in the swamps of the numerous river valleys  throughout the 

Niger Delta region.It is also generally believed in some circles that 

this was the process that drove a wedge between these Stone-Age 

people  who  are  known  today  as  the  western  and  the  eastern 

Ijaws(Uzon). 

This  is  probably  how  the  Delta-Edo  communities  of  Ogba-

land, Epie-Atisa, Degema and Engenni were established.     The Mangroove swamps 

 The question now is: from where did the Edos come from? 

Since 1897, British colonial anthropologists especially P. Aumaury Talbot in 1926 were 

the first to speculate that the Edo people came in three waves of migration:   First, those who 

 came from Nupe, a place in the Middle Belt of Nigeria; second, those who migrated from the 

 Sudan; third, those who came from Egypt through the Sahara and Ile-Ife. 

Chief  Jacob  Egharevba  seemed  to  have  been  influenced  by  early  colonial 

historiography; labouring too, under Samuel Johnson’s  History of the Yorubas  which was widely 
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read  in  Nigeria  at  that  time.  Perhaps,  to  ensure  his  own  successful  writing  career,  Chief 

Egharevba  adopted  the  views  of  Benin  migrations  in  early  colonial  historiography  that  he 

blended with Johnson’s view. He adopted the views in his own books without critically assessing 

the implications. This marked the beginning of conflicting interpretations in Benin history, with 

Egharevba’s  Short History,  of course, opening the intellectual debate in tracing the origins of 

Benin. 

There are several migration theories about the origin of Benin, which western historians 

hold on to, is an invention primarily based on Cyril Punch suggestions. 

According to Cyril Punch, in his notes, the aboriginal Edo people came from the ‘North’ 

where they once live under a king known as Lamorodu. He also claimed that the eastern city, 

which was mentioned in the records of the Portuguese explorer, Duarte Pecheco Pereira, is Ile-

Ife. 

About  1486,  the  Portuguese  had  written  that  there  was  an  eastern  city  ruled  by  a 

powerful king with powers comparable to that of the Pope. 

Although  it  was  evident  that  the  Punch’s  assumptions  were  prejudiced,  flawed,  and 

contradictory,  the  ideas  were  adopted  by  Dr  P  A.  Talbot.  In  his  book   Peoples  of  Southern 

 Nigeria, he writes ‘ about the 7th millennium BC a further wave of sudanic peoples began to pour 

 in, first the Edo’,  the Sudan became ‘North’ which Punch had mentioned. 

This  assertion  by  Dr  P  A.  Talbot  was  given  a  tremendous  boost  when  Chief  J.U. 

Egharevba  included  in  the  second  edition  of  his  book   A  S hort  Story  of  Benin  that  the  Edo 

people came from Egypt and the Sudan through Ile-Ife. 

The  presumptions  were  quickly  accepted  as  valid  and  all  other  accounts,  oral  and 

written, Edo folklores and legends and the manuscripts such as those of Captain Roupel were 

considered myths. 

By  September  1897,  Captain  Roupel  who  was  the  British  acting  political  resident  of 

Benin City immediately after its capture in 1897 had held several meeting with the chiefs and 

other  palace  functionaries.  Later,  he  even  obtained  first  hand  information  from  Prince 

Aiguobasimwin Oba Ovonramwen’s heir who was crowned Oba Eweka 11 in 1914. 
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Most of Captain Roupel manuscripts which contained written interviews with some Edo 

high-ranking  chiefs  including  a  court  historian  and  hereditary  nobles  made  no  mention  or 

inferences that the Edo people came from Egypt, the Sudan or Ile-Ife. 

Thus  in  recent  times,  historians  and  anthropologists  researching  into  Benin’s  past  are 

now  pointing  towards  the  region,  north  of  the  Niger-Benue  Confluence  as  the  most  likely 

candidate for the original homeland of the Edoid peoples. 

The Nok Culture  

n 1943, tin mining in the vicinity of the village of Nok near the Jos Plateau region of 

Nigeria  brought  to  light  a  terracotta  head,  evidence  of  the  oldest  known  figurative 

I sculpture south of the Sahara. The culture was named after the town of Nok where the 

first object was found. The fired clay or terracotta sculptures range in size from small 

pendant to life-size figures. Archaelogical artifacts have been found in Nigeria, primarily to the 

north of the Niger-Benue River confluence and below the Jos escarpment. 

Although  stylistically  related  heads,  figures,  animals,  and  pottery  shards  have  been 

found in a number of Nigerian sites since that time, such works are identified by the name of the 

small village where the first terracotta head was discovered.   Artifacts continue to be unearthed 

without  documentation  of  the  context  in  which  they  were  buried,  a  lack  of  extensive 

archaeological study that has severely limited our understanding of Nok terracottas. 

As one of the earliest African centers of ironworking and terracotta 

figure production, the Nok culture remains an enigma.  The Nok Iron Age 

culture that has been dated to thrived from about 800 B.C. and that the 

technology was developed locally. 

The art of the Nok culture originated in a valley in West Africa between 

the  Niger  and  the  Benue  Rivers  about  2,000  years  before  Christ.    The 

artists have produced the oldest sculptures in black Africa. 

Some  of  the  earliest  examples  of  sophisticated  sculpture  in  sub-Saharan  Africa  come 

from  the  Nok  culture.  Nok  sculptures  were  made  of  terra  cotta  or  fired  clay.  Many  of  the 

sculptures found are only of heads. It is possible that these heads were once on full figures, 

presumably destroyed by erosion. 
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These sculptures were often life size, possibly resembling a worshipped individual. The 

terra  cotta  or  earthenware  sizes  range  from  one  inch  to  life  size.  The  human  sculptures  are 

stylized, while animal figures are naturalistic; showing that the producers of these magnificent 

pieces took pride in their work by taking their time. Historians have based hypothesis the on 

researches  that  says  that  African  art  has  traditionally  had  a  socially  useful  function;  Art 

Historians are able to form a hypothesis on their uses. 

It  is  known  that  they  worshipped  ancestors  and  had  many  gods.    The  elaborately 

detailed  figures  could  represent  a  god,  or  a  highly  prized  ancestor,  while  plain  figures  could 

represent a lesser individual; showing social status. 

Most  Nok  sculpture  is  hollow  and  coil-built  like  pottery.  Finely 

worked  to  a  resilient  consistency  from  local  clays  and  gravel,  the 

millennia-long endurance of these ancient objects is a testament to the 

technical ability of  their makers. This is not to say that  Nok sculpture 

has survived unchanged by time.  Although the culture died out around 

200-250 AD, it is believed that they have continued to influence other 

West African cultures and art traditions. 

Anthropologists  and  historians  generally  believe  that  the  Nok  civilisation  started  to 

disintegrate as they lost their source of the fuel for their furnances.  The depletion of the forest 

which provided the wood for the charcoal resulted in the southward migration to forested lands. 

This  migration  that  stated  as  a  tickle,  soon  gathered  momentum  as  more  groups  started  to 

abandon  the  larger  settlements  as  the  forested  areas,  which  provided  the  fuel  for  their  iron 

smelting furnaces became completely depleted. 

The migrations eventually ended in the alien environment of the tropical rainforest.and 

this deforestation created the derived savanna in the present-day Nigeria Middle belt and the 

Igbo  land.  This  expansion  of  the  derived  savanna  resulted  in  the  disruption  of  organised 

agrarian communities. 

Another candidate for the original homeland of the Edoid people is the  Nubia and and 

since the 1930s, when Chief J.U. Egharevba wrote that the original homeland of the Edo people 

was the Sudan, it was met with a lot of doubts. 
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But in recent times, historians have been speculating that the origin of the Edo people 

could be located in the area where the Kushite Civilisation once flourished. 

Thus  Kush  after  Egypt  and  the  Sudan  has  become  another  candidate  for  the  original 

homeland of the ancestors of the Edoid people. 

Kush-Nubia  

istorically,  the  Kush  tribe  was  already  in  existence  by  2000  BC  and  there  are 

speculations that Kush was built by an Egyptianized people who lived between the 

H Nile River's first and third cataracts and spoke Nilo-Saharan languages. 

Though this region called Nubia, had been conquered and colonized by Egypt in 4,000 

BC, it is generally believed that because of this, Egyptian civilization diffused southward and a 

new African kingdom was built up in the floodplain around the Nile's third cataract: the Kush. 

Their capital city was Kerma and it served as the major trading center for goods travelling north 

from the southern regions of Africa. 

Kush attained its greatest power and cultural energy between 1700 and 1500 BC during 

the Third Intermediate period in Egypt. The domination of Egypt by the Hyksos allowed Kush to 

come  out  from  under  the  hegemony  of  Egypt  and  flower  as  a  culture;  this  period  ended, 

however, when the New Kingdom kings, having thrown the Hyksos out of Egypt, reconquered 

Kush and brought it under Egyptian colonial rule. 

However, when the New Kingdom collapsed in 1000 BC, Kush again arose as a major 

power by conquering all of Nubia.  The conquest of upper Nubia, which had been in the hands 

of the Egyptians since the fourth millenium, gave to Kush wealthy gold mines. 

Following the reassertion of Kushite independence in 1000 BC, the Kushites moved their 

capital city farther up the Nile to Napata. Later, the Kushites even invaded and conquered Egypt 

in a magnificent irony of history. The Napatan kings formed the twenty-fifth pharaonic dynasty in 

the  eighth  century;  this  dynasty  came  to  an  end  with  the  Assyrian  invasion  of  Egypt  in  the 

seventh century BC. 
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The Assyrians, and later the Persians, forced the Kushites to retreat farther south.  This 

retreat south eventually closed off much of the contact that the Kushites had with Egypt, the 

Middle East,  and Europe and because of  their relative isolation from the Egyptian world,  the 

Meroitic Empire turned its attention to the sub-Saharan world. 



       

       

Temple in the Nubian Desert 

The Nubian Desert in northeastern Sudan was part of the ancient region of Nubia. Many 

temples were constructed in the desert before the 6th century ad, when the inhabitants of Nubia 

were converted to Christianity. This temple was devoted to a lion god. 

Nubia, region, northeastern Africa, roughly occupying both sides of the Nile River valley 

between Aswān, Egypt, and Khartoum, Sudan. The area of the region in northeastern Sudan is 

called the Nubian Desert. In ancient times Nubia was called Kush and was ruled by Egypt for 

some 1800 years. 

In the 8th century BC the Nubians achieved independence and subjugated Egypt. After 

maintaining some degree of independence for more than 2000 years, Nubia was conquered by 

the Arabs in the 14th century. 

Kingdom of Meroë 

The Nubians lose control over Egypt and there is a gradual shift of power in Nubia from 

Napata to Meroë.  This shift also indicates a  move away from Egyptian influence and toward 
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sub-Saharan  influence.  In  politics,  the  royal  women  of  Meroë  enjoy  an  important  role.  The 

lineage system is matriarchal, making rule by queens more common. 

Meroë  becomes  a  large  city-state  where  major  trade  routes  meet.  It  also  becomes  a 

center for iron smelting. Meroë is eventually weakened by a shift in trade with the rise of Aksum 

and Rome.. 

The Meroitic Empire thrived throughout the last half of the first millenium BC. After three 

centuries of decline, the Nuba people finally defeated it and this defeat triggered of a migration 

to the southwest. 

These  migrations  soon  gathered  momentum  and  continued  until  entered  the  Guinea 

some time about the third century BC. 
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Chapter Five 

Iron Age in Edoland 




he first metal worked in Africa was copper, smelted and forged in Egypt before its 

unification in 3100 BC. Copper and stone remained the main tool-making materials 

T in Egypt until the 17th century BC, when the Hyksos invasion from the Middle East 

brought bronze, a harder alloy, to North Africa. 

Iron is a metal found in rocks. The Nok discovered that by heating certain rocks, they 

were able to “smelt” iron. Iron is a very useful substance. Iron is very malleable (or moldable).  It 

can  be  reshaped  for  many  different purposes,  including  making  weapons  and  plows.  Iron 

conducts heat very well and can be used for cooking and heating. 

A civilization that had discovered iron would be more advanced than those that had not. 

The discovery of the uses of iron was a major technological achievement of the ancient Nok of 

sub-Saharan  Africa.  Blacksmithing  began  with  the  Iron  Age,  when  primitive  man  first  began 

making tools from iron The Iron Age began when some primitive person noticed that a certain 

type of rock yielded iron when heated by the coals of a very hot campfire.  Blacksmithing is the 

art of crafting that crude metal into a useable implement, has been around for a long, long time. 

And for a long time after that, blacksmithing remained a crude art.  It took three thousand years 

for man to learn the science of metallurgy. 

As to where and when blacksmithing evolved depended on fuel and iron ore.  Charcoal 

was  the  primary  fuel.  Early  iron  smelters  were  small  furnaces  built  from  rocks  that  could 

withstand repeated heating.  These furnaces looked like beehives with a vent in the top and an 

entry portal on the side.  To create the hig h heat needed to smelt iron, smiths pumped air from 

a bellows through the tuyere nozzle.  The furnace was filled with charcoal and ironore and the 

charcoal was then set afire.  When the temperature rises above 2,800°F, the iron flows from the 

ore and forms blooms. 
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In  modern  Nigeria,  between  1,000  and  800  BC  people  living  in  what  is  now  central 

Nigeria  developed  metallurgy  independently  at  a  very  early  stage,  possibly  even  before  the 

Hittites spread the technology. Iron technology,  however, only spread slowly across Africa;  it 

wasn't until the first century AD that the smelting of iron began to rapidly diffuse throughout the 

continent. 

According  to  Dr.  Darling,  the  advent  of  Iron  into  the  rainforest  may  have  been 

undramatic  and  also  stated  that  iron  tools  were  in  fairly  widespread  use  throughout  the 

rainforest by the 1st. century A.D.  There also speculations that the iron tools facilitated easier 

digging of wells and clearing of the forest undergrowth for farming. This improvement may have 

resulted in a gradual increase in population growth. 

Far to the west of Egypt, in the Aïr Mountains of what is now Niger, copper working was 

independently invented some time after 3000 BC. These early metalworkers probably spoke a 

Nilo-Saharan  language,  perhaps  ancestors  to  modern  Songhai.  By  1500  BC  their  copper-

working techniques and furnaces were well developed and the technology had spread to other 

copper-bearing areas of the southern Sahara. 

The  earliest  known  iron  working  in  sub-Saharan  Africa  was  discovered  at  the  site  of 

Taruga in present day Central Nigeria, where an advanced iron technology existed as early as 

the sixth century BC. Archaeological excavations unearthed a number of iron-smelting sites at 

Taruga, with radiocarbon dates from the fifth to the third centuries BC. 

The use of iron and development of its technology in Benin kingdom has had influences 

in  the  state-building  process.  Iron  technology  led  to  the  development  of  weapons  which 

changed the character of war. Generally, in West Africa, the states that rose to power in the 

period  between  1400  and  1700  AD  such  as  Benin,  Nupe,  Igalla,  and  Oyo  in  present  day 

Nigeria,  dominated  others  partly  because  of  the  advantages  in  the  development  of  iron 

technology. 

There are several myths and legends centred on the first Edoid ironworkers that have 

created speculations in some historical circles about the history of the Iron Age in the tropical 

rainforest. The most prominent accounts state that between 50 BC and 200 AD, the first Edo 

metallurgists  who  later  known  in  history  as  the  Ileme(Uneme)  settled  permanently  in  the 

rainforest zone. 
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It is being further speculated that for some time, these metallurgists have been coming 

into  the  tropical  rainforest  with  the  Charcoal  burners  who  according  to  the  Edo  dynastic 

accounts were led by  another group;  the Efa also known as Aren'ode ‘The pathfinders’.  The 

Edos call their land “Otoe’Efa, Otoe’Emehi after the twin founders of the city-state. 

Several theories claim that these Charcoal burners were in search of a better source of 

wood use for the production of charcoal required in the furnaces of the then savanna based iron 

working centre 

This group of historians propagates that though these Iron Smelters and 

the Charcoal burners have been coming seasonally  into the forest zone to  produce the fuel, 

sometime between 100AD and 250 AD, they had become permanent residents in the tropical 

rainforest zone. 

Suggestions  that  iron-tools  were  in  fairly  widespread  use  throughout  the  forest  by the 

first  century  AD,  speculations  that  these  tools  enabled  wel -digging  and  the  more  efficient 

clearance  of  undergrowth  for  farming,  and  beliefs  that  these  improvements  many  somehow 

have resulted in a gradual increase in the rate of population growth are not yet substantiated by 

dated excavations.The numerous excavations at ife have only resulted in one isolated date of 

600 AD with most early settlements being dated after 800 AD. 

Just north of  the Edo speaking areas.  Prof.  Obayemi obtained radiocarbons dated for 

Iron Age sited spanning the period 840-1340AD., with very extensive smelting apparently taking 

place in the C14th. To the east, chikwendu uncovered an abandoned habitation site apparently 

occupied from 600-1500AD.   To the south  of  the Edo speaking  areas, in the Niger delta, all 

dates obtained so far appear to indicate C9th to C16th settlement. These C7th to C9th dates for 

the earliest observed Iron Age settlements around the areas occupied by today’s Edo-speaking 

peoples is phenomenon. 

Benin was able to develop an indigenous capacity to work the iron material into weapons 

of war. It is probable that this indigenous capacity which was basically the possession of iron 

smelting knowledge was acquired through training and apprenticeship of Benin blacksmiths in 

Etsako. 

By the second half of the fifteenth century when Benin expanded its Empire virtually in all 

directions, it established control over the iron ore sources which was considered to be essential 

to the development of iron technology in the state. 
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The Bantus and the spread of Iron in Africa 

ar away to the northeast in upper Nile basin, the Iron Age itself came very early to 

Kush, just before the sixth century BC and from Kush it spread to communities in 

F Ethiopia, the Great Lakes region and modern Tanzania. Around 400 BC, East 

Africans began producing steel in carbon furnaces while steel was only invented in 

the west in the eighteenth century. 

In  Central  and  Southern  African,  historians  and  other  researchers  claim  that  the 

instrument of the spread of the Iron Age in Africa was the Bantu migrations. 



Who are the Bantus? 

Bantu is a family of languages that are closely related and represent the largest linguistic 

family of African languages. Bantu speaking people migrated out of Cross River Basin about 

500  BC  and  these  migrations  continued  all  throughout  the  first  millennium.  As  they  migrated 

south into the rain forest regions around the Congo veered east into the East African highlands. 

Wherever  they  migrated,  they  imposed  their  language,  which  mixed  with  and  replaced 

indigenous languages. 



How  they  managed  to  impose  their  language  on  such  a  wide  range  of  people  across 

such a huge swathe of territory is still baffling Historian and Anthropologists. 

The Bantu speakers carry an agricultural way of life from western Africa into the area of 

the continent south of the equator. The Bantus domesticate plants and animals and introduce 

metallurgy, laying the foundation for complex societies to follow. Not only did the Bantu spread 

iron-smelting  techniques  across  Africa,  they  also  were  responsible  for  diffusing  agriculture, 

particularly agriculture of high-yield crops such as yams, bananas, and plantains. The spread of 

agriculture led to the explosive growth of village life all throughout Africa. 

The Bantu expansion is one of the largest in human history. 

Further migrations in the first millenium then displaced the earlier Bantu immigrants, who 

pushed farther east and south. 

By 2000 BC Bantu-speaking  farmers  of  the  Niger-Congo  culture  had  begun  to  migrate 

from  what  is  now  Cameroon  and  eastern  Nigeria  into  the  forest  regions  of  the  Congo  River 
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Basin.  Traveling  in  dugout  canoes  along  the  region’s  numerous  waterways,  they  established 

riverside settlements and supplemented yam and oil palm farming with hunting and fishing. By 

1000  BC  they  had  crossed  the  forests  to  reach  the  southern  savanna  lands  of  what  is  now 

Angola and reached the Great Lakes region in the east. In the Great Lakes region they adopted 

ironworking and learned techniques of cattle keeping and grain cultivation from their Sudanic- 

and Cushitic-speaking neighbors. 

Bantu-speaking farmers  thus  developed  a  unique  and  wide-ranging  combination  of 

technological skills:  planting yams, sowing grain,  herding livestock, working iron,  and making 

pottery. 

This adaptable set of skills enabled them to 

spread, in a series of small movements, over most 

of East, Central, and southern Africa between 300 

BC and AD 300. In the process, they interacted with 

and  absorbed  existing,  mostly  Khoisan, 

populations.  The  only  region  the  Bantu  did  not 

penetrate  was  the  far  southwestern  corner  of 

Africa,  which  was  too  dry  for  their  agricultural 

practice. 



The Pattern of Bantu Migrations. 

Contrary to popular views about precolonial Africa, local manufacturers were at this time 

creating items of comparable, if not superior, quality to those from preindustrial Europe.  Due to 

advances  in  native  forge  technology, smiths  in  some  regions  of  sub-Saharan  Africa  were producing steels of a better grade than those of their counterparts in Europe.  
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Chapter Six 

Iya: The Benin Earthworks 


ocated  in  the  depth  of  the  tropical  rainforest  at  the  heart  of  the  ancient  Benin 

Kingdom  is  the  longest  and  most 

L extensive earth construction to be 

created  by  a  pre-mechanical 

culture & civilization. 

Around Benin City and most of the nearly 

200  towns  and  villages  that  comprise  the  core 

Benin kingdom lie an extraordinary construction 

of complex earthworks, towering over thirty feet 

high  in  places  and  stretching  perhaps  16,000 

kilometres in length. 

Recent  archaeological  research  at  Benin  has 

shown,  however,  that  the  construction  of  the 

earthworks  was  one  of  the  important 

developments  that  preceded  the  foundation  of 

the kingdom. 

A section of the Benin City Earthworks         

Historians also believe that because some of these earthworks are older than the walls 

of the city, which became the capital of the Benin Empire and that, the region was the home of 

a large population before the emergence of Benin as a centralized state. 

According  to  Dr.  Patrick  Darling,  these  earthworks  were  created  over  one  and  a  half 

millennium  ago  and  they  have  a  total  length  of  over  Sixteen  thousand  kilometers.  They  are 

more than five times longer than the Great Wall of China and the total volume of earth moved in 
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their construction is well over Thirty seven Million metric units which is well over one hundred 

times the amount of material used in building the Great pyramid of Choeps in Egypt. 

Dr. Patrick Darling further stated  that with over one hundred and fifty million man-hours 

used  in  their  construction,  the  Benin  earthworks  extend  over  six  and  a  half  thousand  square 

kilometers, the Benin Iya is the world's longest ancient earthworks and second largest man-made 

structure. He prosulated that the constructions of the earthworks give a unique territorial insights 

into past migratory ring fronts, State formation processes and no-man's-lands in Edo land.  He 

said that like the Igala and Bukusu in the later centuries, the Edo people responded to entering an 

alien environment inhabited by aborigines of the rainforest who have different cultural practices by 

constructing earthworks. 

Dr. P. Darling also theorized that it was after the conquest of the aboriginal people,  that 

the  newcomers  started  the  construction  of  these  earthworks,  to  delineate  their  settlements 

boundaries,  which  with  time  served  them  both  as  community  boundaries  and  effective 

defensive systems in the alien environment of the high rainforest. 

These earthworks were constructed so that the earth dug from the ditch or moats were 

dumped  on  the  inside  of  the  enclosure  to  form  a  bank  or  wall  with  the  steeper  and  move 

impressive side facing outwards. 

Meanwhile the earthworks surrounding Benin City and Udo are of a different culture with 

reverse bank enclosure. The Benin earthworks were constructed in a complicated network of 

delineating enclosures  are a very extensive and dense clusters of  earthworks enclosing very 

many  predominantly  rural  settlements  concentrated  mainly  in  northeastern  and  southeastern 

area  of  the  modern  Benin  metropolis.    The  greatest  concentrations  of  the  earthwork  are 

clustered between the Ovia and the Orhiomwon Rivers. 

The traditional explanation of the iya as defensive ramparts against external invaders, 

the  reputed  absence  of  boundaries  between  villages  in  the  past,  and  historical  arguments 

based  on  supposedly  low  population  densities  several  centuries  ago,  are  all  examples  of 

contemporary  ethnographic  data  which  appear  to  be  in  direct  conflict  with  archeological 

evidence. 
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The period of Iya construction probably started from 

about  250AD+-50  years  continued  to  as  late  as 

1300 AD. 

Dr.  Patrick  Darling  wrote,  “Of  the  time  post-dating 

the emergence of the Benin dynasty the iya provide 

little  evidence.  It  is  possible  that  by  then  iya 

construction was already a declining practice: most available land and already been enclosed in 

the core zone before 1300 A.D. Furthermore, there were many incomplete and discontinous iya 

in the peripheral zones. 

Dr.  Darling  also  wrote  that  alternatively,  what  may  have  happened  is  that  the  new 

practice  of  demarcating  boundaries  with  the  ikhinmwin  trees  (newbouldia  laevis)  became 

established as the Oba of Benin tightened his control using his ‘Avbiogbe’ the Royal Guild of 

land commissioners-surveyors and Enotueyi’evbo; the palace officials representing the various 

communities as new fiefs were created for the Benin princes. 

The change from Iya demarcation to Ikhinmwin trees, 

the independent village and chiefdom territories and 

boundary  systems  became  flexible  enough  to  be 

manipulated  by  the  central  Benin  polity  as  veritable 

signs of the loss of independence. 

A section of the Ekhoe Earthworks          

After his own survey, Dr. Darling wrote that about 1,300 years ago, the 4 metre deep 

ditch and bank at Ekhoe N’iro acted as community earthwork boundary.  It is part of the core 

zone  earthworks,  where  the  complicated  network  achieves  densities  of  up  to  7  km  of 

earthworks per sq km.  Dr. Darling further stated that sifting through the conflicting claims of 

community boundary maps near the Benin metropolis, it is possible to pick out one past role of 

the iya in their demarcation of agricultural territories as one of the motives underlying original 

iya construction.  In 1952, Bradbury wrote that Benin’s widespread impact is deemed to have 

resulted in the devolution of many village chieftaincy structures and their re-orientation to fit a 

Benin-centered culture. 
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Who are the builders of the Iya? 

In  his  book  “A  Short  History  of  Benin”Chief  (Dr.)  J.  U.  Egharevba,  had  attributed  the 

construction  of  these  earthworks  to Oba  Oguola  who  reigned  between  1280AD  and  1295AD 

and Oba Ewuare who reigned from 1440AD to1473AD. 

Consequently, this gross misinformation had created a major distortion of the historical 

facts  about  the  Benin  earthworks  amongst  researchers.  For  example  the  Benin  dynastic 

traditions said that Oba Ewedo the father of Oba Oguola who is credited with the construction of 

the earthworks by Chief Egharevba, had to cross the Iya on his way from Usama into Oredo. 

To further compound this historical distortion, Egharevba’s book have also influenced the 

various traditions recorded in the various settlements and chiefdoms in the Benin rural areas 

who now claim that either Oba Oguola, Oba Ewuare, Oba Ozolua, Oba Esigie and even Prince 

Idubormwen  the  Enogie  of  Udo  as  the  constructor  of  their  local  earthworks.  Some  elders 

interviewed  in  some  rural  communities  said  that  Oba  Oguola  or/and  Oba  Ozolua  was 

responsible for all the rural iya. 

Once again, by 1975 after Prof. Grahame Connah's survey of the Benin City earthworks, 

it become clear that the so called 'Benin City outer walls' were not just Yoruba-like structures of 

urban settlement growth' as theorized him, but that the Benin City earthworks were a very small 

peripheral part of a much more extensive pattern of rural earthwork enclosures made up of the 

Uzama  villages,  Uselu,  Ugbowo,  Egor,  Ova,  Evbo’otubu  Iya  etc  which  reflect  the  wider   

processes of indigenous state formation. 

In 1978 Professor Shaw also concluded that the Benin rural earthwork enclosures reflect 

the possible demographic, cultural and socio-political developments of the Edo people in first 

Millennium AD.  It is noteworthy, that unlike other outstanding monuments in Africa, which have 

attracted controversies as to their origins, no one has disputed the fact that the extensive Benin 

walls  were  designed  and  built  by  the  people  of  the  great  Benin  Kingdom.  In  the  case  of 

monumented  structures  such  as  the  Great  Zimbabwe,  historians  for  a  long  time  held  that 

persons from outside Africa built them. 
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In  the  words  of  Peter  Garleke:  "To  them,  African  had  not  got  the  energy,  will, 

organiastion,  foresight  or  skill  to  build  these  walls.  Indeed,  he  appeared  so  backward  that  it 

seemed that his active race could never have accomplished the task at any period." 

It  is  worthy  of  note  that  within  a  period  of  two 

hundred  years,  of  the  numerous  Edo  settlements  that 

participated  in  the  Iya  construction,  only  Benin  and  Udo 

eventually metamorphosed into city-states. The earthworks 

surrounding  these  two  Edo  settlements  are  of  a  different 

nature having the reverse bank enclosure.     A section of the Udo Earthworks 



Benin Chiefs inspecting damaged sections of the Benin City Earthworks 

The Earthworks in Esanland 

fter  his  own  research  and  survey  which  spanned  several  years,  Dr.  Darling 

concluded  that  the  few  Esan  earthworks  traditions  which  exist  about  their  iyala 

A appear to be more realistic as they do not have Benin’s handicap of having to 

explain even pre-dynastic phenomena in dynastic terms. 





52 





The 

Odion’Owere 

Era 



53 





Chapter One  

The Edion'Owere 


ometime before 200 AD, the various settlements on the plateau between the Ikpoba 

and  Ogba  Rivers  in  the  rainforest  zone  within  the  central  area  of  what  is  now 

S Edoland merged into a City-state. 

By  300  AD,  the  nascent  Benin  city-state  soon  absolved  into  a  confederation  the 

settlements  of  Efa,  Emehe,  Ogboka,  Ugbekun,  Urubi,  Uzebu,  Okhoro,  Ugbague,  Iguisi, 

Oroghotodin, Etebite and Idunmwun 'Ivbioto and Uhunmwun'idunmwun. 

According  to  Chief  Osayomwenobo  Ero,  some  of  these  primordial  communities  still 

survive today either in names of street and wards of Benin City or as villages adjoining Benin 

City. Chief Ero further stated that some of these villages grew in size and population till they 

merged into what resulted in development of a new form of community that later became known 

as Oredo. 

This Confederacy was initially ruled through the Odion'Owere Council; a rulership by the 

oldest  males  from  the  various  sections  or  wards  each  of  the  settlements.  The  Proto-Edoid 

communities  developed  an  administrative  system  of  government,  which  was  gerontocratic  in 

structure; a system, whereby the reins of government was in the hands of old men known as 

Edion. 

The Gerontocratic form of governance is based on the Age-grade system and its origin is 

difficult to ascribe to any specific date in history, as written records to the effect are lacking, but 

oral source say or has it that there had been the existence of some village communities at this 

location before the advent of the Edoid people who created Ogie’iso dynasty. 

In 1973 Bradbury wrote that  in Benin,  the Edion were the repository of  the Land law, 

rights and reputation of the village which they held in trust back through the generations of their 

predecessors to the first nameless elders who had founded the community. 
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The  oldest  man  among  the  Elders  was  head  of  government,  he  was  known  as  the 

Odion’owere.  The  Odion’owere  was  also  the  senior  priest  of  the  community.  He  officiated  at 

Ogua’Edion; the shrine dedicated to the worship of the Collective Ancestors of the community. 

The Odion’owere in conjunction with the elders’ council regulated the behaviour of all the 

members of the community by making sure they conform with the unwritten code of conduct as 

handed down from the ancestors of community. The elders’ council had the representatives of 

all families that made up community.   It was desirable that each family 

should be represented among the Elders. This was how the Edo society 

operated an organized age grade system. These gerontocratic principles 

were most explicitly manifested in the structures and processes of village 

government. 

A modern Ogua’Edion 

The ‘Ogua’edion’ a shrine that houses the altar dedicated to the collective ancestors was 

the community’s council hall and judiciary. Here the living elders assembled to judge disputes 

and conduct the community’s business. From time to time, they purposefully modified the rules 

which governed intra-village relationships. 

Nevertheless the emphasis, in their authority, ws on the conservation of that code as it 

have been handed down to them from the original elders. In consultation with his fellow-elders, 

the  odionowere  regulated  the  performance  by  the  two  lower  age-grades  of  their  customary    

community roles. 

As  Bradbury  further  wrote  in  1973  that  the  whole  male  population  of  the  village  was 

ranked  according  to  order  of  birth  and  it  was  this  order  that  men  passed  through  the  youth 

‘Iroghae’, adult ‘Ighele’ and elder ‘Edion’. 

Thus the pre-monarchical Edo society was divided in the various Age-Grades; the first 

was the ‘Iroghae’ grade made up of young males aged between 14 to about 20 years old. 

The next was the Ighele group consisting of males aged between 20 and 45 years old. 

The  ighele  had  policing  functions  and  carried  out  the  more  skilled  communal  tasks.  On  this 

group the survival of the community depended. 
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Later,  when  the  monarchy  was  established,  it  was  from  their  ranks  that  troops  were 

recruited  into  the  king’s  armies,  and  it  was  also  from  this  group  that  the  first  military  class 

Ogie’iso Odoligie created ‘Iy’okuo’ some 600 years later. 

Of  the Ighele group,  Bradbury wrote in 1966 that  they were explicitly regarded as the 

collective heirs to the collective authority of  the elders and relations  between the two grades 

displayed the characteristic ambiguities of the holder-heir relationship.  To the iroghae fell the 

more menial community tasks and later during the Era of the Monarchy, it was they who carried 

the village’s annual tribute to the Oba in the capital. 

After attaining the highest order of the Ighele class, the males graduated into the Edion 

and Owere groups at about the age of 50 to 60 years respectively.  The four oldest males from 

the Owere group constituted the Edion’n’Enen (Four Elders) who assisted the Odion’Owere in 

ruling  the  community.  All  decisions  were  deliberated  upon  and  passed  by  the  Edion, 

Edion’n’Enen and the Odion’Owere. This was the highest decision-making in the community. 

After  the  establishment  of  the  Edo  Confederation,  all  the  Edion’owere  from  all  the 

settlements came together for decision making sessions at the Iko’Edion’Owere; the Council of 

the collective oldest males in the Edo confederacy. 

This Gerontocratic rulership system with time developed along politico-religious lines and 

created  other  hierarchical  institutions.  The  oldest  Odion’owere  became  the  chief-priest  who 

carried out the propitiation rituals at the Aro’Edion; an altar dedicated to the collective Ancestors 

of  the  community  and  Aro’Otor,  which  the  altar  dedicated  to  the  Earth  deity.  Later  the 

Odion’Owere acquired judicial powers and arbitrated in disputes till he became the final judicial 

authority. 

In his own theory, Dr. O. S. B. Omoregie further stated that in the Edo confederacy that 

was created around the 31 villages of what is now known as the Benin metropolis, the supreme 

ruler of each village was the Odion’owere, the oldest Owere of the land. Thus the Owere were 

the senior elders of the village and were by age, men of 56 years and above. 

The  Odion’owere,  the  oldest  male,  was  chosen  from  their  group,  since  he  was 

accredited as being the one in a most proximate position to the gods.  With him, the Owere 

worked closely as co-peers, so that if it came to the turn of any of them, no one would deny him 

the supportive effort of the others. 
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Chapter One 

The Benin Monarchy 


ccording to some accounts, a set of new immigrants under the leadership of a man 

called Idu came to Edoland added new concepts to the polity.  But the Edo aphorism; 

A Otoe’Ogbe, Otoe’Alaka no; bie Idu presents 

the man Idu as an indigene of Edoland 

Idu according to the Benin dynastic traditions is 

the  progenitor  of  the  Benin  royalty  and  this  is  the 

reason  why  the  Collective  Benin  Royal  Ancestors  is 

called Erinmwin'Idu "The Spirit of Idu”. 

Aro’Erimwin’Idu 

Amongst the Anioma people, Idu was the mythological name for founder of the old Benin 

Empire. In most of the traditional stories told in Igbo-speaking areas on both sides of the Niger 

River, the man Idu, was portrayed to have come from the court of a kingdom located the end of 

the world To get to Idu’s homeland, it was believed you would have to pass seven lands and 

swim or row your canoe through seven seas. It was a long way to go to Idu’s home that was 

said to be situated at that point where the blue sky touched the earth, scaling it up in a neat 

compact.  The people of Idu’s kingdom were the last humans you would see before you came 

to the end of the world. 

Today some historians are even claiming that there are very strong probabilities that the 

same  Idu’s  group  may  have  come  in  from  the  disintegrating  communities  in  the  Nok  culture 

areas. Others claim that Idu came in from even further afield to the east. 

More so there are several hypothesis which attributes to Idu, the creation a theocratic 

system that eventually gave birth to the Ogie'Iso(Sky-king) dynasty. 
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Ogie’iso Igodo 

gie’Iso Igodo or Obagodo(Oba Igodo) as he was called by Chief Egharevba was 

the first monarch of the Ogie’Iso dynasty. 

O On the origin of Igodo, Talbot's History of Benin throws some light when he wrote 

in 1926 that according to tradition, the first king of the Benin country was Igudu, who lived at 

Udo. 

Ten years later, in 1936, Macre-Simpson also wrote that "Ogodo was swept from Ife by 

the great flood and landed at Udo” and Emokpae a Benin Historian wrote that Igodo came down 

from heaven and reigned at Udo for 25 years before coming to Benin. 

Meanwhile, Udo tradition claims that a man named Etebite whose wife was called Itewe 

founded Benin. Etebite’s father was called Ugbe and his mother was called Oye.  According to 

Udo tradition, Etebite and Oye were the founders of Udo itself in the distant past. 

Udo  traditions  also  claimed  that  when  the  Oredo  confederation  transformed  into  a 

kingdom,  it  headed  by  Igodo  who  is  an  indigene  of  Udo.  Igodo  became  the  first  Ogie'iso  of 

Oredo and he later renamed his new kingdom ‘Igidomingodo’. 

In Benin traditions, Igodo was the head of the group of blacksmiths residing at Eyan’ugie 

village a member the Oredo Confederacy. The accounts further claimed that his father Odudu 

hailed from Udo while his mother was said to be a native of Ugbekun another settlement of the 

Edo Confederacy. After a plague had wiped off most the elders in the confederated settlements, 

Igodo rose to prominence after.  He also used his position as the head of  the  Eyaen N’Ugie 

blacksmith  to  earn  himself  a  place  on  the  new  Odion'owere  Council  that  emerged  after  the 

plague. 

In recognition of Igodo’s sagacity, impartial judgments administrative acumen, the people 

began to ascribe to him the qualities of the king that rules the sky;  Oye vbe’Ogie N’ore Iso. 

Eventually, Igodo came to be addressed as Ogie’Iso or Ogiso, sky king. And naturally he 

assumed  the  position  of  the  foremost  Odionwere,  and  the  principal  Edion  N’ene  of  the 

community. Although, in the circle of the Edion N’ene Oba Igodo was treated as an equal but 

gradually the community’s spiritual and secular welfare became dependent on him.    
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Now a member of the highest authority in the land, Igodo started programme of political 

maneuvers that soon made him a leading figure in the Or’edo Odion’owere council.  According 

to Dr. O. S.B. Omoregie, Igodo created a “private army” of followers made up of younger men 

that he used effectively to enforce his will.  

However another account claims that  Igodo’s road to fame began when he affirmed that 

he was on a mission from God Almighty, and thus at Oredo supreme council of elders when he 

spoke his opinion invariably carried the day. His influence and status was further buoyed when 

he had directed that an elephant, which had been killed by Eyaen n’ugie blacksmiths, be shared 

amongst  all  the  quarters  in  Oredo.  This  remarkable  act  of  generosity  coupled  with  his 

impartiality prompted the citizens to start compare him to the king that lives in the sky, and thus 

began referring to him as ‘ogiso’, abbreviated from the phrase, Ọye vbe’ogie nọ re iso. 

Subsequently  he  became  the  most  revered  and  consulted  Odion’owere,  and  taking 

advantage of his fame he began to push for reforms in the socio-political structure of the Oredo 

confederacy. 

Initially  his  method  was  subtle  and  diplomatic  using  his  odibo’odionwere,  to  win  the 

hearts and minds of the populace. He was able to extend his influence into some quarters such 

as Ẹrriẹ, Iguisi, Ugboha, Iwegie, Ugbaguẹ, and Eyaenugie. Unfortunately as his authority and 

reputation  waxed,  he  became  more  aggressive  in  his  quest  for  supremacy,  employing  his 

private army that had been transformed into a quasi militia to harass and intimidate his rivals. 

This belligerent method obviously offended many edion and edion’owere, including even 

those of Idunmwun ivbioto. The majority of the communities east of the Ikpoba River and north 

of the Omi and Oteghele Rivers especially as Ugbowo, Ore’ogbeni and Evbo’orhiarhia however 

refused to be intimidated and they confronted his intrusion with an equally determined force. 

So faced with mounting discontent Igodo was forced to back down and he withdrew to 

his maternal grandfather’s residence at Ugbekun Quarters in the eastern outskirts of idunmwun 

ivbiotọ. Here he settled down and took over the custody of the Aro’Iso, and the neighbourhood. 

As Ohen’Iso and revered statesman, Igodo adopted a more conciliatory approach in his 

quest for power, and ultimately the Edion n’Ene were obliged to accept him as a contemporary. 

After  the  consolidation  of  his  hold  on  the  Edo  Confederacy,  Igodo  overthrew  the 

Edion'Owere  Council  and  transformed  himself  into  a  king  and  continued  to  consolidate  his 
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positions till he finally abolished the Odion’owere council rule and as soon as he became fully 

entrenched in both temporal and spiritual powers, Igodo reduced the Edion'owere further and 

restricted each Odion'owere priestly functions to officiating at their settlement’s Ogua'edion. He 

constituted a new council of state and incorporated the Edion N’isen into it. During the reign of 

his grandson Ogie’iso Ere this Council of State metamorphosed in the Edion’Uzama maded up 

of  the  Oliha,  Edohen,  Ezomo,  Ero  and  Eholo  N’Ire.  Now  fully  entrenched,  Igodo  ruled  his 

kingdom from a palace he built at Ugbekun his mother’s village. 

To effectively rule as a divinely ordained king, Ogie’iso Igodo took over the full control of 

the Aro’Erinmwin’idu;  the shrine housing the  altar dedicated to Idu the progenitor of  the Edo 

Royalty. Ogie’iso Igodo went even further as he   effectively   converted the royal ancestor worship 

of Erinmwin’idu into the State religion of the new kingdom.   After Ogie'iso Igodo had taken over 

the full control of Aro'Erinmwin'Idu, he elevated it above the Aro'Edion Edo the primordial altar 

dedicated  to  the  Collective  Ancestors  of  the  entire  Edo  people.  Ogie'iso  converted  the  royal 

ancestral worship into the state religion. 

At Ogie’Iso Igodo’s palace at Ugbekun quarters, he created new shrines and altars; and 

up graded the Aro’Iso, Altar of the sky, the shrine dedicated to the sky worship. To this day, the 

shrine is responsible for the propitation of the earth especially when a grave taboo has been 

broken in Benin City. This is the place where an heir apparent goes to ask for his coronation 

material.  In  the  past  every  reigning  Oba  spent  3  months  of  the  year  there  performing  rituals 

during the Ugie’iso festival. 

Today, the Ohen’Iso has both religious and political functions; though his main function 

is  during  the  Ugie  Iso  during  which  period  he  acts  as  the  officiating  priest  at  the  rituals  and 

ceremonies.    He  performs  the  sacrifices  acquainted  with  ritual,  prays  and  gives  thanks  to 

Osanobua and the ancestors for a successful year and prosperity in the in coming one. 

There is also a sacred farm, where the Ogie’iso and the Eghaevbo N’ene plant crops for 

the well being of the city and kingdom. A caretaker, known as Okhokho’Ugbo or Farm chicken, 

manages this farm.  The Egbo’Imose; the forest of magnificence is the execution place reserved 

for  offenders,  who  have  committed  grievous  offence  against  the  earth,  and  iloi  who  have 

committed adultery and Eki’Igbesamwan, wood-workers market were also there. There was a 
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shrine  where  sacrifices  are  offered  to  prevent  the  death  of  pregnant  women,  and  ward-off 

foreign invaders. 

In addition are the Eze N’ Ominikpo, a stream where during the Oba Era, the iloi end 

their  mourning  and  the  Osun  Uwu’igbede,  the  shrine  dedicated  by  Ogie’Iso  Igodo  himself. 

Located in the area is the site dedicated to Ovbiuke n’Ugbekun, the gate keeper at Ogie’iso’s 

harem at Ugbekun. 

The concept of Divine Kingship in Europe 

ith the kingdom now a theocratic state, Igodo effectively metamorphosed into a 

divine  king;  Ogie'iso,  a  sky-king  who  ruled  by  the  divine  authority  of  the 

W Osanobua the creator God who also lives in the sky. The word Ogie’Iso may 

have given origin to the Igbo word ‘Eze’Igwe’ meaning Sky-King.  It was as if Igodo took a cue 

from Clovis the Frankish king in far away Europe. 

It is pertinent to state here that about the same time Ogie’Iso Igodo established his rule 

in Edoland, the foundation of Frankish kings divine power was being laid by Clovis in Europe. 

As the Western Roman Empire collapsed, the Franks expanded slowly at first. Then Clovis not 

only occupied northern Gaul in 486 AD, he absorbed the Alemanni in 505 AD and defeated the 

Visigoths about 507 AD.  Clovis actually converted to orthodox Catholicism; it made the Franks 

the first major German tribe to accept the spiritual authority of the Roman Church as the other 

Germanic  tribesmen  were  Arian  Christians.  Clovis  became  the  closest  to  the  Patriarch,  the 

Pope in Rome itself. 

Clovis  I  was  king  of  the  Franks  from  481  to  511.  In  496  he 

converted  to  Christianity,  which  gained  him  the  support  of  the 

Roman Catholic Church for his conquests of other tribes in western 

and  central  Europe.  During  his  rule  Clovis  enlarged  the  Frankish 

territory to include most of modern France and Germany 

This was later viewed, as a portent for Frankish greatness as it was 

later claimed that a vial of oil descended from heaven to anoint and 

sanctify Clovis as King.                                                                Baptism of Clovis I 
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Thus "anointed" Kings of France later stoutly maintained that their authority was directly 

from  God,  without  the  mediation  of  either  the  Emperor  or  the  Pope.  Divine  Right  of  Kings, 

ancient doctrine that sovereigns are representatives of God and derive their right to rule directly 

from God. The concept was formulated from the theocracies of the East. 

In Europe before the Reformation, the monarch was considered God's representative in 

all  secular  matters.  Following  the  Reformation,  in  Protestant  countries,  the  ruler  filled  this 

function  in  religious  matters  also.  According  to  the  doctrine,  a  ruler's  power  is  not  subject  to 

secular limitation; the ruler is responsible only to God. 

The end of Ogie’is Igodo’s reign 

At  the  beginning  of  his  reign,  Ogie'iso  Igodo  ruled  over  a  kingdom  which  had  only 

incorporated  the  villages  and  settlements  within  the  Iya  enclosures  in  the  area  between  the 

Ikpoba  River  valley  and  the  Ogba  River  valley  and  by  the  middle  of  his  long  reign,  Ogie'iso 

Igodo’s kingdom swallowed more villages and settlements. 

At the end of his long reign, Igodo’s kingdom encompassed all the settlements between 

Ovia River and the Orhiomwon River.  Only Udo, Ogie’Iso Igodo’s hometown refused to submit 

to his rule. As he expanded into new realms, Ogie’Iso Igodo created dukedoms for his children. 

Ikhinmwin became the Enogie of Evbo’ikhimwin in what is now known as Esanland while his 

son  Ighile  founded  what  is  now  known  as  Ughelli  in  present  day  Urhoboland.  Another  son 

founded and became the first ruler of Oboro the present day Ubulu’uku. 

After a long reign, Igodo joined his ancestors and as a result of the death of his son and 

heir Ere his grandson became the Ogie'iso in his place. 

Ogie'iso Ere 450 AD?  

gie’Iso  Ere  was  the  greatest  ruler  of  Ogie'iso  dynasty.    His  contribution  to  the 

growth and development of the world renowned Edo Political Administration, Arts, 

O Culture and Technology cannot be over emphasized. 

Ogie’Iso Ere was the grandson of Ogie’iso Igodo and because of the early death of his 

father, Ogie’Iso Ere was raised by his mother Idusogie. 
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As a result of the opposition that characterized the beginning of his reign, Ogie'iso Ere 

transferred  the  seat  of  government  from  Ugbekun  to  the  new  palace  he  built  at 

Uhunmwun'Idunmwun; the main quarter, in the eastern part of the city. 

According  to  tradition,  the  palace  was  over  half  a  kilometre  long  and  about  a  quarter 

wide. It was composed of squares, courtyards, formal gateways, galleries, audience halls and a 

large harem. In the vicinity of this palace, he established a big and thriving market,    Ekiogiso, 

Ogiso’s market; as such   Oredo became an important commercial centre. 

In  his  new  palace,  he  re-organized  the  various  palace  functionaries  and  as  an  astute 

administrator, he instituted political, social and economic reforms that formed the base on which 

the superb Edo traditional administrative network was developed. 

Ogie'iso Ere also created the Benin symbols of Royalty, Power and Authority; the Ada 

and  Eben  and  strengthened  the  position  of  the  kingship,  by  introducing  many  of  the    royal 

insignia    that  are  still  in  use  in  Benin  City  till  date.  Some  of  these  are  Ede,  beaded  crown, 

Odigba, beaded collars and eguen, beaded  anklets. Also included are ekete, the bronze and 

leather  throne,  agba  the  wooden  rectangular  royal  stool,  ezuzu,  round  leather  fan,  and 

ekpopkin, leather cylindrical box. 

Dr. O. S. B. Omoregie wrote that Ogie’Iso Ere instituted the Edion n’Isen; five elders of 

state to replace the defunct Odibo'Odion’owere and Odion'owere council. He gave them titles 

such as Oliha, Edohen, Ezomo, Ero and Eholo N'irre. These royal insignia were for the Ogie’iso 

and members of the Edion N’ene but only the Ogiso had the exclusive right to use the Ede and 

ekete. 

As  a  part  of  the  reorganization  of  administration,  Ogie’Iso  Ere  also  created  the 

Ibie'eguae; a group of young males from which he selected the Emu’ada; Scepter bearers, the 

Uko N’urho, the Gate keepers as well as the Uko N’Errie, the Eunuchs at the gates of the royal 

harem.  Ogie'iso Ere also created the Avbiogbe guild that combined the jobs of Town criers, 

Land surveyors and Commissioners. 

Ogie'Iso  Ere  was  a  man  committed  to  peace  and  to  achieve  his  dream  of  universal 

peace  he  created  from  the  Avbiogbe  guild  a  unit  of  Peace  and  Law  enforcement  officers  to 

maintain his ban on all forms of quarrelling and rancor. The combined efforts of the Avbiogbe 

Guild  created  the  Pax  Benin  of  Ere;  a  period  of  peace  and  tranquility.  Their  slogan  and 
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watchword  was  "A  wua  Ne  Ere"  It  is  forbidden  by  Ere.  The  mere  presence  of  these  Peace 

Officers brought about the desired peace. 

He was an innovator and his administrative genius created the Guild system. Notably 

amongst  these  guilds  were  the  Ileme  or  Iron  Smelters,  the  Agbede  or  Blacksmiths,  the 

Isekpokin or Leather workers, the Igbesanmwan or Wood workers, the Ogbe'eni  or Elephant 

hunters at Ore'Ogbe'eni quarters on the Ikpoba hill.  The other guilds were the Imakhe; Potters 

of  Use  and  Oka  villages  and  the  Owina'Ido  the  weavers.      An  Okao  headed  each  of  these 

guilds.  

The Guilds of Ere 

Ileme:  

Long before the Edo people came into the rainforest zone to reside permanently, their 

metallurgists used to come into the rainforest periodical y led by the pathfinders called Aren'ode. 

They  came  into  the  rainforest  in  search  of  a  better  source  of  wood  which  is  the  main  raw 

materials  required  for  the  production  of  the  charcoal  needed  in  the  furnaces  of  their  iron-

smelting workshops in the circuit of the Nok civilisation in the present day Middle Belt of modern 

Nigeria.  

Before 100 AD., the iron smelters setup the first iron working 

settlement at the area that became Igun Eyan’Ugie village long before 

the other Edo tribes came into the forest zone.  They were known as 

‘Ileme’; the word or name Eme is the old Edo name for iron and the 

name “Eme’aton” means the heated iron. 

Iron Smelters                     

Thus the name Ile’eme means those who extract iron from the ore by heating it.  Later 

the  Ileme  found  deposit  of  iron  ore  in  Itakpe  in  the  present  day  Kogi  State  of  Nigeria  and 

northern areas of the present day Edo State. The deposits were made up of Ukuan the soft and 

easily workable raw ore and hard ore called Akpadan in Edo language.  Another raw material 

was the Akhuer’eson whose final products rust easily.        
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Igbede  

During  his  reign,  Ogie'iso  Ere  organized  the  Blacksmiths  into  guilds.  They  were  at 

Igun'Ematon  popularly  known  as  Idunmwun’Igun  N’Ekhua,  Idunmwun’Igun  N’Eyaen'ugie  and 

the nearby settlements of Ugboha, and Uselu. The Inneh headed each of these  





Owina:     

The  wood  Carvers  were  constituted  into  a  guild  called  Owina  and  they 

fashioned the early religious wooden artifacts that were used in various altars  

and shrines. The Owina were also the early carpenters that crafted the basic 

household’s wooden utilities .  

Uhunmwun’Agbo(Ancebstral Head) 

Igbesanmwan  

The Ivory carvers are called the Igu'osama or Igbesanmwan as they were 

later  known.  From  the  Elephant  tusks  provided  by  the  hunters  of 

Ore'ogbeni,  the  Igbesanmwan  craftsmen  produced  the  various  ivory  art 

forms and utility objects.                An Ivory Memorial Tusk          

Both guilds are in existence.  During the Oba Era, the Igbesanmwan were organised into a 

tightly-controlled  hereditary  guild.  They  worked  within  the  inner  wall  of  the  palace  compound 

and their proximity to the palace was closer even than the brass workers guild. 



Ogbe'eni: 

Ogbe'eni,  the  Elephant  hunter’s  guild  was  quartered  at 

Ore'Ogbeni a village located on the Ikpoba Hill. 

From  their  base  at  Ore’Ogbeni  these  daring  hunters 

embanked  on  the  daunting  hunting  expeditions  to  kill  the  Forest 

elephant  (Loxodanta Africana Cylotis) and the Savanna elephant 
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(Loxodanta Africana).   Initially those daring hunters used the bow and poisoned arrows and 

later after the gun were introduced during the reign of Oba Ozolua r. 1481  - 1504; they used 

harpoons tipped with poisons that were fired from the Dane guns and muskets. 

As it is in many traditional African states, the supremacy of the ruler was expressed by 

his  monopolisation  of  the  ivory  trade  or  of  ivory  ownership.  Ivory  was  much  desired  as  a 

legitimizing material for Africa's rulers. 

Almost unbreakable it served as a symbol for immortality, power and strength.  

In Benin, one tusk from every elephant killed had to be given to the Oba and the other 

tusk had to be offered to the Oba for sale. This enabled the Oba to amass a large treasury of 

ivory and thereby control the ivory market. Such tusks were then carved with King's marks to 

denote their royal status. 

Isekpokin: 

The Leather Workers of the Isekpokin guild produced bags, Ekpokin the 

round Benin leather boxes, Ezuzu the leather fans and Itoli the leather kilts used 

by men.                                                        Ezuzu the leather fan 

Imakhe 

The potters were also formed into guilds at the villages of 

Oka  and  Use.  Their  products  were  mainly  household  utensils 

such  as  the  earthenwares; 

Uwawa;  the  cooking  pots,  Adaka; 

the serving bowls, cups and Akhe 

the water containers. 

                                          Potters at Oka 

Pots at Use     

Owina'Ido:  

During  the  reign  of  Ogie'Iso  Ere  Owina'Ido  the  weavers  and  textile  workers  were 

organized  guilds  in  three  locations  in  rural  areas  of  the  growing  city-state  of  Oredo.          The 

cloths  woven  and  dyed  were  locally  consumed.  Later  in  the  16th.  Century,  as the  hither-land 
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trade developed, textiles from the Olukumi, Nupe, Igbirra, Idoma and 

Jukun  areas  brought  into  the  Benin  kingdom  by  the  long  distance 

traders  called  Ekhen'Egbo,  were  exported  to  the  rest  of  the  world 

through 

the 

entreport 

of 

Benin. 

The Edo hand loom                        



Isu’Ekhen:  

The  Isu'ekhen  were  the  Trader's  Guardsmen  organized  for 

Ekhen'Egbo the Long distance Traders of Benin and they provided the 

required  protection  for  the  women  along  the  great  rainforest  and  the 

Savanna  routes  to  the  Idoma  and  Jukun  markets  of  the  Benue  River 

valley,  the  Olukumi  markets  of  Oyo  Ile  and  Ilorin  and  the  hither  land 

markets of Bida.                                                     Isu’Ekhen  

The finished products and other trade items from the Olukumi, Igabai, Igala and Jukun 

lands were brought into the kingdom by these long distance traders called Ekhen'Egbo.   

To facilitate his trade policies, Ogie’iso Ere constructed new roads especially to the west 

and the northeast. These new roads greatly improved communication.  Some of these ancient 

routes survived to this day and one of such routes is the Benin–Udo-Oke’Igbo route. 

One of these roads started at Ughoton at Benin River and ended at Ikpe on the banks of 

the Orhiomwon River.  Others were the roads going the eastern  part to the  Eka Chiefdom  of 

Agbor on the banks of the Orhoghodo River, to Urho n’igbe in the Iyeke’Orhionmwon territories 

and to Evbo’Ikhinmwin in Esanland.  During the Oba era these routes became the King’s Roads 

and  were  maintained  by  the  ighele  class  of  the  villages  they  passed  through  and  the  most 

important of these routes featured prominently during the era of the Benin-Overseas Trade.   . 

He encouraged agricultural development that in no small way increased productivity and 

boosted rural development and the people’s spiritual lives were also enhanced.  He encouraged 

religious activities by supporting the propitiation and worship of local deities. 

Towards the end of his glorious reign, Ogie'iso Ere created dukedoms for members of 

his  family  and  retainers.  This  was  to  ensure  that  there  was  good  governance  in  the 
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Iyeke'Ikpoba, Iyeke'Ogba, Iyeke’Orhionmwon and Iyeke'Ovia territories.  Some of these dukes 

are the Enigie of Ihinmwinrin, Avbiama, Ute, Ekae, Utesi, Oka, Ukpira, Omi, Ahor and Ebue. 

They maintained the peace, officiated at the worship in the local Erinmwin’Idu altars on behalf of 

the Ogie’Iso and their subjects. 

When Ogie'Iso Ere joined the ancestors, he had successfully laid the foundations that 

later made Benin the greatest kingdom in the West African rainforest region. 



Ogie'iso Orire circa 500 AD? 

gie'iso Orire succeeded Ere his father at a tender age and he was assisted in the 

governance  by  the  Council  of  Elders  till  he  attained  maturity.  On  assuming  his 

O throne, Ogie'iso Orire followed in the traditions of his father by ensuring good 

governance. Orire was relatively young when he was crowned ogie’so hence he was known as 

Orire n’ekhere, Orire the young.   Orire inherited a stable and secure kingdom with a healthy 

economy, thus he was mainly engaged in the expansion and beautification of the palace. 

He  reorganised  Igodomigodo’s  political  structure  by  appointing  non-royal  persons, 

mostly prominent citizens, as enigie that were only answerable to the ogiso, and were granted 

extensive authority that made the edionwere in their districts subordinates. 

Thus,  a  three-tier  type  of  administration  was  introduced  in  many  of  the  kingdom’s 

villages  and  settlements,  and  this  innovation  apart  from  strengthening  Orire’s  authority  and 

influence  extended  the  kingdom  authority  to  even  distant  ethnic  communities.  Later  he  also 

enhanced the powers the Enigie and he made the Edion'owere subordinate to the Enigie in the 

rural dukedoms. He died after a fruitful reign 
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Chapter Two 

Edion’owere Ogie’iso 


ccording to Chief  Osemwingie Ero, the influence of  the Edion’owere Ogie’Iso that 

‘ruled’  in  Oredo  for  about  three  hundred  years  was  more  or  less  confined  to  the 

A Oredo metropolis, and their succession, which was significantly influenced by the 

Edion, was based on gerontocracy. 

Many  of  them  are  only  remembered  for  some  fleeting  or  exceptional  events  that  took 

place during their time in office, and most of them were already old and ruled for a relatively 

short  time  as  a  result  only  the  chronicles  of  a  few  can  be  recounted  with  some  degree  of 

accuracy. In addition the chronological records of these Ogie’iso vary from quarters to quarters, 

as  there  are  still  some  discrepancies  in  the  chronology  of  the  ogisos  among  writers  and 

narrators. 

While some of  them  insist that  the first nominated or democratically  selected Ogie’iso 

was  Odia,  the  Odion’owere  of  Ire  Quarters,  there  are  those  that  believe  it  was  Ogbeide  the 

Odion’owere of Ugbague The fact that Odia is credited with the rebuilding of the Ogie’iso palace 

at Uhunmwun’idunmwun, may lend weight to the argument that he was the first  Odion’owere 

Ogie’iso. 

Ogie’Iso Odia 

dia  was  Ohen’Ore,  a  priest  of  the  deity;  Ore(Ikpoba)  a  diviner  and  mystic.    He 

reigned  for  only  five  years.  He  was  succeded  by  Ighido,  the  Odion’owere  of 

O Idunmwun’Igun N’Ugboha, one of the iron and metal workers communities of 

Oredo. 
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Ogie’Iso Ighido 

gie’Iso Ighido was a celebrated blacksmith and a priest of the deityOgun. On his 

death  after  a  largely  uneventful  reign  the  Evbuobo,  Odion’owere  of 

O Idunmwun’Ikpokpan, was chosen as Ogie’iso. 

Ogie’Iso Evbuobo 

gie’iso Evbuobo  was a famous musician, and largely remembered for introducing 

the agba, a large bass drum, for summoning meetings at the palace. Though the 

O Edion’owere Ogie’iso were not accepted as paramount rulers initially but 

apparently the restitution of a sort of ceremonial priest-king established some degree of social 

and  political  stability  in  Oredo  and  without  doubt  a  political  and  cultural  renaissance  was 

reestablished in the metropolis. 

Consequently this prompted a rivalry among the city’s Edionwere, thus when Evbuobo 

died, the Edion’owere of Ugbague and Ukhegie contested vigorously for the office and hence 

for several months an ogie’iso could not be installed. The crisis was however resolved with the 

sudden and mysterious death of the Odion’owere of Ugbague. 

Egie’Iso Ogbeide & Emehe 

is  rival,  Ogbeide,  an  Ohen’osun,  Osun  priest  who    some  historians  claim  to  have 

been  the  father  of  Ighile  who  became  the  first  Ovie  of  Ughelli  was  subsequently 

H installed ogie’iso. Ogbeide was succeeded by Emehe, a skilled diviner, and the 

Odion’owere of Idunmwun Emẹhẹ. 

Ogie’Iso Ekpoigho 

kpigho,  the  Odion’owere  of  Use  community  became  the  next  Ogie’iso.  His 

nomination was strongly opposed by a majority of the populace because he was a 

E wealthy and astute moneylender. 

According to some authorities, Ogie’iso Ekpigho introduced pawning and a bondage system 

known as Iyọha into Oredo. 
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Ogie’Iso Akhuankhuan 

He was succeeded by Akhuankhuan, a travelling merchant and the Odion’owere of 

Iguisi,  Prior  to  his  installation  as  Ogie’iso,  he  was  already  famous  for  his 

H exceptional sanitary and prudent lifestyle. It was Ogie’Iso Akhuankhuan who 

introduced austerity measures about 620 AD and preached prudence in everyday affairs of his 

subjects. 

Ogie’Iso Efeseke 

khuankhuan’s successor Efeseke was the Odion’owere of Urubi. He was a very 

wealthy livestock farmer and he was the king who brought back royal extravagance 

A and introduced the Ewae system into the Benin polity. 



Ogie’Iso Irudia 

rudia,  the  Odion’owere  of  Egor,  succeeded  Efeseke.  He  was  elected  by  the  Edion 

n’Ene after a much contested election that involved the Odion’owere of Oka and that 

I of Ikpokpan. Ogie’iso Irudia however turned out to be a poor choice because he only 

summoned meeting at the insistence of the Edion n’Ene. 

Ogie’Iso Orria 

gie’iso  Orria  was  a  famous  elephant  hunter  and  Odion’owere  of  Oreọgbeni.  He 

was popularly known as Orria n’ukoko Eni because he caught, tamed and trained 

O elephants for domestic purposes. It is also claimed that he introduced the practice 

of decorating ancestral shrines and altars with elephant tusks. 
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Egie’Iso Imarhan, Etebowe & Odion 

gie’iso  Orria  was  succeeded  by  Imarhan,  the  Odion’owere  of  Oka.  Ogie’iso 

Imarhan  was  a  famous  potter.  Etebowe,  the  Odion’owere  of  Oroghotodin,  was 

O appointed as as his successor, and  is only remembered as a famous wrestler in 

his youth. When he passed away, Odion, the Odion’owere of Ukhegie, was elected Ogie’iso. 

Odion was reputed to have been a famous hunter, a chronicler and philosopher. 

Ogie’Iso Emose 

Odion  was  succeeded  by  Eyotor,  better  known  as  Ogie’iso  Emose.  Several 

sources claim that he was a woman. This claim is however not correct because the 

O Edo culture was and still is strictly patrilineal. The truth is that Eyoto’s mother, 

Emose,  was  a  wealthy  and  famous  trader,  and  Eyoto  became  popularly  known  as  ‘Ovbi 

Emose’. During his reign the Oredo confederation  was able to regain her pre-eminent position 

in the region and hence Eyoto rightfully earned the praise name Eyotor n’oma gie owa de. He 

also  immortalised  his  mother  by  dedicating  a  sacred  grove;  Ugbo  Emose  to  her  memory  in 

Ugbekun. 

Ogie’Iso Orhoro 

rhorho  the  Odion’owere  of  Eyaen’ugie  succeeded  Ogie’iso  Emose.  According  to 

Egharevba,  Orhorho  was  a  woman  and  a  despotic  ruler  who  was  subsequently 

O assassinated.  However other sources claimed that Orhorho was a man. Orhorho 

was a blacksmith, a priest to the deity Ogun, a travelling merchant and a philosopher. 

Although Orhorho was not oldest Odion’owere in the conferderacy, Edion n’ene chose 

him  because  of  his  personal  achievement  and  competence.  He  chiefly  remembered  for  his 

promotion of metal works in Oredo during his tenure in office. 
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Ogie’Iso Irrebor 

rrebor,  the  Odionwere  of  Okhorho,  succeeded  Orhorho  as  Ogie’iso.  He  was  a  boat 

maker and the Ohen’ Olokun. On Erebọ’s death, the edion n’ene elected Ogbe’omo, 

I the Odion’owere of Ugbowo, as Ogie’iso. Ogbe’omo hailed from the Utekon area to the 

northwest of the Oredo metropolis. He was an Ohen’osun and a skilled herbalist, gynaecologist 

and paediatrician. Thus he was popularly known as the father of children. 

The next set of reigns passed in quick succession. 

Agbonzeke, the Odion’owere of Uselu, was elected as Ogbe’omo’s successor. He was a 

poet-philosopher  and  chronicler  was  a  highly  cultured  man.  Ogie’iso  Ediae,  a  seasoned 

administrator, succeeded him. Ediae was the Ine and Odion’owere of Igbesanmwan. During his 

reign, he greatly promoted the making of mnemonics for use in ancestral shrines. 

Ogie'Iso Ediae was succeded by Ogie’Iso Origba who re-entrenched the primogeniture 

law. 

Ogie’iso Orriagba 

hen Ediae died, , there was political turmoil as the Edion’owere from the various 

quarters  jostled  for  the  ogie’iso  title.    After  almost  two  year  of  political  power 

W struggle, the Edion n’ene were able to choose a suitable candidate, and their 

favoured candidate was Oriagba, the Odion’owere of Oroghotodin community. 

Orriagba  was  an  exceptional  individual  who  achieved  great  success  and  fame  as  a 

young man in almost all walks of life.. Thus when he became the odionwere of Oroghotodin, his 

retainers; ekhaemwen, avbiogbe and odibo-odionwere, were drawn from all quarters of Oredo, 

and  by  the  time  he  was  appointed  ogie’iso,  Orriagba  was  already  an  influential  figure  and  a 

household name within metropolis and even beyond. 

Relatively young when he was installed Ogie’iso Orriagba began to initiate wide-ranging 

socio-political  reforms  that  were  aimed  at  re-establishing  Oredo  as  the  leading  political  and 

commercial hub of the region. 
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He reconstituted the  Oredo’s decision-making body the Iko-edionwere by barring non-

titled members from contesting for the exalted office, and then created two councils made up of 

members of the Eroghae and Ighele age groups to augment the Iko’edion’owere assembly. 

These  steps  apparently  further  enhanced  his  popularity  hence  when  he  made  two 

audacious moves steps that no odionwere ogiso ever took sent by he sending Odoligie, his first 

son, to Ughoton to be groomed as a possible successor and installed his second son, Enowe, 

as the enogie of Ikhinmwinrin there was no opposition from the edion’owere in Oredo nor the 

enigie of Oredo’s immediate communities. 

However the city-states of Iguabode, Udo and Urhonigbe viewed Orriagba reforms and 

innovations as imperialistic moves and refused to recognise him as a true king in the mould of 

Ere. 

The  Enogie  of  Iguabode  showed  his  contempt  openly  by  kidnapping  a  bride  that  had 

been betrothed to Orriagba, and the city-state of Udo applied economic pressure on Oredo by 

imposing high taxes of the city-state’s ekhen’egbo traveling through her territories.. 

During the age of the Odion’owere Ogie’iso, the economic and political growth stagnated 

in Oredo as Udo grew into an independent and flourishing cultural and commercial center with a 

formidable militia. The city state enjoyed a trade most of the territories from the banks of the 

Ovia River northwards to the Oha River and westwards to the Ohosu River. 

Ogie’iso  Orriagba  wisely  restrained  from  any  open  conflict  with  his  powerful  northern 

neighbour but created a guild known as Esu’ekhen, whose main preoccupation to escort and 

protect Oredo’s far distance merchants from bandits during their journeys. 
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Chapter Three 

City-State Rivary in Edoland  


he death of Ogie'iso Orire created an interregnum and for almost two centuries, the 

monarchs  ruled  Igodomigodo  as  Odion’owere-Ogie’iso.    The  ensuing  political 

T deadlock led to a gradually collapse of the nascent kingdom and eventually she 

ceased to exist as a homogeneous entity. Some powerful enigie and ekaoevbo took advantage 

of the turmoil and chaos to break all political ties with Ilẹ, create their fiefdoms and even began 

to annex the communities of their weaker counterparts. 

Some  Edo  oral  historians  and  writers  argues  that  it  was  during  these  uncertain  and 

unstable times that the earthworks (iya N’Uwu) were first constructed, and they claimed that the 

iya served both as boundary markers and defensive barriers for the independent settlements, 

city-states  and  mini-kingdoms  that  emerged  from  the  ruins  of  Igodomigodo.  The  region’s 

political  structure  effectively  reverted  to  the  pre-Igodo  times  and  a  majority  of  the  distant 

subordinate chiefdoms in the areas known today as the Ivbi’esakon, Akoko, Urhobo, Isoko and 

Oru clans were able to achieve a near total political and religious autonomy. 

Meanwhile others citystates such as Urhonigbe, Ughọtọn, Iguabode and Udo, created 

new polities as they extended their influence over their weaker neighbours. Urhonigbe and Udo 

apparently  developed  distinct  militaristic  socio-political  systems,  and  soon  became  new 

religious, trade and political centres that soon rivalled Oredo. 

UrhoN’igbe  



rho  n’igbe,  the  ‘Ten  gated  city-state’,  are  situated  on  the  Olokun  River  (Ethiope 

River)  and  Urhonigbe  was  one  of  the  Edo  peoples’  two  major  Olokun  worship 

U centres, and the other was Ughoton. 

Urhonigbe  played  a  major  role  in  the  religious  life  of  the  eastern  and  south-eastern 

territories  and  belongs  to  those  Edo  communities  called  Evbo’Uwhenrhien,  primordial 
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settlements  that  were  founded  aboriginal  Edo  people.  Urhonigbe  was  probably  was  founded 

about the same time as the Oredo Confedracy. 

During  the  reign  of  Ogie’Iso  Orire  entrusted  Urhonigbe  with  the  task  of  controlling 

kingdom’s eastern borders inhabited by the Oru or Ukwu’ani clans. Before the ermergence of 

the  Ogie’Iso  dynasty,  Urhonigbe  arguably  developed  independently  of  Ore’Edo  into  an 

autonomous and powerful city-state probably with a number of outposts and influence that may 

have stretched to the Niger Delta. All the same Urhonigbe maintained very close political and 

religious ties with Oredo, at least during the Igodo dynasty. 

Urhonigbe remained essentially an age-grade democracy and was administered by an 

odionwere and a junta of four non-hereditary ekaokuo (sing. okaokuo), and apparently she had 

a regular and potent militia.  This political and military evolution seem to a large extent to have 

been influenced by her hostile eastern neighbours the Oru and Ukwani peoples. 

Udo  

he Udo Citystate also started as an evbo Uwhenrhien, a primordial settlement that 

some historians and anthropologists consider as Oredo’s  twin city. The city-state 

T of Udo appears to have evolved form an age-grade democracy into a quasi-

monarchical system. 

There are however so many unresolved questions about the early history of Udo, and 

most  crucially  is  how  and  why  she  develop  into  a  militarised  society.  Unfortunately  these 

questions  may  never  be  answered  because  the  city-state  has  suffered  at  least  three  major 

invasions by Benin and suffered near total destruction each occasion. 

The  true  history  of  Udo  may  never  be  known.  What  is  certain  is  that  the  three  near 

destructions would have altered a substantial part of her culture and distorted her history.  Udo 

definitely has some traits that distinguished her from Edo and many of her neighbours that may 

lend  some  hints  to  her  past.  The  city-state  earthworks  system  stand-alone  and  there  are  no 

other system or network in the entire Iyeke’Ovia. 

It is also known that unlike many other Igodomigodo communities, Udo never accepted 

Edo’s sovereignty nor acknowledged any Ogie’Iso as overlord nor did any king in Oredo send a 
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son or a representative to the city-state as enogie till the reigns of Oba Oguola and Oba Ozolua 

after almost 1000 years later. 

It  is  generally  believed  that  the  rift  between  Edo  and  Udo  developed  when  Ogie’Iso 

Igodo chose to establish a monarchy in Oredo rather than in Udo  All the same, Udo severed all 

political and to some extent religious association with Oredo during the post Orire chaotic period 

in  the  region  and  Udo  grew  into  the  most  powerful  and  influential  city-state  northwestern 

Edoland.  During  the  reign  of  Ogie'Iso  Evbovbo,  the  system  fell  apart  and  as  a  result  of 

breakdown of law and order, Udo declared her independence and Aigbeobo was installed the 

Ogie'udo. 
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Chapter Four 

Ogie'iso Odoligie circa 800 AD? 


The 1st. Edo Empire 

he apogee of the Ogie'Iso dynasty was the reign of Ogie'iso Odoligie. He was a 

military genius within whose reign, the Edo kingdom created a sphere of influence 

T that did not only re-incorporated all the settlements between the Orhionmwon 

River in the east and the Ovia River in the west but also pushed it to beyond the Orhoghodo 

River to Igbo territories and to Igue’abode in Iyeke’Orhionmwon. 

Ogie'Iso Odoligie succeded his father Orriagba. 

The Edo people consider Odoligie as one of the greatest ogie’iso in Benin history, and 

his name, which means restorer of the monarchy, aptly embodies the  Edo people belief  that 

their kings are predestined born to be kings. 

Odoligie installation as his father’s successor was an unparalleled feat and hence it drew 

fierce opposition not only from Oredo inhabitants who were then accustomed to having a titular 

ruler, but also from the outlying settlements, villages and city-states. 

Ogie'Iso Odoligie was a visionary, who was determined to reunite all Igodomigodo and 

restore Edo to her preminent posoition in the region. On assuming the throne Ogie'Iso Odoligie 

firmly stamped his authority in Oredo by brutally crushing all forms of opposition. 

The  most  significant  factor  responsible  for  Ogie'iso  Odoligie's  spectacular  military 

successes that resulted in the expansion of his kingdom was the creation of a standing army. 

Under Ogie'iso Odoligie,  Igodomiigodo became an empire that incorporated all the neighbours 

under Edo leadership. 

Firstly he upgraded the Esu’ekhen guild, by integrating the Avbiogbe and Ogbeni guilds 

into it, into a new guild, whose sole purpose was to go to his wars.  Then he appointed Esagho, 
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Iken and Olou, three of his most trusted chiefs as the military commanders of the new guild of 

warriors; Iyokhuo. 

Furthermore, he was also able to persuade several enigie notably Ogie’ama, Ogie’ogbon 

and Ogie’odu to integrate their Avbiogbe guilds into the new guild and the development  of  a 

superior tactics. 

His army fought with a cavalry of elephants trained by the Ogb'eni (Elephant hunters) 

guild  at  Ore'Ogbeni  village  on  the  Ikpoba  Hill.  These  elephants  were  captured  young  and 

trained at the Ore'Ogbeni quarters on the Ikpoba Hill. 

So with a formidable military at his bidding Ogie'iso Odoligie sent emissaries to all enigie 

and  edion’owere  in  entire  region  to  accept  his  authority  as  the  overlord  of  region,  and 

apparently a majority of the communities accepted him as their overlord but Udo and Urhonigbe 

refused to do so.   Udo being Oredo’s most powerful rival, constituted the greatest and most 

imminent threat to Odoligie’s objective. 

The city-state’s enogie at the time was Okpe, and according to oral history, Okpe was a 

renowned  warrior  and  a  cruel  tyrant,  who  encouraged  and  promoted  martial  arts,  such  as 

wrestling and archery in Udo. Although some traditions claim that during this period Udo was in 

the process of state building, there are other accounts  say that the Udo city-state already had a 

firm control of practically all the towms and villages west and northwest of the Ovia River who 

were paying tributes to her. 

Hence  there  are  some  truths  in  the  claims  that  Oredo-Udo  war  was  not  prompted  by 

Ogie'iso  Odoligie’s  desire  for  a  political  unification  of  the  region  or  response  to  the  alledged 

Okpe’s avowed destruction of Edo but rather the yearning for direct control of the trade routes 

to the lucrative markets of the Ilaje, Akoko, Akpe and Ekhue Chiefdoms. 

The first Edo-Udo War 

he 1st. Edo-Udo war lasted for about three years and in the end Udo’s formidable 

military was crushed and her defeated soldiers taken to Oredo as prisioners of war. 

T  Enogie Okpe, his wife, Oye, according to Udo narratives, the first woman 

warrior  in  Udo,  who  accompanied  him  on  his  war  campaigns,  Akpoka  and  Igbile,  his  war 

commanders, were all killed. 
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Udo, including many of her vassals such as Essi, Izide and Ikoka were plundered and 

razed  to  the  ground,  and  the  entire  Iyekovia  was  brought  under  Ogie'iso  Odoligie’s  absolute 

control. 

Edo victory can be attributed to Ogie'iso Odoligie’s army’s numerical strength that was 

augmented  by  the  militias  provided  by  the  enigie  of  Okhuokhuo  and  Ughoton,  and  also  a 

mercenary army led by the Owegie of Iguabode. 

Furthermore  the  Ogbeni  guild’s  war  elephants,  poisoned  arrows  and  spears  proved 

invaluable on many occasions such as crossing of the Ovia River at Unuame, routing of Udo’s 

forces at Ova and Utoka, and the crushing defeat at Ikoka of Udo regiments that were led by 

Oye,  Akpoka  and  Igbile.  One  very  crucial  factor  however  was  the  refusal  by  many  of  Udo’s 

vassal communities to offer resistance to Odoligie’s invading forces. 

Edo-(Iguabode)Urhonigbe War  

lthough Ogie'iso Odoligie’s decisive military victory compelled many communities in 

Iyeke’orhionmwon to accept  Ogie'iso Odoligie’s suzerainty,  Urho n’igbe and some 

A others did so grudgingly. 

Edo’s war with Urhonigbe according to some accounts was prompted by the city-state 

appointment  of  her  Ekao’okuo  without  Ogie'iso  Odoligie’s  approval.  However  the  military 

campaign against Urhonigbe and her allied communities was shelved. 

When Owegie, the Enogie of Iguabode, Odoligie’s erstwhile ally stopped paying tributes 

and even encouraged some other villages in the neighbourhood to follow suit. 

All  attempts  to resolve  the  conflict  peacefully  suffered  a  setback  when  Owegie  began 

annexing several of the neighbouring communities that were apparently loyal to Edo. 

The Edo-Iguabode war was a bitter campaign that lasted for about four years. Owegie’s 

armies were not only familiar with Odoligie’s war tactics but also had the knowledge and skills to 

control nature’s forces. The Iguabode armies held down Ogie'iso Odoligie’s army at the banks 

of  the  Orhionmwon  River  for  some  months,  and  almost  destroyed  Odoligie’s  famed  war 

elephant regiments. 

Ogie'iso  Odoligie’s  armiy  however  were  able  to  regain  the  offensive  and  crossed  the 

Orhionmwon River into Owegie’s domain but by the time they eventually captured Iguabode’s 
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capital, the city-state had been deserted.  The empty streets of Iguabode led to the Edo saying 

‘ gha yaen Ughe Iguabode “who owns the main streets of Iguabode”?  

Using the ability to control the forces of nature, Iyeke’orhionmwon army inflicted severe 

hardship and causalities on Ogie'iso Odoligie’s invading forces, and the invaders were forced to 

abandon Iguabode. 

In the end after about two-year war of attrition, with neither side having a key advantage, 

the renegade enogie was assassinated by some of his men who then sued for peace.   Soon 

after the end of the Iguabode War, Ogie'iso Odoligie’s army marched deep into Iyekorhionmwon 

establishing total authority in the region. 

Ogie'iso Odoligie did not meddle with the religious nor socio-political inclinations of his 

conquered foes; an indirect rule system was established region. The subdued rulers were only 

obliged to pay tributes and homage to  Oredo, and barred them from creating ekhaemwen or 

imposing trade duties on their neighbours without Ogie'iso Odoligie’s consent. 

In addition, he stripped them of the power of life and death over their subjects. However 

rulers  that  had  offered  very  stiff  resistance  to  his  army,  Odoligie  replaced  with  his  war 

commanders, and created uko;  special  envoys to keep an eye on the  new vassals  and also 

enforce the collection of tributes and taxes. 

The encounter with Urhonigbe was a near disaster, Ogie'iso Odoligie’s army, even with 

the support of the Oru people, Urhonigbe’s mortal enemy, suffered a series of defeats and was 

effectively kept out of the city-state for several months. 

The  conflict  eventually  was  resovled,  by  intervention  of  the  Iyeke’orhionmwon  Enigie 

and elders who called for a peace talk at Umagbae. Although Ogie’Iso Odoligie was deprived of 

a military victory, at the Umagbae conference he won a very big concession, 

Urhonigbe  agreed  to  recognise  him  as  overlord  and  pay  tributes  and  in  addition  Oru 

people lost their autonomy as their territories were incorporated into Igodomigodo. 

Ogie'iso  Odoligie’s  kingdom  now  extended  from  Ohosu  River  in  the  northwest  to  the 

Niger delta in the southeast . 

At the end of his campaigns, Odoligie was in control of  all the towns and villages beyond 

the Eka speaking chiefdom of Agbor by the Orhoghodo River in the east and to Udo. 
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With the re-conquest of Udo, all Iyeke'Ovia including the lands bordering the Oha/Siluko 

Rivers in the west were once more Edo vassals.                     

A History of War Elephants 

ne of the earliest depictions of an elephant in Middle Eastern history appears on 

Shalmanezer's  black  obelisk    dated  around 

O 860 BC. The scene is that of Shalmanezer 

receiving  tribute,  presumably  from  Egypt  (Musr).  The 

illustration of the elephant and monkeys makes clear the 

artist was not familiar with these wonderful beasts.  While 

the elephant seems to have been unknown in the Middle 

East,  from  Indian  records  we  learn  that  the  Asian 

elephant was used in battle as early as 1100 B.C.                        The African Elephant  

During  the  exploits  of  Alexander  the  Great,  the  Greek 

army met the Persian army at the battle of Gaugamela, where 

they  faced  fifteen  elephants.  This  was  the  first  time  the 

Europeans  had  come  up  against  war  elephants.          Later  in 

India, the Macedonians had to face up to 200 elephants at the 

battle  of  Hydaspes  in  modern  Pundjab  in  326  BC.  They  were 

lined up at 30-meter intervals in front of the whole army. Their 

prime object then, as it was later, was to stop the cavalry.  The 

horses do not like the smell of elephants. The Macedonian light 

infantry first attacked the elephants with javelins, trying to kill the 

animals or the drivers.                                                          The Battle of Gaugamela                       

Finally,  Alexander  gave  orders  for  the  rear  half  of  the  phalanx  to  move  up  into  the 

intervals  between  the  files  to  form  locked  shields  formation,  presenting  the  elephants  with  a 

mass of spears, and in this formation, they drove them back. Alexander captured 80 elephants, 

and during future campaigns, he was able to gather as many as 200 elephants into his army. 
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The Mauryan kings who succeeded Alexander in controlling parts of Asia had a highly 

organized system for the maintenance of their herds of elephants. 

Now that  the Europeans had been introduced  to elephants,  for better or worse, every 

self-respecting army had to have them. For over 100 years they were the great gimmicks. As 

the first elephants to be used in the Mediterranean were obtained from India, it is predictable 

that Indian methods of organization would be adopted. The armies of Alexander's successors 

used  elephants  almost  exclusively  against  cavalry.  Occasionally  they  were  used  in  siege 

warfare for such jobs as tearing down wooden fortifications. 

In  250  BC,  Pyrrhus, the  king  of  Epirus  in  present  day  North  Albania,  with  an  army  of 

25,000 men and 26 elephants won a hard-fought  victory over the Romans at  Heraclea.  At  a 

crucial phase of the battle, Pyrrhus ordered his elephants to charge and it was too much for the 

Roman  legions.          In  218  BC  the  elephant  reached  the  height  of  its  fame  when  Hannibal 

crossed the Alps at the head of an army, which included 37 elephants. But the difficulties of the 

terrain  and  the  climate  proved  too  hard  for  the  bulky-bodied  elephants  and  many  of  them 

perished  on  the  way.  Nevertheless,  Hannibal's  military  genius  and  Carthaginian  fortitude 

triumphed in the end. 

When the Roman General Publius Cornelius Scipio (BC 185-129) invaded Carthage and 

defeated Hannibal at the Battle of Zama in BC 202, the Carthaginians found their elephants to 

be more a liability than an asset. 

          Some historians feel that these elephants were African bush elephants, and others say 

they were North African elephants, and still others feel they must have been Indian elephants, 

while  one  of  Hannibal's  elephants  was  known  as 

"Sarus,"  which  means  "the  Syrian."  This  elephant  was 

very  large  and  was  the  outstanding  animal  in  the 

elephant  battle  squadron.    Eventually,  however,  the 

heyday of the elephant was over and they soon fell out 

of  favor.    It  is  felt  that  their  use  may  have  declines 

because of the difficulty of obtaining them.                                    A War Elephant                                
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Chapter Five 

The Twilight of the Ogie'Iso Dynasty 


fter  reign  of  Ogie'iso  Odoligie,  six  lesser  kings  ruled.  They  were  Ogie'iso 

Ogbebor  nicknamed  Uwa,  Ogie'iso  Eheneden,  Ogie'iso  Ohuede,  Ogie'iso 

A Oduwa, Ogie'iso Obioye who stabilized the Benin economy and created a 

price control system. 

Ogie’iso Ogbebor  

gie'iso Ogbebor succeeded his father Ogie'iso Odoligie who died after a very 

long reign of 55 years according to Chief Ero, on the throne. Ogbebor was a 

O gifted storyteller and played the “Akpata”; the Edo box harp player. 

He had inherited a large, stable and flourishing empire and since he was not beset 

by either domestic strife or external threats, on ascending the throne, he spared no efforts 

in transforming the palace and Oredo into the empire’s cultural and administrative nerve 

centre. 

As  a  result  of  the  massive  renovation  and  expansion  of  the  palace,  Ogbebor 

earned the appellation Enoruwa: in the midst of prosperity. He increased the number of 

Uko who were his minions, and other palace functionaries to cater for the needs of his 

numerous children, and closely monitor the activities of the kingdom’s Ekao’evbo, Enigie 

and Edion’owere, and hence his influence was felt throughout the kingdom. 

During the reign of Ogie’iso Ogbebor now nicknamed Uwa, the metal workers of 

Oredo who used to work in iron and  lead in the production of decorative and religious 

objects, rapid advances were made in metallurgy and casting was greatly revolutionized 

with the creation of new alloys, such as azalama or leaded bronze and eronmwon or zinc 

brass. 
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The production of these new alloys was strictly restricted to the Ughoron people of 

northeastern Igodomigodo, and they were used exclusively in the production of religious 

and ornamental objects for the palace. 

Ogie’iso  Ogbebor,  unlike  his  father,  favoured  the  use  of  diplomacy  in  resolving 

conflicts and disputes and so when a very rich okhaemwen known as Ovio became too 

popular,  he  simply  assigned  a  passage  or  gateway  in  palace  for  Ovio’s  exclusive  use. 

Some  Edo  oral  accounts  claim  that  the  isolation  prompted  the  migration  of  Ovio  from 

Edoland. Others believe he left in order to forestall a civil conflict.  Ovio and his followers 

eventually settled down at a place, east of Oredo and far from the authority of Ogie’iso 

Uwa, chiefdom that is today is known as Obior in the Niger River area. 

Ogie’iso Egiebor  

gie’iso  Ogbebor  was  succeeded  by  Egiebor  his  first  son  after  a  very  long 

reign on the throne. Egiebor also inherited a prosperous, peaceful and stable 

O polity. Since there were no conflicts, external or internal, he disbanded the 

army  and  and  encouraged  foreign  commerce  and  promoted  arts  and  craft.  He  like  his 

father encouraged diplomacy in resolvng conflicts and disputes, and relied very much on 

Uko for the effective management of the kingdom. 

In addition he enhanced the status of  the  Edion n’ene by allowing them to build 

palaces in their communties. 

Ogie’iso Eheneden  

gie’iso  Eheneden  became  synonymous  with  elegance,  prosperity  and 

harmony and this earned him the title Eheneden. He died, without a male heir, 

O after about 50 years on the throne. The Pax Edo or Edo Peace was a period 

of peace and properity, which was created by the Ogie’iso Ogbebor and nutured by the 

Edo civilization. As the centuries went by, the Pax Benin and the Edo civilization thrived 

and while Pax Benin was in place and new territories were added. 
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As the centuries went by; the Ogie’iso armies added new territories and enforced the Pax 

Edo and the Edo civilization thrived. 

Ogie’iso Ohuede   

n  the  death  of  Ogie’iso  Eheneden,  the  Edion  brought  Ohuede,  who  was  a 

grandson of Enogie Enowe and Okao’egbe of Ogie’iso Orriagba family, from 

O Ikhinmwinrin and crowned him Ogie’iso. Some Edo historianrs are of the 

opinion that the choice of Ohuede had more to do with entrenching thier hereditary status 

and autonomy granted by Ogie’iso Eheneden than preventing a succession struggle that 

will result in the collapse of the kingdom. 

Unfortunately Ogie’iso Ohuede was not groomed for the responsibility the Elders 

had  hastily  thrust  on  him,  and  so  lacking  the  charisma  and  managerial  skills  of  his 

immediate  predecessors,  the  influence  and  authority  of  the  Ogie’iso  became  gravely 

impaired.  Slowly the empire created by Ogie’iso Odoligie began to disintegrate as many 

vassals; especially those Odoligie had forcibly merged into the kingdom, began to push 

for autonomy and eventually secured their total independence of Oredo. 

Since Ogie’iso Ohuede lacked an army and did not appoint new uko to enforce his 

authority  over  the  kingdom’s  subordinate  rulers,  Consequently  Ogie’iso  Ohuede‘s 

authority  was  virtually  restricted  to  the  Oredo  metropolis  and  immediate  environs. 

Eventually  during  this  reign,  the  system  began  to  fall  apart  as  Udo  declared  her 

independence and Aigbobo became the new Ogie’udo. 

Ogie’iso Oduwa 

ith the death of Ogie’iso  Ohuede some powerful elders sought to force the 

Edion  n’  ene  to  revert  to  the  process  of  electing  the  Ogie’iso.  The  Edion 

W obviously were not ready to compromise their position, and hence 

disregarded  the  dissenters,  and  hurriedly  installed  Oduwa,  Ohuede’s  eldest  son,  as 

Ogie’iso. 



87 



Ogie’iso Oduwa took office in the shadows of an impending civil war as many of 

the  dissenting  edionwere  refused  to  neither  recognise  him  as  Ogie’iso  nor  partake  in 

communal functions in his palace. Ogie’iso Oduwa, with a combination of diplomacy and 

personal charm, effectively defuse the tense and ugly situation and avoided a civil war in 

the metropolis. 

After  stabilising  the  political  situation  in  the  metropolis  Oduwa  then  appointed 

special envoys who were only answerable to him to overseer the activities of vassal states 

that had opposed his accession. Ogie’iso Oduwa also revived the practice of appointing 

uko    and  they  were  specially  detailed  to  monitor  the  activities  of  the  newly  appointed 

special envoys. 

Ogie’iso  Oduwa’s  successful  administrative  policy  brought  about  improved 

commercial activities, promoted foreign trade which his father had sadly neglected and re-

establish his authority all over the kingdom, and Oredo once more became the empire’s 

major religious, commercial and administrative headquarters. 

Ogie’iso Obioye  

duwa  was  succeeded  as  Ogie’iso  by  his  eldest  son,  who  was  known  as 

Obioye.  Ogie’iso  Obioye’s  reign  is  remembered  as  the  most  heart-rending 

O and miserable times in Oredo was one beset with economic woe, political 

crisis and religious decline. 

Soon after Ogie’iso Obioye’s installation, the kingdom was by afflicted by a severe 

famine that brought in its wake a disastrous socio-economic crisis, and the situation was 

further worsened by fire outbreaks in different parts of the kingdom. 

Ogie’iso Obioye’s belated and haphazard efforts at  tackling the catastrophe only 

served to deepen the kingdom’s woes. 

Naturally the populace held him accountable for the misfortune, since they believed 

that  the  spiritual  and  secular  fortunes  of  the  kingdom  were  dependent  on  his.  The 

consequentl austerity gave birth to the phrase  ‘Igho Obioye’ an expression of the spiralling 

inflation that characterise Obioye tenure in office 



88 



The  various vassal rulers were compelled to take individual initiatives at  tackling 

the crisis, as a result Ogie’iso Obioye lost their support and that of the citizens, some who 

were either forced into bondage or migrate from Edoland to greener pastures.. 

Decline set in. 

Ogie’Iso Arigho 

gie’iso Arigho was Ogie’is Obioye eldest son and he inherited a crumbling and 

an unstable kingdom with a shattered economy. The provinces and territories 

O were all but independent and had ceased to pay tributes, and a majority of the 

inhabitants were more or less bondsmen and bondswomen in the services the rich. 

Ogie’iso  Arigho  was  an  astute  and  wealthy  merchant,  and  he  introduced  very 

stringent financial measures that brought economic stability in Ile within a relatively short 

period. He achieved this by introducing a double taxation with a sort of value added tax, 

an antifraud decree and an efficient banking scheme. 

These economic measures gave rise to the term ‘Igho Arigho’ meaning secured or 

stable  currency  but  although  these  measures  brought  about  a  remarkable  economic 

recovery in the kingdom, the quality of life did not improve dramatically since the number 

of bondsmen and bondswomen in the society remained very high. This was so because 

he  refused  to  meddle  in  the  internal  affairs  of  the  Edion,  the  enigie  and  ekao’evbo 

fiefdoms in order to retain their support and favours. 

It is believe that this was what influenced the Edion to install his son Owodo as his 

successor  even  when  it  was  apparent  that  Owodo  lacked  the  qualities  of  a  leader. 

Nonetheless  to  Arigho  credit  migration  from  the  kingdom  ceased  and  the  Ogie’iso 

authority and influence in the kingdom improved. 

This  decline  continued  steadly  till  the  reign  of  Owodo,  the  last  ruler  of  Ogie'Iso 

dynasty with whose banishment the Ogie’Iso Dynasty ended. 
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Ogie’iso Owodo  

wodo succeeded his father Arigho, and he was the last ruler of Oredo and 

Igodomigodo to be referred to as ogie’iso. Owodo was very emotional and 

O indecisive, and these qualities, many Edo narrators ascribe to his gender, 

made him unsuitable as Ogie’Iso. Nonetheless, his father, Arigho was able to persuade 

the edion to install him as king. 

When  Owodo  ascended  the  throne,  the  economic  crisis  was  yet  to  be  fully 

resolved, Oredo’s hold on the kingdom very shaky and many communities, especially Udo 

and Urhonigbe were virtually independent. Obioye’s ineptitude had seriously dented the 

Ogie’Iso reputation and weakened the kingdom’s stability thus the economic and political 

stability Arigho rule brought about was only transient. Maintaing the kingdom as an entity 

and restoring the standing of the monarchy were very much dependent on Owodo, and on 

these issues he failed woefully. 

No wonder the Edo people insist ‘ Owodo rhia oto rhia okhunmwun wua’, Owodo 

have  spoiled  the  heavens  and  the  earth,  and  thus  perceive  him  as  a  euphemism  for 

ineptitude,  weakness  and  folly.  And  sadly  his  shortcomings:  expressed  in  the  sayings: 

“Ogie’iso ma mien emwen e’ fi agba”  and “Ogie’Iso sokpien Idobo”, contributed very much 

to portraying nearly all ogiso as incompetent and foolish in Edo oralture. 

Owodo’s  most  pressing  problem  was  the  unrestrained  political  and  economic 

influence  of  the  Edion  n’ene.  He  abolished  Arigho’s  taxation  scheme  and  the  bondage 

institution, and also reduced the privileges of the edion.  Unfortunately the measures did 

not go down well with the Edion n’Isen especially for the fact that the bondage institution 

was  the  economic  mainstay  of  the  edion.  Ogie’iso  Owodo  policies  thus  led  to  frequent 

squabbles between him and the edion n’ene. 

Owodo lacked foresight, and so did not exploit the advantages his the abolishment 

of bondage that had won him popular acclaim. Also he offered no alternative scheme to 

Arigho’s tax scheme and did not appiont ukọ to help solve problems confronting the city or 

impose his authority in the kingdom. 
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Unfortunately Owodo handled the edion ne ene’s disapproval of his policies without 

tact  and  diplomacy,  so  they  withdrew  their  support,  and  stopped  participation  n  in  all 

essential state rituals and ceremonies. So without advisers and uko, and the services of 

the  Edion,  Ogie’isoOwodo  only  summoned  communal  meetings  whenever  he  was 

confronted with knotty problems. Cosequently he also lost the support of  the populace, 

who derided him as an incompetent person, and thus his authority became more or less 

restricted to his 
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Chapter Six 

Ekaladerhan 


gie’iso  Owodo’s  domestic  problem  was  also  another  major  source  of  his 

problems, which in one or the other eventually led to his undoing.  He had 

O many wives including some he inherited from his father, and all of them 

except the Aru’kho or the least favoured wife were childless and as such the other women 

bore fiercely hostility towards the woman and her only son, Ekaladerhan. 

Eventually when the bickering in the harem became unbearable Ogie’iso Owodo 

was compelled to send two of his retainers to consult a diviner, with a view of finding out 

the  cause  of  the  barrenness  in  his  harem.  However  his  stong  willed  first  and  most 

favoured wife the Esagho n’Erie also choose to go with the emissaries. 

The  diviner  that  was  consulted,  ascribed  Owowdo’s  domestic  problems  to 

Esagho’s ill fortune, and he recommended that Esagho should be offered as a sacrifice to 

appease the skies so that the women in the harem could become fertile. 

On the homewards journey Esagho was able to persuade the emissaries to inform 

Owodo  that  it  was  Ekaladerhan  that  should  be  sacrificed  to  appease  Iso.    Owodo 

attempted  to  circumvent  the  divine’s  recommendation  by  ordering  that  Ekaladerhan 

should undergo two extraordinary tasks. His first task was cutting a pathway with a knife, 

and  the  second  one  was  cutting  a  bunch  of  palm  nuts  from  a  palm  tree  top  and  then 

catching it in mid-air. Some narrators also claim: a claim obviously mixed with myths, that 

he was also required to bring a double iron gong from Hades. 

Fortunately, Ekaladerhan had an ample knowledge of  the occult, and also many 

friends and admirers, including an old woman, with supernatural powers who helped him 

to  carry  out  the  tasks  successfully.  The  chants,  songs  and  adages  related  to  this  epic 

saga are still sung and told till date in Benin City. 
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Also  there  are  allusions  to  these  tasks  he  performed  for  example  the  symbolic 

climbing of a palm tree,Udin’amamienson aimiuwa, performed by the Edaiken, during the 

Edo coronation ceremony is one of them. 

Owodo  weakness  was  fittingly  manifested,  when  he  bowed  to  pressure  from 

Esagho and his other wives and ordered the execution of Ekaladerhan even after his son 

had completed the extraordinary tasks. 

The day Ekaladerhan’s execution was to be carried out was subdued, sunless and 

cool, and such a day till the present time is referred to as Ede’Ekaladerhan in Benin City. 

At the execution spot the executioners showed mercy and set him free, then they 

killed a chicken and smeared its blood on their swords as a proof that the execution had 

been  carried  out.  This  spot  till  the  present  day  is  known  as  Urkokhokho,  the  chicken’s 

neck. 

Ekaladerhan wandered in the bush  until  he arrived at  Ughoton where he settled 

down. 

Meanwhile Ogie’iso Owodo’s wives remained childless, and after about three years 

Owodo  sent  another  group  of  emissaries  to  the  diviner.  It  was  then  the  truth  about 

Esagho’s treachery emerged and Owodo promptly ordered that she should be executed 

immediately,  thus  the  name  Esagho  in  Benin  City  became  a  byword  for  the  wicked 

stepmother who should always be punished, and as the Edo arphorism say  “Ugbemwen 

 ugbemwen, e ra gb’esagho”. 

Unfortunately  Esagho’s  execution  did  improve  matters  because  Owodo’s  wives 

remained  childless.  Some  narrators  claim  that  this  was  because  Esagho  was  hasty 

executed without observing the required steps in accordance with the obo’iro’s directives. 

While some others insist that Owodo’s wives atonement rituals at Aro’iso were not 

done with the proper offerings. There are however those who ascribe the barrenness in 

the harem to Owodo uncertain gender. 

Meanwhile, Ekaladerhan, who earned the praise name Ighen Ighen a ore z’ose ni 

ivie,  was  residing  in  Ughoton  sheltered  by  the  community’s  Edion.  The  worsening 

economic crisis  in Ile led to   large-scale migrations from Oredo,  and since  Ughoton, a 
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famed centre of Olokun worship, was not affected by the devastating famine it was the 

favoured destination of many of the émigré. 

Eventually  Owodo,  desperate  to  have  an  heir,  became  aware  that  his  son  was 

living in Ughoton, and he sent emissaries to his son pleading that he returned to Oredo. 

Ekaladerhan refused all entreaties and in many cases the emissaries opted to remain at 

Ughoton. 

Owodo  eventually  abandoned  all  persuasive  methods  and  attempted  to  forcibly 

bring his son back to oredo but gave up all attempts to do so after his militia and retainers 

were defeated. 

According  to  Edo  dynastic  accounts,  the  Ogie’iso  Owodo’s  armies  were  single-

handedly  defeated  by  Ekaladerhan’s  mystical  cock.  Some  other  claim  that  Ughoton’s 

inhabitants dug a defensive moat around the town which prevented Owodo’s forces from 

seizing the town. 

There  are  also  the  Edo  traditional  accounts  that  allege  Owodo’s  efforts  to  bring 

home his son was discontinued when  he inadvertently killed a pregnant woman. It was 

this  killing  considered  to  be  a  appalling  and  abominable  act  that  eventually  led  to  his 

expulsion from Oredo.. 

Essentially the people had long ignored Owodo because they had denounced him 

a degenerate because of the attempt he made to sacrifice son and also believed that the 

catastrophes, such as Osogan incursions and the endless famine, which had beset the 

city were due to his ill fortune. 

The  killing  of  a  pregnant  woman,  accidental  or  not,  was  the  last  straw  that  was 

needed to confirm that he had ‘spoit the heavens and the earth' so with the Edion ne ene 

blessings the city’s inhabitants rose up in arms, attacked his palace and drove him out of 

the city. 

He eventually found refuge at Ikhinmwinrin, his ancestral home, where he died a 

poor miserable farmer. 
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The crisis situation created by the banishment of Owodo the last Ogie’Iso, the Edo 

Peace  and  Central  authority  collapsed  and  her  vassals  once  more  regained  their 

independence. 

Beyond  the  Ovia  River,  the  city-state  of  Udo  declared  herself  independent  of 

Benin, became the dominant power and once more recreated her own sphere of influence 

over all the Iyeke’Ovia territories. 

Meanwhile  the  semi-autonomous  chiefdoms  of  the  Iyeke’Orhionmwon  territories 

rallied  around  and  established  their  own  confederation  at  Igue’abode.  This  town  that  is 

now extinct was located near the modern village of Iguemokhua. 

In  the  east,  Benin’s  Eka  territories  also  declared  their  independence  as  they 

received a fresh influx of people from beyond the Ohinmwin (Niger) River. These were the 

Igbo tribes men that created chiefdoms such as Owa, Emuhu and Ute’Okpu to name a 

few. 

When the elders consulted the diviners, they were told that Prince Ike’aladerhan 

was hale and healthy but lives at the other end of the earth. Now that they knew that the 

heir was still alive, the Edion’Uzama, immediately ordered a fresh search for him. 



After a while, Prince Ike’aladerhan was found at Ughoton; an Edo settlement on 

the bank of the River Omimikpo known today as 

the Benin River. Despite all entrities, he refused 

to  return  to  Ore’edo.  Five  centuries  later,  this 

back-water riverine community became the city 

of  Ughoton;  the  great  Port  of  Benin  in  the 

heydays of the Benin Empire’s trade relationship 

with Europe. 

Eze N’Omimikpo (Benin River)  

The  aggrieved prince refused to return to Oedo. When force was appiled, he left 

Ughoton with his companions and renewed his wandering .  The refusal of the heir to return 

to  Oredo,  caused  in  a  further  deterioration  of  the  already  chaotic  situation  in  the  city. 

Undaunted,  the  Elders  renewed  the  search  for  the  fugitive  Prince  and  ordered  that  if 
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found, he should be brought back to Benin if necessary by force and be crowned Ogie’Iso 

for continuity of the dynasty. 

In  recent  times,  Edo  people  and  historians  have  rejected  the  positions  taken  by 

Yoruba  historians  on  the  origin  of  the  Oba  dynasty  in  Benin.  They  have  consistently 

argued that the man Oduduwa was no other person than Prince Ike’aladerhan, the exiled 

heir of Ogie’Iso Owodo who was the last ruler of the dynasty in Benin. 

Prince  Ekaladerhan  ended  his  wandering  at  a  kingdom  called  Uhe;  a  place 

according  to  a  15th.  Century  Portuguese  account  is  located  about  20  (twenty)  months 

journey to the east of Benin where the Oghene N'Uhe reigned and ruled. 
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Chapter Seven 

The Interregnum 


The Edo Republican Experience 

Evian 

ince  Owodo  had  no  successor  and  the  authority  of  each  edion  n’enẹ  (the 

office  of  the  Ezomo  was  vacant  because  only  an  Ogiso  could  appoint 

S someone to the position) was more or less restricted to his idunmwun, and 

evidently  hampered  by  the  existing  socio-political  and  religious  structure, 

none of  them could assume the tasks of the ogiso.  In order to prevent  any unforeseen 

consequences of a prolonged neglect of the Aruiso they decided to appoint a temporary 

custodian for the shrine. 

His ineptitude and weakness is related to the havoc and mayhem that was caused 

by  a  certain  man-eating  monster  or  Osogan  in  the  City.  The  Osogan’s  daily  raid  was 

concentrated  in  and  around  Ogiso  market,  and  thus  the  market  became  known  as 

Agbado, from the phrase agha gb’ado aigba rhe. 

Since  Owodo  did  not  have  the  means  and  resolve  to  solve  the  problem  the 

problem persisted until a certain metalworker known as Evian, single-handedly confronted 

and  drove  out  the  monster  from  Oredo.  Afterward  Evian  made  some  elaborate 

arrangements,  which  included  a  series  of  acrobatic  display  known  as  Amufi,  as  a 

deterrent to ensure that the monster never came back. 
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In  view  of  his  daring  and  heroic  actions  Evian  was 

nicknamed Evian nu ri ebe and it also established him as a man of 

substance  who  was  respected  and  consulted  on  matters  affecting 

the city. 

In  addition  the    Amufi    acrobatic  display  became  an  annual 

festival in Oredo in commemoration of Evian’s heroic deeds.  

Consequently,  Evian made a name for himself  after he defeated the man-eating 

monster; Osogan. The confrontation with the dragon is the transformation of Evian and at 

that  moment  he  comes  into  the  inheritance  of  his  lineage  as  a  saviour  of  his  people. 

When Evian defeated Osogan he had commited the act in defense of his people thereby 

actualizing the ideals and freedom of a true hero. The deed of killing the dragon was a 

pivotal  moment  for  Evian  and  had  a  larger  significance  for  the  land  of  Igodomongodo, 

which was in the grips of a violent monster. 

As a result of his act of heroism and the chaotic events that followed the exile of 

Prince Ikaladerhan and the subsequent banishment of Owodo, the last ruler of Ogie'Iso 

Dynasty, a Republican Government was set up under the leadership of Evian in  Oredo 

and the remaining loyal territories in Edo land. 

Later when the same Evian in an attempt to establish his own dynasty, nominated 

his own son nicknamed Ogie’amien to succeed him as Administrator but the nomination 

was  rejected  by  the  Edion'Uzama  the  pre-dynastic  nobles  of  the  Edo  nation  led  by  the 

Oliha. Evian’s son became known in Edo history as Ogie’amien a name corrupted from 

his  statement  “Ogie  miamwe  n’aga”   meaning  ‘A  king  is  cumbersome  to  serve’. 

Meanwhile  back  in  Benin,  Evian  had  succeeded  in  installing  his  son  Ogiamien,  as  the 

Administrator of Edoland. 

Eventually, the Republican experiment failed.   
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Chapter One 

The Restoration of the Monarchy 


ccording the Benin dynastic accounts, the years rolled by, seasons came and 

went; the interregnum persisted. The search for the exiled Prince Ike’aladeran 

A continued.   Being convinced of the efficacy of the diviner’s report, the search 

parties persisted till they found Prince Ike’aladerhan at the other end of the world in the 

realms of the Oghene N’Uhe. 

The members of the search parties returned to Oedo with great news. The jubilant 

Elders  immediately  embanked  on  the  long  tedious  journey  to  the  court  of  the  Oghene. 

Getting there, they pleaded Prince Ike’aladerhan to return home with them and ascend the 

throne of his father Ogie'Iso Owodo. He initially refused to have any thing to do with them 

or Oedo. 

After several years of persuasion, the Oghene subjected the Edion'Uzama and the 

Edo  people  to  various  trials  and  tests  to  access  that  readiness  to  make  amends. 

Furthermore, Prince Ike’aladerhan had grown old and febble to undertake the long and 

tedious twenty months journey.  

Thus  according  to  the  Edo  dynastic  traditional  histories,  because  he  was  now 

convinced of their sincerity and capability Prince Ike’aladeran on the advice of the Oghene 

N’Uhe, sent one of his sons nicknamed ‘Omon N'oyan’meaning The Pampered Child who 

is known in history as ‘Orominyan’ to Benin as ruler. 
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Omon N’oyan (Orominyan)   circa 1170 

Ccording to dynastic accounts, Prince Oranmiyan was accompanied by Oloton a 

relation who later became in charge of Usama and Azama shrine, the twins Osa 

A and Osuan diviners and physicians who were priests to the deites Uwen and Ora. 

The  deity  Uwen  made  the  prince  immuned  to  harm  from  any  implement  or 

weapons  of  war  while  Ora  granted  the  prince  fertility  and  productivity.  Osa  and  Osuan 

were  made  priests  of  the  deities  to  ward  off  evil  on  the  princes  path  and  to  make  the 

prince fertile. 

After a harrowing encounter the ferryman at the Ovia River crossing at Unuamen, 

Prince Omon N’oyan arrived in Oedo to the joy of the people. The Edion Uzama received 

him and settled him at the palace they built for him at Usama. 

There  at  Usama,  the  Edion’Uzama  surrounded  Prince  Omonoyan’s  palace  and 

hemmed him in at all sides. He was continuously manipulated in State matters especially 

those  relating  to  the  governance  of  a  people  whose  culture  and  language  he  hardly 

understood. Soon He soon got tired. 

In Prince Omonoyan's entourage were a group of ritual priests known as Ihogbe. 

They  had  come  with  him  all  the  way  from  Uhe  under  the  leadership  of  a  man  named 

Ihama. This priest was said to be a relation of the prince and the Ihogbe settle in a place 

now known as Idunmwun’Ihogbe; the Ihogbe quarters.The Ihogbe became the Custodians 

of  Aro'Erimwinidu  the  altar  dedicated  Idu  the  Progenitor  of  Benin  royalty.    With  the 

restoration of the monarchy, they began to perform the rites and rituals associated with 

the worship and propitiation of the spirits of the past Ogie'iso and later those of the Obas. 

They also became the Keepers of the Oba's Ancestral Records.   During the reign of Oba 

Ewedo r. 1255  – 1280 AD, the Ihogbe N'Ore group was created  and placed under the 

leadership of Ediagbonya the second son of the Ihama of Ihogbe with the title Isekhure. 

The Isekhure anoints the Oba's head at the annual ceremonies of Igue. 
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Finally angered by the bickering of the Uzama nobles, Prince Omonoyan left Benin 

and relocated to Okha a village in the north-western parts of  Edo land near the present 

day Okada village. 

Oba Eweka I    reigned about 1190 A.D.   

he  Benin  dynastic  traditions,  say  that  while  on  his  way  to  Usama,  Prince 

Omonoyan, had a brief affair with a young lady called Erinmwinde. She was 

T a stepdaughter or daughter of the then 9th. Osa N'Egor of Egor; the priest-

king in charge of the Shrine and Altar dedicated to the worship of Osa'nobua the Creator 

God. 

When  Lady  Erinmwinde  became  impregnant,  Prince  Omonoyan  and  the 

Edion'Uzama,  immediately  sent  some  members  of  Ihogbe  to  the  nearby  village  of 

Ogheghe  to  cater  for  her  needs  at  Egor.  There  at  Ogheghe,  the  Ihogbe  procured 

foodstuffs and other materials for her up-keep and that of her unborn child. After the birth 

of her child, Lady Erinmwinde was relocated to Useh another primordial Edo settlement 

where the infant prince was brought up till he attained manhood. 

In Chief J. U. Egharevba’s book, “Oba Eweka could not speak his early years and 

when his father heard of this, he sent seven charmed seeds or marbles to him, through 

Ehendiwo. In the exitement of winning the game played with these marbles he made his 

first  utterance  ‘owomika’  (I  have  succeded)  which  has  ben  corrupted  into  ‘Eweka”.    It 

surprised the inhabitants of Use to hear a child born in Benin make his first utterance in 

the  Yoruba  tongue,  his  father’s  tongue”.    Recent  researchers  are  questioning  the 

authenticity of the Ife & Yoruba origin of the Eweka Dynasty. 

According to another version, as a boy the young prince was dumb, he was later 

cured through the charmed Akhue(marbles) that his father Prince Omon’oyan later sent to 

him from Okha a village  northwest of Benin  to which he had earlier relocated on his way 

back to Uhe.  While engaged in a marble game, the young prince uttered his first words in 

the excitement of successfully winning a bout. 
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He was ultimately crowned Oba with the title of ‘Eweka’ at Usama; the palace the 

Benin elders had earlier built for his father, amidst rejoicing and acclamation of the people. 

Ever since, every Oba has to go to Use, before his coronation to choose a title at the spot 

where Eweka I won the game of akhue and uttered the word which became his title. 

Chief  Egharevba’s  Yoruba-Academics  influenced  version  of  Benin  history,  also 

wrote that his father sent special royal regalia and other necessary insignia to Oba Eweka 

at his coronation from Ife. This statement again is disputable because 400 years before 

Chief Egharevba wrote his book; A short history of Benin, a Portuguese named De Barros 

gave an account of Ogane N’Uhe which an elderly Benin chief told him. 

According to traditions, as Oba Eweka I was a minor at the time of his ancension, 

the Uzama elders appointed the Enogie of Egor, Ogie’Efa, Ihama N’Ihogbe, Oloton and 

many others to take care of him and to administer the kingdom till he should come of age. 

Now assured of a worthy successor, Prince Omonoyan left Okha and move North 

West  into  the  area  inhabited  the  Olukumi  people  known  today  as  Yoruba  where  he 

founded a new kingdom he named Oyo Ile but called Katunga by the indigenes. 

Oba Eweka I had a long and glorious reign but he had many children who were 

always  quarelling  among  themselves.  He  sent  some  of  them  away  to  be  the  Enigie  of 

various  settlements  controlled  by  Benin.  He  was  the  father  of  Idu,  the  Enogie  of 

Umoghunmwun, Olomuza (Omonuza) of Use who polluted his father’s bed, Omorodion or 

Odion of Uwokha in Emai  and the Enogie of Ebue to name a few. 

Chief  Egharevba  wrote  that  Oba  Eweka  I  created  the  Councillors  of  State  or  so 

called Kingmakers from the ranks of the pre-dynastic Uzama nobles. They were the Oliha 

N’Ogele,  Edohen,  Ezomo,  Ero  N’Olu’Urubi,  Eholo  N’Ire.    Oba  Eweka  1  also  elevated 

Oloton who had escorted his father Prince Omon N’oyan from Uhe to the ranks of the pre-

dynastic Edion’Uzama.  Chief Egharevba also wrote that Oba Eweka made these titles to 

become  hereditary  and  ordered  that  every  Oba  of  Benin  should  be  crowned  by  their 

leader, Oliha because it was they who sent to Uhe to fetch Prince Omon’oyan. 
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Before Oba Ewedor reduced their power and influence some 50 years later, some 

of these pre-dynastic nobles were in every sense independent kings in their own right be 

the Oredo Confederacy was created. Hence such titles as Ero N’Olu Urubi       

At the time of Oba Eweka I’s coronation, Ogiamien had died and his son Ubi tried 

to retain the administration of the state. He lost the support of many anti-royalists as Oba 

Eweka gradually secured the confidence of the Benin elders. 

Oba  Eweka  rewarded  the  Edion  Uzama,  for  the  role  they  played  in  restoration  of  the 

kingship, by making their titles hereditary. 

In  continuation  of  the 

tradition  laid  down  by  the 

Ogisos Eweka sent many of his 

sons to the outlying settlements 

as enigie. He created a number 

of  title  such  as  Olo,  Olomuza 

and  Edigin  in  Use  and  in 

Ugbekun    he  created  Ohen’iso 

and eghian’aro titles.   

                                     Plaque depicting Oba Eweka 1 



Oba Uwakhuahen reigned about 1215 AD 

y  the  beginning  of  the  13th  century,  though  the  monarchy  had  been 

ostensibly restored, realistically it found itself within the control of the great 

B nobles who had made the restoration possible. Oba Uwakhuahen reigned 

under  their  overbearing  shadows.  Egharevba  wrote  that  he  lived  out  his  reign  at  the 

Usama palace. 
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Oba Ehenmihen reigned about 1235 AD 

bout  1235  AD,  Oba    Uwakhuahen  the  son  of  Oba  Eweka  1st.  joined  his 

ancestors without naming a successor.  As a result this, a succession crisis 

A arose as his younger brother Prince Idu and his nephew Prince Elegbe 

contested for the throne. Elegbe lost due the intrigues of the Benin elders. 

According  to  the  Benin  dynastic  oral  traditions,  Prince  Elegbe  was  the  son  of  Princess 

Emadeyo the eldest daughter of Oba Uwakhuahen, who succeeded Oba Eweka 1. 

Since Oba Uwakhuahen did not ha ve a male child when he joined his ancestors, 

Prince Elegbe, being his only male direct descendant, contested for the throne with his 

uncle Prince Idu who was Oba Uwakhuahen's younger brother and a grand son of Eweka 

I. He lost out in the context because the Benin elders preferred Prince Idu. 

The Origin of the Ugu Kingdom  

According  to  the  Benin  dynastic  legend,  the  two  contestants  were  asked  to 

produce a bull with a weaverbird's nest built between its horns and in obedience to the 

instructions  of  the  Benin  Elders,  Prince  Elegbe  departed  to  Umoghu'un  his  mother's 

village, in the Iyeke'orhiomwon territories to search for such a bull. 

No sooner had Prince Elegbe set out on the journey, the Benin elders caught a bull 

in Ogbe quarters, glued a weaver bird’s nest on a bull’s head and declared Prince Idu his 

rival, the winner. 

In desperation, Prince Elegbe returned to his mother's kith and kin at Umoghu’un in 

the Iyeke'Orhionmwon provinces to raise an army to secure what he considered as his by 

Right of Descent. 

When this course could not materialise, Prince Elegbe set up a rival kingdom which 

he named Ugu and styled himself the Oba N'Ugu as against Oba N’Edo borne by Prince 

Idu at Oedo. Embittered, Prince Elegbe refused to return to Benin City and founded the 

rival kingdom of Ugu with the capital at Umoghu'un his mother's village. 
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At Umoghu’un, Prince Elegbe styled himself Oba N' Ugu. From there he ascerted 

his rule over all the Iyeke'orhiomwon territories. He later gave birth to eleven sons, created 

his own dynasty. Today Prince Elegbe’s descendants still reign as the Enigie of several 

dukedoms  of  Iyeke'orhiomwon.  They  include  the  Enogie  of  Umoghu’un,  Enogie  of 

Ebazogbe N’Ugu, Enogie of Evboesi to name some of them. 

At Evboesi, there is a sacred grove where a mythical leopard called ‘Ekpen’Elegbe’ 

resides.  It  is  generally  believed  that  should  the  Enogie  and  people  of  Evboesi  fail  to 

perform  the  rituals  of  the  Isi’Okuo,  this  leopard  comes  out  the  sacred  groves  and  kills 

livestock. If the various rituals and ceremonies are still not observed, the leopard becomes 

a man-eater. Every four years or so, Prince Elegbe’s desendants at Evboesi, perform the 

Isi’Okuo; a ceremonial battle in his honour. 

For  three  hundred  years  the  kingdom  of  Ugu  prospered  as  an  independent 

kingdom   and at the height of her power, her territories was said to have extended from 

Oka  N'Umogunhen,  an  Edo  rural  settlement,  situated  along  the  modern  day  Upper 

Sokponba  Road  in  suburban  areas  of  modern  Benin  City  to  the  Urhobo  chiefdom  of 

Abraka and the Uku'Ani chiefdoms.   

At  the  beginning  of  his  reign,  Oba  Ehenminhen  established  a  garrison  at 

Iyeke'Orhionmwon as watchmen at the Benin's frontiers with the rival kingdom of Ugu and 

the other rebellious chiefdoms who were loyal to Prince Elegbe the Oba N'Ughu because 

of the internal conflict and threats from Prince Alegbe’s base at Umoghu’un. 

Oba Ehenminhen also installed the second son of Ogie'Ugo N'Iyeke' Ikpoba as the 

Enogie with a mandate of containing the threat of Prince Alegbe and keep the rebellious 

people  of  Iyeke'Orhionmwon  in  check.    The  Enogie  called  his  new  chiefdom  Ugo  in 

memory of his home town. 

This mandate which was kept by the Ogie'Ugo and his descendants for over 500 

hundred years, was broken about 1760 AD when Emokpagbe N'Agboghidi, Enogie of Ugo 

N' Iyeke'Orhionmwon revolted against Oba Akengbuda. 

Thus from 1235 AD to the late 1460s, a State of Undeclared-War existed between Edo 

and Ugu kingdoms till the reign of  Oba Ewuare Ogidigan who started a War of Attrition. 
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This war lasted till the reign of  Oba Ehengbuda 

who  finally  destroyed  the  Ugu  kingdom  and  re-

annexed the Iyeke'Orhionmwon provinces.                    

Ekpen’Elegbe 
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Chapter Two 

The Transformation of Benin Kingship 


Oba Ewedo   reigned 1255 AD -1280AD 

ba Ewedo was the son of Oba Ehenminhen who reigned from 1225AD to 

about 1255AD. 

O He was born Prince Efabor and brought up at Ugbo’Maghan also known as 

Ugbo’Mahin in the swamps occupied today by the Ilaje people of present day Ondo State. 

Prince Efabor was schooled under the tutelage of the high priest there. 

According Chief Obamwonyi of Ogbe N’Eka, as Crown prince, Oba Ehenminhen 

the  father  of  Prince  Efabor  earlier  had  an  illict  affairs  with  a  chief’s  wife  and  he 

impregnated  the  woman.  To  avoid  a  confrontation  with  the  Oba,  the  chief  sold  off  the 

woman and her pregnancy into slavery. Her new master took her to Ugbo’Maghan where 

she later delivered her child. 

At  the  demise  of  Oba  Ehenminhen,  the  throne  was  left  vacant  because  he  had 

produced  a  male  heir.  In  course  of  finding  a  solution,  it  was 

devined that the enslaved woman had earlier had a male child for 

the late Oba. 

A  seach  party  was  immediately  despatched  to  Ugbo’Maghan  to 

locate  and  bring  home  the  heir  to  Oredo.    After  a  short  search, 

Prince Efabor was found. He was then invited home from the Ilaje 

area and crowned Oba with the title Ewedo. 

A brass figurine of Ikpe’akohen 
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When coming in from the swampland of Ilaje, Oba Ewedo brought with him several 

of his childhood friends and their musicial groups to Benin.  He later created various royal 

musician guilds for them. 

These  guilds  include  Eneha  and  Ikpiwini  of  Ogbe  N’aka,  Esoh  N’okuare  also  of  Ogbe 

N’aka.  Others  are,  Ikp’ekete  of  Ovah,  Igb’emaba  of  Igue’Oshodi,  Ikpe’iziken  and 

Ikpe’akohen of Use. 

With the coronation rites concluded, the Oba then needed to free himself from the 

resultant  suffocating  pressures  of  the  Edion’Uzama  as  well  as  from  the  aggressive 

designs of the anti-royalists headed by Ogiamien descendant. 

According to Chief Jacob U. Egharevba’s accounts collaborated the Benin dynastic 

accounts,  Oba  Ewedor  had  made  all  the  necessary  arrangements  for  his  relocation 

without informing the Edion’Uzama until the day of his coronation. 

Oba Ewedo left Usama immediately after his coronation, with a white hen tied on 

his neck as a stratagem. Ewedo told the Uzama nobles that he was going to sacrifice at 

Aro Edion’Edo; the altar dedicated to the collective ancestors of the Edo nation located 

within the city. 

Ediagbonya,  the  second  son  of  the  Ihama  of  the  Ihogbe  accompaigned  Oba 

Ewedor  to  Oredo  since  the    Ihama  nor  his  first  son  refused  to  relocated  to  Oredo;  the 

heart  of  the  Benin  City-state  because  he  was  the  custodian  heir  of  the  Ukhurhe 

Erimwin’Idu;  the  totem  representing  the  royal  ancestral  spirits  at  Usama.   Thus 

Ediagbonya, the second son, took over palace ancestral responsibilities, with the title of 

Isekhurhe.  He built his house at Utantan High Street close to Ewedo’s new palace. 

Isekhere the ferryman at the Omi and Oteghele streams 

opposed  Oba  Ewedo.  As  he  was  refused  permission  to  pass 

over  Isekhere’s  territory,  a  bridge  was  constructed  over 

Isekhere’s territory and Isekhere allowed him to pass over it on 

payment of a wife as a fee. 

Oba Erediauwa crossing at Isekhere in 1979 
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The journey to the new palace site had been perilous, long and messy, even for a 

young  man.   It  traversed  a  long  trek  through  an  extensive  marshland  created  by  the 

crossing  of  each  other  of  rivers  Omi  and  Oteghele  at  Isekherhe.   The  rivers  are  now 

extinct as they were drainded by Oba Ehengbuda in the late 16th. Century. 

The battle of Eki’Okpagha 

s Oba Ewedor crossed the bridge, Ode the son or grandson of Ogiamien and 

his supporters took up arms to prevent his entry into the City. Ode told Oba 

A Ewedor to go back to Uhe, his father’s land and then seized the hen from the 

neck of the Oba. No sooner had Ode done this, his followers attacked the royal contigent 

but  aided  the  Edogun’s  troops,  Oba  Ewedo  was  able  to  best  them  and  he  took  up  his 

residence at the new palace at Alaka. 

A ceasefire was reached and Ode retired to his domain at Urhoghotodin. 

After a seven-day truce, an armed combat was fixed to decide the conflict. In the 

persecution  of  the  battle,  the  commander  of  Anti-royalist’s  army,  the  Oliha  was  killed 

before Eki’Okpagha and the troops fled the battlefield. 

The  Anti-royalist’s  army  was  pursued,  overtaken  and  defeated  at  the  ancient  market 

square  at  Ogboka  called  Eki’Okpagha.  “Ama  rese 

 Eki’Okpagha  a  gbe  Oliha’Ogiamien”  Defeated,  the 

Ogiamien  surrendered  and  sued  for  peace  with  the 

Oba. As part of the resolutions reached at the Treaty of 

Eki’Okpagha  Ode  secured  the  rulership  of  the  old 

Evian’s  territories  and  his  nickname  Ogie’miamwen 

became his title and that of his descendants. 

Oba Erediauwa at the Battle of Eki’Okpgha in 1979  

Ever since, every Oba has to cross a bridge at Isekhere quarter on his coronation 

day and, on the seventh day, reenact “The battle of Eki’Okpagha” in commemoration of 

the Victory of Eki’Okpagha. 
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In  his  writings,  the  Benin  Historian,  Naiwu  Osahon  said  that  when  Oba  Ewedo 

moved  his  palace  from  Usama  to  its  present  site  in  the  Alaka  area  of  Igodomigodo,  it 

triggered  off  conflict  between  the  Oba  and  Ogiamien  Ode  who  was  the  ruler  of 

southeastern  section  of  city  and  the  Iyeke’orhionmwon  territories.    After  defeating  the 

Ogiamien and his army at the memorable battle of Eki’Okpagha, Oba Ewedo requested 

Ogiamien Ode to sell the land to him. 

A treaty was made requiring Ogiamien as the traditional landlord of Orhoghotodin, 

to sell part of the land to the Oba at the coronation of every successive Oba.  The Oba 

elect  first  had to  present  gifts to  the Ogiamien  which  include  two  male  and  two  female 

slaves, Erhe, the cylindrical ritual stool in place of the that used by the Ogie’iso monarchs, 

an Ukhurhe the wooden ancestral staff, Agba a rectangular stool and Ekpokin the round 

leather box.  Furthermore, the new Oba and the Ogiamien would then meet at the site of 

the famous Battle of Eki’okpagha. Here the Ogiamien would take sand from the ground 

and put it in the hand of the Oba while he says: "I have sold this part of Edo land to you 

but not your son and when you pass away your son will buy the land from me as you have 

done."  The  Ogiamien's  dormain  in  Benin  kingdom  is  known  as  Urhoghotodin  where  he 

had his chiefs who assisted him in traditional duties. 

Oba  Ewedo  opened  a  new  epoch  in  the  relationship  between  the  Oba  and  the 

Edion’Uzama;  the  pre-dynastic  nobles.  First  he  started  by  transferring  the  palace  from 

Usama to a disused cemetery at Ogboka/Alaka area. 

Secured and entrenched in the heart of the city, Oba Ewedo started to divest the 

Edion’Uzama  of  their  powers.  In  his  book  “A  Short  History  of  Benin”  Chief  Egharevba 

wrote that Oba Ewedor stopped the Uzama nobles from displaying the state secptre the 

“Ada” at the palace or through the streets like the Oba himself, as they did while the seat 

of government was at Usama.  He also compelled all the chiefs to stand in rows before 

him instead of sitting, so as to easily distinguish an Oba from his chiefs   

Oba  Ewedo went  further and created the Iyase title which put  the recipient  over 

and  above  the  Pre-dynastic  elders  of  Benin.  His  new  title  Iye  ‘na  se’uwa  portrayed  the 

Oba  in  his  new  status.  Dr.Omoregie  wrote  that  the  title  was  conferred  on  Odigie  who 



112 



hailed from Ebuya. Thus the climax of the growth of the Oba's power was reached during 

the reign of Oba Ewedo. He also wrote that one of the achievements, which made Oba 

Ewedo a great king, was that he laid the foundation of benevolent despotism in Edo. The 

new palace  and the enormous wall he built around  it further separated the town chiefs 

from the Oba and his palace chiefs. 

It  was  no  longer  rulership  of  first  amongst  equals  but  a  master–servant 

relationship. The military idea of Ewedo after the victory at Ekiokpagha, was the fusion of 

military and political functions in the superstructure of the state when he created the title of 

Iyase as a war chief but with political responsibilities also reflects the final solution to the 

power struggle between the Oba Ewedo and the Uzama noble who were formerly called 

the Edion’nisen during the Ogie’iso dynasty.  It is worthy of note to state here that some of 

Uzama nobles such the Oliha were warlords. 

The  court  ritual  Ugie  Oro  was  introduced  by  Oba  Ewedo  to  celebrate  his  power 

over all Benins.  These customs have been tenaciously maintained by every Oba of Benin 

ever since. 

The Iyase title 

According  to  the  dynastic  traditions,  Oba  Ewedo  had  reorganized  his 

administration to counter foreign influences and he achieved his position against the anti-

royalists  by  force  of  arms  at  the  decisive  Battle  of  Ekiokpagha  about  1255  AD.    He 

reasserted his authority by creating the Iyase title. Politically, the Iyase was ‘the highest 

title of the state, and had not been made hereditary in any family. He was the only chief 

that had the right to argue with or censure the Oba in public. In tradition, he was portrayed 

as  the  focus  of  opposition  to  the  power  of  the  Oba.  The  importance  of  his  office  is 

demonstrated by the fact that the Iyase on the instructions of the Oba inducted all state 

chiefs. 

The Esogban title, was also created by Oba Ewedor, the Esogban ranks second in 

hierarchy  to  the  Iyase  the  last  title  created  by  Oba  Ewedor.   Esogban  became  the 

Odion’owere of all the Benins and heads the chief counselor that weighs options for the 
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Oba, so he is usually a man of sound and reliable judgment and often a blood relative of 

the Oba. 

As the premier mystic or warlock of the kingdom, the Esogban monitors activities in 

the mystical realm, and people accused of sorcery are regulated and punished by him. 

He is also the priest of the Orhie day, the second week-day of the kingdom after the Eken 

rest day.  He tends the day to ensure it brings peace and prosperity to the Oba and the 

land  

By this achievement, he saved the monarch from being tossed back and forth by 

his  people,  and  established  himself  as  a  leader  with  vast  powers  and  irresistible  drive. 

Anyone  who  opposed  him  found  his  way  into  his  newly  created  prison,  which  bore  the 

name ‘Ewedo’ after his kingly title. 

Oba  Ewedo  was  forced  to  make  changes  in  the  organisational  structure  of  the 

state because of the manner in which the Uzama asserted themselves. In the end, the 

Oba  emerged  in  supreme  control  and  the  respective  cadres  of  authority  were 

subordinated to the monarchy, holding their powers and privileges only by his grace. With 

these restrictions, the main channel of influence of Oba Ewedo had become the new set 

of chiefs which he created in addition to the position of the Iyase. The chieftaincy titles 

were the Uwangue, the Osodin and the Uso. 

Chief  Egharevba wrote that  Oba Ewedo also made a law that  Oliha should only 

crown the Oba of Benin and that he and the other Edion’Uzama should not confer titles 

any more. The power of  investiture of titles was afterwards given to the Iyase of Benin 

who does so in the name of the Oba. 

In the words of Dr. Benson Osadolor, although, the new policy and drastic changes in the 

ruling  superstructure  which  were  targeted  at  the  Uzama,  provoked  hostility  towards  the 

monarchy  for  sometime,  at  the  end  the  Uzama 

had to give in and perceive themselves essentially 

as advisers since it was now the new chiefs who 

were  fully  involved  in  the  day-to-day 

administration of the state. 
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Edion’ Uzama paying homage 

Practically, the Uzama had few administrative duties, controlled relatively few fiefs, 

and  attended  policymaking  and  judicial  councils  at  the  palace  only  on  the  most  critical 

occasions.  Nevertheless,  as  guardians  of  custom  and  of  the  kingship,  they  retained 

considerable prestige and moral authority. 



Oba Oguola reigned 1280-1295AD 

t the demise of Oba Ewedo, the eldest son Prince Obuobu who had earlier 

led a military expedition to the Igbo country could not be found. According to 

A Chief Egharevba Prince Obuobu being warlike had remained east of the 

Niger River and spent many years fighting in the Igbo land. When he could not be found, 

the second son of Oba Ewedo, performed funeral obsequies of his father and ascended 

the throne. 

According  to  Chief  Egharevba  three  years  later  Prince  Obuobu  returned  to  the 

capital and to appease him, the Enogie of Avbiama title was consequently created and 

coffered  on  him  by  Oba  Ogunola.  Thus  Prince  Obuobu  became  the  first  Enogie  of 

Avbiama  and  the  titles  earlier  created  at  Avbiama  during  the  Ogie’iso  dynasty,  before 

Prince Obuobu arrival there, became the titles own chiefs. 

Chief  J.  U.  Egharevba  also  wrote  that  immediately  after  his  coronation,  Oba 

Oguola set men to the task of digging trenches right round the city to keep out enemies, 

especially  his  greatest  and  most  powerful  enemy,  Akpanigiakon  of  Udo,  to  the  west  of 

Benin across the Ovia River. This work took over three years and after its completion he 

began to create titles like Ighizamete, later contracted to Ezama, meaning ‘I will pay no 

heed to the iinvaders ’. 

Over the years, this erroneous notion of crediting Oba Oguola with the construction 

of the Great Benin earthworks became accepted by historians and anthropologists. What 

actually  happened  was  that  Oba  Oguola  ordered  that  the  earthworks  especially  those 

around metroplois of Benin be deepened to keep out enemies. 



115 





Quoting oral traditional sources, Chief J. U. Egharevba, also wrote that soon after 

this, in order to have peace and liberty, Oba Oguola went into an alliance by giving one of 

his daughters to Akpanigiakon in marriage. But the princess did not like the idea of the 

mariage and returned to Benin City from Unuame on the way to Udo. Consequent upon 

which Akpanigiakon declared war against Benin. An expedition headed by Ogie’obo was 

sent to repell the invasion. 

The Benin army defeated the invading army then attacked and destroyed the Udo 

state when about 1285. With the threats from Udo were finally nolified and the victorious 

army was garrisioned at Ora. He continued the Udo campaign until the victory of Urhezen 

was fully established. Akpanigiakon was killed at Urhoezen and the elders of Udo were 

brought to Benin City where they were executed. Oba Oguola as a mark of his gratitude 

for this victory, gave the crown of Akpanigiakon to Ogie’obo. 

Finally the independence of Udo and all Iyeke’Ovia, was successfully overturned 

by Oba Oguola at the decisive battle of Urhezen in 1287AD. 

Oba Oguola’s success in his security plan gave him the opportunity to pursue his 

goal of promoting the development of arts and crafts as well as expansion of trade for his 

people. 

As a result, Oba Oguola was wrongly credited with the introduction brass casting to Benin 

from Ile Ife by Chief Egharevba and overtime, this mistake had become entrenched. It was 

also  speculated  by  Chief  Egheravba  that  the  practice  of  making  brass  castings  for  the 

preservation of the records of events was originated during the reign of Oba Oguola. 

Fortunately,  recent  researches  have  jettisoned  this  theory  as  new 

evidences  have  proved  that  brass  or  leaded  bronze  casting  and 

brass-smithing  were  known  to  have  been  practiced  during  the 

Ogie’iso  times.  Furthermore  brass  bangles  unearthed  during 

Graham Connahs 1975 excavations in Benin City have been dated 

to 9th, Century AD 
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Oba Edoni reigned 1295 A.D. 

doni, the eldest son of Oguola, was placed on the throne of Benin after the 

death of his father. He was placed on the throne of Benin after the death of 

E his father. 

Chief  Egharevba  wrote  that  he  was  a  lover  of  pleasure,  and  in  the  midst  of  his 

merry-making he scarcely had time to see to the good management of the afairs of the 

country. 

 

Oba Udagbedo reigned 1299 A.D. 

ba  Udagbedo,  the  second  son  of  Oguola,  ascended  the  throne  after  his 

brother’s short and uneventful reign. 

O In his book ”A Short History of Benin”, Chief Egharevba wrote that  Oba 

Udagbedo  was  a  kind-hearted,  brave,  active  and  industrious  king.  He  encouraged 

agriculture  and  in  his  time  food  was  plentiful  and  commerce  in  agricultural  produce 

attained great height. He was loved and admired by his subjects. 

According to some traditions, about 1300 A.D the migration of the Gas from Edo to 

present day Accra area in modern Ghana Republic took place during his reign,. 

The Sanctity of Ogbe Quarters 

Since  the  reign  of  Oba  Ewedo  in  the  1250s,  there  have  been  royal 

pronouncements that no other corpse should be interred in the Ogbe sector of the Benin 

metropolis, except that of the Oba alone. This custom has been tenaciously preserved for 

almost 800 years till the British conquerors of Benin converted a part of the palace into a 

cemetery in 1897. 
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In the old empire days, this sanctity had never been violated despite an attempt 

made  by  Agbodo  to  nullify  it  during  the  reign  of  Oba  Udagbedo.      According  to  Chief 

Egharevba, “Agbodo was a great chief, influential and strong hearted man and he usually 

opposed the Oba in every possible way in regard to the government of the country. He 

often boasted that when he dies his corpse would be buried in his house at Ogbe. 

Consequently,  when  his  end  was  near,  he  had  a  magical  stone  prepared.  He 

ordered his sons to put his body in the second impluvium of his house, and to place the 

magical stone on his breast before announcing his death by weeping.  His sons did so. 

Hearing this, the Oba sent messengers there to see that his corpse was not buried in his 

home. 

On reaching there the messengers saw the corpse in the impluvium, and to their 

surprise it began to sink little by little, until it was out of sight. They ran hurriedly back to 

the Oba to tell him about it. 

Oba Udagbedo indignantly sent many people there to dig up the corpse and in the 

process, the whole building was razed to the ground but the corpse could not be found. 

The hole which they dug became a pond which was always called Agbodo after that.” 

Another school of  thought  presupposes the pond “Agbodo” was the mud/clay pit 

where the building material that was used by Oba Ewedor in building his vast palace was 

obtained. As it is, every quarter of the aboriginal settlements of the city also have these 

Oghodo  (ponds)  where  their  building  materials  of  the  houses  in  these  quarters  were 

obtained. 

The pond was filled up by Oba, Akenzua II between 1935 and 1937 and the Benin 

Divisional Council Public works Department was built over it in 1949. 

Oba Ohen reigned about 1334 A.D. 

he dynastic traditions as recorded by Chief Egharevba says that Oba Ohen, 

the  third  son  of  Oba  Oguola  succeeded  his  brother  Oba  Udagbedo. 

T According to Egharevba, he was a handsome and intelligent man.  After he 

had reigned for about twenty-five years, he became paralyzed in his legs and to conceal 
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his infirmity he ordered his attendants to carry him to the council chamber in the palace 

before the arrival of the chiefs and to take him from there after their departure. 

This  order  was  carried  out  for  a  considerable  time  till,  at  last,  his  Iyase,  named 

Emuze  who  was  anxious  to  know  why  the  Oba  was  the  first  to  arrive  in  the  council 

chamber  and  the  last  to  leave  it,  concealed  himself  in  one  of  the  secret  places  in  the 

chamber. Unfortunately he was discovered, and Oba Ohen, ordered him to be instantly 

put to death. 

After a long absence of Iyase Emuze from public functions, the people demanded 

for his where about. 

This demand has become an integral part of the rituals of state ceremonies at the 

Oba palace; the great chiefs would inquire of the Iyase with their left hand;  Where is Iyase 

 Emuze?.  

When the death of Iyase Emuze was made public, the Benins revolted and rose to 

arms. Traditions  say  that  because  the  person  of  the 

Oba is sacred, his blood cannont be shed. Therefore 

the  Benins  dug  a  deep  hole  under  the  throne 

chambers of the Oba and when his throne ‘Ekete’ was 

placed  on  covered  hole,    he  fell  in  and  the  palace 

functionaries  and  the  people  filled  up  the  hole  with 

white  chalk;  Orhue.  “Ohen  mien  Orhue”(Ohen  have 

chalk).  The  Oba  of  Benin  is  a  deity  who  does  not 

require  food  like  a  human.  He  can  stay  for  weeks 

without food and when he eat, his food is ‘Orhue’.                      Oba Ohen? 



According to the Benin dynastic tradition, after the killing of Oba ohen by the Benin 

chiefs an interregnum was created during which time the chiefs ruled Benin. 

Oba Ogbeka   reigned 1359 A.D.   



119 



bout 1375 AD the eldest son of  Oba Ohen was crowned and he ascended 

the Benin throne with the title Ogbeka. He riegned from about 1375 to 1415 

A AD.  The Urhobos were said to have migrated from Benin during his reign 

to Abraka and environs. No doubt  they call the Benins Ikhuo'r Aka  ;  the people of  Aka 

after  the  Oba.  According  to  Chief  A.  Salubi,  the  Urhobos  are  a  heterogeneous  people 

whose  social  organization  is  based  on  small  units,  commonly  called  Clans.  There  are 

some  16  autonomous  Clans  each  ruled  by  an  Ovie  or  an  Okpako. For  their  origin,  the 

people  have  always  maintained  that  their  ancestors  who  were  the  founders  of  their 

present country hailed from Benin which they call "Aka. 

It is true that Urhobo clans of the Edoid or Edo-speaking race call the people of 

Benin "Aka". The significance of this is a potentially fertile area of research for any young 

historian who might be interested. However, it might interest you to know that the word 

"Aka" remains in Benin-City until this day. 

According to Aisien, there are three contexts:  

1.  Ogbel'aka - This is a section of  Benin-City which houses the Royal Musicians. They 

also play an important role during coronations. 

2. Ogbe n'alaka - a section of Ogbe adjoining the Palace to which Oba Akengbuda about 

1800 retired in old age after abdicating the throne in favor of his son who reigned as Oba 

n’Osa. 

3. Eze n'Aka - which was a tributary of the Ikpoba river exclusively dedicated to supplying 

drinking water to the Benin Palace at its present location from time immemorial. 

But what seemed to have been the earliest reference on European record to the 

Urhobo  people  was  made  by  Duarte  Pacheco  Pereira,  who,  while  describing  Rio  Dos 

Forcados  (Forcados  River)  said  among  other  things.  "Farther  in  the  interior  is  another 

country called Subou, which is densely populated. " 
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Oba Orobiru  reigned  about 1416 A.D. 

ba  Orobiru  succeeded  Oba  Egbeka.  Oba  Oroburi’s  advisers  led  by  the 

group of elders the Edion’isen, manipulated him. Oba Oroburi was a weak 

O and highly insecure leader who listened to his advisors without questioning 

their sincerity or motives, and the self-interested elders poisoned his mind 

against his brothers. 

Oba Oroburi was in awe of his strong-willed, idealistic and independent brother or 

nephew, Prince Ogun, and dared not cross him.   But  confused  and  insecure,  he  was 

persuaded  by  his  court  advisors  to  send  Prince  Ogun  into  exile.  About  1420  AD,  he 

banished his younger brothers Princes Ogun and Irughe from the metropolis. 

Oba Uwaifiokun reigned about  l435 A.D. 

hen Oba Orobiru died,  members of  the Edion’isen where uncomfortable 

with Prince Ogun’s strong and independent streak and did not want him to 

W become the Oba. 

When the hostilities building against him over his right  to the throne was getting 

unbearable, with death penalty hanging on his head, he fled into the woods to save his 

life, taking his junior brother, Irughe, along with him. 

Finally  about  1435  AD,  after  learning  that  Oba  Orobiru  had  joined  his  ancestors 

and  Prince  Ogun  sent  his  younger  brother  Prince  Irhughe  to  the  capital  city  to  make 

inquiries on the possibility of ending their exile. When Prince Irughe arrived at Chief Ihama 

of  Ihogbe’s  home,  the  chief  excitedly  rushed  him  to  meet  with  the  Edion’isen  who 

enthusiastically received him.  Asked about his elder brother, Prince Ogun, Irughe lied that 

he had not seen him for a long while and that he was probably dead.  The Edion’Uzama 
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then offered him the throne which he quickly accepted, thus betraying his brother’s trust. 

Being  the  next  in  line  of  succession,  the  elders  and  palace  functionaries  pronounced 

Irhughe king. 

Accordingly, Prince Irughe usurped the throne and reigned as Oba Uwaifiokun. 

As Oba, Uwaifiokun was not a poor or vindictive leader, but he was so obsessed 

with the possibility of being overthrown by his elder brother, the exiled Prince Ogun, that 

he sentenced him to death in absentia. . 



Oba Ewuare r.1440 - 1473 AD 

ba  Ewuare  N’Ogidigan  is  undoubtedly  the  greatest  monarch  to  sit  on  the 

Benin throne and it was during his reign that Benin was transformed from a 

O small rainforest kingdom into an expanding empire. 

The Exile of Prince Ogun 

Banished by Oba Orobiru from the metropolis on the advice of 

his  chiefs,  Prince  Ogun  became  an  exile.      In  the  course  of  these 

wanderings, he would secretly visit the city at night to perform rituals 

and sacrifices that would ensure his succession to the Benin throne at 

the Benin royal ancestral altars “Aro Erinmwin’Idu. 

According to the Benin dynastic traditions, Emotan, a childless 

widow who had given him shelter and protection throughout his years 

of exile, aided him in this mission. Emotan used to cater the children of 

the traders at the Oba market while their mothers were busy.  Emotan 

is  also  credited  with  running  the  first  Child  Care  Centre  in  Benin 

history.                                                                      Emotan statue 

As  reward  for  her  support,  after  her  death,  the  new  Oba  planted  a  tree  on  her 

grave as a shrine for Emotan.  The tree died and Oba Osemwende who reigned between 
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1816 and 1848 planted a new tree. A statue commissioned by Oba Akenzua 11 in 1954 

has long since replaced the tree planted by Oba Osemwenede. 

One fateful night, while sleeping under a tree in the forest, a warm and sticky liquid, 

dropped  on  his  head  and  the  prince  woke  up.  In  the 

morning  on  investigating  the  source  of  the  liquid,  he 

found out that he had been sleeping on a python or a 

boa  constrictor  and  the  warm  substance  dripping  on 

him was blood from the nostrils of a leopard resting in 

the branches of the same tree.                        The leopard resting on a tree branch 

The spot where the incidence took place today is venerated as sacred. 

Prince Ogun killed both animals and offered them as sacrifice 

to his head; the source of his good luck.  When Prince Ogun 

eventually  ascended  the  Benin  throne,  he  decreed  both 

animals sacred to the Oba.  Bronze leopards were placed on 

royal ancestor altars. 

a python 

These  are  aquamanile-water 

vessels  filled  through  the  top  of 

the  head,  from  which  water 

could  be  poured  through  the 

nostrils during ceremonies. 

Leopard Aquamaniles     Brass Python Head  

Since then, the Oba of Benin actually kept live leopards at his court and created 

the “Ivbi’ekpen’ a special guild of leopard keepers to look after them. 

During this exile, he founded several villages namely Okada, Igue’Ogun, etc. in the 

Iyeke’Ovia and Iyeke’orhionmwon territories.  He planted Okha and Uroko trees in these 

communities as foundation relics. The trees thrived and over the centuries had become 

objects of veneration by the indigenes of the communities. 
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During his exile, Prince Ogun had some very powerful followers. These men were 

Elekighidi  N’Ogbelaka,  Egbaen  N’Iwu,  Ova’oto  N’Igieduma,  Egbemwen’Igharuan 

N’Okhunmwun,  Ovbivbi  N’Okhunmwun,  Ebomien’isi  N’Ugo,  Ezughu  N’Ogan,  Okhuaihe 

N’Oyeru, Ake N’Isi, to name a few. 

When his younger brother, Prince Irughe usurped the throne Prince Ogun became 

a  wanted  fugitive  with  a  price  on  his  head.  But  years  of  loneliness,  hardship,  and 

adventure had caused Prince Ogun to develop considerable courage and determination, 

and he resolved to return home to fight his brother for the throne. 

Meanwhile in the forest, Prince Ogun bided his time and continued his wandering. 

Months  rolled  into  years  and  years  into  decades  and  in  the  twentieth  year  of  his 

wandering  the  length  and  breadth  of  the  great  rainforest  of  West  and  Central  Africa, 

Prince Ogun returned to the metropolis. 

During  a  nighttime  ritual  ceremony,  Prince  Ogun  attacked  and  killed  his  brother 

Oba Uwaifiokun with the ancestral staff.  He also set fire to the city and escaped in the 

pandemonium. The fire that lasted three days and nights completely burnt down the entire 

city. Prince Ogun eventually prevailed in his fight for power and he ascended the Benin 

throne with the title Ewuare “Owo’wuare” meaning it is cool. 

Oba  Ewuare  the  great,  as  he  later  came  to  be  known  in  history,  was  the  most 

dynamic, innovative and successful Oba in the over two millennium long history of Edo 

kingdom of Benin  

Under  Oba  Ewuare,  the  Benin  kingdom  was  completely  transformed  religiously, 

politically, socially and physically. The capital city was re-planned and neatly laid out, with 

roads radiating from the center.  A long 

and  wide  boulevard  called  the 

Uroghotodin, or Utantan “the long street 

“ divided of ancient Benin City into two 

halves. 

Akpakpava; c. 1440 AD 



124 



The  two  distinct  segments  constituted  the  public  service  sector  and  the  Oba's 

sector called Ogbe while the other was called Ore N’Okhua. Meanwhile, a 160 feet wide 

road called Akpakpava also divided Ore n’Okhua into two. 

Beginning  at  Ivb’iye  N’Evba  at  the  south  gate  of  the  city  the  Uroghotodin,  or 

Utantan continues through the city, as the crow flies, terminating at the Ezomo’s palace at 

Uzebu.  According to Dr. Assien, portions of this half of the City have the prefix “Ogbe” 

attached to them to show that they exist on Palace land: Adesogbe, Ogbe n’Alaka, Ogbe 

Ezoti, Ogbe’ Sasa, Ogbe N’aka and Ogbe’oka. When the Edo people die, they are buried 

in their own homes. The Ogbe section belongs to the Oba, and only he lies buried in its 

soil. Hence the Benin aphorism “Ai gue’ Oba vbi’Ogbe”. 

After Oba Ewuare rebuilt his capital, the town planning and architectural design still 

baffles historians and cultural anthropologists to this day. 

About 300 years later, a European visitor wrote this about the city of Benin “This 

 large  city  is  divided  into  several  wards  or  districts,  each  of  which  is  govern'd  by  its 

 respective king of the street, as they call them here, to administer justice and keep good 

 order, being in some manner like our aldermen of wards in London. 

 These kings of the street by their post, and being commonly rich men, have a great 

 authority over the inhabitants of their respective wards” 

In 1553, Windham an English merchant wrote”   Oedo, the metropolis of Benin, is 

 prodigious large, taking up above six leagues of ground in compass, if we include therein 

 the queen's court or palace, so that no town in Guinea can compare to it for extent and 

 beauty. It is seated about twelve leagues north north-west from Agatton, in a vast plain 

 which is as pleasant as could be wished, being all over planted with fine large and ever-

 green trees, very regularly disposed. It is enclos'd on one side by a double ridge of trunks 

 of trees about ten foot high, set close together in the ground for a fence or palisado to it, 

 the  trunks  fastened  to  one  another  by  long  pieces  of  timber  athwart,  and  the  interval 

 between  the  two  ridges  or  rows  of  trunks  filled  up  with  red  clammy  earth,  which  at  a 

 distance looks like a good thick wall, very even and smooth. 
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 The  other  side  of  the  city  is  naturally  defended  by  a  large  morass,  which  is, 

 besides, covered by thorny shrubby bushes very thick together, so as that the morass can 

 hardly be well come at. 

 The town has several gates at a distance from each other on the side of the wood 

 and clay-wall,  being but  ten foot  high and five broad  and shut  with one single piece of 

 wood hung up at each gate, in the manner as we do our gaps of ground in Europe: they 

 keep a guard of soldiers at each gate, which leads to the country through a suburb.  

 There are in Oedo thirty very great streets, most of them prodigious both in length 

 and breadth, being twenty fathom wide and almost two English miles long, commonly 

 extending from one gate to another in a strait line, and besides these a great number 

 of cross-streets and lanes. 

 In  the  large  wide  streets  continual  markets  are  kept  in  the  fore  and  after-noon 

 every day, of cattle, elephants-teeth, cotton wool or yarn, and many sorts of European 

 goods, and all those streets, though never so long and wide, are by the women kept 

 very neat and clean, every woman being charged to sweep before her own door. 

 The houses in every street are very thick and close built, and all full of inhabitants; 

 the shells of the houses are all of a strong clammy clay, two foot thick, and but one 

 story high, there not being one stone, tho' never so small, to be found in the whole 

 country. The tops are thatched with straw or palm-tree leaves; most houses are very 

 wide, each having a great gallery within, and some another without, where they place 

 forms and benches to sit or lie on, to take the fresh air in hot scorching weather. 

 The ordinary houses have but one door and no windows, receiving light only at a 

 hole left open for that purpose in the middle of the roof, and to let the smoke out in 

 those rooms designed for kitchens. The best houses are very large and handsome, 

 and tolerably well built, if compared with the buildings of other nations of Blacks. Each 

 of those large houses is divided into several little rooms for divers uses. 
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 Their galleries are very neatly kept, being, as most of the inside of the house-walls, 

 wash'd  over  with  a  red  glazy  paint,  as  the  king  of  Sestro's  houses  are,  before 

 mentioned by me. 

 The houses of great and notable persons are yet finer and larger than those of the 

 commonalty, for these have generally galleries within and without, supported by strong 

 planks or pieces of timber ten or twelve foot high, instead of columns, not plained, but 

 hewed out. 

 This large city is divided into several wards or districts, each of which is govern'd 

 by its respective king of the street, as they call them here, to administer justice and 

 keep good order, being in some manner like our aldermen of wards in London. These 

 kings of the street by their post, and being commonly rich men, have a great authority 

 over the inhabitants of their respective wards. 

The royal palace  

 The  royal  palace  stands  on  the  high  road  leading  from  Benin  to  Agatton,  at  the 

 right hand, and is so large and spacious, that it takes up as much room as Rochel or 

 Bourdeaux, being all enclosed with a balustrade wall of the same stuff and materials 

 as  I  have  shewn  the  city  is  on  one  side:  however  this  palace  is  accounted,  and  in 

 reality  makes  a  part  of  that  great  city,  being  also  built  on  a  very  great  plain,  about 

 which there are no houses, but has nothing more of rarity in it than the other buildings 

 of the town, only that it is extraordinary large, the houses and apartments in it being all 

 of  the  same  materials;  however,  it  is  remarkable  for  its  large  courts  and  long  wide 

 galleries.  

 The first of which is supported by near sixty stout planks, twelve foot high, in lieu of 

 pilasters, roughly hacked out.  When past this gallery, you come to the clay wall, which 

 has three gates, one at each angle or corner, and one exactly in the middle, adorned 

 with a wooden turret about seventy foot high, narrower above than at the bottom, and 

 on the top of it is place a long large copper snake, its head hanging downwards, either 
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 cast or hammer'd, and indifferent good work. Every building or house has also a small 

 turret of a pyramidal form, on some of which is fix'd a cast bird of copper with stretch'd-

 out wings, which is also a pretty sort of work for Blacks, and induces me to think they 

 have tolerable good workmen that are somewhat skilled in casting brass or copper.  

 Within  those  gates  appears  a  plain  of  about  an  English  mile,  almost  square, 

 inclosed  with  a  low  clay-wall,  at  the  end  of  which  plain  is  another  gallery,  like  the 

 former in every particular, and beyond it a third, like the other two, with this difference, 

 that the columns or pilasters, on which it rests, are human figures, so ill carved that it 

 is a hard matter to distinguish whether they are the figures of men or brutes, and yet 

 the natives divide them into soldiers, merchants and hunters of wild beasts: and under 

 a white carpet or sheet are eleven men's heads, cast in copper, but of a very odd sort 

 of work, on each of which heads stands an elephant's toot, which are the king's idols.  

 Beyond  this  gallery  is  another  large  plain  with  a  fourth  gallery  at  the  end  of  it,  and 

 beyond that again, the king's dwelling-house, adorned with a turret and a coppercast 

 snake as on the first wall. 

 The  first  room  in  the  king's  house  at  the  entrance  unto  the  plain  or  court  is  the 

 audience-chamber,  where  strangers  are  admitted  to  his  presence,  he  having  then 

 always  by  him  the  three  greatest  officers  of  his  court,  of  whom  more  shall  be  said 

 hereafter. There that prince commonly sits on an ivory couch under a silk canopy etc., 

 and on his left hand, against a fine tapistry, are seven white scoured elephant's teeth, 

 on pedestals of ivory, which is the way they have there to place all the king's gods or 

 idols in the palace. 

 The king has pretty large stables there for his horses, which are small, and not very 

 handsome,  the  land  affording  no  better,  but  he  has  a  great  number  of  them.The 

 inhabitants of this large town must be all natives of the country, for no foreigners are 

 allow'd to settle there. 
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 The  Benin  Blacks  not  being  very  laborious,  and  many  of  those  that  are  wealthy 

 living near the court, there are in abundance of families of that sort of gentry in Oedo, 

 attending continually in the palace without any profession, leaving all their concerns, 

 either in trade or husbandry, to their wives and slaves, who are continually at all the 

 fairs and markets in the country round about, to carry on their husbands and masters 

 business, or else serve there for wages, the best part whereof they must very carefully 

 pay to their husbands or masters: which makes the women there as much slaves as 

 they are in any other part of the kingdom of Benin, for, besides their talk of driving their 

 husbands  to  traffick,  and  tilling  their  ground,  they  must  also  look  after  their  house-

 keeping and children, and dress provisions every day for their family. but the female 

 sex  is  there  in  a  most  peculiar  way  to  brisk,  jolly  and  withal  so  laborious,  that  they 

 dispatch it all very well, and with a seeming pleasure and satisfaction. 

 The  inhabitants  of  this  great  city  are  for  the  generality  very  civil  and  good-natured 

 people, easy to be dealt with, condescending to what Europeans require of them in a 

 civil  way,  and  very  ready  to  return  double  the  presents  we  make  them;  nay,  their 

 generous temper goes so far, that they seldom will deny us anything we ask of them, 

 tho'  they  have  occasion  for  it  themselves:  whereas,  on  the  contrary,  if  treated  with 

 haughtiness and rudely, they are as stiff and high, and will not yield upon any account. 

 They  are  very  nice  and  exact  in  all  their  behaviour  and  deportment,  according  to  their 

 ancient customs, and will not suffer them to be abolish'd; and to comply with them in this 

 particular  is  a  sure  way  to  gain  their  friendship,  and  be  used  by  them  with  all  possible 

 civility, being so liberal as to give Europeans prodigious quantities of refreshments, and 

 more than we really want; nay, some give beyond their ability, to gain a good reputation 

 among  us.  They  are  no  less  studious  to  be  generous  in  their  mutual  presents  to  one 

 another. 

Lourenco Pinto, a Portuguese ship Captain who wrote about Benin in 1619, sent 

the below deposition to the Sacra Congregazione the instance of Father Montelcone…. 

 " All the city of this African Empire are organized, large and harmonious. The streets run 
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 straight  and as far as the eyes can see.  The  houses are large;  especially those  of  the 

 king, which is richly decorated and has, fine columns. The city is wealthy and industrious”.  

The palace was reconstructed on a massive scale covering several acres of land at 

its  present  location  and  turned  into  a  beehive  of  activities  as  the  political  and  spiritual 

nerve centre of the vast kingdom. The Benins have a saying that in the Oba's palace there 

is never silence “Eguae Oba de’ivbie”. 

The huge complex comprised of halls housing shrine and altars dedicated to the 

past Obas, meeting chambers for a variety of palace associations, work spaces for ritual 

professionals,  royal  artists  and  craftsmen,  storehouses,  the  harem  for  the  Oba's 

numerous consorts, royal children and servants. 

A  seventeenth  century  Dutch  engraving  from  Olfert  Dapper's  Nauwkeurige 

Beschrijvinge der Afrikaansche Gewesten, published in Amsterdam in 1668 described the 

palace  thus:  "  The  king's  palace  or  court  is  a  square,  and  is  as  large  as  the  town  of 

 Haarlem  and  entirely  surrounded  by  a 

 special  wall,  like  that  which  encircles  the 

 town.  It  is  divided  into  many  magnificent 

 palaces,  houses,  and  apartments  of  the 

 courtiers, and comprises beautiful and long 

 square  galleries,  about  as  large  as  the 

 Exchange  at  Amsterdam,  but  one  larger 

 than another, resting on wooden pillars, from top to bottom covered with cast copper, on 

 which are engraved the pictures of their war exploits and battles, and are kept very clean. 

 Most  palaces  and  houses  of  the  king  are  covered  with  palm  leaves  instead  of  square 

 pieces of wood, and every roof is decorated with a small turret ending in a point, on which 

 birds are standing, birds cast in copper with outspread wings, cleverly made after living 

 models." 
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Benin City; the capital 

ccording to Chief Egharevba,  Edo was the name of the bondsman of Ogie’efa 

 who saved Prince Ogun’s life when the Benin elders set a trap to capture and 

A  kill him.  When Edo died, Prince Ogun buried him at the entrance to the palace's 

 inner tower. He then decreed that the land of Ubini should henceforth be known as Edo in 

 appreciation  for  the  assistance  he  got  from  the  slave.  Chief  Egharevba  also  wrote  that 

 later, the city became known as ‘Edo O'evho Ahire’ meaning Edo ‘the city of love’.  Thus 

Chief Egharevba credited Prince Ogun as Oba Ewuare with changing the name Benin to 

Edo after his coronation.  This account is again horrible distortions of historical facts as a 

violation  of  royal  pronouncements  are  no  easy  feats  in  Benin.   Firstly  it  practically 

impossible for Oba Ewuare to name his empire after a slave no matter the greatness of 

his sacrifice, achievement or patriotism.   

Furthermore the name Edo even predates Ogie’iso Igodo and modern researchers 

and historians have gotten various evidences that buttressed this fact.   Secondly, it also 

impossible  for  Oba  Ewuare  to  violate  the  Sanctity  of  Ogbe  by  burying  his  slave  in  the 

palace as it is a law that no other than the royal remains of an Oba who pass on can be 

buried in the Ogbe half of Benin City. 

The reality is that the appellation ‘Edo O'evbo A hi re’ means Edo the city that a 

man prays to reincarnate in. 

From the above statements,  it is absolutely unimaginable that  a slave no matter 

how patriotic his acts or sacrifices may have been to warrant Oba Ewuare committing a 

sacrilege by breaking a taboo that was already ancient when he ascended the throne of 

the Edo kingdom of Benin.  The name ‘Ubini’ as earlier stated has its roots in the Itsekiri 

name for the Benin kingdom. 
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The re-organization of the Kingdom 

ba  Ewuare  re-organized  the  government  of  the  kingdom  by  centralizing  it. 

The political elite of the kingdom was made up of titled chiefs and members 

O of the royal family. The five highest-ranking nobles who were, in fact, 

descendants  of  original  elders  of  Benin  the  Edion’Uzama  were  constituted  into  a  class 

with leadership authority next to the king.  He set up three powerful palace associations of 

chiefs, Iwebo, Iweguae, Eka’Iwe  In the tradition of the kings of the Ogie’iso dynasty, the 

brothers  of  the  king  who  tended  to  be  potential  rivals  were  sent  as  hereditary  rulers; 

Enigie  of  Benin’s  numerous  administrative  districts.    Oba  Ewuare  restored  the  annual 

cycle of royal ceremonies the most important ones being Ugie Erha Oba in honour of royal 

ancestors and Igue to strengthen the mystical powers of the king. These ceremonies are 

also a set of annual cycle of rituals and rites 

which are performed to purify and strengthen 

the Benin kingdom. The present day elegant 

ceremonial costumes of the kings and chiefs 

of Benin originated from Ewuare's reign. 

Benin Chiefs at the Ugie Erha’Oba              

Oba Ewuare’s Empire 

bout 1445, Oba Ewuare set up a war machine that created the second Benin 

Empire  and  extended  Benin  notion  of  kingship,  objects,  aesthetic  ideas  and 

A power across the west coast of Africa. The arts, particularly brass casting, 

flourished during his reign.   In the the course of these conquests, Oba Ewuare spread 

Benin  culture  and  traditions,  particularly  the  Obaship  ideology  and  system  by  sending 

royal brothers to rule over tributaries, or holding hostage, sons of conquered chiefs to be 

trained in Benin City or by sponsoring candidates for thrones of conquered territories. 
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Symbols of  authority such as  the Ada and Eben as well as brass pectoral masks were 

introduced to vassal lords as emblems of their authority and these symbols have endured 

in virtually all the territories that experienced Benin control. 

This  photograph  portrays  the  Onojie  of  Evboikhimwin  displaying  his 

Benin derived symbols of authority 



Even in places outside direct Benin influence, such 

as  in  the  Niger  Delta  area,  the  reputation  of  the  Oba  of 

Benin was such that  leadership disputes were brought  to 

him for arbitration and the winners took back home, Benin 

regalia to form part of their leadership traditions. 

This  photograph  shows  traditional  rulers  from 

the  Niger  Delta  region  wearing  Benin  derived 

regalia. 

According to Benin dynastic traditions, about 1460, 

Oba  Ewuare  had  just  returned  from  the  Igbo 

country  across  the  River  Niger  where  he  had  led 

an  expedition  against  the  Igbo  communities  of 

Oguta on the Orashi river banks when he suddenly 

turned on Ugu and declared war on the Oba N’Ugu 

Eze’Igwe  of  Oguta  holding  a  Benin 

derived ceremonial sword. 

The Ugu Campaign 

The war that Oba Ewuare began as the re-conquest of the Ugu kingdom, ended in 

a  campaign  that  eventually  spanned  two  centuries  and  seven  reigns.  It  was  Oba 

Ehengbuda  Oba  Ewuare;s  great  great  grandson  who  eventually  completed  the  re-
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conquest of Ugu kingdom after almost one hundred and thirty years of fighting; from 1460 

to 1590. 

Oba Ewuare set up his Army Headquarters at Ogan and Ezuku N'Oganwho late 

became  a  Hero-deity  was  his  field  commander.  From  Ogan,  Oba  Ewuare  attacked  the 

Ugu kingdom from the northeast and captured Urhonigbe, brought the elders to Benin and 

executed them. He also destroyed the Urhonigbe earthworks. 

In the course of the campaign. his armies captured the Oheze, Eso and Ugbeka in 

quick succession but  got  bogged down as they move into the core  Ugu chiefdoms. He 

later called off the Ugu campaign as a result of other pressing issues at the capital. 

Incidentally,  the  issue  was  the  deaths  of  Oba  Ewuare's  two  sons  and  the 

subsequent  suicides  of  their  respective  mothers,  and  according  to  the  Benin  dynastic 

traditions, Princes Ikuoboyuwa the Edaiken of Uselu and Ezerhugha the Enogie of Iyowa 

poisoned each other on the same day as a result of the deep hatred for each other. 

Oba  Ewuare  the  Great  sent  his  senior  son,  Kuoboyuwa,  to  hold  brief  for  a  man 

called Iken of  Uselu,  who was a strong powerful warrior who constantly challenged the 

authority of the Oba and he often prevented Uselu people from paying the annual tributes 

to the Oba in Benin City. 

As a result of this opposition constituted by Iken, Oba Ewuare wanted to eliminate 

him  by  sending  him  to  the  battle  front  during  the  war  between  Benin  and  Owo. 

Kuoboyuwa, the senior son of the Oba was to hold brief for him during the period. Iken 

won the war but he was killed on his way back. 

When  the  Oba  realised  that  Uselu  people  would  react  violently  if  Iken  failed  to 

return from the war front, he decided to make the position of his son a permanent one to 

enable him assume full responsibility of the ruler of Uselu. He therefore conferred on him 

the title of Edaiken; Edayi N’iKen that is the person holding brief for Iken. The Palace of 

Edaiken was established there. 

It has since that period become traditional that the first son of every Oba of Benin 

is conferred with the title of Edaiken and on coming of age, leaves his residence in the 
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centre of the town for the Palace of Edaiken; Eguae’Edaiken at Uselu where he remains 

until when he is called upon to ascend the throne as Oba. 

The Edaiken of Uselu, like the Oba of Benin his father, also has various title Chiefs 

under him, apart from the central ones created by the Oba himself. 

After a reign spanning  very eventful 33 years, Oba Ewuare  joined his ancestors 

and was buried at Essi; his mother’s home town in the Iyeke’Ovia districts. 

Oba Ewuare is remembered as an outstanding ruler not only for his conquests and 

breadth  of  contact  with  the  wide  world.  He  also  presided  over  Benin’s  most  important 

political developments. For it was under Ewuare, according 

to  tradition,  that  the  State 

Council  of  Benin  was  formed, 

together with other new political 

institutions; and it was from this 

time that the imperial system of 

Benin  acquired  not  only  a 

central  ruler  but  also  a  central 

government,  with  officials  and  departments  and  regular 

means of administering the empire. The city of Benin rose to 

importance and gained the name of city during his reign. 

Oba Ewuare in a divine form 
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Chapter Three 

The Reigns of the Three Princes 


hree years after the death of Princes Ikuoboyuwa and Izuwara, Oba Ewuare 

relaxed  the  harsh  laws  especially  that  forbidding  procreation  by  all  his 

T subjects that he had earlier passed as a mark of mourning for his sons. The 

Oba  too  had  adhered  strictly  by  the  pronouncement  by  not  cohabiting  with  over  one 

thousand wives and concubines in his great harem. 

After lifting the sanction, Oba Ewuare could not produce a male child to succeed 

him. The various doctors and herbalists in the empire failed to proffer a solution to this dire 

predicament faced by the great king till he was advised to go to the dukedom of Uzea in 

the Esanland. 

At Uzea, a renowned herbalist and doctor named Ukpe n’agan’bie (he who makes 

the barren fruitful), was finally able procure the herbs and other portent portions required 

for treatment.  After the herbalist Ukpen’Agan’bie was able secure a guarantee from Oba 

Ewuare that he would not be eliminated, he prepared the medication. 

Oba Ewuare returned to Benin the capital. And in due course, he fathered three 

sons  namely  Ezoti  nicknamed  Omwan  akhaen,  Okpame  N’Egho  and  Olua  nicknamed 

’Okpetu.    Soon  the  palace  was  filled  with  young  children;  princes  and  princesses.  The 

Palace once more bubbled with life. Oba Ewuare also took as wife the younger daughter 

of the Ogie’Ekae.  Her name was Ewere. 

The  Oba  created  the  Iwe  society  to  carter  for  his  children.  These  are  Iwe’Ebo, 

Iwe’Eguae and Eka‘Iwe societies. 

Oba Ewuare had the earthworks around the city deepened as it was done during 

the  reign  of  Oba  Oguola  two  centuries  earlier.    According  to  Chief  Egharevba,  he  also 

made powerful charms and had them buried at each of the nine gateways of the city, so 
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as to ward against any evil charms which might be brought by people of other countries in 

order to injure his subjects.' 

As his end drew near, Oba Ewuare summoned his great chiefs and asked them to 

choose  a  worthy  successor  from  amongst  his  three  eldest  sons  namely;  Prince  Ezoti 

N’Omwan Akhaen, Prince Okpame N’Egho and Prince Olua N’Okpetu. 

The Chief after consultation decided to pay each of these princes a visit to carry 

out an on the spot evaluation of their credentials. 

They called first on the eldest known in Benin History as Ezoti N’omwan Akhaen 

(Ezoti the selfish One). The Prince welcomed his noble visitors and entertained then with 

dried-out kolanuts and gave them soured palm wine to drink.  The food he served them 

was  worse  than  a  slave’s  fare  back  in  their  homes.  The  Chiefs  left  in  annoyance  and 

reported  back  to  the  Oba.  They  narrated  the  Oba  their  ordeal  and  they  said  that  the 

Empire will starve to death due to Ezoti’s selfishness should the prince ever become the 

Oba of Benin. 

Their next port of call was Prince Okpame N’egho. Prince Okpame a warrior was 

campaigning  in  the  northern  part  of  the  empire  and  they  met  him  at  his  war  camp.  He 

prepared a lavish feast for them and gave them presents while the feast was in progress. 

he  rushed  out.  After  a  little  while,  he  returned  with  several  severed  human  heads  still 

dripping blood as he joined the mollified chiefs at the feast. 

While he was feasting,  a tse tse fly bit him and flew away.  He once more took 

leave of them and after a long time he once more joined the party.   After the feast, he 

open his fist and brought out a tsetse fly and told the assembled chiefs and other people 

present that he had gone to catch the tsetse fly that bit him some hours earlier. Prince 

Okpame used his great cutting sword; the Umozo to execute the tsetse fly for daring to 

bite him. 

The much-cowed chiefs manage to complete their assignment and went back to 

the  monarch  and  told  him  that  Prince  Okpame  would  destroy  the  Empire  through  his 

constant wars and vindictive nature. 
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Finally, the chief once more set out to the abode of the last of the princes; Olua 

N”okpetu No’hae osa n’omaru (Olua the Squanderer who pays the debts he never owed). 

The  over-generous  Prince  received  them  with  gifts  of  food,  money,  slaves  and  all  the 

good things of life. For those emissaries who were indebted, he paid their debts and gave 

them new wives to some as well as slaves and cattle. 

When the chiefs returned to Benin City, they reported to Oba Ewuare that Prince 

Olua would deplete the royal treasuries and bankrupt the empire should he ever become 

Oba. 

After  carefully  reappraising  the  three  reports,  Oba  Ewuare  brought  out  his 

talismans; the Ososomaye, said to his chiefs “You see no good in my sons. I hereby make 

 these pronounces and prophesy that the three of them shall rule over you and you shal  

 bear the burden of their inadequacies”. 

Oba Ezoti reigned 1473 A.D 

bout  1473,  Oba  Ewuare  joined  the  ancestors  and  the  eldest  surviving  son 

Prince Ezoti was invested with the Edaiken title and retired to Uselu to perform 

A the Royal funeral obsequies “Emwin ekhua”. 

On completion of the Rites Du Passage of his father, Ezoti proceeded to Benin City 

to complete the rest of the coronation rites and rituals. At Uselu, he had performed the 

rites at the Ama’mien Eson Aimien’ Uwa at the famous palm tree. 

On  his  way  to  Usama,  Ezoti  was  shot  in  the  head  with  an  arrow  by  one  of  his 

servants  who  had  earlier  vowed  that  Ezoti  shall  never  become  King.  According  to  the 

dynastic traditions, Ezoti starved the servant’s mother to death. 

The Benin chiefs and elders quickly gathered around the stricken prince and tried 

staunched the blood flowing from the  fatal head injury with strands  of  coral beads now 

called the Uda’ehae. 

For  the  required  period,  the  Ewaise;  priests  and  doctors  kept  Prince  Ezoti  alive, 

using  the  various  exoteric  arts  at  their  disposal  to  enable  him  complete  the  remaining 

coronation rituals. As desired, the prince completed the rites and was crowned Oba. 
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Oba Ezoti ruled for only 14 days. 

After the mourning period, the grief stricken kingdom sent Prince Okpamen to Essi 

and bring back Owere his nephew; Oba Ezoti”s son and heir to Benin City so that he can 

perform the funeral rites for his late father Oba Ezoti and be crowned king in his place. 

Instead Prince Okpame murdered his nephew Prince Owere, the other son of Ezoti 

as  well  as  their  mother  by  burying  them  alive.    Prince  Okpame  returned  to  Benin  and 

reported back to the chiefs and elders that Prince Owere had died of natural sources and 

the  mother  died  of  grief.    When  the  gruesome  act  eventually  came  to  light,  the  Benin 

Nobles banished Prince Okpame from the kingdom. 

This outrageous multiple murders give birth to the Benin aphorism  “Ezoti ofie ugbo 

 no re Okan Ozolua o re fie ema yo. No yaen ema ore yaen ugbo” 

On his way into exile, he went back to his base in Ora his mother’s home village 

located near the Udo in the Iyeke’Ovia territories, gathered his followers and relocated to 

the north of the kingdom where he founded what became the Ora Chiefdoms. 

 

Oba Olua   r. 1477 to 1481 A.D 

fter short interregnum of some six months the Benin great chiefs and nobles 

prevailed on Prince Olua, who declined the crown for fear of the elder brother 

A Prince Okpame to accept the throne of his ancestors. 

When  Prince  Olua  persisted  in  his  refusal,  Princess  Edoleyi,  his  sister  and  a 

daughter  of  Oba  Ewuare  offered  to  take  crown.  Being  vast  in  statecraft  and  the  art  of 

persuasion, Edoloyi convinced Benin chiefs and elders of State to crown her Oba. On her 

way  from  Uselu  to  Benin  City  in  continuation  of  the  coronation  rites,  Princess  Edoleyi 

started her menstrual period and the various charms along with the protective armulets 

worn by the chiefs were immediately neutralized. The affected chiefs killed the princess. 

As  a  result,  a  law  barring  women  perpetually  from  ascending  the  Benin  throne  was 

pronounced by the elders. 
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Haven  overcome  the  dreadful  fear  he  had  for  his  brother  Prince  Okpamen  and 

overwhelmed by persistence and overbearing persuasions by Benin elders of state, the 

hapless  Prince  Olua  was  forced  to  consent  to  their  demand  to  take  the  throne.  Thus 

Prince Olua was crowned Oba about 1477 AD with the title Olua. 

As predicted, Oba Olua generosity became his bane. He gifts to the Benins were 

accepted and instead of receiving thank you from them, all he got from them were curses. 

The  Benins  nicknamed  him   “Olua  N’okpetu  no  hae  osa  noma  re”  meaning  Olua  the 

Squanderer who pays the debts he never owed. 

This situation persisted unabated till the Oba turned his son for advice. 

Prince  Iginua  Oba  Olua’s  first  son  and  heir  was  a  very  proud  man  and  fond  of 

wearing fine clothes. He was nicknamed  "Iginua N’omon N’hio”  meaning Iginua the proud. 

He was also very cunning and cruel. 

Acting  onn  the  advice  of  Prince  Igunua,  Oba  Olua  punished  those  ungrateful 

recipients of his generosity through some very harsh and drastic ways such as impaling, 

boiling  in  hot  oil  and  suffocations.  Horrible  reprisals  followed  every  insult  real  and 

imagined. The Benin people bore these atrocities but vowed that the Prince shall never 

rule over them.  

Prince Igunua & the founding of Warri Kingdom 

ccording to Chief Dr. Egharevba, "Oba Olua knew that his eldest son Iginua 

was hated by the Benins for the advice he had given against the people. He 

A decided to send him away.  The Oba did not wish the scheme to be known to 

his chiefs in order that they might send their sons to accompany him as his subjects so he 

cunningly asked them to send their sons with Prince Iginua to make sacrifices to Olokun 

the God of the Great Waters by the sea shores. 

Oba Olua made a big box and filled it with the necessary royal attire and to conceal 

the secret put the sacrificial victims on the top. He had made arrangements in advance for 

Ijaw men to take Igniua and his retinue in their canoes to their destination The Ijaws took 

them in their canoes to Amatu. 
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According  to  Izon  oral  traditions,  Crown  Prince  Iginua’s  retinue  was  made  up  of 

first sons of  seventy (70) greatest  of  the Benin Chiefs and there was no single woman 

among them. 

After waiting for a long time and seeing that their sons did not return, the Benin 

chiefs  realised  that  they  had  been  deceived  by  their  Oba.  So  they  sent  warriors  to 

Ugharagin  now  called  Oghara’eki  to  fetch  their  sons’  home.  But  they  had  been  ferried 

across the river by the Ijaws who refused to co-operate with the Benin chiefs,  so, their 

mission failed.  The point where the leader of the expedition sent word back to the elders 

is today known as “Oke’khere” mean in a short time their sons would be brought back. 

This was corrupted to Okere. 

According  to  the  Itsekiri  oral  traditional  history,  Oba  Olua  who  commenced  his 

reign  about  1473,  asked  two  of  his  subjects  to  oblige  him.  Both  disobeyed  in  a  most 

insulting manner. The king asked Iginua the Edaiken   and heir to his throne, to advise a 

reproach.  The  heir  Prince  Iginua  advised  that  the  two  miscreants  are  put  to  death  in a 

style  that  matched  their  insult.  The  king  carried  out  the  sentence.  The  populace  was 

threatened: what manner of king would Iginua is if he was allowed to ascend the throne? 

They resolved to kill him. 

The Oba was aware of the disaffection and felt the safest alternative for his heir 

was voluntary exile from the throne to the furthest ends of the empire. 

The  story  has  it  that  Oba  Olua  arranged  a  religious  expedition  to  the  court  of 

Olokun by the sea to  be led  by his heir and  as tradition demanded, asked his court to 

contribute his own heirs to the expedition. They naively obliged and the expedition took off 

with Prince Iginua and his regalia secreted in an Iroko box. The nobility realized the plot 

too late. There was a river which Prince Iginua and his entourage had crossed and the 

Benin nobility which engaged on an armed expedition to at least retake their own heirs 

were  drowned  in  this  river.  Prince  Iginua  arrived  in  the  heartland  of  present  day  Warri 

believed to be Okere area. 

The Benin Empire at the time, stretched to the south west of the Niger-Delta and 

this was the very reason why the Oba chose that flank for the exile of his favourite son. He 
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knew  Prince  Iginua  would  be  safe  since  the  flank  and  its  inhabitants  were  under  his 

suzerainty. Prince Iginua who was later crowned as   Olu Ginuwa at Ode Istekiri his new 

capital was warmly received when he arrived at Okere. 

According  to  Itsekiri  oral  history  when  he  arrived  Okere  with  the  regalia  and 

majesty of his upbringing, the inhabitants, probably itinerants in fishing camps were awed 

and joyous. They had never known any spectacle like it. They welcomed him as their king. 

There was no dissent.  Izon tradition also says that it is indisputable that the woman the 

young prince   married was an Izon from Amatu where he had settled. 

Olu Iginua and his successor, Olu Ijigen, opted for a less austere settlement and ended up 

in a community believed to be Kotomo and environs where the settlers spoke "Itsekiri". 

But Itsekiri legend has it that the leader of this settlement was a man called Itsekiri. 

About 1480AD, back in Benin the capital, Oba Olua died as 

a  result  of  the  harassments  and  continuous  pestering  from  the 

chiefs  and  since  Prince  Okpamen  the  rightful  successor  was 

exiled, once more an interregnum was created and while it lasted, 

the great chiefs ruled the empire. 

Ogieamen Atuwase 11 the current Olu of Warri 

Oba Ozolua reigned 1481 to 1504 A.D 

bout the year 1481, Prince Okpame was finally persuaded by the nobles using 

Aka’eronmwon  the  Court  jester  to  return  to  Benin  City  from  Ora  the  new 

A kingdom he had set up in the north west of the Benin during his days in exile. 

A very youthful Prince Okpamen N’Egho ascended the ancient throne 

of his ancestors with the title Ozo’luwa and was nicknamed Ozolua N’Ibaromi’eko. He is 

also known in history as Ozolua the Conqueror. 

Though  he  had  no  brothers  to  contest  his  ascension  of  the  Benin  throne,  Oba 

Ozolua N’Ibaromieko had to contend with the powerful followers of his father Oba Ewaure 

N’Ogidigan. These men were Elekighidi N’Ogbelaka, Egbaen N’Iwu, Ova’oto N’Igieduma, 

Egbemwen’Igharuan N’Okhunmwun, Oza, Otabatibo Ovbivbi N’Okhunmwun, Ebomien’isi 
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N’Ugo,  Ezughu  N’Ogan,  Okhuaihe  N’Oyeru,  Ogiemwanbor  N’Oka,  Ake  N’Isi  to  name  a 

few. While some of these adversaries lived in the outlying districts and provinces of the 

Benin  Empire,  Oza,  Otabatibo  Elekighidi  lived  within  the  Benin  Metropolis  at  the  Ogbe 

n’aka  Quarters  There  existed  between  the  Oba  and  the  warrior 

Enekighidi a permanent state of cold war till a day came when Oba 

Ozolua sent his emissaries; the Ukor’Oba to recover from Enekighidi 

the coral beads his father Oba Ewuare had awarded to Enekighidi for 

services rendered the empire and emperor.  

The statue of Oba Ozolua 

Naturally  Enekighidi  refused  and  the  cold  war  exploded  in  open  conflict.    After 

several  encounters,  Enekighidi  seemed  to  be  gaining  the  upper  hand  and  the  Oba 

resorted to intrigues, clandestine approaches and diabolical methods to achieve his set 

goal.  The  story  of  the  monumental  struggle  between  Ozolua  N’Ibaromieko  and 

Enekighgidi N’Ogbelaka and the great betrayal of Eyowo the beloved wife of the hapless 

Enekighidi is still one of the most acclaimed epics of Great Benin. 



According  to  dynastic  traditions,  these  companions  of  his  father  had  defied  Oba 

Ozolua  at  every  opportunity  and  he  vowed  to  settle  their  problem  permanently.  Oba 

Ozolua invited these men to a great feast. After they were all seated and  the feast has 

commenced,  he  ordered  his  warriors  to  seal  up  the  building  and  set  it  ablaze.  But  this 

strategy was to no avail as Ezughu N’Ogan burst out through the roof of the building and 

Ovaoto  N’Igieduma  tore  open  the  floor.    Eventually  all  of  the  heroes  escaped,  each 

vowing to have their vengeance whenever the opportinuty came their way. One after the 

other these heroes were vanquished.  These great men later deified as “Ihen”. 

Now  fully  entrenched,  Oba  Ozolua,  systematically  crushed  all  those  vassals  kings  that 

rebelled  until  he  regained  all  the  territories  from  the  Orhionmwon  River  to  the  Owena 

River in the Owo kingdom area. 

After the consolidation of his hold on his vassals in the west, Oba Ozolua turned 

his attention to the east; the rival kingdom of Ugu.  In a series of swift campaigns, Oba 

Ozolua destroyed Ogba village, one of the main defensive outposts of the Ughu kingdom 
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and he attacked the village of Iguemokhua . The battle which was fought proved a tough 

nut for him to crack, hence its name: "Igue n'o khua Ozolua obo". Eventually Iguemokhua 

fell to the juggernauts of the awesome machines of the Benin Army. 

He re-conquered Udo, resuscitated the Enogie of Udo title and conferred it on his 

giant son Prince Idubormwen nicknamed Arhuaran. 

Oba Ozolua during his numerous wars even expanded the Benin Empire the 

further west than his father Oba Ewuare did. He added the kingdom of the Ijebus to his 

domain. The Awujale of Ijebu is said to be his son. 

He conquered the Kabba country and extracted 

tribute  from  Igalas.  To  the  east  Oba  Ozolua 

extended  Benin  suzerainties  beyond  the  Imo 

River. These exploits earned him the  nickname 

Ozolua N’Ibaromi’Eko or Ozolua the conqueror. 

Oba Ozolua lost interest in the ding-dong battles 

of the Ugu campaign and once more he shifted 

his attention to the Ijebu chiefdoms to the west. 

First  and  foremost,  he  extracted  oaths  of  fealty 

from  the  Olowo  of  Owo,  conquered  Idoani  and 

installed his son as king  



Plaque portraying Oba Ozolua in his chainmail 

Oba  Ozolua  the  Conqueror  wore  what  is  remembered  in  Benin  tradition  as  his 

impenetrable "iron cloak". This is one detail about the battle armor of the warrior king that 

 has  been  published  by  "professional"  or  "academic"  historians.  The  impenetrable  "iron 

cloak" or "iron coat" was his strong chain mail. This chainmail could have been obtained 

from either the states of North Africa, especially the kingdom of Bornu, since a trade link 

existed; some of their cavalry are known for a fact to have worn chain mail, from direct 

observation from visitors. Another source could have been the Portuguese. 
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The  Benin  dynastic  traditions  say  that  the  “Iron  war  dress”  was  smithed  by 

Igun’Ematon who has already established Benin style of armor. Consequently,   it could 

have been an indigenous product. 

In Benin's history Oba Ozolua was betrayed by 

his most trusted general, Laisolobi the Iyase, because 

the soldiers were exhausted and tired of conquest but 

the Oba would not turn back. 

In the traditional account, Laisolobi betrayed his 

secret  weapon  “the  amoured  dress  to  the  warriors  of 

Uzea.  They  were  able  to  fatally  injure  Oba  Ozolua 

because  the  Oba  had  taken  off  his  iron  armor  at  that 

point. He later died at Essi his grandmother village. A plaque of Iyase Enaisolobi 

Whether Ozolua was actually defeated by opposing warriors in Esan or betrayed 

by his most trusted general is not entirely clear, but the legend of the cloak is an obvious 

reference to chain mail. 

According to Dr. Babara Plankensteiner writing in 2007, the common protection of 

the Benin warrior was a big shield, made from hide, 

wood, and basketwork. Helmets were worn by senior 

officers;  the  warchiefs  as  well  as  highly  decorated 

warriors. They were made of padded basketwork or 

hard  crocodile  skin  and  wood.  The  body  armour 

which  consisted  of  a  top  and  a  bottom  reaching 

down  to  the  knees  was  made  of  quilted  ponchos 

covered  with  leopard  skins,  firm  enough  to  prevent 

the penetration of an arrow or spear.                          Oba Ozolua at “Isi’Okuo 

Ijebu and Owo kingdoms: Benin vassal states? 
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he  exact  nature  of  Oba  of  Benin  political  overlordship  and  military 

engagements among the chiefdoms of Ijebu is unclear;  oral histories collected 

T from the courts of Ijebu and Benin provide divergent commentaries on this 

subject. While Benin Dynastic traditions claim to have placed Ijebu under its dominion in 

the  early  years  of  sixteenth  centuries  during  the  reign  of  Oba  Ozolua,  Ijebu’s  own 

traditions dispute this. 

Though according to European accounts, 

by the seventeenth century, Benin controlled the 

coast  from  the  southern  Niger  Delta  to  at  least 

the  eastern  edge  of  the  Ga'  territory  in  modern 

Ghana,  but  it  is  unclear  what  political  influence 

the Edo court had upon the Ijebu heartland in the 

interior.    These artefacts portrays the influence of Benin on Ijebu art forms 

Altogether,  these  conflicting  historical  perspectives  suggest  that  the  similarities 

which  exist  between  the  Yoruba  speaking  states  and  their  Edo  counterpart  can  be 

attributed to a combination of factors: the forcible influence of Benin and the desire of less 

powerful kingdoms to strengthen themselves and enrich their status by incorporating the 

traditions of their adversary. 

It is definite that for over four hundred years, the 

kingdom  of  Owo,  Benin's  neighbor  to  the 

northwest, had intermittently found itself under the 

suzerainty of the Obas.  Given the Edo origins of 

many aspects of Owo's courtly culture, it is clear 

that  the  diplomatic  relationship  between  the  two 

kingdoms was intimate, and not entirely equitable:  

The Olowo of Owo in a Benin derived 

regalia and symbols of authority                           

Edo dynastic histories speak of Olowo Osogboye, the 16th. Century ruler of Owo 

who visited the Benin court to adopt highly prestigious forms of Edo courtly culture.  Not 
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surprisingly, Owo historians, who assert that Osogboye traveled to Benin to learn military 

techniques  that  would  better  protect  his  kingdom  from  Edo  aggression,  contest  this 

version of events. 

The transmission of courtly culture flowed in both directions between Benin and the 

Owo and Ijebu kingdoms. Royal pendants and masquettes, openwork bracelets, and altar 

sculpture are some of the art forms that found broad dissemination and usage within this 

region. 

Chiefs and titleholders in the Benin kingdom utilized a variety of brass ornaments 

as  part  of  elaborate  costumes  for  palace  ceremonies.  Worn  on  the  hip  or  chest,  these 

pendant sculptures indicated the wearer's rank and fealty to the  Oba. Such objects were 

highly ornate, displaying the iconography of Benin leadership or a representation of the 

 Oba  himself.  Such  objects  were  highly  ornate,  displaying  the  iconography  of  Benin 

leadership or a representation of the  Oba himself. 

A very early pectoral masquette dating from the fifteenth to seventeenth centuries 

presents a classic example of early Benin figurative sculpture. It is stylistically similar to an 

ivory  pectoral  mask  associated  with  Oba  Esigie  and  shares  the  same  symmetry  of 

features, deeply ridged eyelids, and sensitively modeled cheeks and lips. 

Despite its certain origins at the court of Benin, the pendant 

was the possession of an Ilaje ruler from Mahin or Ugbo, two 

coastal  villages  approximately  eighty  miles  to  the  west  of 

Benin's capital. 

This  example  and  other  pendants  like  it  were  distributed  by 

the  Oba to vassal rulers, including non-Benin kings absorbed 

into the kingdom, to promote fidelity to his court. 

This work is believed to have belonged to either the 

Amapetu of Mahin or the Olugbo of Ugbo 

It  is  unclear;  however,  to  what  extent  such  Edo  concepts  of  leadership 

accompanied  the  motifs  themselves:  local  leaders  may  have  appropriated  these  forms 

simply  as  straightforward  symbols  of  chiefly  power  that  alluded  to  prestigious  Benin 
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courtly authority. The rulers of Owo wear a number of ceremonial ensembles that are of 

Edo  origin.  One  of  these,  called  orufanran,  consists  of  pants  and  a  jacket  sheathed  in 

appliquéd scales of red flannel and studded with carved ivory ornaments. These pendants 

and  masquettes  mirror  in  their  size  and  appearance  those  found  at  Benin—leopard, 

crocodile,  and  rams'  heads,  as  well  as  the  faces  of  human  rulers,  allude  to  the 

extraordinary and fearsome powers of the king. 

Although similar to their Edo counterparts in form and function, they differ in the 

material from which they were made: ivory, rather than brass, was the favored material of 

Owo rulers at this time. The skill of Owo's ivory carvers was also appreciated at the court 

of  Benin.  During  the  seventeenth  and  eighteenth  centuries,  Benin's  rulers  increasingly 

utilized insignia made from ivory, and imported Owo's art objects and recruited its artisans 

for their own royal workshops. 
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Chapter Four 

The Coming of the Europeans 


he events that brought the Europeans to the kingdom of Benin dates back to 

the exploits of Prophet Mohammed.  Mohammed was an Arab of the Koreish 

T tribe and who after claiming that he had received a “Revelation” from God 

began to propagate a  new religion ;  Islam.  The rulers of  Mecca seeing a 

rival in him, began persecuting Mohammed and his followers.  This prosecution resulted in 

his flight from Mecca to Medina; known today as the Hegira. 



A Civil war ensured and Mohammed emerged triumphant. 

Now  entrenched  in  the  Arabian  Peninsular, 

Mohammed  went  further,  he  sent  to  all 

known  sovereigns  and  potentates  in  the 

present Middle East and East African region, 

letters  demanding  their  submission  to  his 

new religion, The Will of God – Islam. 

The Kaaba 

When he received his letter Heracleus, Emperor of the Eastern Roman Empire at 

Constantinople,  remarked in an almost prophetic insight  saying “If all this be true,  I am 

sure his kingdom reach to the place I tread. I was certain that a prophet was coming but I 

did not think that he would be born in Arabia”. 

While  the  Negus  of  Emperor  of  Abyssinia  promptly  accepted  Islamic  envoys,  on 

receiving Mohammed’s letter, the Christian king Harith of Yemen also sent a favourable 

reply. 
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But Chosroes II, King of Persia, another Christian king, tore up Mohammed’s letter 

in  indignation  and  drove  away  the  emissaries.  Mohammed  on  receiving  this  reply  said 

“God will tear his kingdom to pieces”. 

And God did. 



Now who was Mohammed? 

 “And the fifth angel sounded and I saw a star fall from heaven unto the earth. Rev. 

 9:1,  A “star” is symbolic revelation invariably represents some noted personality or leader. 

This star is question represents Mohammed like tidal waves, the Arabs swept out of their 

desert Land and carried all before them . “And to him was given the key of the bottomless 

 pit” Rev. 9:1, the Bible states further. 

The remarkable speed of this religious expansion can be attributed to the fact that 

it  was  accompanied  by  military  conquest.  Muhammad  drew  Arabs  of  the  Arabian 

Peninsula to Islam by his forceful personality, the promise of salvation for those who died 

fighting  for  Islam,  and  the  lure  of  fortune  for  those  who  succeeded  in  conquest.  The 

caravan raids of the early years of Islam soon become full-scale wars, and empires and 

nations bowed to the power of this new religious, military, political, economic, and social 

phenomenon. 

For  a  period  of  800  years,  from  632  AD  when  Mohammed  died  to  the  Fall  of 

Constantinople on the 29th of May 1453 AD, Islam held sway over the Mediterranean Sea. 

Umar first sought to expand into Byzantine territory to the north. In September 635 

the  Muslims  captured  Damascus,  and  almost  a  year  later  the  Byzantine  force  under 

Emperor  Heraclius  was  defeated,  signaling  the  end  of  effective  Byzantine  rule  in  the 

Fertile  Crescent.  Jerusalem,  which  would  become  the  third  most  important  Islamic  city 

after Medina and Mecca, was taken. 



Jerusalem fell to the Arabs in 635AD. 

While the Arabs had sway over the Middle East and lorded it over the Holy Land 

and Jerusalem the greatest icon of Christendom, Pilgrims were allowed access to the holy 

places. 
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Unlike  the  Arab  before  them  the  Seljuk  Turks  persecuted  the  Christian  Pilgrims. 

They  were  robbed,  assaulted  and  sometimes  killed.  The  news  of  these  persecution 

spread to Europe and resulted in the Crusades. 

By the 11th Century a new hordes of invaders came in from the East. These were 

the Seljuk Turks. They swept through Syria and conquered Jerusalem in 1076. 

The Seljuk Turks soon turned on their masters and overran all till their empire spread from 

the  Himalayas  in  India  to  the  Atlantic  Coast  of  Morocco  and  from  Southern  Russia  to 

Jerusalem. 

During  this  period  called  the  Age  of  Chivalry,  was  a  time  when  all  European 

Monarchs saw themselves as belonging to one big family: Christendom. And Christendom 

had the Holy Roman Emperor, as its temporal head while the Pope was the spiritual head. 



The 1st Crusade lasted from 1096-1099 with 

the  Fall  of  Jerusalem  to  Count  Godfrey  of  Bullion. 

The western European Christian armies of the First 

Crusade  surrounded  the  city  of  Jerusalem  in  June 

1099. In mid-July, after a long siege, the Crusaders 

took  the  city  by  storm  and  massacred  many  of  its 

inhabitants.A second crusade led by King Louis VII 

of France took place in 1147. 

A new group the Ottoman Turks driven west 

by  the  Tartars  settled  in  Asia  Minor  and  soon  over 

threw the Seljuk Turks.                                                   Siege of Jerusalem 

Name after their leader Othman, a new dynasty the Osman of Ot oman dynasty 

was born in 1299.  Though the death knell of the Byzantine Empire was sounded by an 

attack on the Christian City of Nicomedia on the July the 27th 1289, it lasted another 300 

years. The trend continued; Thrace was subdued; Andrianopole fell in 1357. 
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The  fate  of  Constantinople  and  the  Eastern  Roman  Empire  was  sealed  when 

Sultan Murad II of the Ottoman Turk have to approve the coronation of Constantine XI the 

last emperor of the Eastern Empire. 

Sultan  Murad  II  also  called  the  Conqueror  dealt  the  final  deathblow  on  May  29 

1453 when he flattened the walls of Constantinople with cannons and made it his capital 

and with the fall of Constantinople, the Mediterranean Sea became an Islamic Lake. 

In the same 1453, Ewuare Ogidigan known in historic as Ewuare the Great; was 

on the ancient throne of Benin, Henry the King of England, Charles VII was on the throne 

of France, Ferdinand was King of Portugal while Larenzo de Medici ruled in Florence. 

The  Muslims  were  in  Spain  for  700  years,  they  controlled  the  Eastern 

Mediterranean washing the shores of Egypt, Palestine and Asia Minor. 

The Portuguese in Africa 

here  were  a  number  of  reasons  that  Prince  Henry  began  his  voyages  of 

exploration. Azurara, one of Prince Henry's contemporaries and chroniclers, 

T summarised them as: 

 The desire to know the country beyond Cape Bojador. 

 To establish trade relations advantageous to Portugal. 

 To determine the strength of his enemies in the region. 

 To seek allies to help wage battles against the enemies of Christianity. 

  To spread Christianity. 

The first step forward in Portuguese expansion was the assault on the Moroccan 

port of Ceuta in 1415. King João I (John I) and his sons had organised this expedition to 

conquer Ceuta that lay across the Straits of Gibraltar on the coast of North Africa.  It was 

an  expensive  enterprise  that  failed  to  recover  the  cost  of  the  expedition  or  the  three 

thousand men left by Prince Pedro to garrison the town. Although a financial failure, the 

fall of Ceuta greatly added to the prestige of King João I, his sons and to Portugal. This 

experience  in  North  Africa  would  stimulate  the  minds  of  the  Princes  Pedro  and  Henry, 

each would become a life-long supporter of overseas expansion.   
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During this period there had been a shortage of gold that increasingly hindered the 

growth of European trade. Ceuta had been a part of a centuries-old traffic in the products 

of  the  trans-Saharan  caravan  routes  that  provided  a  source  of  gold  rumoured  to  have 

originated in a wealthy nation that lay across the Sahara Desert known as Guinea. The 

possibility of gold in this new land was too tempting for the Portuguese to resist. 

They pursued the idea of discovering a sea route to India that would allow them to 

by-pass the caravan route that was controlled by their enemies the Moors. Prince Henry 

was able to use his royal status to gain the Crown's permission for numerous expeditions 

that  focused  on  gaining  immediate  profit  by  virtue  of  raiding  and  trading  usually  at  the 

expense  of  Arab  merchantmen.  These  types  of  expeditions  were  the  norm  until  1420 

when  the  Portuguese  sailors  discovered  and  colonised  the  island  of  Madeira  and  the 

Azores. 

These two islands were invaluable ports of call for future Portuguese expeditions 

since the Spanish had previously claimed the Canary Islands. Numerous individuals led 

these expeditions some of  whom were foreign captains like Alvise da Cadamosto, who 

willing to sail under Prince Henry's patronage. 

The  most  successful  explorers  of  Prince  Henry's  captains  were  usually  his  own 

squires  and  associates  like  João  Gonçalves  Zarco,  Tristão  Vaz,  and  Bartolemeau 

Perestrello. 

In 1434 Gil Eanes, another one of the prince's squires, led the expedition that was 

the  first  to  sail  beyond  the  Cape  of  Bojador.  This  was  a  monumental  accomplishment 

because  it  destroyed  the  fixed  belief  that  the  ocean  beyond  Bojador  was  unnavigable. 

Eanes was quickly sent out again and found evidence that the coast was inhabited and 

the possibility for raiding and trading arose. Progress along the coast was interrupted for 

four  years  because  of  the  Portuguese  failed  expedition  to  Tangier,  the  death  of  King 

Duarte, and the struggle over the regency. 
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With  the  death  of  King  João  I,  his  son  Duarte  assumed  the  throne  and  granted 

Prince Henry a "royal fifth" from the profits of all voyages and decreed that no expedition 

could sail beyond Cape Bojador without a license from the Prince. King Duarte died after 

a short reign of five years, leaving his six year old son Afonso V as his heir. Prince Pedro 

took  control  of  the  state  by  becoming  Afonso's  regent.  He  quickly  confirmed  Prince 

Henry's  grant  and  gave  him  permission  to  colonise  the 

Azores. 

Under  Prince  Pedro's  regency  the  Portuguese 

completed King Duarte's secret experiment in ship design 

that resulted in the evolution of a new type of ship known 

as  the  caravel.In  the  year  1441  which  was  also  the  first 

year  of  the  reign  of  Oba  Ewuare  N’Ogodigan,  the 

Portuguese expeditions began again using the new type of 

ship.                                                                                                 The caravel  

The  caravel  Prince  Henry's  chamberlain,  Antão  Gonçalves,  led  an  expedition  to 

acquire a cargo of sealskins and oil with orders to go further into the unknown. On one 

occasion Gonçalves sought out a village along the Rio do Ouro and took several captives 

back to Portugal. 

This was the beginning of what would become the African Slave Trade. Another 

one of Henry's captains, Nuno Tristão, would discover the Bay of Arguim. Here Henry had 

a fort constructed in 1448 that would become the centre of trade with the African states of 

the interior. Tristão also found the end to the desert and reported the beginning of a lush 

green country. 

This inspired Dinis Dias raised enough capital to have Prince Henry grant him a 

license and a caravel. He sailed pass the Senegal River eventually arriving at the Cape of 

Verde that was the western limits of the African continent. 
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Not  all  the  expeditions  succeeded.  Nuno  Tristão  died  after  being  attacked  with 

poison arrows by the inhabitants of a village he and his men were attempting to raid for 

slaves,  leaving  only  five  survivors  to  return  home.  Despite  Tristão's  death  the  voyages 

continued  thanks  to  the  rewards  offered  by  the  Regent  Pedro  and  Prince  Henry  who 

recognised the potential of the African trade. Merchants like Fernão Gomes shared this 

vision and actively financed their own expeditions. 

In Gomes' case he petitioned the Crown for the exclusive rights to handle the trade 

of  West  Africa  since  the  Crown  was  distracted  by  the  Castilian  war  of  succession  that 

brought Isabella and Ferdinand to the Spanish throne. Gomes' ventures quickly grew into 

a thriving pepper trade that in turn led to his sailors' discovery of the gold-producing region 

of  the  Gold  Coast  (modern  Ghana).  When  King  João  II  (John  II)  succeeded  his  father, 

King Afonso V,  to the throne of  Portugal, he renewed the Crown's support of  overseas 

exploration that had fallen by the wayside of his father's administration. 

Within  four  years  King  João  II  had  personally  sponsored,  rather  than  simply 

granting  a  license,  three  expeditions  led  by  Diogo  Cão  and  Bartolomeu  Dias  that 

accomplished  more  in  four  years  than  his  predecessors  had  in  forty.  These  voyages 

reflected the change in policy from simply expanding overseas trade to finding a specific 

sea route to India. 

In 1482 in the second year of the reign of Oba Ozolua N’Ibaromienko, King João II 

sent out Diogo Cão on the first of two voyages. He discovered that the African continent 

turned south and ran for thousands more kilometres before eventually turning. Cão came 

to the Kingdom of the Congo where he began a trading relationship that would recoup the 

cost of the voyages. Bartolomeu Dias continued this exploration by rounding the southern 

extremity of the African continent in 1488, naming it the Cape of Good Hope. In 1484 King 

João  II  had  rejected  the  proposals  of  Christopher  Columbus  who  then  sought  out  the 

patronage of Queen Isabella of Spain. 

With  Columbus'  discovery  of  the  Caribbean  and  America,  Isabella  immediately 

requested that Pope Alexander VI endorse a series of bulls that divided the world into two 
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parts by a line drawn from north to south one hundred leagues west of the Azores. King 

João II rejected this location of this line and opened negotiations with Spain immediately; 

the result was the Treaty of Tordesilla of 1494. 

Pope Alexander's line was moved to 370 leagues west of the Cape Verde Islands. 

Shortly after the conclusion of the Treaty of Tordesilla, King João II died in 1495 

from  pneumonia.  His  cousin,  King  Manuel  the  Fortunate,  assumed  the  throne  and 

continued to support the search for a seaway to the Indies. He appointed Vasco da Gama 

as  the  leader  of  the  expedition  that  would  discover  the  route  to  the  Indian  Ocean  that 

rounded the Cape of Good Hope in 1498. This new route marked the beginning of a new 

era of direct contact between Europe and Asia. During his reign King Manuel was the ruler 

of  the  greatest  empire  of  his  time  and  benefited  from  a  growing  African  trade  and  the 

golden harvest of the Indies. 

There  were  a  number  of  factors  that  influenced  Prince  Henry's  voyages  of 

exploration.  But  along  with  these  emerged  another,  more  pragmatic  reason  to  explore. 

Although the Portuguese had long viewed the Atlantic as their major trading area and they 

had few business interests in the Mediterranean, Prince Henry saw Africa as a rich market 

teeming with natural resources and raw materials. 



Portugal exported salt, wine, fresh and dried fruit, oil, honey, dried shellfish, cork, 

hops, and other raw materials to northern Europe in exchange for grain and flour, dried 

and salted fish, dairy products, metals, wood and other forest products for shipbuilding, 

textiles and other manufactured goods. 

Although the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries are noted as a period of expansion 

of  European  influence,  it  is  important  to  note  that  this  era  of  commercial  and  colonial 

expansion was not the first. In fact, commercial 

trade  enjoyed  a  long  and  extensive  history  in 

the  Mediterranean  and  the  Atlantic,  both  in 
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luxury items and articles of general consumption. 

Map of Ceuta  

At the time of its conquest by the Portuguese, Ceuta was home to approximately 24,000 

commercial establishments - some amounted to no more than market stalls - dealing in 

precious metals, silks, spices, and weapons, but since the Portuguese occupation of the 

city,  trade  gradually  diminished  to  nothing.  There  were  two  ways  to  revitalise  the  city: 

either  the  Portuguese  could  establish  a  lasting  peace  with  the  North  Africans,  or  they 

could conquer the territory around Ceuta to provide the city with an economic hinterland 

from which they could draw resources and markets. 

Because  conflict  between  Islam  and  European  Christianity  prohibited  a  lasting 

peace from being established, in later years the Portuguese would try to gain control of 

the economic hinterland with disastrous results.   

The  collapse  of  the  Roman  Empire  in  the  fifth  century  did  not  bring  with  it  the 

decline of commerce and trade in North Africa. Indeed, control of trade had merely fallen 

into  local  hands.  When  Portugal  attempted  to  re-enter  the  North  African  trade,  they 

discovered  that  they  had  to  rely  on  a  great  number  of  intermediaries  to  do  business, 

denying  them  the  indispensable  source  of  travel  to  gather  information  about  African 

geography. 

The  capture  of  Ceuta  in  1415  meant,  however,  that  Portuguese  settlers  were 

exposed to a larger number of stories about the interior of Africa. Denied the opportunity 

to  explore  the  interior  of  Africa  by  land,  Henry  began  to  set  his  mind  to  an  alternate 

approach;  instead  of  exploring  Africa  directly,  Prince  Henry  would  attempt  an 

encirclement, and would explore Africa by sea. The two captains Prince Henry chose for 

his  first  expedition  to  explore  Cape  Bojador  were  not  experienced  sailors.  Perhaps  the 

selection was deliberate, for it seemed unlikely that any experienced sailor who had come 

into contact with the myths and legends surrounding sea travel would willingly sail into the 

unknown. 
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Even more importantly, as one historian has pointed 

out, Portuguese mariners were not used to sailing out 

on the open sea; their nautical experience was limited 

to coasting in sight of land. Not only did Prince Henry 

not accompany those first ships on their exploration of 

Cape Bojador, he did not go on any of the successive 

voyages,  and  this  has  led  to  some  spirited  debate 

among historians about how Prince Henry's role in the 

exploration  of  Africa  should  be  interpreted.    Does 

Prince  Henry,  as  some  have  suggested,  deserve  a 

prominent place in history for providing the intellectual 

and financial stimulus for the voyages to take place? 

An Ocean going vessel 

More recently, historians have suggested that Prince Henry did not play an active 

role in the exploration of Africa. Some have intimated that this would indicate that Prince 

Henry was a coward who feared the physical risks and dangers entailed by exploration. 

But others have replied that the courage the Prince displayed during the Ceuta campaign 

would seem to belie this explanation. Clearly, there are many issues that must be dealt 

with before an adequate explanation can be found of why Prince Henry did not join the 

explorations.  Perhaps  it  was  the  risk  of  being  captured  by  North  African  pirates  that 

prevented  Prince  Henry  from  taking  a  more  active  role,  even  though  Portuguese  ships 

were  armed  and  no  ship  of  Prince  Henry's  fell  victim  to  pirates.  Others,  choosing  to 

emphasise the positive aspect of Henry's preference to remain in Portugal conclude that 

the Prince's self-sacrifice was extraordinary. It was Henry's task to plan the expeditions 

and to assess and analyse the reports brought home. 

According to this perspective, it was only by remaining objective that Henry would 

be able to accurately sift through information gathered by the explorers, to separate truth 

from fiction, and to plan subsequent voyages. 
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Perhaps  the  most  plausible  explanation  regarding  Henry's  decision  to  remain  at 

Sagres  is  that  fifteenth  century  custom  deemed  activities,  like  living  with  a  number  of 

sailors in close quarters for months on end, to be beneath a prince. Granted, while others 

of  noble  descent  did  take  part  in  the  voyages,  and  given  the  fact  that  Prince  Henry 

camped  with  his  troops  during  military  campaigns,  squeamishness  about  close  contact 

with sailors seems difficult to accept. 

As  word  spread  throughout  Europe  of  the  Portuguese  expeditions,  sailors, 

astronomers,  cartographers,  and  geographers  began  to  arrive  at  Sagres  to  offer  their 

services  to  Prince  Henry.  There  were  Christians,  Jews,  and  Arabs  -  Prince  Henry  had 

discovered the Arabs' superior navigational skills while at Ceuta years before and what 

emerged  at  Sagres  was  not  so  much  a  school  of  navigation  as  much  as  it  was  a 

community  of  scholars,  under  the  direction  of  Prince  Henry,  who  joined  together  to 

conquer the unknown. 

When  Prince  Henry's  ships  returned  from  their  first  exploration,  their  captains 

reported  that  they  were  unable  to  round  Cape  Bojador  as  planned.  Shortly  after  losing 

sight of Cape St. Vincent, they were caught in a violent gale and lost all sense of direction. 

They drifted for days when the winds abruptly died. By sheer luck the crew sighted land, 

and the intrepid explorers made their way toward shore and a sheltering cove and they 

named this island Porto Santo the "blessed port". 

As best as they could determine, Porto Santo was roughly five hundred miles to 

the  southwest  of  Cape  St.  Vincent.  The  "discovery"  of  Porto  Santo  was  significant 

because  it  was  then  used  as  a  launching  point  for  future  voyages.  It  should  be  noted, 

however,  that  there  is  some  reason  to  question  whether  or  not  Porto  Santo  was 

discovered by Prince Henry's ships, for the island's location coincides with one marked on 

a Genoese map made in approximately 1351. 
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Nevertheless, the Portuguese believed that they had found a previously uncharted 

land  mass,  and  armed  with  the  information  that  there  was  land  yet  to  be  discovered, 

another expedition set out before the end of 1419. On this voyage, they encountered the 

island Madeira (Portuguese word for "wood") in the early months of 1420. 



Prince  Henry  displayed  remarkable  perseverance  and  sent  expedition  after 

expedition  into  the  "Sea  of  Darkness",  as  they  called  unknown  water,  in  a  fifteen-year 

attempt to round Cape Bojador. Even though he exhorted his captains with promises of 

increased reward and glory, it was not until 1434 that Gil Eanes managed to round the 

Cape. 

The  physical  distance  travelled  was  not  what  was  significant  about  this  voyage. 

Rather,  what  was  important  was  that  Gil  Eanes  traveled  beyond  Cape  Bojador  and 

returned  to  Portugal,  eliminating  in  one  broad  stroke  many  of  the  myths  and  legends 

about the "Sea of Darkness". 

A number of explanations have been offered as to why it took Portuguese sailors 

so long to accomplish this task. The two most significant problems were that those ships 

which navigated along the shores of the African coast risked running aground and those 

who attempted to steer into the open water and strayed too far could be blown out to sea. 

Eanes  succeeded  because  he  did  not  attempt  to  sail  in  sight  of  land.  Rather,  Eanes 

charted a wide course into the Atlantic before altering his course and turning back towards 

Africa. When Eanes encountered land again, Cape Bojador was behind him. 

The  exploration  of  Africa  occupied  a  great  deal  of  Prince  Henry's  time  and 

attention;  a  past  conquest  soon  became  a  pressing  issue.  The  Portuguese  colony  at 

Ceuta  was  rapidly  becoming  a  drain  on  the  national  treasury  and  it  was  realised  that 

without the city of Tangier, possession of Ceuta was worthless. When Ceuta was lost to 

the Portuguese, the camel caravans that were part of the overland trade routes began to 

use Tangier as their destination. 
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This deprived Ceuta of the materials and goods that made it an attractive market 

and a vibrant trading locale, and the city rapidly became an isolated community. The cost 

of garrisoning generated further losses, a situation that might be reversed if Portugal were 

to capture Tangier. 

There  was,  however,  another  reason  to  launch  a  military  campaign  against 

Tangier.  Prince  Fernando,  Prince  Henry's  youngest  brother,  was  only  eleven  years  old 

when the Portuguese captured Ceuta and he had not won his spurs in battle like his older 

brothers.  After  much  prodding,  and  some  court  intrigue,  Prince  Henry  managed  to 

convince his brother to begin preparations for an attack on Tangier in 1436 

In stark contrast to the attack on Ceuta years before, the Portuguese assault on 

Tangier was poorly conceived and badly executed. When the Portuguese fleet set sail in 

August 1437, it contained only 6,000 troops; Portuguese planners originally estimated that 

it  would  take  14,000  soldiers  to  comprise  an  adequate  striking  force.  Furthermore,  no 

attempt  was  made  by  Prince  Henry  to  disguise  his  intention  to  attack  the  city,  and  the 

North Africans were well prepared to turn back the Portuguese. Three times Prince Henry 

attempted to assault the city, and all three times his armies were repulsed. Only after his 

chaplain deserted him and told the North Africans the details of the new assault did the full 

measure of the futility of his attacks grip Prince Henry. 

Realising  that  his  position  was  hopeless,  Prince  Henry  asked  the  North  African 

leader, Sala-ben-Sala, to dictate his terms for surrender. The North African's terms were 

decidedly  harsh.  Not  only  would  the  Portuguese  have  to  agree  to  an  exchange  of 

hostages - Prince Henry's brother, Prince Fernando, for one of Sala-ben-Sala's sons - but 

the Portuguese would have to abandon the city of Ceuta. 

The exchange of hostages was a show of good faith easily agreed upon by the 

two  leaders  but  it  soon  became  clear  that  Sala-ben-Sala  would  have  to  wrestle  Ceuta 

from the Portuguese. Sala-ben-Sala declared that the Portuguese would have to abandon 

Ceuta before Prince Fernando would be released. 
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When the Portuguese protested, and reminded the North Africans that they were 

holding one of the king's sons, Sala-ben-Sala replied that he had many other sons and 

that he did not particularly care for the one the Portuguese were holding. 

Thus,  Prince  Henry  had  to  make  a  decision,  either  he  could  sacrifice  the  city  of 

Ceuta to obtain his brother's release, or he could keep Ceuta and condemn Fernando to 

imprisonment. The city of Ceuta was deemed to be an important outpost of Christianity 

against the infidel and even the Pope advised against trading Ceuta for Prince Fernando's 

life.  The  city  could  not  be  sacrificed  for  one  man,  even  for  the  brother  of  the  king  of 

Portugal. Needless to say, Prince Fernando died in captivity four years later. 

Prince Henry returned devastated from the debacle at Tangier. After nearly a year 

had passed, Prince Henry resumed his exploration of the sea and some of his associates 

believed  that  his  new-found  vigour  owed  a  great  deal  to  the  failure  at  Tangier.  It  was 

almost as if Prince Henry believed he could avenge the defeat and humble the Muslims by 

conquering the whole of Africa. Moreover, Prince Henry committed himself to finding the 

fabled  Prester  John  in  order  to  bring  the  battle  directly  to  his  enemies.  An  incredible 

patchwork of hearsay and rumour contributed to the legend of Prester John but what was 

significant about Prester John for Prince Henry was not the land of riches that could be 

found within the borders of Prester John's kingdom, but the belief that a  Christian king had 

managed  to  establish  and  sustain  an  empire  in  the  heart  of  Muslim-held  territory. 

Therefore, locating Prester John meant delivering a devastating blow to the Muslims.  

Another  expedition  was  sent  out  in  1441  to  "make  peace"  with  the  indigenous 

populations  of  North  Africa.  But  rather  than  "make  peace"  with  the  Africans  as  Prince 

Henry had ordered, ten prisoners were taken. One of the prisoners happened to be the 

chief  of  the  tribe  by  the  name  of  Adahu.  Fortunately  for  the  Portuguese,  Adahu  spoke 

Arabic and could communicate with the Bedouin translator. The captain decided to bring 

back Adahu as a prize for Henry. Before returning to Portugal, the ship's captain sailed 

further down the coast until he encountered a headland of white cliffs, which he named 

 Cabo Branco (Cape Blanco). 
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Upon returning to Sagres, Adahu described what he knew of Africa and the land-

based trade routes. The questioning of Adahu was undoubtedly an exciting exercise for 

Prince Henry; for the first time since the capture of Ceuta, Prince Henry was able to verify 

the information gathered by explorers with Adahu's first-hand knowledge. The capture of 

Adahu also marked the beginning of the use of the indigenous population as interpreters 

for  subsequent  voyages.  An  envoy  was  sent  to  the  Pope  to  report  the  information 

gathered by Prince Henry and to request that the Portuguese Prince be granted spiritual 

jurisdiction over all the lands he "discovered" to the south. Prince Henry also wanted that 

those  who  lost  their  lives  on  these  voyages  be  considered  to  have  died  while  on  a 

crusade. The Church agreed and the Portuguese monarch matched these concessions. 

Prince Pedro granted Prince Henry a charter that entitled Henry to one-fifth of the 

profits of the expedition, normally a prerogative reserved for the Crown. Prince Pedro also 

stipulated that all captains sailing down the African coast must first seek Prince Henry's 



permission

As a consequence, most of the West African coast was explored in the period from 

1415  into  the  1600s.  Preserved  maps  from  this  period  show  a  remarkably  accurate 

understanding  of  the  complicated  coastline.  African  exports  consisted  primarily  of  gold, 

ivory,   and  pepper.  However,  over  175,000  slaves  were  also  taken  to  Europe  and  the Americas during this period. In 1600, with the involvement of the Dutch and English, the 

magnitude  of  the  slave  trade  grew  exponentially.  From  the  time  of  their  arrival  on  the 

shores  of  Sierra  Leone  in  1460,  and  until  their  gradual  decline  as  leaders  in  world 

exploration in the sixteenth century, the Portuguese had an ambiguous relationship with 

their African trading partners. 

Disembarking  at  cities  that  were  equally  large,  complex,  and  technologically 

advanced  as  Lisbon  at  the  time,  the  Portuguese  actually  experienced  far  less  culture 

shock than might  be expected.   In fact, they encountered urban centers in West Africa 

comparable to those back in Europe, governed by elaborate dynasties, organized around 

apprenticeship-based artistic guilds, and with agricultural systems capable of feeding their 

large populaces. 
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Many  African  cities  were  even  deemed  to  be  larger,  more  hygienic,  and  better 

organized than those of Europe. Additionally, the Portuguese shared many beliefs about 

magic,  the  supernatural,  and  the  treatment  of  illness  with  the  African  societies  they 

encountered.  Protective  amulets  in  both  cultures  were  considered  medicinally  valuable, 

and sickness in general was attributed to witchcraft. 

The following is an extract from the  log of Ruy de Pina “In this year 1486 the land 

of Benin beyond Mina in the Rios dos Escravos was first discovered by Joham Affonso da 

Aveiro, who died there. 

The first Guinee pepper came to Europe from that  land,  where it grows in great 

abundance.    Samples  of  it  were  sent  to  Flanders  and  other  places,  and  it  was  soon 

popular and selling for a high price.  The king of Benin sent as ambassador to King Jono 

one  of  his  captains,  a  negro  (Ohen  Olokun'Ughoton)from  a  seaport  town  called 

Gwato(Ughoton),  because  he  desired  to  learn  more  about  Europe,  whose  people  were 

regarded there as an unusual novelty. This ambassador was a man of good speech and 

natural wisdom. Great feasts were held in his honour, and he was shown many of the fine 

things  of  Europe.  He  returned  to  his  land  in  one  of  the  King's  ships,  who  gave  him  on 

departing a gift of rich clothes for himself and his wife. Through him he also sent to the 

king of Benin a rich present of such things he knew the king would like very much. 

He  also  sent  through  the  ambassador  some  holy  and  Catholic  words  of  advice, 

with a praiseworthy appeal to embrace the Faith, rebuking him sternly for the heresies and 

gross  idolatrous  and  fetish  practices  which  are  so  common  among  the  negroes  of  that 

land. 

New commercial agents of King Jono went with the ambassador to reside in that 

land and buy pepper and other things of interest to the King's business. But because the 

land  was  later  found  to  be  very  dangerous  from  sickness  and  not  so  profitable  as  had 

been hoped, the trade was abandoned.” 
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The Gun 

The Chinese had gunpowder by the eleventh century and made some military use 

of it to propel rockets. These were more weapons of terror than useful missile weapons, 

however. The Chinese also experimented with fireworks. They did not realize the potential 

of gunpowder as an explosive or propellant for missile weapons. 

Gunpowder  gradually  worked  its  way  to  the  west  where  Europeans  found  much 

more  destructive  uses  for  it.  The  oldest  surviving  artwork  from  Europe  that  portrays  a 

gunpowder weapon appeared in 1326. This primitive cannon was loaded with a spear of 

some sort, not a cannonball. Europeans had been experimenting with gunpowder for the 

previous  half-century.  The  oldest  surviving  description  of  the  formula  for  gunpowder 

appeared  in 1260 and  was attributed to an English friar named  Roger Bacon.  By 1340 

cannonballs of lead, iron, and stone were being used. The English had cannons on the 

battlefield  at  Crécy  in  1346,  but  there  is  no  mention  in  the  battle  accounts  of  their 

usefulness. 

De Sequiera returned to Portugal and described what he had seen. Over the next 

few years the Portuguese came to know the coast of Africa quite well. Their ships entered 

almost all the creeks that wound through the mangrove swamps of the Niger delta. 

Further north they built a fort on the coast of modern Ghana, which still stands and 

is called Elmina –the mine. Slaves, palm oil, leopard skins and beads were brought back 

to it to be exchanged for the gold from the mines in the interior. Increasingly it was the 

interior of Africa with its wealth and its secrets which interested them. 



Soon words reached palace of the Oba in Benin City, the capital  of an expanding 

Rain  forest  kingdom  also  called  Benin,  that  some  strange  men  with  white  skins,  who 

talked through their noses had arrived at Ughoton, the port of Benin in an equally strange 

house that gildes over the water like a canoe (a sailing ship).  

The year was 1472 and Oba Ewuare was on the throne of Benin. The strangers 

were  Portuguese  sailors  and  adventurers  under  the  captaincy  of  Ruy  de  esquire.  Their 

ships belonged to Gomez, a Portuguese merchant who given the mandate to explore the 

West Coast of Africa by Ferdinard King of Portugal in 1464. 
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Prester John? 

rester  John,  legendary  Christian  king  and  priest,  whose  vast  territory  was 

believed during the Middle Ages to lie in the heart of Africa. The first record of 

P Prester (Priest, or Presbyter) John appears in the chronicle of the German 

bishop and historian Otto of  Freising.  It was believed  that  the Nestorian Christians  had 

built up a rich monarchy ruled by a priest-king named John. Letters from this mysterious 

personage addressed to the Byzantine emperor or the pope were circulated, describing 

the size and wealth of the territory. 

In the 14th and 15th centuries the home of Prester John was generally believed to 

be  located  in  Africa,  where  it  was  frequently  identified  with  the  Christian  kingdom  of 

Abyssinia. 

 mong  the  many  things  which  the  King  D.  Joao  learnt  from  Ohen’Okun 

 N’Ughoton, the ambassador of the king of Benin, and also from Joao Afonso 

A  d'Aveiro, of what they had been told by the inhabitants of these regions, was 

 that to the east of Beny at twenty moons' journey which according to their account, and 

 the short journeys they make, would be about two hundred and fifty of our leagues there 

 lived the most powerful monarch of these parts, who was called Ogané. 

 Among  the  pagan  chiefs  of  the  territories  of  Beny  he  was  held  in  as  great 

 veneration as is the Supreme Pontiff with us. In accordance with a very ancient custom, 

 the king of Beny, on ascending the throne, sends ambassadors to him with rich gifts to 

 announce that by the decease of his predecessor he has succeeded to the kingdom of 

 Beny, and to request confirmation. 

 To signify his assent, the prince Ogané sends the king a staff and a headpiece of 

 shining brass, fashioned like a Spanish helmet, in place of a crown and scepter. He also 

 sends a cross, likewise of brass, to be worn round the neck, a holy and religious emblem 

 similar to that worn by the Knights of the Order of Saint John. Without these emblems the 

 people do not recognize him as lawful ruler, nor can he call himself truly king. All the time 
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 this ambassador is at the court of Ogané, he never sees the prince, but only the curtains 

 of  silk  behind  which  he  sits,  for  he  is  regarded  as  sacred.  When  the  ambassador  is 

 leaving,  he  is  shown  a  foot  below  the  curtains  as  a  sign  that  the  prince  is  within  and 

 agrees  to  the  matters  that  he  has  raised;  this  foot  they  reverence  as  though  it  were  a 

 sacred relic. 

  As a kind of reward for the hardships of such a journey the ambassador receives a 

 small cross, similar to that sent to the king, which is thrown round his neck to signify that 

 he  is  free  and  exempt  from  all  servitudes,  and  privileged  in  his  native  country,  as  the 

 Knights are with us. 

  In an another account by myself knew this, but in order to be able to write it with 

 authority, although the King D. Jono in his time had also enquired well into it when in the 

 year 1540 certain ambassadors of the king of Beny came to this Kingdom, among whom 

 was a man about seventy years of age who was wearing one of these crosses, I asked 

 him the reason, and he gave an explanation similar to the above. 

 And as in the time of the King, D. Jono, whenever India was spoken of, reference 

 was  always  made  to  a  very  powerful  king  called  Prester  John  of  the  Indies,  who  was 

 reputed to be a Christian, it seemed therefore to the King that it might be possible to enter 

 India by way of this kingdom. For he had learnt from the Abexijs (Abyssinian) priests who 

 came to these parts of Spain, and also from some friars who had been from this kingdom 

 to Jerusalem and whom he had ordered to gather information about this Prince, that his 

 country was in the land above Egypt whence it stretched to the southern sea. Wherefore 

 the  King  and  his  cosmographers,  taking  into  consideration  Ptolemy's  general  map 

 describing Africa and its kings on the coast, as was ascertained by his discoverers, and 

 also  the  distance  of  two  hundred  and  fifty  leagues  to  the  east  where  according  to  the 

 people of Beny the country of prince Ogané lay, concluded that he must be Priest John, 

 for both were hidden behind curtains of  silk  and held the  emblem of the cross in great 

 veneration. And it also appeared to him that if his ships continued along the coast they 

 had discovered, they could not fail to reach the land where the plateau promontory was, 

 which is the boundary of that country. 



167 



 Therefore taking into consideration all these facts which increased his ardour  for 

 the design of discovering India, he determined to send immediately in the year 1486 both 

 ships by sea and men by land, in order to get to the root of this matter which inspired so 

 much hope in him. 

 King Joao II sent some newly ordained black priests, whom he had educated from 

 childhood in Lisbon, and appointed them as Christian teachers on the island of Sao Tomé. 

 It  is  to  be  hoped  that  with  time  the  greater  part  of  Ethiopia  will  embrace  the  Christian 

 religion. 

 . In this, Lord, he entered the farm of Joam dAguyar and it did me no good to say 

 that it belonged to your Mercy and that the King had made you a gift of it. As for this, Lord, 

 may  your  Mercy  provide  as  you  may  please.  Of  all  the  slaves,  he  got  nine  with  two 

 children. 

 The outcome of the crusade was less than expected, even though the Vicar greatly 

 desired  to  have  two  very  good  carpenters  who  are  serving  your  Mercy.  And  so  he  got 

 10,000 reals of the money, which is a fifth part. The Lord Vicar said that if your Mercy has 

 any plan, you should say what it is and he will carry out everything, even though he is only 

 waiting for a ship to appear from the Rios [Benin] coming to the island of Sno Tomé to 

 dispatch all these slaves. I take care that the number will not be less, going before his 

 departure for Benin, even though this is very proximate. Therefore, Lord, it must be said 

 that the Sno Pedro was in dry dock and was put to sea on the 15th of this August and will 

 leave with the intention of pleasing God to the last. Therefore, Lord, it seems I should stay 

 here until his return. Therefore, may your Mercy order what you want to be done, because 

 otherwise the excommunications will be so many as to make most people afraid, unless 

 your Mercy settles the matter and commands the slaves to be sent, who are now more 

 than thirty and worth 9,000 reals. 

 Likewise, Lord, the ships are now going well equipped. One left Benin on the 8th of 

 this August to Oliveyra with 170 slaves. So, Lord, I said to Joam Fyalho that your Mercy 

 ordered him to buy all the ivory that he could, and he brought 180 tusks for 1,623 marks, 

 which is a little less than the cost of a slave. 
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Christianity in Benin 

One of the reasons why the Oba was so interested in encouraging the Portuguese 

had been that he was expanding his empire. He wanted to use Portuguese weapons, for 

their  firearms  fascinated  him  and  his  people.  Among  the  records  they  kept  of  the 

Portuguese are many which show them in their arm our and with their guns. So far battles 

in  the  forest  had  been  mainly  hand  to  hand  affairs,  settled  by  spear  and  sword.  With 

gunpowder and guns the Oba’s armies would able to blast their way from end to end the 

forest. 

The Oba had welcomed the Portuguese envoys to obtain guns, as well as to learn 

about Europe and European religion. He traded with them, sent his son to be educated in 

Portugal, and even allowed Portuguese friars to preach Christianity in his kingdom, build 

churches  and  baptize  hundreds  of  converts.  In  the  early  16th  century  the  Oba  sent  an 

ambassador  to  Lisbon,  and  the  King  of  Portugal  sent  Christian  missionaries  to  Benin. 

Unfortunately, their priests, rather than settle amongst the  Benin people and learn their 

language  and  customs  were  instructed  to  convert  the  Oba  and  make  him  decree  the 

Catholic  Faith  as  the  religion  of  his  realm  as  Emperor  Constantine  did  in  the  Fourth 

Century Roman Empire. 



The Kongo kingdom:  A contemporary of Benin 

eanwhile  the  Portuguese  found  a  more  willing  partner  in  the  Kongo 

kingdom  in  Southwestern  Africa.  Nzinga  Mbemba  also  known  as 

M Alfonso I of the Kongo kingdom) was the first Kongo king to embrace 

Catholicism  and  European  trade  relations.  King  Like  many  Africans  who  became 

Christians, he was baptized with a Portuguese name.  Afonso I ascended the throne in 

1506 after the death of his father, Nzinga a Nkuwu. Unlike his father, who had rejected 

Catholicism  and  limited  contact  with  the  Portuguese  explorers,  Afonso  immediately 
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proclaimed Catholicism the state religion and established a strong trade alliance with 

the Portuguese Crown. 

When he succeeded to the throne, he was, however, met with vigorous opposition 

from his non-Christian brother Mpanzu a Kitima. Prince Mpanzu occupied the capital city, 

Mbanza Kongo, with the support of the Lord of Kabunga, the traditional priest, and forces 

of  nearly  200,000 men.  They viewed the Christian influence as a threat  to their  power. 

Affonso, however, triumphed over Mpanzu in battle in spite of the fact that he had inferior 

numbers of perhaps 10,000 soldiers and 100 Christians, both Kongolese and Portuguese. 

Affonso attributed his victory to a religious miracle and thus strengthened his desire 

to  spread  Christianity  in  the  land.  After  the  battle,  Affonso  executed  his  brother  but 

converted the Mani Kabunga. He gave the latter the position of Keeper of the Holy Water. 

Years later, he built the Church of the Holy Cross to commemorate the miracle. Eager to 

acquire European goods and to educate and Christianize his people, Afonso asked King 

Manuel of Portugal to send him priests, craftsmen, and military supplies. In return, Afonso 

supplied the monarch with ivory and slaves, two things for which the Portuguese seemed 

to  have  an  unlimited  appetite.  This  demand  ultimately  strained  relations  between  the 

Portuguese  and  Kongo;  Portuguese  traders  soon  sidestepped  Afonso's  authority  and 

acquired ivory and slaves from Kongo villagers. Realizing the threat to his power, Afonso 

asked Manuel to send a representative to enforce his kingdom's laws. 

In 1515 the representative arrived with a plan to recreate the kingdom on the 

Portuguese  model,  a  service  that  the  Portuguese  would  render  in  return  for  large 

amounts of slaves, ivory, and copper. Afonso rejected the offer. 

In order to reestablish his authority, Afonso tried to limit slave trading in the Kongo 

kingdom.  But  he  could  do  little  to  stop  the  Portuguese,  who  were  now  determined  to 

procure not only slaves but also the kingdom's alleged mineral wealth. Tensions escalated 

as Afonso tried to control the traders and denied the existence of the mythical gold mines, 

but  even  after  the  Portuguese  attempt  to  assassinate  the  Kongo  king  in  1540,  he 
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maintained relations with the Europeans in the hope that they would eventually send more 

missionaries. 

At the time of his death in 1545, however, no missionaries had arrived. Although 

some Kongolese later claimed that Afonso's contacts with the Portuguese ultimately led to 

the  breakup  of  the  kingdom,  others,  such  as  the  famous  prophetess  Dona  Beatrice, 

looked back at Afonso's reign as the golden age of the Kongo . 

  

End of the Portuguese Monopoly 

The Portuguese withdrew from the coast in 

the 18th century, but one of the most striking 

proofs  of  their  commercial  influence  is  the 

fact  that  the  older  natives  up  to  the  last 

quarter of the 19th century spoke a corrupt 

Lusitanian dialect. Furthermore, to this day, 

the Iwebo Palace Society of the Oba Palace 

in Benin still speaks a Beninized version of 

Portuguese.      







Uwangue ;head of the Iwebo Palace Society  
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Chapter Five 

Oba Esigie reigned 1504 A.D.-1550AD. 


uring  the  early  sixteenth  century,  a  number  of  important  developments 

affected power dynamics in the region. The Portuguese first arrived in Benin 

D during the reign of Esigie's grandfather, Oba Ewuare and father Oba Ozolua. 

Oba Esigie's own reign was shaped by two major challenges to his authority, and 

in these conflicts his most important assets proved to be his alliance with the Portuguese 

and the astute counsel of his mother, Iy’oba Idia, as adviser. In the first, he battled over 

succession rights to the throne with his brother Prince Arhuaran. 

The end of the Benin-Udo Rivary  

Finally in 1504, a War of Succession broke 

out  between  the  two  sons  of  Oba  Ozolua 

N'Ibaromienko;  Prince  Osawemwen  who 

later  reigned  as  Oba  Esigie  and  Prince 

Idubormwen nicknamed Aruarhan, the giant 

Enogie of Udo. 

Aruarhan’s statue at Udo 

During  this  succession  struggles  between  Princes  Osawe  who  later  reigned  as 

Oba Esigie r. 1504 – 1550 ) and Idubor also known as Aruarhan; the giant, Enogie of Udo, 

the Benin Army established a War-camp at Unuamen a river port on the Ovia River. 

According  to  the  oral  traditions  at  Ovah,  Oba  Esigie  being  a  baptized  Christian 

rededicated  the  Aru’Osa  N’Ovah  as  a  Christian  church  and  created  the  Ohen’osa 

Priesthood as he celebrated his resounding victory over Udo and the Iyeke’Ovia districts. 
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He commemorated this victory by planting an Ikhinmwin tree (Newbouldia Laevis) 

and placed a rock at the shrine as memento. 

By this victory, the rivalry between Edo and Udo was finally laid to rest after the 

famous Battle of Okuo'Ukpoba(The Battle of Blood)in which Udo was soundly defeated. 

Now  subjugated,  Udo  incorporated  into  the  Benin  Empire.  Oba  Esigie  abolished  the 

Ogie'Udo title but accepted the surrender and oaths of fealty of Osemwunghe the Iyase of 

Udo. 

Later Osemwunghe the Iyase of Udo in a bid to avenge the defeat of his master 

Prince Idubor and reassert Udo's independence, reopen the conflict with Benin. During the 

titanic  struggle  that  finally  confirmed  Benin’s  supremacy  in  Edoland  for  all  times,  Ora 

warriors played very vital role. The last and decisive battle forced Osemwunghe and his 

warriors to flee across the Siluko/Owena river to seek refuge in a place that became the 

present  day  Ondo  town  in  Yoruba  land.  The  neighbouring  people  were  unable  to 

pronounce  the  name  Osemwunghe  and  corrupted  it  to  Osemawe  a  title  by  which  the 

Ondo kings are known to this day. 

Oba  Esigie,  in  an  effort  to  spread  Christianity  in  his  realm  sent  Ohen  Okun,  the 

Olokun priest at Ughoton, as an ambassador to the king of Portugal to ask him to send 

priests to Benin to teach him and his people about the Christian Faith. 

The following is an extract from a report of a Portuguese mission to Benin in 1517 . 

 “  Lord,  Friar  Diogo  Bello  arrived  on  this  island  the  eve  of  Pentecost that  is  30th. 

 May  1517  and  he  was  received  by  all  the  clergy  and  people  in  the  island  with  great 

 festivity,  to  conduct  the  holy  crusade.  He  stayed  there  until  today,  which  is  the  24  of 

 August, when he leaves for Benin on one of your ships called Sao Pedro, which I entirely 

 renovated, not leaving a single plank untouched, after which this was its first voyage.  He 

 was well received and kindly treated, as your Mercy commanded me. I gathered that he 

 appropriated from the estates of people who died intestate a share of more than 100,000 

 reals in money and nearly 40 slaves. He left the money and the slaves on this island until 

 his return from Benin.  Lord, he took three fathers with him, principally Jeronjmo Priez, of 

 whom  I  wrote  to  your  Mercy,  whom  he  took  as  chaplain  and  curate,  whom  the  people 
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 were expected from your Mercy because he was good and they had confidence in him; 

 Priez went along to assist him. Also he took along Jea Zes, a cleric who had come from 

 Benin. Certainly he is going with the intention of making the king a Christian, even though 

 the king does not rule alone but only through two other captains, since he is a boy and is 

 under their power. So your Mercy should send a chaplain to preach to him and stay on the 

 island, since I do not know when Diogo Bello will return. 

 I  do  not  say  more  to  your  Mercy,  but,  only  that  this  man,  as  a  newcomer, 

 intervened  a  little  strongly  in  the  affairs  of  the  Church  and  maintained  that  no  one  had 

 authority  except  himself  and  the  bishop  of  Funchall,  and  other  things  which  it  is  not 

 necessary  to  repeat.  At  the  present  the  church  is  being  rebuilt  with  white  wood  and  I 

 ordered more than there was because, as I explained to your Mercy, all the red died wood 

 which we had got burned. He took all the money which was left by the death of Catarina 

 dAgujar, which your Mercy commanded to remain there, saying that, since she left all to 

 be spend for her soul, it all belonged to the holy crusade. 

 And I say not only this, but that what she left for our Lady he wishes to take, even 

 though it was all established to be spent for the cause of our Lady and the spiritual wel -

 being of this island.   Written today, 23 August 1517   

 The servant of your Mercy, a) Y.o Fialho. from Joham Fialho, who came by way of 

 Mina.  For the very virtuous Lord, the Lord António Carneiro etc. secretary of the King our 

 Lord.  Johno de Ferreira Ruy Leite. We command you to give to Pero Baroso, a black man 

 who came to us with letters from the king of Benin a capuce and a cloth cape worth 200 

 reals a yard, red or of any other colour, as he prefers, trousers of heavy cloth worth 180 

 reals, and shorts of red camlet. Give him everything made and tailored to fit him, which we 

 are  having  him  given  to  wear.  Do  not  wait  for  a  bill,  because  it  is  an  understanding 

 between us. By this letter, which you are to show to the accountants, I command them to 

 please pay for the cost. 

Given in Almerim, on 20 December 1515  

Art historians have noted that it was probably during the reign of Oba Esigie, or of 

Oba  Ewuare  a  century  earlier  that  the  brass-casters  were  organized  as  a  professional 
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association  within  the  palace.  Among  the  genres  of  artistic  expression  that  flourished 

under  Oba  Esigie's  visionary  leadership  are  the  "bird  of  prophecy"  idiophones  and  the 

rectangular architectural plaques that were displayed on the palace's facade.  

Changes were carried further under Oba Esigie and in about 1516, he added Idah, 

a state lying between Benin and the Benue, to the Empire. 

Where his warrior father, Oba Ozolua was unsure about trade with the Portuguese, 

Esigie,  the  political  strategist,  was  comfortable  with  expanding  Benin's  trade  with  the 

Portuguese having been taught by them. 

He  confidently  defined  the  terms  of  external  trade  to  suit  Benin's  national  and 

imperial  objectives,  rebuffing  Portuguese  demands  for  slaves,  by  limiting  its  export. 

Sargent contends that this embargo on slave export, the result of deep psychic insight and 

a long-ranged vision, “was striking evidence of Benin’s paramount concern for legitimate 

commerce and elite exploitation of the legitimate aspects of east-west, north-south, and 

European coastal trade potential” . 

Alfonso D’Aviero 

There is the story that Oba Ewuare N’Ogidiagan refused to see the strange white 

men there was a “prediction” that “strange whiteman would come across the seas, destroy 

the  kingdom  of  Benin  and  exile  the  king”.  These  prophesy  was  fulfilled  when  British 

soldiers and sailors under Admiral Harry Rawson sacked Benin City in February 1897. 

Nevertheless very little is remembered of Ruy 

de esquire and his ragged band in Benin history. In 

1486 a new Epoch in the history of Benin /European 

relationship  emerged  when  Alfonso  D’Aveiro  came 

to Benin City. 

He was not another ragged adventurer rather 

he  came  with  the  pomp  and  pageantry  as  an 

Ambassador  of  a  European  kingdom  to  an  African 

kingdom.                                                               Oba Esigie recieving D’Aviero 
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Coupled  with  his  exploits  in  the  Benin  –Idah  wars  of  1515-1517,  Aveiro  is 

remembered in all aspect of  Benin history, Oral tradition and Art. He is represented on 

several  bronze/brass  plagues,  carved  Ivory  tusks  and  even  wood  carving  thus  Alfonso 

D,Aviero is an integral part of Benin History even today. 

He came twice, and on his second visit was to die in Benin. The Benin court had 

taken little notice of de sequira. But d’ Aveiro’s visits were remembered centuries later in 

the  traditions  of  the  royal  court,  and  were  commemorated  on  the  bronze  plaques  that 

recorded important events in Benin history. 

    According  to  Pacheco,  a  Portuguese  merchant  writing  before  1486,  pushing  up    the 

delta Rivers in small shippes of fifty tonnes, we got as far a gustoes. Alfonso d’ Aviero was 

well  received  by  Oba  Ozolua  and  among  the  trade  items  presented  to  the  oba  was  a 

phenomena ; the fire arm. 

Though D’ Aviero demonstrated the power of the firearm to Oba Ozolua’s court, he 

refused to list it among the trade items because the Pope had placed an embargo on to 

sale of the firearms to non-Christian kingdoms. To set aside the papal edicts, Oba Ozolua 

promptly order his for Prince Osawe who later became Oba Esigie and the sons of all the 

major chiefs and vassals to become Christian. 

A new dawn came upon Benin and the west coast of Africa through this action. 

Benin acquires the most modern armament of the period: the fire arm. 

Furthermore as a Christian State she was also opened to new ideas from Christian 

Europe. 

Oba ozolua was a contemporary of Henry VIII, Ferdinand was king in Aragon and 

Queen Isabella ruled in  Castile while Maximillian ruled Austria as emperor, John IV was 

king of Scotland and Julius II was the pope of Rome and head of all Christendom. 

The Oba and the king of Portugal exchanged letters. 

For  the  first  time  some  of  the  secrets  of  Benin  were  revealed  to  Europeans. 

D’Aveiro  brought  back  a  report  which  started  the  Portuguese  them,  and  has  mystified 

historians ever since. 
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The following is a translated extract from the log of Ruy de Pina, the Chronicler of 

Alfonso Da Aviero, the Portuguese ambassador to the King of Benin. 

 “In this year 1486 the land of Benin beyond Mina in the Rios dos Escravos was first 

 discovered by Joham Affonso da Aveiro, who died there. The first Guinee pepper came to 

 Europe  from  that  land,  where  it  grows  in  great  abundance.  Samples  of  it  were  sent  to 

 Flanders and other places, and it was soon popular and selling for a high price. 

 The king of Benin sent as ambassador to King João one of his captains, a negro 

 from  a  seaport  town  called  Gwato,  because  he  desired  to  learn  more  about  Europe, 

 whose people were regarded there as an unusual novelty.   This ambassador was a man 

 of good speech and natural wisdom. Great feasts were held in his honour, and he was 

 shown many of the fine things of Europe. 

 He returned to his land in one of the King's ships, who gave him on departing a gift 

 of rich clothes for himself and his wife.  Through him he also sent to the king of Benin a 

 rich present of such things he knew the king would like very much. He also sent through 

 the ambassador some holy and Catholic words of advice, with a praiseworthy appeal to 

 embrace the Faith, rebuking him sternly for the heresies and gross idolatrous and fetish 

 practices which are so common among the negroes of that land.  New commercial agents 

 of King João went with the ambassador to reside in that land and buy pepper and other 

 things of interest to the King's business. But because the land was later found to be very 

 dangerous  from  sickness  and  not  so  profitable  as  had  been  hoped,  the  trade  was 

 abandoned.   

In  1486  João  de  Barros  wrote  to  the  Portugese  mornach  that  the  Oba  of  Benin 

asks for missionaries. The following is an extract from his letter   “Though the christianizing 

 of these people of Congo progressed greatly to the glory of God, through the conversion 

 of their king, little profit accrued from what the King did in the matter of the request of the 

 king of Beny, whose kingdom lay between that of Congo and the Castle of S. Jorge da 

 Mina. 

 For  at  the  time  of  Diogo  Cam's  first  return  from  Congo,  in  the  year  fourteen 

 hundred and eighty six, this king of Beny also sent to solicit the King to despatch thither 
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 priests who might instruct him in the Faith. Fernão Po, who had discovered this coast and 

 also an island near the land, now known by his name, had already visited this country in 

 the previous year. 

 On  account  of  its  size  he  called  it  Ilha  Formosa  -  but  it  has  lost  this  name  and 

 bears that of its discoverer.    This emissary of the king of Beny came with João Affonso 

 d'Aveiro, who had been sent to explore this coast by the King, and who brought back the 

 first pepper from these parts of Guinea to the Kingdom. 

 This  pepper  is  called  by  us   de  rabo   (long  tailed)  because  the  stem  on  which  it 

 grows comes away with it to distinguish it from that obtained from India.  The King sent 

 some to Flanders, but it was never held in as high esteem as the Indian.                      



Benin-Idah War 1515-1517 AD   



Imaguero: the Benin Helen of Troy 

etween 1515 and 1517 war broke out between Idah and Benin kingdoms. 

These two kingdoms had maintained very warm relationship in the past until 

B a husband’s boastfulness and a wife’s unfaithfulness led to the intrigues that 

plunged the cities into war. 



The  Oliha  N’Ogele  was  the  head  of  the  Edion’Uzama.  He  was  highly  respected 

and also very wealthy.  He had a very beautiful wife whose name was Imaguero. 

Imaguero’s beauty was the most talked about thing in the land and the husband 

was very proud of her.  It was the favourite pastime of chief Oliha to boast of his wife’s 

beauty and her faithfulness.  He was so confident of her fidelity that he declared her to be 

the most faithful woman in the entire Benin Kingdom.  He likened the beauty of her eyes 

to the rays from the white man’s mirror and hailed her by the name of any beautiful thing 

he could think of. 

Chief Oliha so obsessed by his love and trust for his wife that he took his boasting 

to the presence of the Oba. 
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“No  woman  should  be  completely  trusted”  The  Oba  told  him  good  humouredly.  Allow 

space  in  your  mind  for  human  frailty  unless  you  want  to  die  of  shame  should  you  be 

proved wrong.” 

Without meaning any to offend to anyone, the Oliha always brought up the subject 

of his wife’s faithfulness.  It was then that the Oba decided in his heart to put Imaguero, 

Oliha’s wife to test. 

Oba Esigie gave his cripple gatekepper lot of coral and agate beads and asked him 

to  entice  Imaguero.    At  his  first  visit,  the  porter  presented  very  expensive  coral  beads 

which  she  refused.    He  then  began  to  extol  her  beauty  and  commenced  his  art  of 

seduction.  Imaguero felt insulted.  Imaguero was curious.  Before she could decide what 

next to do, the man dangled very beautiful coral beads in front of her. The porter left her 

with the gifts of coral beads. 

Thus after several visits by the porter whose way was paved by expensive gifts, 

Imaguero acquiesced and the cripple was able to win her affection and in other to avoid 

detection, Imaguero took permission from her husband to visit her father for a while.  The 

Oba’s  crippled  porter  paid  her  regular  visits  there  and  was  able  to  complete  his  act  of 

seduction undetected.  Having accomplished his mission, he reported back to the Oba. 

The day came when Oliha would be disgraced. 

As usual when he was in the presence of the Oba and other chiefs, he introduced 

the subject of his wife’s faithfulness. 

The Iyase, advised the Oliha to stop making endless boast of her faithfulness. While Iyase 

and Oliha debated the issue back and forth, the Oba sent for Imaguero.  In a short while 

Imaguero was brought into their presence.  The Oba proceeded to question her. 

Imaguero  looked  from  the  Oba  to  her  husband  and  other  chiefs,  embarrassed. 

She was not sure where the conversation was heading.  She remained silent. 

He  thereafter  sent  for  her  seducer.  The  man  came  and  testified  to  her 

unfaithfulness.  He narrated how and where.  He did not forget to mention the expensive 

gifts.  This cripple’s narration drew laughter from all others. 
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The fact that it took a mere cripple and a few gifts to prove his wife’s unfaithfulness 

was a big blow to Oliha.   So great was his embarrassment that when they got home, he 

ordered that she should be executed by strangulation. 

Oliha was not done yet.  He directed his bitterness and rage towards the Oba.  He 

sought  to  retaliate.    Embarrassment  for  embarrassment,  he  thought  to  himself.    The 

opportunity he was waiting for came when the Oba turned his attention to some rebellious 

towns and villages in the eastern part of his kingdom.  Oliha calculated that it would be a 

good idea if he involved another strong group of people in Esigie’s wars. 

According to Edo tradition, between 1515 and 1516 war broke out between Idah 

and Benin.  These two kingdoms had maintained very warm relationship in the past until a 

husband’s boastfulness and a wife’s unfaithfulness led to the intrigues that plunged them 

into war. 

. 

Without  further  waste  of  time,  he  dispatched  his  servant  to 

Idah to alert the Atta that the Oba of Benin was planning to invade 

his territory.  The Atta was slow to act on the grounds that they had 

always maintained cordial relationship with the Benin people.  Oliha 

also  turned  around  and  informed  the  Oba  that  the  Atta  Igalla  was 

sending out his troops against them. 

The  Oliha  of  Benin



Now, the Oba had too many wars to contend with.  Only a little fraction of his army 

could he spare for this additional battle.  His mother came to the rescue. It was during this 

war  that  Iy’oba  Idia,  the  Oba  Esigie's  mother,  sent  men  from  Uselu  who  fought  very 

bravely and killed the general of the Idah army. This war initiative by the Queen Mother, 

Idia, is consistent with a common saying amongst the Edo today Okhuo i yo okuo, sokpan 

Idia ne iye Esigie “Women do not go to war, except for Idia the mother of Esigie”. 

When the Idah armies invaded Benin and no resistance was offered. Through the 

Ishan  dukedoms  did  not  partake  in  the  rebllion  the  Enigiess  did  not  take  sides  in  the 

conflict supporting neither the oba of Benin nor the Atta of Igala. 

The Idah armies were eventually defeated at the very gates of Benin City;Oke’Edo, 

and the Benin Army chased the scattered Idah warriors back toward the North. 
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The following is an extract from the Portuguese accounts of the Benin-Idah War: 

 This war had come suddenly. The drums were echoing day and might through the city, 

 and  murmuring  far  off  in  the  forest  as  the  news  spread  and  the  forces  of  Benin  were 

 summoned.  The  court  officials  came  and  went  with  their  white  wands  of  office  to  send 

 orders and bring back news. The city was full of ramous that Idah solders were moving on 

 them  from  the  north;  that  there  was  treachery  in  Benin  itself;  that  the  greatest  of  the 

 palace nobles, the head of the Oba’s council, had turned against the king. He was angry, 

 it was said, because the Oba had proved his favourite wife to be unfaithful to him. There 

 were stories of a plot to ambush and capture the Oba himself. 

  

 The day after the war had been announced the troops were pouring into the city 

 from  every  village  in  the  kingdom.  Almost  all  of  them  were  foot  soldiers,  young  men 

 straight from the farms, led by local chiefs or noblemen. Each man carried a huge oblong 

 shield, a basketwork affair woven from palm leaves or made of elephant hide, slung on his 

 back with his spear, his bow and his  arrows. Each carried  a short broad bladed sword 

 slung under his arm, and a crude helmet made leather or basketwork. They thronged the 

 courtyards and galleries of the town’s houses, wherever they had relatives. They slept in 

 the  streets.  They  drank,  danced  and  rioted  through  the  night.  The  markets  were  full  of 

 armourers; the priests prepared charms to protect the soldier or brewed the venom that 

 tipped the arrows. Market women sold pots of palm wine, and sat in front of the heaps of 

 yams, plantains and fish that the soldiers would need to take with them. 

  

 Within a week Benin was ready. They secret part of the preparations was over, the 

 sacrifices,  human  and  animal,  made  with  in  the  palace  walls.  In  the  morning  silence 

 descended on the town. Then the drums and the gongs boomed, the flutes squealed, and 

 the gates of the palace swung open. 

 The Oba came out to wage war. Around him were his picked men,  his personal 

 bodyguard,  and  the  leaders  of  the  palace  associations,  some  on  mules  or  horses  and 

 wrapped  in  their  scarlet  cloaks.  Their  spears  made  a  forest  about  the  king.  The  sun 

 gleamed on leather helmets and black spear blades. As once the town was over whelmed 

 with noise, with the din of drums, of shouting and singing, of squealing fifes. 
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  Of war cries and the whinnying of excited horses. The air was full of the smell of 

 sweat and of choking red dust raised by thousands of stamping feet. 

 The Oba and his commanders led the cavalcade along the main thoroughfare and 

 out  through  the  northern  gate.  From  every  ward  of  the  city  and  out  of  every  building 

 surged the rest of the army, perspiring and jostling their way to the northern gates. 

 To  the  Portuguese  onlookers  they  looked  more  like  a  migration  than  an  army. 

 There  could  have  been  20,000  men  marching  out  of  the  city  of  there  could  have  been 

 100,000. The Oba himself can never have known how many men served in his army. 

  Hour  after  hour  they  trampled  through  the  gates,  splashed  across  the  Ikpoba 

 stream,  and  disappeared  into  the  forest.  Miles  away  to  the  north  the  distant  sound  of 

 horns  and  drums  showed  where  the  head  of  the  army  filed  along  the  pathway  toward 

 Idah. 

 It was evening before the last soldier cleared the northern gate and the wooden 

 door creaked shut. Silence and darkness came upon the town. Apart from the handful of 

 sentries on the gates there was not a young man to be found in Benin. In the markets the 

 women quietly packed away what was left of their wares. The old men talked quietly to 

 each other in the courtyards. The city waited. 

  

 A few weeks later, a command came for the Portuguese ambassadors to go up to 

 the battle front. They became the only Europeans to see a Benin army in action. 

  

 For several days they followed the pathway northward. It was soon clear how the 

 war had affected the lives of the people along the path. The villages were deserted. The 

 Oba’s troops carried few provisions with them, and looted what they could find, wherever 

 they  could  find  it.  The  villagers  had  fled  into  forest  the  moment  they  had  heard  the 

 ominous sound of the drums and the flutes. 

 Nearer to the front  itself, there was more evidence of  the war. The little villages 

 were blackened by fire, the huts and granaries charred and broken down. In one empty 

 market  place  a  man  had  been  tied  to  a  tree  trunk.  He  had  died  several  days  before. 

 Occasionally messengers on their way back to Benin would pass the Portuguese. 
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 They reported that the Oba had still to meet the Idah army in battle, and that the 

 queen mother was marching with an army to support the Benin troops. 

 One evening the travelers heard the noise of drums and shouting very low and far 

 off to the north. The soldiers in their bodyguard did not sleep that night, but stood or sat 

 with their weapons in their hands. No fire was lit. 

 They said there had been a battle. As the light filtered down through the trees early 

 the  following  morning  an  officer  trotted  into  the  camp.  His  red  cloak  was  torn,  and  he 

 looked exhausted, but his eyes glistened in his dust-covered face. He spoke a few words 

 to the soldiers and disappeared southwards. 

 He carried news of a victory. The queen mother’s troops had surprised  the Idah 

 army and wiped it out. That morning as they marched north the news was confirmed by 

 trains  of  weary  prisoners  on  their  way  south.  They  had  been  stripped  of  their  arms,  in 

 some cases of their clothes and their wrists were tied behind them. Roped together the 

 trudged  silently  with  bowed  heads.  They  knew  what  waited  for  them  in  Benin.  Their 

 guards  should  jubilantly  at  the  Portuguese  envoys’  bodyguard,  sometimes  showing  a 

 battered helmet or blunted sword as evidence of their prowess. 

  

 Nearer the battle there was even grimmer evidence of violence. Wounded met sat 

 or lay moaning by the side of the path. Their wounds had sometimes been dressed with 

 strips  of  cotton,  but  there  was  little  other  help  to  be  give.  Their  wounds  were  already 

 septic, and all but the most lightly injured would probably die. 

  

 The forest opened out and they came quite suddenly on the battlefield. The grass, 

 once waist high had been trampled flat and amongst it lay the dead. Benin soldiers were 

 moving among them collecting weapons, shields and armour. A group of officers met the 

 travellers and took them across the battle area, talking excitedly. The Idah army had been 

 ambushed by the queen mother’s army as it came out of the forest. At the centre of the 

 clearing the fighting had been bitter, and here the corpses lay close to each other. 

  

 In the centre of the carnage lay a dead horse. It had once carried the Idah general. 

 The queen mother’s head slave, who had led the Benin attack, had cut down the rider, 
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 and then been kicked to death himself by the terrified animal. The visitors were glad to 

 leave the horrid place. The sun was high and the battlefields stank. 

 Above the dead, who would be left where they lay, the vultures circled or perched, 

 hunched hideously, in the trees round about. Away in the forest was heard the occasional 

 distant shout. The last of the Idah army was being hunted down. It had been a complete 

 victory. 

 That  evening  the  Oba  entertained  the 

 Portuguese.  Delighted  by  the  victory,  he 

 received them well. They ate that night with his 

 son,  and  the  stories  of  the  battle  were 

 exchanged,  to  be  recalled  and  remembered 

 for centuries as part of the history of Benin. 

The Niger River at Aganebode 

 A few miles further on, had the Portuguese known it, flowed the River Niger past 

 the city of Idah. It was nearly a mile wide, and had flowed nearly 2000 miles through West 

 Africa before losing itself in the delta as it flowed out to sea. The Portuguese never saw 

 the river. For 300 years the very existence of the mighty Niger was to be doubted by the 

 Europeans. 

The town of Ago No’ bude “camp 

of  the  frontier  guards’’  was 

founded on the bank of the Niger 

River    by  the  Benin  Army 

garrison that was stationed there 

in 1516. 







Oba Esigie at the bank of the Niger River  
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The  threat  of  invasion  was  over,  but  the  campaign  was  not  finished.  The  Oba 

withdrew his army to the edge of his own territory and there set up a war camp. For the 

rest of that year the Benin army lived within its defenses and ravaged the country round 

about. The wretched farmers from the nearby villages, their own homes destroyed, were 

forced to build huts and farm for their conquerors. Their granaries were broken open to 

feed  the  soldiers.  Their  wives  and  daughters  became  the  property  of  the  Benin  troops. 

They cooked for them and became their slaves. The land round about was cleared at the 

Oba’s command and fields were planted. 

On some campaigns part of the army might expect to stay in such a camp for two 

or three years. It might then become a permanent settlement inhabited by Benin soldiers 

who had married local women, and who would use it as a 

base  for  further  raids.  One  of  such  camp  is  Igueben  in 

Esanland. Another is the town of Aganebode on the Niger 

River bank 

This  time,  however,  at  the  end  of  a  year  the  Oba 

was wanted back in Benin for one of the “Ugie”; the great 

religious ceremonies without which the kingdom could not 

survive.  He  decided  to  abandon  the  camp  and  the  army 

filed southward through the forest back to Benin. Another 

Benin war was over.              Oba Esigie’s Triumph return to Benin City 

When  the  Atah  of  Idah  threatened  Benin’s  hegemony  and  the 

Igala army came dangerously close to attacking the capital, Oba 

Esigie's  resilience,  resourcefulness,  and  self-confidence  as  a 

leader  are  reflected  in  the  body  of  diverse  artistic  traditions  that 

are associated with his reign in achieving his goal of  reinforcing 

the  power  and  mystique  of  divine  kingship  at  Benin  while 

immortalizing his own quest to alter the course of history. 

The  Attah  pectoral  mask;  a  symbol  Benin 

Overlprdship 
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Ugie’Oro 

As  the  Benin  Army  marched  toward  the  Igala  territories,  a  bird 

probably a hornbill flew overhead crying Oya ‘O Oya’ O Oya’ O  which 

means  “disaster    disaster  disaster”.  The  Oba  returned  to  Benin  the 

capital  in  triumph  after  a  two  years  absence  and  the  defeat  of  the 

Igala invaders in spite of the general apathy and non-involvement of 

the  Benin  war  chiefs  further  strengthen  the  rule  of  Oba  Esigie. 

The Ahiamwen’Oro 

A  great  fear  swept  through  the  rank  and  file  of  the  Benin  Armies  and  the 

commanders  cautioned  the  oba  to  give  up  the  chase  and  turn  back.    But  Oba  Esigie 

ordered  the  bird  shot  and  had  it  casted  in  brass.  The  Oba  went  on,  defeated  the  Idah 

army,  annexed  the  Attah’s  territories  and  extended  the  Benin  frontiers  into  the  Benue 

valley. This equally enhanced his position by claiming absolute control of this own destiny. 

Since  the  Oba’s  destiny  and  that  of  the  kingdom  were  now  interwoven,  he  started  the 

process that moved the Benin monarch from a “warrior king’’. 

Oba Esigie overcame seemingly insurmountable odds. In his resilience, Oba Esigie 

portrayed the divine king's ability to triumph over fate and destiny. The court ritual Ugie 

Oro was introduced by Oba Ewedo, Benin's fourth divine king, to celebrate the power of 

all  Benin  kings.  It  was  expanded  by  Esigie  to  include 

references to his victory over the Igala as a specific case 

illustrating  the  power  of  the  Oba  to  prevail  over  natural 

and  supernatural  forces  that  affect  humankind.  The 

sounding of the clappers on this occasion celebrates his 

ability to protect his people and the defeat of something 

much more significant than an enemy army. 

Plaque potraying UgieOro’  

Striking the beak of the bird with a metal rod plays this clapper. It is used in a ritual 

called Ugie Oro which commemorates the military victory of Oba Esigie. 
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This  festival  illustrates  the  divine  power  of  the  Benin  king  to 

protect the kingdom and its inhabitants against natural and supernatural 

forces.  The  bird  has  been  identified  as  an  ibis.  This  war  is 

commemorated during the Oro festival when  the chiefs dance with brass 

castings of the bird of prophecy and strike the beak with a brass rod. 

The Osula of Benin at the Ugie’Oro 











Brass plaques commemorating the Idah War 

Oba Esigie is also remembered as the monarch who contributed most to the good 

relations  with  European  envoys  who  were  now  arriving  more  frequently  on  the  Guinea 

coasts.  Missionaries  were  also  encouraged  to  come  from  Portugal  and  were  wel  

received. 

Oba  Esigie  made  new  innovations  in  the  musical  and  visual 

highlights of the Benin court. The Christian Lenten fast, known as 

Ague ‘Osa was also introduced into the Edo indegeneous religion 

by Oba Esigie.   In 1540 the Oba made a crucifix in brass and had it 

sent to the king of Portugal as a present. 

Oba Esigie practiced astrology known as Iwe-Uki, a forerunner of 

the science of astronomy, the study of the stars. Several European 

sources  confirmed  that  he  could  speak,  read  and  write  the 

Portuguese language. 

Iwoki; Benin Astrologer 
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The  captain  of  a  Portuguese  ship,  Lourenco  Pinto,  observed  that:  'Great  Benin, 

where the King resides, is larger than Lisbon, all the streets run straight and as far as the 

eyes can see. The houses are large, especially that of the king which is richly decorated 

and has Fine columns. The city is wealthy and industrious. It is so well governed that theft 

is unknown and the people live in such Security that they have no door to their house 

During his nearly half a century reign, Benin itself was now a city 

of great size, wealth and distinction and European connection with 

the  kingdom  became  stronger  during  his  reign.  However,  Oba 

Esigie  prevented  the  depletion  of  the  kingdom’s  population  by 

prohibiting  the  export  of  male  slaves.  During  the  16th  and  17th 

centuries,  Benin  traders  did  import  slaves  purchased  by 

Europeans elsewhere in West Africa, and resold some of them to 

the region which is now Ghana. 

Brass horseman representing Attah’Igala 



Iy’Oba Idia  

Oba Esigie created the Iyoba (Queen mother) title about 

1507 and conferred it on his mother Idia. Ever since then 

every  Oba  of  Benin  would  confer  the  Iyoba  title  on  his 

mother 3 years after his ascension of the Benin throne. 

According  to  Egharevba,  Esigie  had  his  mother  Idia 

made Iye’Oba “Queenmother” and sent her to reside at 

Lower  Uselu.  It  is  note  worthy  that  Queen  Idia's 

commemorative ivory mask was used for the first World 

Black Festival of Arts and Culture (FESTAC) which took 

place in Lagos, Nigeria, in the 1970s. 

The FESTAC Symbol    
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The dynastic accounts says that the Ekassa 

ritual  dance  which  forms  part  of  the  Royal  funeral 

ceremonies  was  invented  by  Idia,  the  Queen 

mother, and Esigie. 

Ogbelaka performing the Ekassa dance  

According to Prof. Nkiru Nzegwu, Iyoba Idia's visage is the 

most  widely  known  face  of  an  African  royal  woman  after  the 

Egyptian Queen, Ahmose-Nefertari or Nefertiti. Her face has gazed 

on us from countless museum pedestals the world over. 

Sargent wrote in 1986 that “For one, the victory over Idah 

not only eliminated it as a potential threat, but it also enabled Benin 

to  gain  and  consolidate  its  imperial  advantage  in  the  north-south 

Niger river trade route that stretched all the way to the commercial 

centers of the Songhai empire and to the Atlantic ocean. Secondly, 

she  promoted  and  fought  relentlessly  to  wrest  the  Obaship  for 

Osawe, the personal name of Oba Esigie,  an action that allowed 

Benin to reach its apogee.                                           Idia’s commemorative head 

Before Esigie gained control of the imperial administration, and even after, she was 

the power behind the throne. Finally, the establishment of the institution of Iy’oba (Mother 

of the Oba) not only accorded power to royal mothers in the running of the kingdom, most 

profoundly. In 1991, Blackmun, wrote that in the political domain, Iy’oba idia was credited 

for using her knowledge of the occult to seize the throne of Benin for her son and to defeat 

his enemies. The yearly Orhu festival dramatizes the sacrificial food offering Iy’Oba Idia 

made to help her son become Oba. Ceremonial rites of the Ugie Iye’Oba; a festival assert 

that she drew on her esoteric knowledge to treat her son “during a fit of madness caused 

by the cursed royal beads he wrested from his older brother”. 

This  event  is  commemorated  at  Ugie’Emobo  which  reenacts  the  titanic  struggle 

between two kingdoms, the Edo Kingdom and the Udo chiefdom. 
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The  historical  battle  centered  on  the 

struggle  between  two  brothers,  Prince 

Osawemwen  who  was  later  crowned  as 

Oba Esigie and Prince Idubomwen known 

in  history  as  Arhuran  the  Enogie  of  Udo. 

The  struggle  resulted  in  the  total 

destruction of Udo as a regional power. 

Ugie’Emobo 

Iy’Oba Idia protected her son physically, spiritually and mentally until he ascended 

the throne and took the title Oba Esigie N’olomi.  According to tradition as soon as a king 

was crowned the queen mother was relocate to Uselu, three miles from Benin.  Idia move 

to Uselu with her retinue of staff and domestics. 

It was shortly after his son’s ascension that he turned his attention toward certain 

rebellious town in the East.  He was still embroiled in it when his brother the giant, duke of 

Udo declared war on Benin.  While he was doing battle with Udo, the threat from Idah was 

announced.   By this time the Benin soldiers were more or less fatigued and demoralised. 

It was at this point that Esigie’s mother did what no other woman had done in the history 

of Benin Kingdom.  She mobilised her troops, called on Benin people not to despair and 

together with the Portuguese missionaries who took along guns and muskets, led them to 

the battle front. 

Against this background of the importance of magical prowess, we begin to grasp 

the importance of Idia to Esigie's political administration. Lacking those sorts of powers 

himself, he entrusted his mother to supernaturally protect him. He trusted her completely, 

knowing that she was his main ally and that she would not betray him. He relied on Idia's 

metaphysical powers to clear away all psychic and physical obstacles and impediments, 

which presumably freed him to attend to other matters within his area of competence. The 

information Idia gained from her visionary insight and supernatural powers enabled her to 

offer  better  political  counsel,  to  amplify  his  omniscience  and  omnipotent  qualities,  to 

enhance the awesomeness of his divinity, and to make his reign much more outstanding. 
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Oba Orhogbua reigned I550 -1578  

hen  his  father,  Oba  Esigie  joined  his  ancestors, 

Orhogbua  was  in  Europe.  On  arrival  from  Europe, 

W the Bini insisted that he choose between being a 

Catholic  priest  and  an  Oba  because  he  can  not  be  both.  The 

popular  saying  in  Benin  at  the  time  was:  Ai  wo  Oba,  wo  ebo,” 

meaning  you  cannot  be  king  and  be  priest  to  a  deity.  Orhogbua 

chose to become Oba. 

Active  trading  with  the  English  started  in  1553,  with  the 

Edo  offering  ivory,  palm  oil,  pepper,  cloth,  beads  directly 

and slaves brought into her Ughoton port from surrounding 

territories  under  Benin  Empire.  The  cowry  currency  also 

came  through  the  route  to  facilitate  Edoś  economic 

buoyancy. It was the route through the Ughoton water side 

that the land locked kingdom reached out or was reached 

from abroad, and increasingly so from Oba Ewuareś era. 

The Benin arphorism says “Emwin nÓmo ya ru Omo ode amen o’ke rhe meaning; The 

underpinnings  of  the  authority  and  prestige  of  the  Oba  of  Benin,  came  through  the 

overseas route.  Ughoton was the revenue route from the outside world to Benin. 

In the third year of his reign, in accordance with the new tradition, 

Oba Orhogbua installed his mother Elaba as Iy’Oba.  Each Iy’oba 

(queen  mother)  in  Benin  has  her  own  palace,  specially  built  for 

her.  She also has many court attendants, men and women called 

ibierugha  and  ibie’erie,  respectively  that  serve  her.   They  build 

their dwellings nearby her palace so as to be in close proximity. 

Ivory mask of Iyoba Elaba  



191 









The young female attendants are actually women who are given by their families to be 

cared  for  and  raised  by  the  queen  mother.   They  are  later 

given in marriage to either the Oba or to important chiefs or 

political leaders to form alliances or strengthen political ties. 

These  women  generally  are  depicted  as  naked,  wearing 

nothing  but  a  coral  beaded  belt  and  jewelry  and  a  certain 

hairstyle  that  mark  them  as  virgins  eligible  for  marriage. 

This  position  is,  in  a  way,  a  rather  powerful  one,  because 

these women are educated and refined from living under the 

queen’s care, often marry powerful men, and even have the 

chance to become queen mother. 

Commemorative head of Iyoba Elaba  

Oba  Orhogbua  enforced  tribute  payments  from  all 

parts  of  his  Empire  and  in  the  1550s  conquered  all 

the  coastal  lands,  up  to  Lagos  where  he  left  a 

permanent garrison. 

The  Benin  maritime  army  was  borne  on  river-craft 

flotillas. 

Orhogbuaś 

conquering 

expedition 

recognized the importance of Lagos Island, both as a 

military  defence  point,  and  a  look-out  post  for  traffic 

from  around  the  world,  intending  to  explore  the 

interior of Africa from the West African coastline break 

that allows water to flow from the Benin River into the Atlantic Ocean. 



Ships from the outside world could penetrate into the bowels 

of Africa from there so the Island entry point was considered 

the perfect place to monitor and control the trade. Orhogbua 
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occupied the Island, which he called Eko (meaning camp), by setting up the first human 

settlement there. 

Oba Orhogbuaś son was the first Eleko (Oba) of Lagos. From Lagos, Orhogbua 

explored  the  lagoon  system  to  its  farthest  points  through  Dahomey,  Togo,  to  the  Volta 

River and Basin in todayś Ghana. The warrior king’s war camp that metamorphosed in a 

city-state called Eko in Edo and was renamed Lagos by the Portuguese. From the sea 

coast Oba Orhogba introduced the use of odo the native cooking salt to the Edo cuisine. 

Thus  it  was  the  lagoon  expedition  introduced  common  salt  “umwen”  for  the  first 

time  to  Benin,  displacing  eventually,  odoo,  which  was  the  Benin  traditional  salt.  The 

sample  salt  acquired  the  name  úmwen´  because  an  Ishan  servant  of  Chief  Osague, 

asked to taste the salt, said in tasting it, that it was “Obhen”, meaning, all right. 

A very close relationship existed between Benin and Portugal at his time.  During 

the reign of Oba Orghogua, who understood the power of navigation and sea power, he 

established control over the entire West African coastline. He signed treaties of friendship 

with  many  of  the  local  leaders.    By  1580s,  The  Benin  Kingdom  had  borders  from  the 

present  day  Gabon  extending to  Togo  through the  Republic  of  Benin  and  down  to  the 

entire coastline of present day Nigeria to the east. 

Oba  Orhogbua  developed  a  canoe-port  complex  in  the  Ikpoba  river  flood-plain 

immediately east of Benin City from which he launched military forays deep into the Niger 

Delta  and  far  along  the  coastal  lagoons  enabled  Benin  to  begin  its  extension  of 

commercial power over extensive coastal land areas during the mid 16th. Century to early 

17th. Century. 

Benin  created  several  reverse-banked  enclosures  along  the  waterside  routes  to 

Benin which may have been used in an internal trade for slaves, upon which much of the 

city and empire agricultural economy was based. 

There were commercial changes during the reign of Oba Orhogbua that are visible 

in European records. For example, in 1553 English merchants led by Thomas Wyndham 

were  received  by  the  king  who  traded  with  them  in  person,  a  practice  common  in  the 
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sixteenth  century  and  confirmed  by  Portuguese  reports  as  well.  The  trade  terms  were 

discussed in Portuguese. Oba Orhogua, a product of Portuguese education was said to 

have been trained at a monastery and the University in Lisbon, Portugal. 

Sir John Hawkins an English admiral and privateer, became the first English man 

enter  the  Trans-Atlantic  Slave  Trade.  In  1562,  1564,  and  1567  he  carried  cargoes  of 

slaves from the West African coast to the West Indies. 

This  slave  trade  was  a  violation  of  Spanish  laws,  and  in  1568,  as  Hawkins  was 

preparing  to  return  to  England,  he  was  attacked  by  a  Spanish  fleet  in  the  harbor  off 

Veracruz, Mexico. Hawkins managed to escape with two ships, but the attack convinced 

him that war with Spain was inevitable. 

The  Slave Coast,  historical name for that  section of  the Gulf of  Guinea coast of 

West Africa lying between the mouth of the Niger River on the east and the mouth of the 

Volta River on the west. It includes the coastal areas of present-day Nigeria, Benin, Togo, 

and eastern Ghana. Between the 17th and early 19th centuries the Slave Coast was the 

center  of  West  African  slave  trading.  Conseqently,  more  than  ten  million  slaves  were 

transported  against  their  will  to  the  Americas  during  the  nearly  three  centuries  of  the 

Atlantic slave trade. 

This  illustration  depicts 

Africans  traders  escorting  fettered 

slaves to coastal shipping ports to 

be sold to European traders. 

A Slave Train 
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Oba Ehengbuda reign 1578 A.D-1608  

bout  1578,  the  eldest  son  of  Oba  Orhogbua  whose  princely  name  was 

Odiawator, was crowned Oba of Benin with the title Ehengbuda. According to 

A the Benin royal dynastic myth, Oba Ehengbuda spent 30 years as Omo n’ore 

owa (Heir designate), 30 years as Edaiken (Crown prince) and 30 years as Oba. 

While his father, Oba Orhogbua, might be considered a warrior king who made his 

greatest impact in the lagoon territories, Oba Ehengbuda campaigned mainly on land in 

the Yoruba areas. 

In the traditions of his predecessors the warrior Obas, most times, Oba Ehengbuda 

personally led their troops to war. According to the dynastic accounts, Oba Ehengbuda, 

while prosecuting his military activities in the Akure area, sustained burns which healed to 

leave scars on his body. This was systematized in the Iwu body marks which every Edo 

adult had to acquire to be able to participate in royal and court activities of the land. 

The markings also served to identify the Edo person for protection 

during  the  slave  trade.  Strong  efforts  were  made  to  prevent  Edo 

people from being sold into slavery. Edo people openly and actively 

encouraged  and  facilitated  the  escape  of  slaves  from  the  holding 

centres in the kingdom and particularly from the Ughoton port. 

A Benin chief wearing the “Iwu” body tattoo 

Another  account  claims  that  the  Iwu  came  into  being  as  as  a  result  of  Oba 

Ewuare’s  decree  that  every  Free-Born  Edo  person  should  wear  the  body  tattoo  as  an 

identity.  As a result of Oba Ehengbudaś accident, the responsibility for leading the army 

in  war  was  delegated  to  Ekpenede  the  Iyase.  He  prosecuted  several  successful 

campaigns in Yoruba territories and concluded many treaties, including a major one with 

the Ala’afin of Oyo, which demarcated the boundary in Yoruba territories at Otun town in 
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northern  Ekiti  between  the  Edo  and  Oyo 

powers. 

Are of Otun                                                                                        

At  the  ceremony  marking  the  boundaryba  t 

Otun,  the  two  commanders  stood  at  the 

boundary  with  backs  turned  by  each,  to  their 

respective  homeland  directions,  Benin  and 

Oyo.  The  Benin  Commander  in  Chief  planted  an  ikhinmwin  tree,  and  the  Oyo  General 

planted a palm tree of the spirit world, a high savannah date palm, unfamiliar to the Edo at 

the time. 

Occasional diplomatic contact was maintained 

between Oyo and Benin from 1600-1836.   A 

source  from  the  late  1700s  by  some  French 

explorer and another different source mention 

that  emissaries  from  Oyo  that  a  visitor  to 

Benin  met  were  described  as  being  in  Benin 

on "political business". 

Palace of the Ala’Afin of Oyo 

In 1826, Hugh Clapperton wrote in a Journal of a second expedition into the interior 

of Africa, from the bight of Benin to Soccatoo (published in 1829)  "In the evening we had a 

 visit from the king, to thank me for the presents I had given him, and again to assure me 

 of  being  welcome;  said  that  he  wanted  nothing,  unless  it  was  something  that  would 

 speedily cause the submission of  the rebels. He said that he had  sent to his friend the 

 king of Benin for troops to assist him in the  war. He added that the customary fetes or 

 amusements would begin in about two months, and he would be very glad if I would stay 

 and see them ; that he dressed now as a common man, but after that, I should see him 

 robed as a king. I told him I must go on early, to get to Bornou before the rains."  
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In a  Journal of an Expedition to Explore the Course and Termination of the Niger, 

written in 1832  by Richard and John Lander says  "It has expressly and repeatedly told us, 

 that the monarch of this empire is brother to the king of Benin; but, notwithstanding this 

 near relationship of the two sovereigns, not the slightest intercourse or communication is 

 maintained between Yarriba and that power; so that at least the inhabitants of this place 

 have  informed  us;  and  the  reason  they  ascribe  for  it  is,  that  the  distance  between  the 

 countries  is  too  great.  Friends  and  acquaintances  are  oftentimes  called  brothers  in 

 Yarriba; and to make a distinction in the above instance, they assert that Mansolah and 

 the  king  of  Benin  'were  of  one  father  and  one  mother'.  We  interrogated  Ebo  on  the 

 subject, but he soon silenced our remarks by observing that we were too inquisitive, or, to 

 use his own words, 'that we talked too much.' " 

The Iyase was ‘the highest Benin title of the state, and it is not inherited. He was 

the only chief that had the right to argue with or censure the Oba in public. In tradition, he 

was portrayed as the focus of opposition to the power of the Oba. The importance of his 

office is demonstrated by the fact that the Iyase on the instructions of the Oba inducted all 

state  chiefs.  The  Iyase  had  the  privilege  of  marrying  the 

Oba’s eldest daughter.  Once the Iyase left Benin leading an 

army he could never go back. It made no difference whether 

the army won or lost. The Iyase was, therefore, instructed to 

move  to  any  town  of  his  choice  and  not  to  return  to  Benin 

City.  In  the  town  he  moved  into,  the  Iyase  enjoyed 

untrammeled  power.  Even  tributes  earmarked  for  the 

monarch ended up being hijacked by the Iyase, and as long 

as he was alive, no other Iyase was appointed in his place.         Iyase Ekpenede                 

The demise of Oba Ehengbuda near Ikorodu in 1608, marked the end of the era of 

warrior  kings  and  also  the  end  of  active  participation  of  the  Oba  as  Supreme  War 

Commander.  The  Iyase  took  over  the  responsibility  until  the  early  nineteenth  century, 

although in the eighteenth century, the Ezomo as an active war commander had become 

unofficially recognised as the head of the army. 
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The difficulty of deciding who among the Iyase and the Ezomo, should head the 

army, was due to the conflicting interests of the different political groups that constituted 

the state council.  The military position of the Iyase as Commander-in- Chief of the army 

from about 1600 to 1800 was abolished in early nineteenth century. 

This was probably due to the tense relations, which had existed between the Oba 

and  the  Iyase.  More  importantly,  it  may  have  been  due  to  the  pressures  from  the 

competing  groups  in  the  society,  with  competing  goals  that  sought  to  either  control  or 

ensure the balance of power between the rival elements within the state. The Iyase was 

not denied any military position in the new arrangement. Both the Iyase and the Ezomo 

were placed in charge of two alternative commands as chief war commanders. 

Ezomo Agban 

Agban was appointed Ezomo after the death of Ekenika. Agbanś reign straddled 

that of Oba Orhogbua and his son Oba Ehengbuda. His exploits were mainly in western 

Ibo land. The area was brought under Edo suzerainty from Oba Ewuareś expansion of 

Edo kingdomś era. Ezomo Agbanś military campaigns ran into difficulties at Ika town of 

Ogidi but he triumphed in the end and named the town Ágbor,á corruption of Agban. 

His  success  and  pacification  efforts  in  the  western  Ibo  territories  were  so 

impressive; he was almost being treated as the Emperor of the area 

by the Eka. On one occasion, while verbally presenting a war report 

to  Oba  Ehengbuda,  thunder  claps  interrupted  Chief  Agban. 

Offended by the temerity, he decided to teach thunder a lesson. He 

arranged for a tall scaffold with a wide base, and reaching far into 

the  sky, to  be  erected.  He  tied  hundreds  of  calabashes  filled  with 

palm oil on the rungs of the scaffold from the base to the far flung tip 

and set the scaffold on fire with the intention of smoking the thunder 

deity out of hiding.                                                                             Ezomo Agban 

Before the scaffold crumbled and fell, Benin City was visited by a hail of showers, 

followed by rain of large frozen ice blocks, and the mournful sounds, like the wailing of 
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thunderstorm in distress, in the sky. Whatever was responsible, it was some consolation 

for a people that believe nothing is impossible to achieve. That in a nutshell propelled the 

stupendous height that Edo people reached in almost every field of human endeavour. 

Oba Ehengbuda elevated the Ibiwe to a palace association. The Ibiwe trace their 

ancestry to the Ora people who came with Prince Okpame (reigned as Oba Ozuola) to 

Benin City and assisted the Prince in his struggle to secure the Benin throne about 1483. 

These loyalists were used by Oba Ozolua to strike his enemies hence their appellation. 

“Ago’bo Ekpen ne ba emwin ku” (the leopard left hand that never misses its target). 

Oba Ehengbuda later put them in charge of External trade and 

his household, harem and  children because proven loyalty. The 

Idemwini N’Ibiwe was constituted to administer price control and 

check inflation. They also acted as, procurement department of 

the palace during ceremonies and deliberately lower the price of 

items the Oba requires. 

Oka-Idemweini N’Ibewe flanked by two members. 

The re-annexation of the Ugu Kingdom 

In the course of his reign, Oba Ehengbuda finally completed the re-conquest and 

reintegration  of  the  Ugu  Kingdom  in  the  Iyeke'orhionmwon  territories  into  the  Benin 

empire. 

From his base at Ugo in the Iyeke'orhionmwon territories, Oba Ehengbuda invaded 

the Ugu kingdom . Advancing deep into territories of Oba N'Ugu, he besieged Umoghu'un, 

the  capital  of  the  Ugu  kingdom.  After  a  long  siege  and  bitter  fighting,  Umoghu'un  was 

captured  and sacked. 

The Oba N'Ughu Eguewon fled to the village of Ukhun, near Irrua in  Ishan land. 

Oba Ehengbuda then moved his victorious army to Urhehue and from there laid 

siege to Umoghun-Nokhua. 

Prince Olodagueze, the Enogie of Umoghun-Nokhua, seeing the fate of his cousin 

the  Oba  N'ughu  weighed  all  the  options  open  to  him,  and  surrendered  his  dukedom  to 

Oba Ehengbuda without any form of resistance and took oaths of fealty to the Benin king. 
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Benin Overseas Trade 

Towards the end of Oba Ehengbuda’s reign though the Uwangue was intervening 

in trade, the king still had the last word. According to Ryder; quoting Dapper wrote that by 

the  seventeenth  century,  the  locus  of  trade  had  shifted  from  the  Oba’s  palace  to  the 

riverside villages where local officials and traders operated in the name of the king. These 

factors might well have put considerable wealth in the hands of the lower members of the 

administration  and  the  merchants  whom  they  supervised,  especially  since  oversight  at 

higher levels was difficult because of the dispersed nature of the trade. Such a situation 

would have tended to make the lower levels of administration more powerful, and perhaps 

aroused the cupidity of their superiors, resulting in the tension between different levels of 

the administration that seems to have been a major factor in the succession crisis. 

Peter Mares was a Dutch explorer, who from 1600 - 1602 a trading voyage to the 

Gold Coast of Guinea. That same year (1602) he published an account of his journey with 

a detailed description of the regions he had visited.  It is the oldest printed book in Dutch 

about the area. 

The palace of Oba Ehengbuda, according to Joshua Utzheimer, 1603, was about the size 

of the German City of Tubingen 

During his 30 years reign, Oba Ehengbuda expanded the empire to her greatest estent; 

from the Ewe chiefdoms in present day Republic of Togo and Modern Ghana to Boma on 

the estuary of the Kongo River. 



In the Epe-Lekki waterways near Ikorodu, while Oba Ehengbuda was two days away from 

an  eight  days  journey  through  the  lagoon  to  visit  his  Dukedom  and  military  camp,  Eko 

(Lagos), a freak storm hit the lagoon and capsized many of the river-craft in the royal float, 

including that bearing the monarch and he drowned. 
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A 17th. Century Map showing Benin’s sphere of influence at its greatest 
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Chapter One 

Oba Ohuan  reigned 1606  - 1641 A.D.   


he reign of Oba Ohuan saw the transformation of the Benin monarch from a 

warrior-king  into  a  god-king  with  acclaimed  divine  attributes  and  rights. 

T Escapulaed in the vast palace, he had become an object of worship any 

veneration.    Though  he  was  not  as  absolute  despot  because  he  is  constrained  by  the 

fears of Erinmwin’idu and the ancestors, he became a living deity, steadily in the search of 

the ways to build up his own people and his nation, and how to make them formidable in 

the midst of the surrounding nations. 

Thus Dr. O.S. B. Omoregie hypothesis stated that when there is a paralysis in the 

power  of  the  monarch,  the  great  nobles  creates  the  opportunity  to  be  arbiters  of  the 

monarchy and the fighter for or against the restoration of the king’s powers” 

As a ruler, Oba Ohuan was very different from his immediate predecessors, who 

were warriors.  Kings such  as Oba Ewuare Ogidigan,  Oba Ozolua N'Ibaromienko, Oba 

Esigie N'Olomi, Oba Orhogbua and lastly his own father Oba Ehengbuda N'Obo who was 

also a powerful magician and lusty man. 

Oba Ohuan in contrast, was an effeminate man, a gentle soul, who was ordered by 

Oba Ehengbuda, his father to walk stark naked from his domain at Uselu Eguae’edaiken 

to Benin City to dispel the rumour that the crown prince was a woman. 

Oba Ohuan and Iyase Ogina 

After the ascension to the throne, Ogina the Iyase rebelled against the young Oba 

Ohuan. Ogina was a great warrior, very powerful and renowned through his victories and 

other diabolical exploits. 
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In his work  Concise Lives of the Famous Iyases of Benin,  Egharevba relates that 

Iyase Ogina committed adultery with Oba Ehengbuda’s wife after the birth of his only son, 

Ohuan. When, after his succession, Oba Ohuan sort to avenge the insult on his by Ogina, 

but  “every  attempt  to  kill  him  proved  fruitless  and  abortive.  Gradually  Iyase  Ogina 

gradually coerced, cajoled and wooed the Elders of State till he won all powers to himself. 

Council meetings were no longer held in the Oba’s palace but in that of Ogina regardless 

of the Oba”. 

After the  crisis  of  Iyase  Ekpenede,  Oba  Ehengbuda  had  established  the  custom 

that the Iyase could not return to Benin City after many victories to forestall any possibility 

of an Oba-Iyase competition, 

Faced with overwhelming odds, Oba Ohuan was forced to retreat to Ekhoe district 

where  he  founded  Evbo’Ohuan  Village..  Throughout  these  bitter  struggles,  Oba  Ohuan 

remained  outside  the  city.  Here  in  his  war  camp,  Oba  Ohuan  gathered  the  support  of 

powerful herbalists, chiefs, and the armies of his vassals.  Dynastic accounts say that Oba 

Ohuan had an army made up of thousands of herbalists and warlocks. 

The civil war that ensued according European documents lasted many years until 

Ogina was defeated. 

Oba Ohuan gained victory thereby forcing Iyase Ogina to flee the capital into exile 

and Oba Ohuan was able to take over his kingdom. After this victory over Iyase Ogina, 

Oba Ohuan left the war camp for Benin City. 

Confronted  with  seemingly  unending  crisis,  Oba  Ohuan  could  not  elevate  his 

mother to the prestigious position of Iy’oba and so he sent her back to her home village 

Ayen.   

Economic growth 

During  Oba  Ohuan’s  reign,  the  production  of  cloth  was  widespread  and  in  local 

hands.  Cotton  growing  and  weaving  were  extensive  throughout  the  Benin  kingdom,  as 

noted by visitors beginning with Welsh in 1588, followed by Ulsheimer in 1601, who noted 

its sale to Europeans through Lagos, then in Benin's hands, and Ruiters in 1602. 
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The “Benin” Cloth 

Samuel  Brun,  visiting  Benin  about  1614  noted  that  Benin  made  'very  beautiful 

cloths,  which  are  exported  far  and  wide  and  sold.  Weaving  was  essentially  a  home 

industry, done by women in their spare time, if more recent documentation is any guide. 

Their cloth was not  only for personal use, as the written accounts attest, but for 

long-distance  trade  with  other  African  people,  thousands  of  such  cloths  being  shipped 

annually  by  the  middle  of  the  seventeenth  century,  either  by  the  inland  waterway  past 

Lagos  or  on  European  shipping  to  the  Gold  Coast.  They  even  turned  up,  through 

European  shipping  connections,  among  the  burial  goods  of  Queen  Njinga  of  Matamba central Africa in 1663. 
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Chapter Two 

The Succession Crisis 


bout 1640 Benin's Oba Ohuan joined his ancestors and leaves no successor. 

Since  Oba  Ohuan  was  an  only  child  and  had  no  brothers  did  he  have  any 

A children, the succession problems were further heightened. The ensuing 

dynastic struggles and civil war cause a general decline in Benin's prosperity and regional 

prominence through the end of the 17th. Century. 

The  Benin  throne  was  thrown  open  to  rotation  among  members  of  the  Royal 

Family selected by the Ihogbe; a rotational kingship that lasted for six reigns. 

Oba Ahenzae  reign 1641-1661 A.D. 

ccording to the dynastic traditions, Oba Ohuan died childless and to preserve 

the lineage, a successor who was the great grandson of Oba Orhogbua was 

A crowned Oba with the title Ahenzae.  At his coronation, Oba Ahenzae was 

only sixteen years old. 

According  to  the  Court  historian  Chief  Egharevba,  when  he  was  crowned  many  of  the 

palace functionaries took undue advantage of his youthfulness to held squander the royal 

treasuries.  As a result the long-stored treasures from the past monarchs were wasted. 

Dapper’s mid-seventeenth-century description of Benin government suggests that 

the Oba had more or less fallen under the control of his own military apparatus. 

He describes an elaborate selection procedure for a new king, with the decision 

made by the Uwangue who ostensibly heard the Oba’s last wish for his successor and 

confirmed by the Iyase. 
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As Ryder suggests, it is hardly necessary to point out the opportunities which such 

a procedure offered for collusion between the leaders of the palace and town chiefs”   

As a result of the high rate of mortality Portuguese Catholic priests, owing to the 

unsuitable  tropical  climate  and  malaria,  they  were  recalled  to  Portugal.  To  fill  the  gap, 

Benin Catholics were ordained given charge of the churches. These priests of Benin origin 

were  called  Ohen’Osa  (Priests  of  God).    Consequently,  the  Portuguese  missionary 

activities passed on to Benin Native fathers. 

However  the  Vitican  sent  officials  to  Benin  to inspect  the  missionary  work  every 

five to ten years. One of such visit was made in 1651 by Rev. Father Joseph to Benin 

City.  Chief Egharevba wrote that he did everything possible to obtain an audience with 

the Oba, but all his efforts were fruitless. 

He  succeeded  however,  in  sending  a  letter  from  the  Pope  in  Rome  to  the  Oba 

through  one  of  the  chiefs,  who  promised  that  he  would  deliver  the  letter  to  the  Oba 

personally.  Some days later he told Father Joseph that the Oba had read the latter and 

that an audience was unnecssary. 

Being  disappointed,  Rev.  Father  Joseph  returned  to  Ughoton  the  Port  of  Benin 

after a whole month.  Rev. Fr.Gavonzi who came with Rev.Father Joseph wrote about the 

failure, and why the audience was not granted by the Oba was simply because, he was 

told, they were warned by the prediction of an oracle that one of the kings of Benin would 

die at the hands of the European.  This prediction came to past with the dethronment and 

deportation of Oba Ovonramwen to Old Calabar by the British in September 1897. 

Furthermore,  the  Capuchin  priests  were  also  under  the  impression  that  officials 

blocked the Oba’s independent judgment. They saw him under the sway of an old man, a 

great magician, whose advice was essential before the king made any decisions. While 

they thought he might want to become a Christian, they believed that the palace officials 

who  called  ‘Veadores’    prevented  their  message  getting  through,  though  one  cannot  be 

sure  whether  or  not  this  was  simply  a  means  of  putting  them  off  without  making  a 

permanent break with the missionaries. 
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The  Spanish  Capuchin  Mission  Fathers  who  were  in  Benin  City,  on  August  10, 

1651, had problem getting an audience with the Oba Ahenzae. Unfortunately, they had 

come to Benin during the Igue festival. 

The following extract is a description of the Igue festival then by Father Felipe de 

Hijar' one of the Spanish Capuchin Mission Fathers  “The chief men of the city who, the 

 natives say, number more than two thousand, were entering the palace, all wearing the 

 various  costume  appropriate  to  the  ceremony.  They  went  in  until  they  filled  the  four 

 courtyards of the palace., and as it was now one o'clock and the palace was crowded and 

 we entered the first court yard. Among those who were watching us was a venerable old 

 man who, by outward appearance, seemed a veritable St. Peter. He made a sign that we 

 should follow him. We were amazed because we had never seen him before that moment, 

 and  also  because  the  negroes  had  always  taken  care  that  we  should  not  see  the 

 sacrifices.  

 In  the  end  we  went  with  the  old  man  from  one  court  yard  to  another  until  we 

 reached the last one where, of his own accord, he told us to stand under the gallery of the 

 courtyard.  In the middle of the gallery we found a table  on which  lay the scimitars that 

 were used to decapitate five men and five animals of every species found in that country. 

 They  performed  their  ceremonies,  finished  their  cries;  then  the  great  men  started  to 

 dance; and the King with them, making a turn of the courtyard so that they caught sight of 

 us." 

According to the dynastic traditions, Oba Ahenzae refused to see any white man, 

because earlier, Oba Ewuare Ogidigan had predicted that, an Oba of Benin would die in 

the hands of the white man. 

The  Spanish  Capuchin  Missionaries  were  promptly  expelled  from  Benin  City,  for 

seeing what they were not supposed to have seen. They were dumped at Warrigi (modern 

Warri) and warned never to return to Benin City. 

The Capuchins monks are a branch of the Roman Catholic order of Franciscans, 

so  designated  from  the   cappuccio  “cowl”  worn  by  them  as  their  headdress.  The  Italian 
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monk Matteo da Bascio founded the branch in 1528 at Montefalco in Umbria to restore the 

literal observance of the Rule of St. Francis. An order of Capuchin nuns, properly a branch 

of the Poor Clare order, was founded in Naples in 1538. 

Oba Akenzae reigned I661 -1669A.D. 

n  spite  of  the  succession 

crisis,  Benin  was  still  the 

I most powerful states of 

West Africa and Europeans knew it 

in  the  17th  century  as  the  Great 

Benin.  The  Benin  colonies  of 

Lagos and Badagry were both still 

major port cities of the empire. 

After his coronation, Oba Akenzae 

encouraged  Portuguese  trade  and 

missionary  activities  to  shore  up 

the fortunes of his kingdom.                             Benin Empire in the 17th. Century 

Competition among European merchants on the Gold Coast intensified in the 17th 

century. In 1637 the Dutch invaded and took control of the Portuguese fortress at Elmina. 

Farther  west,  the  Dutch  seized  another  Portuguese  castle  at  Axim  in  1642.  At  Cape 

Coast, the British captured a Dutch stronghold in 1665. Ultimately, the British, Danish, and 

Dutch emerged as the dominant European powers on the coast. 

The aggressiveness with which European merchants competed on the coast was 

not due solely to a profitable gold, ivory, cloth and slave trade. By the 18th century the 

Atlantic  slave  trade,  supplying  African  slaves  to  European  plantation  colonies  in  North 

America,  South America,  and  the  Caribbean,  had  become  a  vast  enterprise.  The slave 

trade subsequently came to dominate commercial activities in the area from Gold Coast to 

the Benin River, as more than 40 European slave-trading fortresses dotted the coast. 
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Dutch Revolt against Spanish Rule 

The political disaffection between the Low Countries and Spain coincided with the 

Protestant  revolt  against  the  Roman  Catholic  Church,  which  was  the  state  church  of 

Spain.  Calvinism,  a  Protestant  movement,  rapidly  gained  ground  during  this  period;  its 

adherents established in the Low Countries a well-organized church that was prepared to 

challenge the Roman Catholic Church, particularly the Inquisition, a church institution that 

sought to control heresy. 

In 1566 riots in which mobs destroyed images in Catholic churches spread across 

the  country.  In  response,  a  wrathful  Philip  sent  to  The  Netherlands  Spanish  troops 

commanded by Fernando Álvarez de Toledo, Third Duke of Alba. The excessively harsh 

policies of the duke and of the Inquisition resulted in open revolt in the Low Countries. 

William I, the Silent, prince of Orange, who was one of the principal noblemen of 

the region, led the revolt. Initially unsuccessful, the Dutch then concentrated their efforts in 

the  north.  After  William’s  naval  supporters,  called  the  Sea  Beggars, seized  the  Holland 

port of Brill (Brielle) in 1572, the rebels took control of most northern towns, which became 

the bases of the revolt 

William tried to maintain the unity of north and south but was unable to hold the 

north  against  the  brilliant  campaigns  of  reconquest  led  by  a  new  Spanish  commander, 

Alessandro Farnese. 

In 1579, the Union of Utrecht, an anti-Spanish alliance of all northern and some southern 

territories, was formed. The union signified the final divergence of the northern part of the 

Low Countries, which later became The Netherlands, from the southern part, which later 

became Belgium. The Union of Utrecht became the nucleus of the present Dutch nation 

In 1581 the Dutch provinces within the Union of Utrecht proclaimed their independence 

from Spain. Subsequently, the new nation suffered a series of reverses in the war with 

Spain, sustaining a major loss when William the Silent was assassinated in 1584. By 1585 

the  Spanish  had  reconquered  practically  all  the  south,  including  the  important  port  of 

Antwerp. 
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Fernando Álvarez de Toledo, 3rd duke of Alba, acted as the 

Spanish governor of the Netherlands from 1567 to 1573. He 

was a merciless ruler, who condemned and executed about 

18,000  people  and  confiscated  their  property.  Venetian 

painter Titian created this portrait of the duke of Alba, which 

belongs to the House of Alba Foundation in Madrid, Spain 

Fernando Álvarez de Toledo Duke of Alba  

Eventually, however, the tide of war turned in favor of 

the  Dutch.  From  1585  to  1587  English  troops  were  sent  overseas  to  aid  the  insurgent 

cause,  and  in  1588  the  English  destroyed  the  great  Spanish  Armada,  a  victory  that 

drastically curtailed the ability of Spain to wage war abroad. The seven provinces in the 

Union of Utrecht were cleared of Spanish troops by 1600. 

From 1609 to 1621 a truce was in effect between the Spanish and the Dutch, but 

the  war  subsequently  dragged  on  until  1648,  when  the  Spanish  signed  the  Treaty  of 

Münster,  by  which  the  sovereignty  of  the  Dutch  Republic  of  the  United  Provinces  was 

recognized. The republic thus severed all theoretical ties with Spain and the Holy Roman 

Empire and became one of the great powers on the Continent, a republic in the midst of 

monarchies. 

As  result  of  the  above,  the 

Dutch  started  to  attack  Spanish 

Possessions  globally  There  were 

also  attacks  on  Portuguese 

holdings  on  the  Guinean  Coast 

because  the  union  between 

Portugal  and  Spain.  These  wars 

between the European nations were 

recorded  in  Benin  Artworks 

especially in the ivory carvings. 
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Oba Akengboi reigned 1669-1675 A.D. 

ba Akengboi succeeded to the throne about 1669 A.D..  Though he had a 

short reign of six years, his reign was peaceful throughout.  Oba Akengboi 

O had dread locks and wore his hair long like a priest. He was nicknamed Oba 

N’Agbiyagha which means “The Oba with dreadlocks”.   Chief Egharevba wrote that Oba 

Akengboi was loved, honoured, feared and respected by all throughout his reign. 

   Oba Akenkpaye r. 1675 -1684 A.D. 

ba Akenpkaye was select by the Ihogbe to succeed Akengboi. 

As early as 1644 the Dutch had opened a factory at Arboh as an alternative 

O to Ughoton, the chief Benin port. Arboh was a new settlement on the main 

Benin  River  which  appears  to  have  been  populated  mainly  by  Ijos,  although  it  was 

governed in the king’s name by chiefs from Benin City. 

During the reign of Oba Akenpkaye most of the king’s powers were been usurped 

by  his officials. This usurpation of the royal prerogatives by the administration was not 

without its challenges, however. 

Benin dynastic tradition claims that Oba Ahenkpaye tried to reassert royal control 

over the administration principally by refusing to pay coronation fees and re-centralizing 

other fees in his own hands. This action appears to have met with united resistance from 

the administration, which had him dethroned 

The Dutch  

By the end of the 17th century, the Dutch had succeeded the Portuguese in the 

domination of the West African Trade. The Dutch were serious and determined to control 

the African trade. They armed their boats and captured Portuguese forts along the coast. 

The drive which had led to the development of a complex canal and lock system to control 
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flooding in their country as early as the 15th century, led them to dominate the Portuguese 

trade. 

By  the  17th  century  the  Dutch  had  a  forty  boat  fleet  which  traded  on  the  West 

African Coast year round. This fleet belonged to the Dutch West India Trading Company. 

This  company,  a  national  venture,  was  well-organized  and  well-funded,  unlike  the 

ventures of the other European countries. At this point in time, the trading expeditions of 

the other countries were controlled by individuals who had no success in making inroads 

into  the  Portuguese  dominated  trade.  The  Dutch  also  succeeded  in  replacing  the 

Portuguese  because  they  had  no  interest  in  colonizing  or  converting  the  people  to 

Christianity. The Dutch dominated the trade from 1600-1700. 



Oba Akengbedo reigned 1684-1689 A.D. 

Missionary  activities  encouraged.  More  Benins  joined  the  Christian 

faith. 



Oba Oreoghene reigned 1689 - 1698  A.D. 

s a result of the newdevelopments, by mid-17th. century, the growth of a new 

chiefly administrative power was bolstered by important commercial changes. 

A Paula Ben Amos also wrote that the various Trade Guilds took charge of 

crucial commercial activities from the Benin the capital to hither land and from the trade 

guild  of  the  palace  to  new  entrepreneur  as  the  kingdom’s  exports  shifted  from 

commodities that the Oba traditionally controlled such as slaves, gum, ivory and pepper, 

to cloth which was widely produced throughout the kingdom and gave a large number of 

people potential access to wealth.. 

One of such commodities was textiles. Benin was the entreport of the West African 

Textile trade. It is on record that at the height of this trade, Benin exported over 150,000 



214 





yards of textile annually. The Manchester textile manufacturers started counterfeiting the 

Benin Cloth, as it was know to cut into the Brazillian and South America market. 

In 1692 during this reign, Emissaries from Pope Pius xii visited Benin. 

Oba Ewuakpe      reigned 1699 - 1712  A.D.   

n  Benin  Oral  tradition,  Oba  Ewuakpe  is  a  fascinating  figure  and  he  emerge  in 

Benin  history  after  a  long  period  of  internal  instability  brought  on  by  a  crisis  in 

I royal succession. His genealogical background is very unclear. 

According to different traditions recorded by both Chief(Dr) J.U. Egharevba in 1968 

and Talbot in 1929, he was either the son of Akennuzama or brother of Akenzama and the 

dynastic tradition says that he was either asked by his father to take over the throne or 

won it through a struggle according to Macrae-Simpson who wrote in 1936. 

Chief Ihama of the Ihogbe royal genealogists insisted that 

Ewuakpe  was  from  the  egbe’kan;  that  is  those  who  are 

not in the direct royal line of descent. 

Paula  Ben  Amos  described  Oba  Ewuakpe  as  a  very 

different  character  from  his  fifteenth-  and  sixteenth-

century predecessors, who appear in Benin oral history as 

ferocious warriors, powerful magicians, and lusty men. 

Oba  Ewuakpe,  in  contrast,  is  depicted  in  the  lore  as  a 

gentle soul, somewhat moody, given to solitary playing of 

the  bow  lute;  akpata,  which  according  to  Benin  tradition 

was introduced into Benin by him. 

Oba Ewuakpe   

Oba Ewuakpe  was thrust into office by his father, Akenuzama, who had declined 

the offer to be king on the grounds of old age. The offer had been made to Akenuzama by 

the Ihogbe, after his cousin, Oba Ore’Oghene, who had no heir joined the ancestors. 
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His birth name was Idova, but was hurriedly re-named Ehennegha by divinational 

directive  before  the  Ihogbe  can  present  him  to  the  Uzama  elders  for  crowning. 

Furthermore,  he  was  too  young,  inexperienced  and  impatient  for  the  awesome  task 

ahead. 

These led to a series of problems for him. His first problem was that he could not 

offer propitiatory rites at the Obaś ancestral shrine as required by tradition because his 

father was still alive and has not attained the status ancestor yet. Soon into his reign as 

required, Oba Ewuakpe installed his mother, Ewebonoza, Iy’Oba at her Uselu palace,. 

Iy’oba Ewebonoza was hated because she was a Slaver and a Slave trader who 

bought and sold Benin adult males slaves. She was said to have organized slave raids 

even within Benin territories. 

Eventually, when she died, Oba Ewuakpe further compounded these problems by 

wantonly ordering numerous human sacrifices. In fact, the illegal sacrifices were so many 

that the people rebelled. This was to provide her with the level of comfort she had become 

accustomed  to  as  Queen  mother,  he  sacrificed  humans,  a  great  number  of  them,  to 

continue to attend to her needs in the ethereal world. 

Though this may have been an attempt by a weak king to show his power over his 

subjects’ lives, in any case, the result was disastrous for Oba Ewuakpe. 

The chiefs stopped attending meetings in Oba palace neither would they provide 

him with tributes of food and sundry materials nor supply upkeep of the royal buildings. 

The people of Benin led by Iyase Ode had revolted and laid siege on the palace, 

flinging its gates open. The palace staff and his hundreds of wives took flight excepting 

Iden, one of his wives, who refused to return to her parentś home at Oka village. 

Rejected by his subjects and abandoned by his friends, Oba Ewuakpe was forced 

to relocate to Ikoka, his mother’s village, where he descended to so lowly a status that he 

had to do the village’s communal manual labor. The humiliation was so much; he cursed 

the people of Ikoka village and sneaked back to his palace. 
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The palace roofs were leaking badly from neglect. weeds and crawling insects had 

taken residence. He cleared some space for his wife and himself to stay to think of what to 

do next and lay their heads for the night. 

The following morning, Iden took the few articles of vanity she had, and sold them 

at the near-by Oba market. She used the money she raised, to travel to Agbor to recruit a 

reputable seer. 

The oracle had recommended a make-believe ceremony and human sacrifice. 

The  diviner  had  said  that  Ewuakpe  could  return  to  power  only  if  he  offered  a 

human sacrifice, an act he was unable to perform, as he no longer possessed slaves or 

prisoners. 

Since they were not in a state to capture any human for the sacrifice, Iden talked 

her  husband  into  allowing  her  to  give  her  life to  save  the  throne,  as long  as  her  grave 

would not be ste pped upon by passers-by and market women. 

The faithful Iden, volunteered, and on her self-immolation, Oba Ewukpe was able 

to  gain  the  support  of  the  spirit  world  With  this  backing,  he  then  set  out  to  restore  his 

political authority, which he was finally able to do by reaching an agreement with powerful 

chiefs. 

Olio Iden 

lio  iden  was  a  consort  of  Oba  Ewuakpe.  Olio  Iden  carved  a  niche  for 

herself  and  established  her  place  in  Benin  history  for  eternity  for  her 

O faithfulness through her supreme sacrifice. 

Iy’oba Ewebon’oza Oba Ewuakpe’s mother, a Slaver and a Slave trader 

who  bought and sold adult males slaves, was hated by all. Eventually, when she died, 

Oba Ewuakpe further compounded his problems by wantonly ordering numerous human 

sacrifices.  In fact, the sacrifices were so many that the people rebelled. 



Though this may have been an attempt by a weak king to show his power over his 

subjects’  lives.  In  any  case,  the  results  were  disastrous  for  Oba  Ewuakpe.  The  Benin 

people  had  revolted  against  their  king.  The  chiefs  stopped  attending  meetings  in  Oba 
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palace  neither  would  they  provide  him  with  tributes  of  food  and  sundry  materials  nor 

supply upkeep of the royal buildings. 







Rejected  by  his  subjects,  Oba  Ewuakpe  was  force  to  relocate  to  Ikoka,  his 

mother’s village, where he descended to so lowly a status that he had to do the village’s 

communal manual labor. There at Ikoka and in the midst of his calamity, a diviner told him 

that he could return to power only if he offered a human sacrifice, an act he was unable to 

perform,  as  he  no  longer  possessed  slaves  or  prisoners.  The  oracle  proffering  human 

sacrifice as the only solution added to his predicament. Lacking even the barest means to 

survive form day to day, the possibility of procuring such a sacrifice was remote. 



This was when Olio Iden the faithful one offered herself as the sacrificial victim and 

transcended immortality. Of course , Oba Ewuakpe refused her offer.  Oloi Iden was so 

consistent in her insistence, that he eventually succumbed. 



The  faithful  Oloi  Iden,  a  great  woman  carried  out  her  selfless  sacrifice  and  Oba 

Ewukpe was able to gain the support of the spirit world. With this backing, he then set out 

to restore his political authority. He was finally able to do that by reaching an agreement 

with powerful chiefs. In exchange for revoking the law of atoro whereby the king received 

all the chiefs’ property upon their death, Oba Ewuakpe was given the right to choose his 

own  successor  and,  indeed,  to  establish  the  rule  of  succession.  He  re-instituted  the 

ancient  primogeniture  law  and,  in  so  doing,  established  a  limit  to  the  scope  of  the 

succession disputes that had ravaged the Benin monarchy for many years. 



When Oba Ewuakpe was eventually restored to the Benin throne about 1700 and 

he kept the vows he took that who and what so ever shall step on Olio Iden’s grave would 

be  sacrificed  on  the  spot.  These  royal  vows  were  sustained  till  1897  when  the  Benin 

kingdom was overthrown by the British imperialist. 
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Chapter Two 

The Re-establishment of Primogeniture Law 


In exchange for revoking the law of atoro (atu’ere) whereby the king received all 

the chiefs’ property upon their death, Oba Ewuakpe was given the right to choose his own 

successor and, indeed, to re-establish the rule of succession. He re-instituted the ancient 

primogeniture  law  and,  in  so  doing,  established  a  limit  to  the  scope  of  the  succession 

disputes that had ravaged the Benin monarchy for many years. 



In Benin oralture, Oba Ewuakpe is presented as solitary and in personality, forced 

to suffer the worst social fate of all, humiliation. The proper exercise of authority and the 

maintenance of dignity are crucial to Benin expectations of kingship, as is well expressed 

in the proverb, “The leopard is never so hungry that it will eat leaves.” 

The paradox of Oba Ewuakpe is that he sank to lower depths than had any other 

monarch before him, and yet on his return he restored the very monarchy itself. 

Oba Ozuere  r, 1712 -1713A.D 

fter Oba Ewuakpe joined the ancestors, conflict broke out between the sons 

over succession to the throne. The younger, Ozuere (also called ovbiozuere), 

A was aided by Iyase’Ode, who had earlier led the rebbellion against Oba 

Ewuakpe.  According to Egharevba, Ode had become the Iyase soon after Oba Ewuakpe 

assumed the throne.  “He was a great  warrior,  very powerful and renowned through his 

victories and other exploits”. 

It was the custom for one of the great chiefs to act as guardians for royal sons and 

Ode  had  undertaken  this  responsibility  for  Oba  Akenzua.  In  1973,  Bradbury  wrote  that 

Ode was also the guardian for Ehenua, a warrior later became the Ezomo.  The Ezomo 

title was created during the Ogiso dynasty and was conferred on any great warrior as a 

non hereditary title. The Original Edion whose titles were hereditary are Oliha, Edohen, 
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Ero and Eholo Nire while the Ezomo title was made hereditary in 1713 by Akenzua 1st as 

a reward to the great service rendered him by Ehenua  

Since the sixteenth century after Oba Ehengbuda had established the custom that 

a victorious Iyase must not  return to the capital.  Accordingly, Iyase Ode then retired to 

Ugha village in Ehor District. 

According to Egharevba, after the death of the Oba, the Benin chiefs threw aside 

the pact they had  earlier made with Oba Ewuakpe and the chiefs secretly solicited the 

approval Iyase N’Ode at Ugha to place the second son of Oba Ewuakpe who reigned as 

Ozuere on the throne of Benin. Iyase Ode granted the request because of the ill feeling he 

had towards Akenzua I for having had illicit intercourse with one of his wives. 

Though  Oba  Ewuakpe  re-established  the  primogeniture  law  thereby  ensuring  a 

smooth succession. The second son of Oba Ewuakpe name Ozuere took the throne with 

the support of Ode the Iyase. 

During this War of Succession the European merchants especially the Dutch and 

Portuguese took sides. Akenzua 1st was supported by the Ezomo Ehenua and the Dutch 

who supplied him the weapons notably the gun power and cannons. Meanwhile Ozuere 

was supported by the Portuguese. 

When  Oba  Akenzua  I  finally  took  his  rightful  throne  he  banned  the  Portuguese 

merchants  from  the  Benin  Kingdom  and  the  Dutch  became  the  main  operators  of  the 

Benin European trade. The Dutch now fully entrenched as the main factor in the Benin 

sphere of influence built new factories and revived the textile trade. 

While  Oba  Ozuere  ruled  the  Portuguese  with  the  Oba’s  permission  and  re-

established  new  churches  and  new  covert  in  their  thousand  were  baptized.  The 

Portuguese paid dearly for their blunder in supporting Ozuere in his successful bid for the 

Benin throne. They lost forever their favoured position on the Benin Empire. 

In  Egharevba’s  description,  the  civil  war  lasted  “many  weeks  which  is  a  sharp 

contrast to the many years recorded in the European documents. Eventually, Ozuere was 

defeated and the usurper fled to the court of his maternal uncle, Ejima of Okuluhen, and 

from there he went to Uhen in Isi. 
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Though he was banished it did not end the strife as Iyase n’Ode, continued to have 

hostile  relations  with  the  Oba.  Having  lost  out  in  the  political  struggle,  the  Iyase  n’Ode 

remained in exile, and after his death, Akenbo, a successful trader was invested with the 

title of the Iyase.  Akenbo was not a warrior, nor did he go to war, and until his death in 

1816, the function of Commander-in-Chief was taken over by the Ezomo. 

After much struggle, Ehenua finally killed Ozuere though in Egharevba’s version, 

Ozuere is struck down by a thunderbolt while in exile. Blackmun wrote that Ehenua used 

the knoweledge of poisons he had acquired as an elephant hunter and was able to outwit 

and killed the Iyase n’Ode. 

While  Oba  Ozuere  ruled  the  Portuguese  with  the  Obas  permission  and  re-

established  new  churches  and  new  covert  in  their  thousand  were  baptized.  The 

Portuguese paid dearly for their blunder in supporting Ozuere in his successful bid for the 

Benin throne. They lost forever their favoured commercial position in the Benin Empire. 

 

Oba Akenzua 1 reigned  1713 – 1735 A.D 

ba Ewuakpe did not have children until late in his reign and then he had two 

sons and the eldest of the two of Oba Ewuakpe, who later became  Oba 

O Akenzua 1, played an important role as an advisor to his father , urging him 

to revoke the law of atoro, thus making the kingdom “cool”. 

Oba Akenzua I was aided in his struggle against the rebels by  his mother, Iy’oba 

Ehasogie who hailed from Uvbe village, where  her father was a diviner in the Ifa system 

associated  with  the    Yoruba  deity  Ifa’Orunmila.    Uvbe  village  is  located  in  the  western 

territories  of  the  Benin  kingdom,  near  the  Akure  border,  a  location  that  undoubtedly 

facilitated the introduction of this Yoruba deity. 

In this way, Ifa became the first in a series of deities of Yoruba origin who were to 

help the various Benin mornachs combat their enemies. Oba Akenzua’s eventual success 

was due to his  mother’s occult interventions on his behalf. Akenzua as the Edaiken grew 

up in his mother’s village. There is a special kind of palm tree the kernels of which are use 
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for oronmila shrines planted at Uvbe and Ihasogie took a kennel from there and gave   as 

Edaiken. This was how Oronmila came to Benin. 

Iy’oba Ehasogie helped her son by divining for him but she also offered sacrifice 

privately at the road junction and in the market  and to the night people to help her child 

secure  the  throne.    The  sacrifiices  at  the  road  junction  were  to  help  guard  against  the 

Iyase N’Ode.  The junction,  Ada N’ Ode,  is  until today a cursed place.  That  is the road 

junction  linking  roads  from  Ore  N’Okhua  road  to  the  Oba’s  palace  and  it  is  where  the 

Iyase  N’Ode  had  his  house.    No  person  lives  there  because  it’s  a  cursed  place.  Thus 

when funeral or chieftaincy titles processions go through the area they stop their singing 

and drumming till get past the neighbourhood. 

Upon assuming the throne, the elder son took the title Akenzua. 

According  to  Chief  Ihama  of  Igun  Eronmwon,  the  title  Akenzua  is  a  shortened 

version of an Edo phrase: A kon ze uwa, which means “a man has to appear modest and 

play  dumb  before  attaining  prosperity.  This  theme  is  related  to  the  notion  that  the  Oba 

must first suffer, must appear lowly before attaining the throne which is drawn from the 

paradigmatic story about the suffering of the great warrior and master of occult powers, 

Oba Akenzua’s ultimate success, according to Chief Ihama of Ihogbe, must be due to his 

being a reincarnation of one of the early, legitimate Obas, Otherwise he would never have 

been able to overcome this many obstacles.                                               

Another  and  more  direct  source  of  support  was  the 

powerful  warrior,  Ezomo  Ehenua.  According  to  Bradbury,  in 

the  Ezomo’s  family  the  story  exists  that  Ehenua  was  the 

illegitimate  first  son  of  Oba  Ewuakpe,  that  is,  he  was  born 

before  the  future  Oba  had  passed  through  the  appropriate 

rites.  Oba  Ewuakpe  had  explained  this  to  Akenzua  and 

instructed him to treat Ehenua kindly if they should ever meet.  



Oba Akenzua 1 
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Traditions  within  the  Ezomo  family  collected  by  Bradbury  in  the  1950s  describe 

how Oba Akenzua came to rely on Ehenua in his continuing struggles against the Ozuere 

faction.  In return for his assistance, Oba Akenzua I made him the Ezomo and eventually 

agreed to make the title hereditary in his line. Up until this time, the title had been given at 

the discretion of the Oba to any notable warrior, but Oba Akenzua now made it hereditary.     

While Ehenua was was a ward of Iyase N’Ode, a diviner warned Ode that Ehenua 

would kill him someday and so he decided to kill Ehenua first. Learning of this, Ehenua 

fled to the Ishan area and later to Isi district. 

Bradbury wrote that as the Ezomo, Ehenua went on reconquering and expanding 

the  kingdom  and  it  was  largely  through  his  efforte  that  Akenzua  became  one  of  the 

wealthiest and most powerful of Obas. 

In  the  oral  traditions,  the  reign  of  Oba  Akenzua  I  is  portrayed  as  a  time  of 

tremendous prosperity. According to Egharevba, Akenzua I was one of the riches kings 

that ever sat on the throne of Benin, and because of his wealth was nickname Akenzua 

N’isonorho; Akenzua the rainy sky. Because of the peace and prosperity of his reign he 

arranged  a  time  of  festivity  and  dancing  for  the  whole  nation.  Chief  Ihama  of  Ihogbe 

suggests that the appellation “the rainy sky is a metaphor for productivity of money, food, 

children, and trade, “all as plentiful as water in the sky.” While the claims for peace are not 

totally substantiated by the European documents, the reference to wealth certainly is, as 

we have seen. 

Ivory  assumed  both  economic  and  artistic  importance  under  the  reigns  of  Obas 

Akenzua I and Eresoyen. New sculptural forms, such as this ivory side-blown trumpet or 

akohen were created under their sponsorship. 



Oba Akenzua I was able to capitalize on the resumption of the ivory trade, which 

probably  started  during  his  father’s  reign  and  played  some  role  in  his  successful 

negotiations with the Chiefs. The fact that European records indicate that Oba Akenzua I 

resumed  the  sale  of  male  slaves  was  probably  a  sign  of  his  military  success  and  his 

abundant prosperity. 
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During  the  war  of  succession  European  merchants  especially  the  Dutch  and 

Portuguese took different sides. Akenzua 1st was supported by the Ezomo Ehenua and 

the Dutch supplied the weapons notably the gun power and cannons. Ozuere was finally 

defeated and fled to Uhen where he died. 

Oba  Akenzua  1  took  his  rightful  throne  and  banned  the  Portuguese  merchants 

from the Kingdom and the Dutch became the main operation of the Benin European trade. 

The Dutch was fully entrenched on the main factor in the Benin sphere of influence built 

new factories and revived the textile trade. 



Oba  Akenzua  I  was  able  to  use  this  prosperity  to  build  royal  legitimacy  and  he 

propped up his military strength by winning the allegiance of two important military leaders 

in two separate chiefly associations; Ezomo of the Uzama n’Ihinron and the Ologbose of 

the Eghaevbo n’Ore. He made both titles hereditary, providing a stability of successions. 

However, these two commanders were still dependent on him 

because they did not have standing armies at their command. 

Recruitment was done by the Oba. 

Bradbury in 1973 further points out that it was customary for a 

new king to create two new titles in the Eghaevbo n’Ore order 

and in each palace association,  so he could  give immediate 

rewards to his closest and most ambitious henchmen.” 

Ikega’Obo of Oba Akenzua 1           

Oba  Akenzua  I  restored  stability  and  directed  renovation  of  the  town,  Including 

organizing  the  streets  in  a  more  systematic  way.  According  to  the  Ihama  of  Igun 

Eronmwon,  he was “the first good surveyor” His concern with establishing order on  the 

socio-political level centered on insuring that his father’s rulings were upheld. 

Oba Akenzua I extended this concern to the social realm by “giving an order to the 

Benin people to organised their families well so senior sons are not thrown out  of their 

homes under any conditions. Whenever an inheritance case came to the palace, Akenzua 

1 always supported the senior son to support his own position”. 
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The  warrior  Ogbonmwan  was  made  the  first  Ologbose  in  Benin  history. 

Ogbonmwan, with Ehennua; who was later rewarded with the title of Ezomo, were the two 

war commanders of the loyalist troops of Akenzua I during the civil war between him and 

Ozuere the usurper in early eighteenth century. 

After the war, Oba Akenzua I appointed OgbonmwanIyase; Commander-in-Chief of 

the  army  in  place  of  the  Iyase  n’Ode.    The  incumbent  Iyase  revolted,  leading  almost 

immediately to another war, and the Oba was forced to drop the idea. 

Both Ogbonmwan and Ehennua had important role to play in state administration 

after  the  civil  war  as  well  as  being  the  two  top  military  commanders  at  that  time.  In  a 

sense, an  esprit de corps  came into existence, which led to firm and conscious, intimate 

confidence  between  the  two  war  commanders.    In  1818,  both  the  Ezomo  and  the 

Ologbose led the institutions of the state. Akenzua I was conscious of the implications of 

his action in a volatile political environment, and therefore, did not desire to drift the state 

from  political  instability  to  another  civil  war,  the  consequences  of  which  could  not  be 

imagined. 

Benin  Army  in  the  Akure  campaign;  though  victorious  in  the  war,  both  died  on 

different days on their return journey to Benin City. 



Oba Eresoyen  reigned 1735 –1750 A.D 

he internal dynastic conflicts were over by the time the eldest son of  Oba 

Akenzua I took over the throne with the title Oba Eresoyen. Oba Eresoyen’s 

T reign was a time of relative peace. Oral traditions record collaborates 

Egharevba writing that there were one record of a rebellion by the Ika people of Agbor and 

some minor disputes to be settled in Aboh. The two chiefdoms are small polities in the 

eastern parts of the Benin Empire. 



In her book Paula Ben Amos wrote that Oba Eresoyen’s relationships with powerful 

chiefs  were  stable.  Ezomo  Ehenua  continued  to  support  the  monarchy  and  was 

responsible for Benin’s success in Agbor. His son Ezomo Odia who fought for the Oba in 
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settling the Aboh dispute succeeded him.  Akenbor the Iyase of Oba Eressoyen’s reign, 

preoccupied  himself  with  economic  matters  and  the  not  challenge  the  oba  politically. 

According to Chief J.U. Egharevba in his book “A Short History of benin”, Iyase Akenbor 

was one of the wealthiest men in Benin at that period. Chief Egharevba also said that he 

was instrumental in developing trade into the Ekiti region. 

Iy’oba Imarhiaede 

  Paula Ben Amos wrote that like the mother of Oba Akenzua 1, Oba Eresoyen’s mother, 

Iy’oba Imarhiaede, brought special ritual knowledge to his assistance. In 

her case, it was based on the power of Olokun, god of the great water. 

Imarhiaede came from Igue’Iye village in Iyekorhionmowon, a center for 

Olokun worship, where her father was the Odion’owere. 



Iy’oba Imarhiaede                                          

She was a high- ranking olokun priestess with great abilities: it was said that she 

could saen-ibo; answer riddle-the supreme test of proficiency administered by the Oba to 

priests  and  priestesses  wishing  to  prove  their  skill.  Iy’oba  Imarhiaede  was  a  spiritual 

advisor to her son in both trade and monetary matters and helped him build his house of 

money. 

Indeed,  wealth seems to be the keynote of  Oba Eresoyen’s reign.  In a personal 

communication with Chief Obamwonyi of Ogbelaka related a story about Oba Eresoyen’s 

house of money:  Oba Eresoyen’s once quarreled with Olokun, the god of the sea, and 

closed  the  way  so  Olokun  could  not  get  water.  Through  the  mediation  of  a  palm  wine 

tapper Eresoyen agreed to release the water. As a reward Olokun heaped up cowries to 

the  sky  for  Eresoyen  and  They  were  packed  to  the  palace.  As  a  result  Eresoyen’s 

decorated the wall and floors of his Palaces with cowries. His appellation then became: 

Eresoyen who built a house of money ;  Eresoyen bo owa igho 

With issues of descent and legitimacy now under control, Oba Eresoyen’s turned to 

strengthening  the  basis  of  the  monarchy.  He  gave  substance  the  ancient  ideological 
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insistence  on  the  Oba  godlike  powers.  Thus  in  his  reforms,  Oba  Eresoyen’s  was  not 

creating a totally new ideology of monarchy but strengthening the old one. Never the less, 

in so diong, he introduced innovations into  the religion political system. 

In her book, Paula Ben-Amos wrote that these took three main forms. First, Oba 

Eresoyen re-organized the ‘Ihen’ the Edo village hero-deities by secluding them from each 

other  and  placing  them  in  the  area  where  they  now  can  found.    The  Ihen  are  great 

warriors,  herbalists  and  the  like  who  at  different  points  in  Benin  history  resisted 

encroachment of imperialistic tendencies of the reigning Oba and fled to the countryside, 

where  they  tranformed  into  river  or    other  natural  feature  and  became  the  spiritual 

protectors of surrounding villages. 

Thus on a political level these Ihen represent rural seats of power and resistance. 

Keeping  these  separate  and  “in  their  place”  would  be  a  sound  strategy  for  controlling 

dissent.  Secondly,  Oba  Eresoyen’s  gave  an  order  that  everyone  should  worship  the 

creator God, that is, that the worship should no longer be concentrated in the hand of the 

four  Ohen’Osa  namely  Ohen’Osa  N’Idunmwun’Erie,  Ohen’Osa  N’Ovah,  Ohen’Osa 

N’Ogbelaka and Ohen’Osa N’Akpakpava. 

In the ideology of divine kingship, there is an intimate connection between the well 

being of the Oba and the state of the world. By unifying the populace through the common 

worship  of  the  primordial,  peaceful  creator  God,  Eresoyen’s  was  strengthening  the 

kingship by reinforcing its cosmic base.  Lastly, Oba Eresoyen elevated Uwen and Ora, 

the Benin royal deities and handed their worship over to the high priests Osa and Osuan.” 

Uwen and ora, as discussed earlier, are deities said to have accompained to Benin 

from  the  palace  of  Oghene  N’Uhe.    They  are  associated  with  terrifying  cosmological 

phenomena and human fertility. The promotion of 

their  priests  to  a  central  ritual  role  in  the  palace 

emphasized  the      Oba’s  awesome  supernatural 

power 

and 

capacity 

for 

violence. 

In  the  dynastic  traditions,  Oba  Eresoyen  was 

master  politician  who  successfully  isolated 
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potential sources of opposition while he enhanced both his beneficent and fearsome links 

with the cosmos.        Ododua Masks                              

Ugie’Ododua is part of Ague’Osa ritual, which has existed before the time of Oba 

Ewuare. Oba Eresoyen essentially revamped the ritual, which previously had been without 

masks. Oba Eresoyen took seven dancers from the fourteen that performed for the Ovbo 

deity  in  Uzalla  village  and  brought  them  to  Benin.  He  named  the  ritual,  Ugie’Ododua, 

added the Uzalla dancer, introduced brass masks, and changed the format of the dance; 

putting the high priests Osa and Osuan in charge added the Ogbe N’Aka guild to provide 

the music and  song.  Four masks; two male and two female were placed with the  High 

Priest Osa resident at the Igun’Eronmwon quarters and three; two male and one female 

with the High Priest Osuan. 

In  the  process  of  introducting  the  Ododua 

ritual, Oba Eresoyen went beyond Oba esigie 

in  Benin  history  to  the  very  beginning  of  the 

royal line. 

The Ododua Festival 



With  the  renewal  at  this  period  of  intensive  trade  with  the  Dutch  wealth  was 

created. From their colonies in the East Indies, the Dutch imported into Benin kingdom 

vast quanties of cowrie shells and in the process almost caused very serious inflation. 

The Dutch company’s records, indeed, make it clear that a considerable amount of 

brass was imported.  Oba Eresoyen forged artistic and ritual links with earlier period of the 

monarchy  and  with  its  most  basic  sanction.  In  particular,  he  turned  to  his  illustrious 

predecessor, Oba Esigie. 

According  to  Paula  Ben-Amos,  Oba  Esigie’s  reign  is  considered  a  high  point  of 

Benin  history,  a  time  of  imperial  expansion  and  artistic  creativity.  There  are  indeed 

parallels  between  the  two  Obas  as  both  ruled  over  kingdom  grown  wealthy  through 

European  trade.  In  each  reign,  brass  casting  flourished.  Oba  Eresoyen  is  said  to  have 

commissioned  a  brass  stool  in  the  exact  form  of  one  made  for  Oba  Esigie  by  the 
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Portuguese over 200 years earlier.  The only European 

visitor to see such object prior to 1987 was Lieutenant 

John king, who visited Benin sometime between 1815 

and  1821  at  his  meeting  with  the  Oba.    These  two 

brass  stools  were  seen  by  British  trader  Cyril  Punch, 

who  first  came  to  Benin  in  1889  and  made  several 

subsequent visit. 

Brass Erhe 

In Oba Eresoyen’s reign, cowrie shells are imported in such great quantities that 

they  are  used  to  cover  the  interior  walls  of  important  buildings.  Ivory  becomes  an 

increasingly  important  medium  of  royal  art  and  court  artisans  create  intricately  carved 

armlets, tusks, staffs, and vessels. 

In  spite  of  the  cordial  relationship  with  the  Dutch  merchants,  a  harrowing  event 

took place.  The Dutchman,  Commandant Willem Hogg, who pulled a pistol and shot at 

Oba Oresoyen in 1735, while on a courtesy visit to the palace to discuss business matters 

with the Oba and his chiefs. 

After this incidence, Oba Eresonyen and later Obas became a little more careful 

about granting direct audience to European visitors. 



Oba Akengbuda  reigned 1750 A.D.-1804A.D.  

The  year  was  1753;  Oba  Akengbuda's  armies  had  vanquished  the  kingdom  of 

Oboro  Uku  to  avenge  the  murder  of  Adesuwa;  daughter  of  Ezomo  Ekenaza  but  his 

erstwhile allies the Enigie in the Iyeke'Orhionmwon were in a State of Rebellion. 

After almost two centuries, the children of Prince Elegbe now led by Emokpagbe 

the son of  Agboghidi Enogie of  Ugo N' Iyeke'Orhionmwon were once again reasserting 

their independence of Benin. 

Knowing the fruit of rebellion, Agboghidi fled in to the forest. The only recourse left 

was chosen, Agboghidi commited suicide by drowing on the advice of his wife Emokpolo. 
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With  the  capture  of  Ugo,  the  Benin  Army’s  objective  was  attained  less  the  decepitated 

head  of  the  rebel  Agbohiidi.  Emokpolo  was  captured  and  taken  to  Benin  alongside  the 

chiefs and Elders of Ugo and Ugboko chiefdoms as spoils of war.  The Oboro/Ogie’Ugo 

war was the last major conflict in Oba Akengbudas long reign – 1750-1804 AD 

A French captain J. F. Landolphe visited Benin during his reign in 1769 and 1787. 

In  1788  Captain  Landolphe  founded  a  factory  called  Barodo,  near  the  native  village  of 

Obobi  for  the  French  Compagnie  dOywher;  and  it  lasted  till  1792,  when  the  English 

destroyed it. 

In the early 1780s, the Irishman James Field Stanfield, an abolitionist, spent some 

time at a factory at Ughoton, where he observed that the subjects of the King seemed well 

off  and  content.  His  account  of  the  market  there  –  unusual  in  its  treatment  of  a  village 

outside the capital – portrays a thriving economy: 

At Ughoton, the markets were regular and well stocked: they teemed with luxuries 

unknown to Europeans. Their fishermen, hunters and husbandmen brought in their stores 

and  delicacies:  their  smiths,  carpenters,  and  weavers,  and  believe  me,  there  are  such 

among  them  displayed  their  curious  manufacturers.  Fowls,  fish,  fresh  and  dried 

provisions, fruits of the most delicious kind, various sorts of pepper and spices, potatoes, 

yams, plantains, calavances, cocoa nuts, sugarcane, purslane, callicoo, ocra, palm wine, 

and palm oil, were in plenty there. These added to native coral, mats of a most curious 

texture, Benin and Jaboe [Ijebu] cloths of beautiful colours, ivory, gold-dust, gums, woods, 

wax, cotton, and other commodities, proved t a demonstration the inexhaustible store of 

valuable articles, which they could substitute for the unnatural traffic in human flesh . 

A  little  later,  Labarthe,  who  accompanied  Landolphe  in  1790,  found  a  large  and 

peaceful capital city and a beautifully decorated palace. Wishing to demonstrate his power 

to the visitors, Oba Akengbuda laid out before them a lavish display: “all the riches of his 

realm in coral beads” 
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Adesuwa: A Symbol of Chastity 

bout 1755, Ekenaza the Ezomo of Uzebu and Deputy Commander In Chief of 

the  Benin  armies,  betrothed  his  beautiful  daughter  Adesuwa,  to  Oba 

A Akengbuda. About the same time the Obi of Oboro (modern Obulu’uku) came 

to Benin City for his investment and conferment as Ogie’Oboro by  Oba Akengbuda. 

In the course of performing his installation rites, he visited the Ezomo in his palace 

at  Uzebu.  It  was  Adesuwa  who  presented  the  kola  nut  to  the  visiting  dignitary.    Obi  of 

Oboro who was stricken by her great beauty that he became confused. He threw caution 

to  the  winds  and  made  advances  to  her  and  they  were  repulsed.  Unperturbed,  Obi  of 

Oboro  bought  some  goats  from  her  on  credit  before  he  returned  to  his  chiefdom.  On 

getting home, he resorted to woo her through diabolical means. 

Eventually,  Adesuwa  was  finally  lured  to  Oboro  where  the  Obi  murdered  her  as 

she defended her chastity and virtue. 

Consequently,  the  Obi  of  Oboro  paid  dearly  for  his  dastardly  act  with  his  life  and  the 

destruction of his Chiefdom. The hero of the Oboro Wars also revolted as predicted by 

Ogie’oboro. 

Knowing the fruit of the failure of his rebellion, Agboghidi the Ogie’Ugo fled in to the 

forest. The only recourse left was chosen, Agboghidi  committed suicide by drowing on 

the advice of him wife Emokpolo.  With the capture of Ugo, the Benin Army’s objective 

was attained less the decapitated head of the rebel Agbohiidi.  Emokpolo was captured 

and taken to Benin along side the chief and Elders of Ugo Ugboko as spoils of war. Oba 

Akengbuda  kept  Emokpolo  in  his  harem  where  she  also  committed  suicide  while  he 

ordered the execution of the Enigie who joined in the rebellion. 

The Ugo war was the last major conflict in Oba Akengbudas long reign; 1750AD to 

1804 AD . 

Labarthe, who accompanied Landolphe in 1790, found a large and peaceful capital 

city and a beautifully decorated palace. Wishing to demonstrate his power to the visitors, 

the Oba  Akengbuda laid out before them a lavish display: 'all the riches of his realm in 

coral  beads;    a  vivid  image  which  stands  in  sharp  contrast  to  that  of  his  seventeenth 
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century  predecessor,  Oba  Ahenzae,  who  gambled  away  all  the  royal  coral  beads  in 

games of dice. 



Oba Obanosa reigned 1804 A.D. – 1816 A.D. 

n his book “The Military System of Benin Kingdom”, Dr. Benson Osadolor wrote, 

“On the level of power politics, from the beginning of the nineteenth century to 

I the fall of Benin in 1897, political competition which found expressions in 

conflicts  and  rivalry  between  the  Oba  and  his  chiefs,  was  a  contributory  factor  to  the 

political  exigencies  of  the  period.  From  about  1804  to  1815  when  Obanosa  was  king, 

Benin witnessed events of  bloodbath that  inflicted seemingly irreparable damage to the 

society.” 

According  to  Benin  dynastic  records,  his  reign  was  ‘notorious  for  the  wholesale 

massacres that occurred. In fact, Oba Obanosa ordered the execution  of his own mother 

who had already been invested with the title of the Iy’oba at Uselu. 

Chief  Jacob  Egharevba  explains  that  ‘the  events  of  the  time  went  by  the  term 

“Okpughe”, in which countless lives were lost. Okpughe, meaning the ‘Great Spectacle’ 

led to an insurrection in about 1815. 

With  the  demise  of  Obanosa  in  1816,  the  outbreak  of  civil  war  represented  a 

complete  breakdown  of  the  political  process.  The  evidence  demonstrates  that  political 

competition  exacerbated  conflicts  among  different  political  groups.  Egharevba’s 

suggestion  that  the  cause  of  the  war  was  the  struggle  between  Prince  Erediauwa  and 

Prince  Ogbebor,  the  two  eldest  sons  of  the  assassinated  king,  is  to  oversimplify  the 

events which led to the civil war. 

The  massacre  of  ‘countless  lives’  during  the  reign  of  Obanosa  are  events  that 

reflected political instability that drifted the state to civil war. 
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Chapter Three 

Succesion Wars & Decline 


Ogbebor reigned 1816 A.D. 

ith  the  assassination  of  Oba  Obanosa,  his  two  sons,  Princes  Ogbebor 

and  Erediauwa  contested  for  the  throne.  Initially  Prince  Ogbebor  won 

W through the support of his maternal kin in Ogbe and Prince Erediauwa 

fled to Evbohimwin chiefdom in the Esan territories for safety because mother Omozogie 

a daughter of the Ezomo Ekenaza who was an Esan from Evbohimwin. 

Ogbebor, feeling insecure on the Benin throne, tried desperately to dislodge Prince 

Erediauwa from Evbohimwin. To effect his desire, he sent messengers to the Enije of the 

Esan chiefdoms with box loads of coral beads and cowries, to encourage them to hand 

over Prince Erediuwa to him or bring his head brought to him in an Ekpokin; the Benin 

leather box. 

Fortunately for the prince, his maternal uncle and a son of Ezomo Ekenaza led the 

supporters  of  Prince  Erediauwa  and  waylaid  the  messengers.  The  Uzebu  prince  killed 

many of them and gave the booty to Prince Erediauwa who distributed the coral beads 

and cowries to the Enijie in Esanland begging for their support and protection. 
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Oba Osemwenede reigned 1816 -1848A.D. 

n  the  ensuing  civil  war,  the  army  of  Oba  Ogbebor  was 

defeated  and  he  committed  suicide  by  blowing  up  the 

I palace to pieces with gunpowder. He had reigned for 

only eight months. 

At the head of a victorious army Prince Erediauwa marched 

into  Benin  City  and  ascended  the  Benin  throne  as  Oba 

Osemwende in 1816.                     Oba Osemwenede 

During the succession struggles with his brother Prince Ogbebor Ohenmwen Odia 

was  one  of  the  main  supporters  of  Prince  Erediauwa  course.  In  appreciation,  Oba 

Osemwende rewarded his supporters with powerful positions in the administration of the 

kingdom.  For  the  assistance  he  got  from  Uromi,  the Oba  also  granted  to  the  Onojie  of 

Uromi, the right to inherit the estate of any person who died childless within Uromi district. 

For his great loyalty, Oba Osemwende eventually elevated Ohenmwen to ultimate 

position  as  Iyase  of  Benin.    As  Iyase,  Ohenmwen  had  to  leave  the  Ogbe  quarters  as 

demanded  by  custom  and  built  his  new  abode  at  Ugbague  quarters.  In  spite  of  the 

relocation of Iyase N’Ohenmwen to Ugbague, their friendship waxed stronger. 

On the other hand, Ohenmwen who was invested with the title of the Iyase in about 

1816 by Oba Osemwende had good relationship with the king. Thus when in 1818 Iyase 

Ohenmwen  requested  to  undertake  the  Akure  campaign,  the  Oba  objected  on  the 

grounds that in the past, those junior to the Iyase in military command were the first to go 

to war. The Oba was correct but on a more critical appraisal of the situation, it is probable 

that  it  was  on  grounds  of  loyalty  and  friendship  that  the  Oba  objected;  for  if  Iyase 

Ohenmwen was ‘a thorn in his flesh’, the Akure campaign was an opportunity for the Oba 

to get rid of him. 

According  to  Benin  oral  history,  being  a  man  of  immeasurable  wealth,  Iyase 

N'Ohenmwen  invited  the  Oba  to  his  house.  At  the  Igi’owa  of  Iyase  N'Ohenmwen,  Oba 
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Osemwende beheld the great  wealth of  his iyase. A traditional account  says that  Iyase 

N'Ohenmwen coverd the en tire route from the palace to his house, a distance of almost 

one kilometer with the red flannel called Ododo in Benin. The same account said that after 

the royal visit, the Iyase N'Ohenmwen folded the bale, and along with the containers of 

cowrie  shells  and  the  male  and  female  slaves,  who  lined  the  route,  sent  them  as 

appreciation to the Oba Osemwende who had so honoured by coming into his household. 

The Iyase had the privilege of marrying the Oba’s eldest daughter. The Iyase had 

the  privilege  of  marrying  the  Oba’s  eldest  daughter  Thus  in  line  with  traditions,  Oba 

Osemwende gave his daughter Princess Aghayubini in marriage to Iyase N’Ohenmwen 

and  the  union  further  strengthened  the  great  friendship  existing  between  Oba 

Osemwende and Iyase N'Ohenmwen. 

According  to  Prof.  Ademola  Iyi-Eweka,  a  closer  examination  of  that  name 

Aghayubini would reveal that the name is an Itsekiri phrase-" The Ubini Lady or woman 

“i.e. the woman from Benin. An Itsekiri descriptive phrase has simply over powered her 

original  Edo  name,  to  the  extent  that  nobody  knows  anything  about  it  now.  Princess 

Aghayubini  was  a  very  wealthy  trader  among  the  Itsekiris,  from  whence  she  got  the 

money she used, is getting the throne for her brother, who became Oba Adolor. 

The Nupe Incursion into Benin Kingdom 

n the second half of the nineteenth century, the Nupe-Fulani jihadists invaded 

the northern limits of Benin Empire, forcing most of the Northern Edo groups to 

I pay regular tribute to the Emir of Bida.’  

Although the crumbling imperial authority of Benin was triggered by the crisis and 

succession war of the early nineteenth century, Bradbury points out that ‘the penetration 

of  European  commerce  through  Lagos  on  the  west,  and  up  the  Niger  on  the  east  was 

slowing whittling away the Benin trading hinterland and loosening the Oba Osemwende’s 

hold over his subject populations. 
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According to Odia Ofemun, in the 1830s, the Nupe-Fulani 

armies launched a war on two fronts, westwards against 

the  Yorubas  and  southwards  against  the  Edos  in  their 

crusade against the “heathens” of the forest region. 

While the Yorubas inflicted a crushing defeat on them at 

the  famous  battles  of  Oshogbo  spearheaded  by  the 

Ibadan forces in 1840 and later the British at Erinmope in 

the late 19th century, they had a field-day in the Kukuruku 

country. 

The  Nupe Calvary 

In  the  last  two  decades  of  the  century,  Benin  Empire  was  in  the  last  stages  of 

decline.    In 1818, the Akure-Benin War broke out. The war aim of Benin was to regain 

the territory and enforce the payment of tribute, for which Akure put up defensive fighting. 

The Benin army was led by three top war commanders namely, the Ezomo, the Ologbose 

and  the  Imaran,  and  two  other  Front  Commanders  -  Imadiyi  and  Oyodo.  The  Benin 

soldiers successfully suppressed the Akure revolt. 

Iyoba Omozogie was the daughter Ezomo Ekeneza the ruler of Uzebu a district of 

the Benin Metropolis. She carved a place for herself in Benin history when raised an army 

to aid her son Boa Osemwende during Benin’s reconquest of  Akure,  a vassal kingdom 

that  rebelled  against  Benin’s  central  authority  during  the  succession  struggles  between 

Oba Osemwende and his brother Ogbebor no’rie Oza (Ogbebor the Usurper)  

After  the  victory  over  Akure,  the  Ezomo  and  the  Ologbosere  died  of  strange 

diseases or illness, on their way from the capital. 

Oral traditions advanced the argument  that the ‘strange diseases’ or illness may 

have been the effect of powerful juju of the Yorubas. Jacob Egharevba in his  Short History 

 of Benin  identifies smallpox as the disease that killed Ezomo but provides no information 

on the cause of  the  death of  179  Benin soldiers on the  return journeys to Benin.  They 

were considered to have died in active service. 
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Their  success  in  the  Akure  War,  however,  was  due  to  the  support  of  additional 

contingents of soldiers and logistics from the Ikerres in eastern Yorubaland, and from the 

Esan chiefdom Irrua. 

After  the  reconquest  of  Akure,  the  two  Front  Commanders  of  the  Benin  army, 

Imadiyi  and  Oyodo,  established  a  military  base  at  Otun  for  the  continuation  of  military 

campaigns in Ekiti kingdoms and other parts of eastern Yorubaland. Several towns and 

chiefdoms were conquered and brought under the control of Benin. The Ekitis remained 

loyal to the Oba of Benin for a few years and revolted. This necessitated another military 

action  under  the  command  of  Omuemu  -  one  of  the  Front  Commanders  of  the  Benin 

army.  With the success of the campaign, the Ekitis renewed their ‘allegiance to the Oba 

of Benin and the payment of tribute was maintained until the British occupation in 1897. 

There  is  evidence  that  the  Deji  of  Akure  played  a  crucial  role  for  the  Oba  of  Benin,  in 

enforcing the payment of the tribute. 

Artistic Innovations 

Oba Osemwende added the “Abogan’ the Viking wings to the Royal Crown. 

It  was  during  Oba  Osemwenede’  reign:  1816-1848)  that  the  Oba  decreed  that 

human heads could be carved for the altars of chiefs of the royal lineage, instead of just 

wooden  antelope,  and  Ram’s  heads.  Thus,  chiefs  of  the  blood  in  Benin  City  but  not 

throughout the Benin Kingdom, where antelope heads continued to be commissioned and 

used well into the twentieth century, enjoyed the greater dignity conferred upon them by 

having the right to put human rather than animal heads on their ancestral altars. 



The  wooden  Ancestral  Ram’s  and  the 

Human head 
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Oba Adolor   reigned 1848 – 1888 

hen Oba Adolor was born, he was named Odin’ovba meaning the bold 

one because it was believed that the late Ogbebor the usuper and Oba 

W Osemwende’s adversary, reincarnated through him. 

Though  Prince  Ogbewekon  was  born  first  but  his  birth  was  reported  last  to  the 

palace thus the ritual of inheritance were performed on the baby Odin’ovba. According to 

the dynastic traditions, Princes Ogbewekon and Odin’ovba were born on the same day. 

During  his  reign,  Oba  Osemwende  noticed  there  was  an  intrigue  to  prevent  his 

senior son nicknamed “Ogbe owemwen kon," from ascending the throne when he passes 

on  Oba  Osemwende  found  out  that  Prince  Ogbewekon's  mother  who  hailed  from 

Esanland  had  been  misled  by  the  chiefs  at  Ogbe  quarters  in  Benin  City,  because  they 

tired of Esan mothers of Obas. 

When  Oba  Osemwende  passed  on,  Ogbewekon  was  bypassed  and  Odin-ovba 

was installed as Oba Adolo. 

This caused another civil disturbance. Prince Ogbewekon ran first to Evbohimwin 

and  finally  settled  at  Igueben  were  he  raised  an  army  with  which  he  wanted  to  invade 

Benin City.  From his hide out at Igueben, he made life uncomfortable for Oba Adolor in 

Esanland. The Onojie of Evbohimwin was also involved. Prince Ogbewekon engineered 

the Amaho Uprising of 1853-54. It took the ability of General Ebohon of Ova, the same 

general who stopped Ogedengbe of Ilesha at Irhuekpen, who put down the uprising with a 

lot of bloodshed. 

Added to that, was the intrigues of Uvbi N’Okua; Princess Aghayubini, the eldest 

daughter  of  Oba  Osemwende.,  the  matriarch  of  the  Osula  and  Aiwerieoghene  Royal 

families of Benin. She had become very wealthy by trading with the Itsekiris. This is the 

source of popular Itsekiri factor in the 19th. Century Benin Royal family. 

Abu Berki, the Nupe ruler of the Bida Emirate launched out a war on two fronts, 

westwards against the Yorubas and southwards against the Edos in their crusade against 

the “heathens” of the forest region.. While the Yorubas inflicted a crushing defeat on them 
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at the famous battles of Oshogbo spearheaded by the Ibadan forces in 1840 and later the 

British at Erinmope in the late 19th century, they had a field-day in the Kukuruku country. 

E.G.M.  Dupigny  who  gazetted  the  Nupe  Province  wrote  his  account  that  the 

Nupes  under  their  ruler,  Abu  Bekri,  raided  the  Afenmai  in  about  1885-6  compelling  the 

northern Edo peoples to pay tribute to Bida. 

A.F.C. Ryder further explained that the “Nupe had penetrated far into the Etsakor 

and Ivbiosakun regions, and had established a slave-raiding base opposite Idah.”16   It is 

quite obvious, the Kurukuru country was raided both for slaves as well for proselytisation 

of  Islam  by  the  Nupes  disparagingly  known  as  the    Azanamas .   Their  incursion  into 

Edoland reached as far as the Esan country. 

The heroic resistance Edo people in this part of the kingdom heralded by the tally-

ho:  “okokoko-o-o-o”  made  the  marauding  Nupes  to  refer  to them  as “Kukuruku  banza”. 

Banza is a Hausa word for bastard. The people of the Kukuruku country were wont to pull 

down the rock boulders in the rocky environs on the Nupe cavalry. 

Whereas  a  larger  part  of  the  Kukuruku  people  escaped  Islamisation,  the  overall 

consequence was the  presence of  Islamic religion in the Edo kingdom. Auchi, Agbede, 

Ikpe  now  known  as  Jattu  and  many  communities  in  Edo  North  had  a  sizeable  crop  of 

Moslems converts, and the ruling house in Auchi was Islamised. Even in these areas, the 

point  should  be  made  that  it  was  more  or  less,  syncretism  that  prevailed.  Traditional 

practices preponderated along side Islamic religion. 

In  the  Iyeke’uselu  area,  Oba  Adolor  established  Eki’adolor  as  a  thriving  market 

town at the village of Iko as well as Igue’Adolor a farming community. 

Sir Beecroft visited Benin City in 1851 and on 1 February 1852 the whole Bight of 

Benin  became  a  British  protectorate,  where  a  consul  represented  the  protector.    Benin came under the British protectorate in 1885, until on 6 August 1861 the Bights of Biafra 

and Benin became a united British protectorate, again under a British Consul. 
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Chapter Four  

Scramble for Africa 


he Berlin conference was brought about by European rivalries in Africa and 

concerns over the European colonial balance of power. 

T  In the late 1870s and early 1880s King Leopold II of Belgium had been trying 

to further personal interests by employing Anglo-American explorer Henry Morton Stanley 

to stake claims for him along the lower Congo River, an area where Portugal already had 

claims. 

On the basis of treaties negotiated by French 

explorer  Pierre  Savorgnan  de  Brazza  in  1880, 

France  claimed  land  along  the  river  as  well. 

Meanwhile,  on  the  lower  Niger  River,  Britain  and 

France  were  potential  competitors  over  river  trade. 

Merchants  across  Europe  urged  their  governments 

to protect their African trade interests from European 

rivals.                                                                                   Otto von Bismarck 

Under  such  pressure,  in  mid-1884  German  chancellor  Otto  von  Bismarck 

announced German claims to three African colonies—Togoland, Cameroon, and South-

West Africa. This increasingly frantic seizing of African territory, dubbed the Scramble for 

Africa, threatened to bring European nations to conflict. Bismarck, with France, called for 

a conference to settle European rivalries. Half of the countries represented, including the 

United States, had no colonial stake in Africa. However, they were invited to help sort out 
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rival  claims  and  to  put  the  stamp  of  unbiased  international  approval  on  the  territorial 

acquisition to come. 

The  conference  convened  in  Berlin  in  November  1884.  Negotiations  concerning 

claims to the Congo River area occurred outside the conference, in London, Paris, and 

Brussels, and held up matters for two months. 

At  its  conclusion  in  February  1885,  the  conference  recognized  Leopold’s 

sovereignty  over  an  area  occupying  most  of  the  Congo  basin  that  would  become  the 

massive Congo Free State. It also acknowledged French claims along the east bank of 

the Congo that would become French Congo. Portugal was left with only a small territory 

at  the  mouth  of  the  Congo.  The  conference  also  recognized  the  German  claims  to 

Togoland,  Cameroon,  and  South-West  Africa.  In  a  final  General  Act  of  Berlin,  the 

representatives  agreed  to  free  trade  in  the  Congo  basin  and  free  navigation  along  the 

Niger. 

In  addition,  they  agreed  to  rules  for  further  claiming  of  African  territory:  each 

country  was  to  notify  the  others  of  its  claims,  and  each  claim  was  to  be  followed  with 

“effective occupation” of the claimed area. Conference participants stated lofty goals for 

their African territories, which included ending the slave trade and extending civilization, 

commerce, and Christianity to the African people. 

Many myths cloud the legacy of the Berlin Conference. Many people believe that 

the representatives of European nations parceled out African land among themselves as 

they  sat  around  a  table  in  Berlin.  Actually,  European  taking  of  African  land  had  been 

underway for some years before, and the Berlin Conference resulted only in recognition of 

claims along the Congo and of Germany’s colonies. Further, the rules set out for claiming 

territory  were  largely  meaningless  and  unenforceable.  Yet,  the  Berlin Conference  holds 

symbolic importance. Its occurrence in a European capital, thousands of miles from Africa, 

without  a  single  African  present,  represents  Europeans’  unquestioned  attitude  of 

superiority, an attitude that underlay the Scramble and the early periods of colonial rule. 
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Although most of Africa remained in African possession immediately following the 

conference,  the  Berlin  West  Africa  Conference  served  as  the  first  public  indication  that 

European countries were poised to take over the continent, which they would accomplish 

over the next 25 years. 



Oba Ovonramwen reigned 1888-1914  

hen  Oba  Adolor  passed  on,  his  son  Prince  Idugbowa  was  crowned  as 

Oba Ovonramwen in 1888, but not without a fight from his brother, Prince 

W Orokhoro. Prince Orokhoro whose mother was also of Esan extraction 

lost.  At  first,  he  ran  to  Evbohimwin  and  then  to  Orhodua  in  Esanland.  Though  he  was 

conferred with the Enogie of Urumwon title by Oba Ovonramwen, Prince Orokhoro was 

still trying to raise an army in Esan when the British Punitive Expedition of 1897 occurred. 

The succession dispute between Oba Ovonramwen his brother, Prince Orokhoro 

led  to  the  summary  execution  of  a  string  of  Chief’s  namely:  Obaraye,  Obazelu,  Osia, 

Eribo,  Obaduagbon  and  Esasoyen.  This  execution  sowed  the  seed  of  distrust  and 

sycophancy within the palace.  Furthermore, the marriage of Princess Evbakhavbokun to 

Erhabor  the  Ologbose  was  intended  to  court  the  loyalty  of  the  chief  in  the  prevailing 

distrust occasioned by summary executions of the dissenting chiefs. 

Both  the  Itsekiris  and  the  Agban  (Agbor)  people  had  begun  to  withdraw  their 

veneration  of  the  might  of  the  kingdom  during  the  reign  of  Ovonramwen.In  the  same 

were more difficult to put down. 



1890s, Agbor and some of the western Ibo chiefdoms were in revolt. 

Some continued to pay tribute, but it was more difficult to enforce and the revolts

In  the  words  of  Odion-Akhine  “The  sorties  of  Ogedengbe-led  Ilesa  forces  had 

reached  as  far  Ora  during  the  reign  of  Adolo  (1848  AD).  The  point  here  is  that  Edo 

kingdom was already witnessing a decline by the time of the British conquest of Edo land 

in 1897. A.F.C. Ryder lends credence to this assertion. He has observed that “it is also 

true that Ovonrawmen had succeeded to a much reduced patrimony.” 



242 



Sundry reasons may have accounted for this development. Two important points 

are  significant  for  mentioning.  One  is  the  factors  of  self-determination,  and  the  other, 

sectarianism.  Self-determination  realized  on  the  part  of  the  vassals  of  conquered 

territories meant the repudiation of their subject status. The Akures, the Owa people, the 

Itsekiris and the peoples of Lagos have variously defaulted in their allegiance to the Obas 

of Edo kingdom. 

For example,  in 1892,  chief  Nana of  Itsekiri imposed trade embargo on Edo the 

substance of which included the stoppage of supply of cooking salt.9 sectarianism reared 

its head in the non-recognition of the contribution of other communities to the prowess of 

the Edo kingdom. For example, oral tradition has it that, the repulsion of the Ogedengbe 

forces  from  Ora  was  made  possible  by  the  daring  Edo  general  from  Iruekpen  in  the 

present day Ekpoma. Ebohon of Ova who led the forces from the capital had to camp at 

Orhua  without  a  confrontation.  Ironically,  after  the  war  he  was  accused  of  witchcraft, 

consequently tied to a tree and allowed to die and rot away” 

The  events  of  the  nineteenth  century  leads  to  a  reconsideration  of  the  issues 

connected  with  the  future  of  Benin  as  a  military  power,  as  well  as  the  changing 

perspective on warfare. The chain of events seems to demonstrate that the pressures of 

military necessity due to the threats posed by the rebellious vassals were infinitely greater 

than the motives of politics in understanding the new perspective on warfare. 

The task for the Oba and his principal chiefs was the search for a military strategy 

capable of maintaining the territorial integrity of Benin. 

The  economic  resources  in  form  of  tribute,  taxes,  and  tolls  were  important 

elements in the conception of Benin Empire, but more than military power was required if 

the empire was to be held together. In spite of  the fact that Benin was confronted with 

difficult  domestic  political  constraints,  the  ruling  aristocracy  could  not  foresee  all  the 

dimensions  of  what  was  essential  to  the  pursuit  of  the  imperial  power  of  Benin.  What 

seems  to  have  occupied  them  was  perhaps,  the  military  strength  of  the  state  and  the 

preparedness of the army in readiness to suppress revolts. 
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Chapter Six 

Oba Ovonramwen & the British 


The Niger Coast Protectorate 

ritish  and  other  European  traders  were  making  inroads  into  the  complex 

network  of  Niger  delta  waterways,  anchoring  trading  hulks  in  the  rivers  to 

B satisfy the lust for ivory and "red gold," the palm oil that flowed from the 

interior. This was a hellish occupation in an area where the chant was "The Bight of Benin! 

The Bight of Benin! One comes out where three goes in." 

The  White  Man's  Graveyard  was  a  malarial  miasma  where  only  the  toughest 

agents flourished, and a lucky few had the verbal contracts to do business directly with the 

Oba, who ruled the Kingdom of Edo controlling the river trade. 

Two of the six Consular districts under the Niger Coast Protectorate Government 

were established on the Benin, and the Forcados Rivers, the latter being shortly removed 

to Warri trading station, now the Warri Township. The two districts formed the bases from 

which the Consular Officers penetrated into the interior. 

In order to be assured of an adequate and effective force readily available, it was 

necessary  to  have  a  constabulary  post  somewhere  in  the  districts.  Calabar,  where  the 

main force for the Protectorate was to be stationed, was too far away. Therefore, one of 

the first assignments to Captain Gallwey was the survey in October, 1891, of the Urhobo 

oil-markets along the Ethiope River, with a view, among other things, to selecting suitable 

sites  for  a  Vice-Consulate,  barracks  and  constabulary  posts.  Sapele,  a  small  Urhobo 

village,  on  the  left  bank  of  the  Ethiope  River,  about  55  miles  from  the  Benin  Vice-

Consulate, appealed to Captain Gallwey. 

In his report to Major Macdonald, Gallwey said, "The anchorage here is deep and 

roomy, and the ground high, though one mass of forest. A most suitable spot to establish 
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factories, especially as all the produce from the Sobo markets passes here on the way to 

the towns near the mouth of the river." 

He, therefore, recommended Sapele, which he called the first Sobo market, to be a 

very good place to establish a Vice-Consulate and constabulary barracks. 

Macdonald  visited  Sapele  in  the  following  month  and  approved  it  as  being 

eminently suitable for the purpose for which Gallwey recommended it. The Urhobo people 

there  assured  him  that,  if  he  would  come  and  build  there,  they  would  clear  as  much 

ground as he wanted. That was the origin of the present Sapele Township. 

In March 1892, Captain Gallwey, the British vice-Consul of Oil Rivers Protectorate 

that later became the Niger Coast Protectorate, visited Benin City hoping to annex Benin 

kingdom  and  make  it  a  British  Protectorate.  Although  the  king  of  Benin,  Omo  N’Oba 

Ovonramwen,  was  skeptical  of  the  British  motives,  he  was  willing  to  endorse  what  he 

believed  was  a  friendship  and  trade  agreement.  Oba  Ovonramwen  refrained  from 

endorsing  the  Gallwey’s  treaty  when  it  became  apparent  that  the  document  was  a 

deceptive ploy intended to make Benin kingdom a British colony. 

Consequently the Benin king issued an edict barring all British officials and traders 

from  entering  Benin  territories  and 

since Major (later Sir) Claude Maxwel  

Macdonald, the Consul General of the 

Oil  River  Protectorate  authorities 

considered  the  ‘Treaty’  legal  and 

binding;  he  deemed  the  Benin  king’s 

reaction a violation of the accord and 

thus a hostile act. 

Gallwey & Benin Chiefs; 1892 

In  reaction  to  the  conquest  of  Ebrohimi  and  exile  of  Nana,  Oba  Ovonramwen 

closed all the hinterland markets under his control and thus blockaded the flow of palm 
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produce to the coast. The blockade was partially lifted when Major Ralph Moor the Consul 

General intervened.  However, the intervention did not prevent the Oba from demanding 

extra tribute from the Itsekiri middlemen - a demand which turned the later against him. 

He  also  demanded  and  obtained  20,000  corrugated  iron  sheets  from  the  British 

merchants before he could open up the markets. 

There is no doubt that in these actions Oba Ovonramwen had made enemies both 

with  the  British  and  his  neighbours,  a  situation  that  facilitated  his  overthrow  two  years 

after. 

Who was Gallwey? 

ieutenant-Colonel  Sir  Henry  Lionel  Galwey, KCMG, DSO  (25  September 1859 – 17 June 1949) was the Governor of South Australia from 18 April 1914 

L until 30 April 1920. Henry Lionel Gallwey was born on 25 September 1859 at 

Alverstoke, Southampton, England, to Lieutenant-General Sir Thomas Lionel Gallwey and his  second  wife, Alicia  Dorinda  Lefanu, née  MacDougall.  Following  his  education  at 

Cheltenham College and the Royal Military College in Sandhurst, he was commissioned in 1878. 

He  served  as  an  aide-de-camp  to  the  governors  of 

Bermuda, being  promoted  to  captain  in  1887.  Gallwey  was 

appointed  deputy  commissioner  and  vice-consul  in  the  newly 

established Oil Rivers Protectorate that  later became the Niger 

Coast Protectorate in 1891. In March 1892, he failed to convince 

the  King  of  Benin, Omo  n’Oba  Ovonramwen, into  signing  a 

deceptive  'treaty  of  friendship'  that  would  make  Benin  a  British 

colony.  Instead,  the  King  issued  an  edict  barring  all  British 

officials and traders from entering Benin territories.      Sir Henry Lionel Gallwey 

Sir  Henry  Gallwey,  in  a  report  on  the  1892  visit  to  Benin,  for  the  Journal  of  the 

African Society of April 1930, under the title: Nigeria in the “Eighteen Nineties”, he wrote in 
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part: “Any idea I may have had of being received by the king the day I arrived was very 

 soon dispelled. After being kept waiting for three days, I sent word to say that I could wait 

 no longer. To support my threat, every half-hour, I sent a carrier away with a load I did not 

 require, telling them where to wait for me. This artifice rather worried the king, and he sent 

 word to me asking me not to be vexed, as my interpreters put it. However, that afternoon, 

 it was arranged for me to have audience with the king. I accordingly donned my uniform 

 and  sallied  out  with  my  companions  into  the  burning  heat  of  the  afternoon,  a  most 

 unreasonable time of day at which to hold a palaver. I am afraid, however, that the kings 

 of Benin were never renowned for their reasonable natures. In spite of these pinpricks, it 

 was  all  very  interesting  and  amusing,  and  I  never  gave  a  thought  to  the  discomfort  of 

 being encased in a dress intended to be won at levees and such functions in temperate 

 climes”  

After  attempting  to  compromise  the  nationś  security  earlier  on,  the  British 

delegation could not be received by the Oba of Benin immediately they arrived because of 

the need to check out their real mission. When the Oba signaled readiness to receive the 

delegates, they were in encased dress intended to be worn at levees, to the palace. 

In other words, they were in military uniform to the palace of an Oba who was weary of 

visits of Europeans. 

After  the  incidence  of  the  Dutchman,  Commandant  Willem  Hogg,  who  pulled  a 

pistol and shot at Oba Oresoyen in 1735, while on a courtesy visit to the palace to discuss 

business matters with the Oba and his chiefs, Benin Obas became a little more careful 

about granting direct audience to European visitors. 

This is the genesis of the difficulties experienced by Capt. Gallwey while trying to 

have audience with the Oba in 1892. At the palace, the disposition and mannerisms of the 

visitors had to be carefully studied before the Oba could receive them, since they were in 

military uniform. Capt. Gallwey said the Oba was unreasonable and then generalized as 

all Benin Obas are wont to be. He had made up his mind before the visit and was looking 

for excuses to set up Benin kingdom for British invasion. To emphasize that Benin was a 

special case to crack, the British rushed to force treaties on neighbouring territories. 
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The  'Gallwey  Treaty',  although  it  was  never  signed,  became  the  legal  basis  for 

British  invasion,  occupation,  and  looting,  culminating  in  the  savage  Benin  Expedition  of 

1897, which destroyed the Kingdom of Benin. 

Gallwey  was  often  mentioned  in  dispatches  during  this  time,  and  was  rewarded 

with  the  Distinguished  Service  Order  (DSO;  1896),  appointment  as  Companion  of  the 

Order of St Michael and St George (CMG; 1899) and promotion to major in 1897. 

Gallwey was given the rank of lieutenant-colonel when placed on half-pay in 1901, 

he  retired  from  the  army  in  1902  to  become  governor  of  St  Helena, where  he  revived 

capital  punishment. Appointed  Knight  Commander  of  the  Order  of  St  Michael  and  St 

George (KCMG) in 1910, he was transferred to Gambia in 1911. 

In  1911,  Gallwey  changed  his  surname  to  "Galway"  and  on  26  August  1913  in 

London he married Baroness Marie Carola Franciska Roselyne d'Erlanger.  Gallwey was appointed  Governor  of  South  Australia  in  1914.  Galway  resented  the  limitations  placed upon  a  constitutional  governor,  and  his  governorship  was  defined  by  controversy.  He 

managed to anger a wide spectrum of the population. 

Galway's appointment was not renewed upon its expiration in 1920; though he was 

liked by the Adelaide establishment, he had been a spectacularly controversial governor, 

and the Colonial Office refused him another post. He returned to England later in 1920, 

and died on 17 June 1949. 

Gallwey  was  there  when  the  personal  bedchambers  of 

Oba  Ovonramwen  was  looted.  He  actually  stole  one  the  ivory 

“Iy’oba” mask. After more than a century, Gallwey’s desendants 

brought out the said mask at an auction. Due to the public outcry 

the sales was canceled. 

Photograph of the ivory mask personally looted by Gallwey 
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Chapter Seven 

The Benin City Expedition  


t the end of the nineteenth century, European powers were busy partitioning 

Africa  and  bringing  formerly  independent  countries  and  states  under  their 

A control. Britain established a palm oil industry – palm was used in the 

production of soap – and established links in West Africa. 

At first,  the British strategy was to build up trading links, not  formally to  control. 

Oba Ovonramwen wanted to levy customs duties on the trade in the region but the British 

wanted to deal directly with the producers of goods. The British traders became irritated 

and suggested to the Foreign Office that he should be overthrown. These were the years 

of  the  global  rubber  boom,  consequent  on  John  Dunlop's  invention  of  the  rubber  inner 



tube. The virgin forests of Benin looked especially attractive

In 1894 after the British invasion and destruction of Brohimie, the trading town of 

Nana, the leading Itsekiri trader in the Benin River District by a combined British Royal 

Navy and Niger Coast Protectorate forces, Benin kingdom increased her military presence 

on her southern borders. This vigilance and the Colonial Office refusal to grant approval 

for an invasion of Benin City scuttled the expedition the Protectorate had planned for early 

1895. 

Even so between September 1895 and mid 1896 three attempts were made by the 

Protectorate to enforce the Gallwey ‘Treaty’. Major P. Copland-Crawford, vice-Consul of 

the Benin district, made the first attempt, Mr. Locke, the vice-Consul assistant, made a 

second one and the third one was made by Captain Arthur Maling, the commandant of the 

Niger Coast Protectorate Force detachment based in Sapele. 
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Vincent Brendan a British merchant had established new trading posts in Urhobo 

country, beaches with warehouses for palm oil and trade goods.  According to Brendan, 

the Oba had  agents  at  the waterside markets,  and they often stopped all trade  leaving 

Benin territories if they weren't happy with the terms. Brendan's men were so accustomed 

to  the  embargoes  they  kept  their  palm  oil  in 

gourds with narrow necks that could be sealed 

until  the  markets  reopened.To  force  the  trade 

routes open, Whitehall sent a James Phillips of 

the  Royal  Navy.  Phillips,  a  former  Overseer  of 

Prisons, was determined to take Benin City. 



Palmoil barrel being transported in a canoe 

In March 1896 following price fixing and refusal by Itsekiri middle men to pay the 

required tributes, Oba ovonramwen ordered a cessation of the supply of oil palm produce 

to them. 

The trade embargo brought trade in the Benin River region to a standstill, and the 

British traders and agents of the British trading firms  quickly appealed to Protectorate’s 

Consul-General    to  ‘open  up’  Benin  territories,  and  send  the  Benin  king  whom  they 

claimed was an ‘obstruction’ into exile. 

Earlier in June 1895, Sir John reported inability to decide the issue one way or the 

other.  To  him,  the  necessity  to  come  to  any  decision  was  questionable  since  the  area 

concerned  was  occupied  by  neither  the  Protectorate  Government  nor  the  Royal  Niger 

Company. After describing the upper reaches of the Ethiope river which waters, on the 

west,  the  area  in  dispute,  and  the  Ase  creek  which  waters  it  on  the  east,  Sir  John 

concluded that actual boundary could not be fixed until more was known of the geography 

of the country; he recommended that, for the time being, the trade of the towns concerned 

should be left to take their natural water course. 
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The  Foreign  Office  therefore,  had  no  alternative  but  to  advise  the  Niger  Coast 

Protectorate Government to stop its officers visiting any more, those parts of the Urhobo 

country.  Thus,  what  were  apparently  the  high  hopes  of  the  Consular  officers,  and  the 

expectations of the Urhobo people for a coming administration, were dashed to pieces, at 

least for the time being. 

But the Consular Officers were dogged; instead of abiding by the Foreign Office's 

advice, they continued visiting the Urhobo and the Ukwuani countries, entering into more 

Treaties with the people. 

Mr.  John  Mc’Taggart,  the  Chief  Officer  in  charge  of  the  Royal  Niger  Company's 

patrol team, was not to be beaten in the race. The fall of Benin was to him an impetus for 

extensive patrolling activities, not only in the Urhobo and the Ukwuani countries, but also 

in  the  Eka  (Agbor),  Esan,  Afemai  (Kukuruku)  and  the  Ora  countries.  On  an  earlier 

occasion, he even marched into Benin. 

The whole situation was one of real jealousy and competitive scramble, and, at one 

stage  of  it,  an  open  clash  between  the  officers  of  the  two  administrations  seemed 

imminent.  And  so  that  dis-quieting  situation  continued  for  two  long  years  ending  in 

November, 1897, when the foreign Office was again obliged to tell Sir Ralph Moor, then 

the  head  of  the  Niger  Coast  Protectorate  Government,  of  the  importance  which  Her 

Majesty's  Government  attached  to  the  avoidance  of  both  administrations  alike  of  any 

action on the frontier likely to provoke friction between them. 

The despatch ended by saying "Lord Salisbury feels sure that no effort on your part 

will be wanting to avoid such friction." Sir Ralph Moor reluctantly obeyed, instructing his 

officers to take as little action as possible for the present, in the direction of the left bank of 

the Ethiope River, and in the interior of the Urhobo country. Sir Ralph opined however, 

that the decision was a retrograde step and one that would result in the work already done 

in that direction having to be done again in the future. 
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The attitude of the Protectorate Government was in a sense quite understandable. 

The restricted movement of its officers did not permit them to move farther than 15 miles 

from Sapele on the north, and at Warri on the South the distance was much less. And yet 

most of the important oil markets, especially those in the north east, formerly monopolized 

by Chief Nana, were beyond, while some were much beyond the boundary line, and wel  

within the Company s territories. 

The unaccepted argument of the Protectorate Officers was that their conquest of 

the Chief automatically bestowed upon them the right to all those markets. 

The Lt. James Robert Phillips Expedition 

n  October  1896  Lieutenant  James  Robert  Phillips  (RN),  the  Acting  Consul-

General visited the Benin River District and had meetings with the agents and 

I traders. In the end the agents and traders were able to convince him that ‘there 

is a future on the Benin River if Benin territories were opened’. 

James Phillips, who had recently arrived in what was then called the Niger Coast 

Protectorate as acting consul-general. Like Sir Richard Burton, over thirty years before, he 

was appalled at what he had heard about human sacrifice in Benin and was determined to 

do his best to persuade the Oba to abolish it. 

Earlier in 1896, a man from Lagos went to see the King of Benin on the advice of 

Ralph Moor, the New  Commissioner,  chiefly with a view to asking the King to start thèrubber' industry, the country abounding in that product." 

Phillips reported that the man made presents to the King to the value of over 30 

pounds, but the results of his mission have been nil."  Later in the same letter, he warned 

the Under-Secretary of State for the Colonies that his instructions to deal with this matter 

by  pacific  means  have  been  literally  obeyed  and  have  failed  to  produce  the  results 

desired." 

Things came to a head following a move by Lt James Phillips because he thought 

he  could  ‘solve’  the  problem.  Before  they  set  out,  Lt  James  Philips,  who  headed  the 
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mission, sent a report to his superiors in Whitehall complaining about the unprofitability of 

trade in the area.  He recommended;  "...I am certain that there is only one remedy, that is 

 to  depose  of  the  king  of  Benin...I  am 

 concerned  that  pacific  measures  are  now 

 quite  useless,  and  that  the  time  has  now 

 come to remove the obstruction ... I would 

 add  that  I  have  reason  to  hope  that 

 sufficient ivory may be found in the King's 

 house to pay the expenses incurred."  The Feet washing rituals 

With  Moor  away  in  London  his  deputy,  Phillips,  requested  permission  from  the 

Foreign Office in December 1896 "to depose and remove the King of Benin". 

He sent a messenger to the Oba announcing an impending "visit" to Benin. Then 

without waiting for a reply, he advanced on the Oba's kingdom with a small . 

The  Benin  chiefs  treated  what  seemed  like  an  imminent  British  invasion  as  a 

national emergency. 

Unaware of  these rituals, Lt  Phillips pressed on regardless, and in Benin,  it was 

decided that Chief Erhabor the Ologbose; the Oba's son-in-law and deputy commander of 

the Benin Army should be sent out with an armed group to check his advance. 

On 4 January 1897, on the road to Benin, Ologbose ambushed the British force. 

Many of the African carriers were captured, and many left dead. Lt Phillips himself and 

eight British officers were killed. Only two of the whites escaped. 

Claims were later made that Lt Phillips's expedition was unarmed. This was not so. 

The  British  officers  took  no  machine-guns,  but  they  had  revolvers  with  them.    In  the 

African  heat,  they  had  been  kept  locked  up  in  boxes  carried  by  their  African  porters. 

Getting hasty, without waiting for approval from Whitehall, Phillips had embarked on his 

own little expedition to Benin City. 

For Ologbose and his compatriots was an unexpected and unusual victory. 
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Prior to the event, Vincent Brendan a British Trader on the Benin River, claimed 

that he had had discussions with Captain James Phillips before the ill-fated trip to Benin 

City. 

In his words Brendan claimed that he had looked levelly at the jackass (Phillips) 

and  asked  him”"Are  you  considering  deposing  the  Oba?"  Phillips  swung  his  empty  gin 

glass between his fingertips, leaned forward, and said confidentially, "My dear boy. There 

is every reason to believe the Edo people would be glad to get rid of their king. He's a 

liability, a throwback to an earlier, primitive, tribal way of dealing. You've seen for yourself 

the hundreds of human sacrifices. Now surely, even Americans don't  stand  behind that 

sort of behavior." 

In reply Brendan said  "The sacrifice is a very holy belief in appeasing their gods. 

 When they see us impinging upon foreign countries in the name of our God, quite possibly 

 they think the same thing of us."   Brendan paused meaningfully. "  And the only sacrifices 

 are criminals and unauthorized traders found in his domains."  

Vincent Brendan’s wife Victoria turned around on her stool. "Vince! Does this mean 

war? Will we have to leave Sapele?" 

Gainey came forward to hand Brendan his cocktail. Brendan took it, for it suddenly 

didn't seem so odd at that time of day. "My dear, have no fear. This is no war party; poor 

misguided  Jim  is  just  making  a  friendly  stab  at  opening  up  the  kernel  trade."    Rip 

interjected his shocked eyes full of concern. "But don't you reckon Brendan here is just 

going to run and warn the Oba? There could be all sorts of savage ambushes awaiting the 

poor fellow." Brendan snorted with disgust. "Rip, a group of eight unarmed white men with 

a drum and fife band is hardly the making of a necktie party. What would I warn the Oba 

about...an impending cricket match?" 

Brendan also claimed that he had witnessed the execution of Thomson Oyibodudu 

an  Itsekiri  man  traded  directly  with  British  merchants  and  had  adopted  their  customs. 

Thomson Oyibodudu’s crime was economic sabotage. 
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He  was  caught  in  the  act  of  setting  fire  to  the  rubber  forest  to  reduce  their 

production and create a scarcity in process to increase the price of the commodity. 

According to Brendan, a Benin man named Onaiwu who was there with him said 

"He will not go quietly," Oyibodudu's eyes bugged out as though about to explode before 

the  executioner  even  wrapped  the  garrote  around  his  neck.  Though  hobbled,  and  with 

hands cinched behind his back, Oyibodudu lurched to his feet and shouted in booming, 

foreboding tones, "The white men that are greater than you and I are coming soon to fight 

and conquer you!" 

The  executioners  leaped  to  subdue  him,  to  wrestle  him  back  to  the  properly 

submissive execution stance. "Kill me quickly!" was the last thing Oyibodudu yelled before 

he was muffled. 

The crowd shrieked in both horror and humor, many of them reflexively turning to 

laugh at Brendan and Evin another British merchant who was there. It was of the utmost 

effort to remain placid through all of it. 

The following is the true story of what really transpired 



The Ambush at Ugbine 

In December 1896 Phillips took more than eight white men: he brought along units 

of African soldiers of the Niger Coast Protectorate Force, five British officers, a column of 

600 African soldiers disguised as porters and a drum and fife band military band to display 

his "friendly" goals. 

After  arriving  at  Ughoton  Phillips  sent  a  messenger  to  the  Oba  announcing  an 

impending ‘visit’ and without waiting for a reply, he advanced on Benin. It was described 

as a peace mission but correspondence shows that Phillips wanted, at the very least, to 

lay down the law to Oba Ovonramwen. 

Mid-way to Benin at a village called Ugbine, Phillips received a reply asking him to 

delay his visit for a while due to the customary rites that were being performed at the time, 

during which foreigners were not permitted to enter the city. Philips ignored several such 

messages.  It is not surprising that the generals whose task it was to defend Benin saw 
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this expedition, that had refused to heed repeated request to turn back and wait for an 

official invitation, as a threat. 

In  the  recent  past  the  British  had  used  force  several  times  to  depose  other  African 

leaders whom they had found too powerful to dominate and from the Benin generals’ point 

of view, it was an invasion and the mission was ambushed by local troops. Phillips and six 

other British officers were killed.   

Another Version of the story says; 

In  November  1896,  Phillips  made  a  formal  request  to  his  superiors  in  England  for 

permission to invade Benin City, and in late December 1896 without waiting for a reply or 

approval  from  London  Phillips  embarked  on  a  military  expedition  with  a  Niger  Coast 

Protectorate Force consisting of 250 African soldiers and five British officers, a trader and 

an interpreter. His mission was to depose the king of Benin City, replace him with a Native 

Council  and  pay  for  the  invasion  with  the  ‘ivory’  he  hoped  to  find  in  the  Benin  king’s 

palace. 

Unfortunately for Phillips, some Itsekiri trading chiefs sent a message to the Benin king 

that  ‘the  white  man  is  bringing  war’.  On  receiving  the  news  the  Benin  king  quickly 

summoned  the  city’s  high-ranking  nobles  for  an  emergency  meeting,  and  during  the 

discussions the Iyase, the commander in chief of the Benin Army argued that the white 

men were on a hostile visit and hence they must be confronted and killed. 

The Benin king however argued that the white men should be allowed to enter the city 

so that it can be ascertained whether or not the visit was a friendly one. The Iyase ignored 

the king’s views, and ordered the formation of a strike force that was commanded by the 

Ologbose, a senior army commander, which was sent to Gwato to destroy the invaders. 

Philips  real  mission  was  to  depose  the  Oba,  replace  him  with  a  native  council 

friendly to British concerns, and pay for the expedition with spoils of war. Some chiefs had 

warned the Oba that "the white man is bringing war." 
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The Ambush at Ugbine 

Oba Ovonramwen wanted to allow the British Delegation into his city, but a hot-

headed young general, Ologbose, thought otherwise. Ologbose and his men attacked the 

“unarmed peace" party, wiping out Phillips and all but two white men, and nearly all the 

native "carriers." 

The  Ologbose’s  strike  force  composed  mainly  of  border  guards  and  servants  of 

some chiefs had caught Phillips' army totally unprepared at Ugbine village near Ughoton. 

Since Phillips was not expecting any opposition and was unaware that his operation had 

lost its element of surprise, the contingent’s weapons were locked up in the head packs of 

the  African  soldiers  who  were  posing  as  carriers.  Only  two  British  officers  survived  the 

annihilation  of  Phillips'  invasion  force,  which  became  known  as  the  ‘Benin  Preemptive 

Strike’. 

Brendan  claims  that  he  knew  why  Phillips  had  gone  unarmed  and  left  all  of  his 

revolvers in a locked trunk hoisted by carriers.  During 

Brendan's last visit to Consular Hill in Old Calabar; he 

had glimpsed a letter on Phillips's desk in Ralph Moor's 

characteristically  spiked  handwriting,  telling  Phillips: 

"And do go unarmed, old boy. The first sign of so much 

as a revolver and those bloodthirsty savages will have 

your head." 

.British monument at Ugbine 
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As Brendan surveyed the field of gore and destruction at Ugbine, he instantly knew 

why  Moor  had  told  Phillips  that.  Moor  had  a  keen  idea  there  would  be  some  sort  of 

altercation that he could use as the excuse for immediate punitive reprisal, his lusty goal 

for the region since taking control. 

Despite  the  Oba's  attempts  to  dissuade  Phillips  from  coming,  in  a  courteous 

manner so as not to provoke him, Phillips stubborn insistence played right into the hands 

of  the  radicals  who  sought  to  weaken  the  Oba  in  the  name  of  defending  the  nation's 

sovereignty. 

The following is an extract from the catalogue; Antique works of art from Benin: collected 

by Lieutenant-General Pitt Rivers"  

 In  1896  an  expedition,  consisting  of  some  250  men,  with  presents  and 

 merchandise,  left  the  British  settlements  on  the  coast,  and  endeavoured  to  advance 

 towards Benin City. The expedition was conducted with courage and perseverance, but 

 with the utmost rashness. Almost unarmed, neglecting all ordinary precautions, contrary to 

 the advice of the neighbouring chiefs, and with the express prohibition of the King of Benin 

 to advance, they marched straight into an ambuscade which had been prepared for them 

 in the forest on each side of the road, and as their revolvers were locked up in their boxes 

 at the time, they were massacred to a man 

 with  the    exception  of  two,  Captain 

 Boisragon  and  Mr.  Locke,  who,  after 

 suffering the utmost  hardships, escaped to 

 the  British  settlements  on  the  coast  to  tell 

 the tale.”  

A New York Newspaper headline 

This provided the opportunity that  Ralph Moor had  been looking for:  force could 

now  be  used  against  Benin.  The  British  government  and  press  responded  with  self-

righteous outrage. 

As expected, in January 1897, Rear Admiral Harry Rawson was appointed by the 

British Admiralty to lead an expedition to capture the Oba and destroy Benin City. 
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In all, Major Ralph Moore was the man who encompassed the Oba Ovonramwen's 

downfall.  Ralph  Moore  had  long  argued  that  Benin  should  be  opened  up  to  trade,  "if 

necessary by force". 



Who is Moore? 

ir  Ralph  Denham  Rayment  Moor  KCMG, first 

high  commissioner  of  the  British  Southern 

S Nigeria Protectorate, born on 31 July 1860 at The Lodge, Furneux Pelham,  Buntingford, Hertfordshire. He was son of William Henry Moor (c.1830–c.1863), surgeon, 

by his wife Sarah Pears. Educated privately, and destined 

for business, he engaged in 1880–81 as a learner in the tea 

trade.    On  26  October  1882  he  entered  the  Royal  Irish  Constabulary  as  a  cadet,  and becoming in due course a district inspector resigned after involvement in a divorce case 

on  9  February  1891.    In  March  1891  Moor  took  service  under  Sir  Claude  Maxwell 

MacDonald, the  Consul-General  of  the  Oil  Rivers  Protectorate, as  Commandant  of Constabulary in the protectorate. 

In July 1892 he was appointed by the Foreign Office vice-consul for the Oil Rivers 

district, and from 6 September 1892 to 15 February 1893 acted as commissioner. During 

January 1896 he served the office of consul, and on 1 February 1896, when the district 

was formed into the Niger Coast Protectorate,  he was made commissioner and consul-

general for the territory, and consul for the Cameroons and Fernando Po.  

When  in  1900  the  protectorate  passed  from  the  Foreign  Office  to  the  Colonial 

Office, Moor became High Commissioner of Southern Nigeria and laid the foundations of 

the new administration, his health failing, he retired on pension on 1 October 1903. 
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He was succeeded by Walter Egerton. He then allied himself with Sir Alfred Lewis 

Jones; he gave valuable advice on West African affairs, and aided in the development of 

the  British  Cotton  Growing  Association. He  also  served  on  certain  committees  at  the nomination of the secretary of state. 

Moor became C.M.G. in 1895 and K.C.M.G. in 1897. Like so many other colonial policemen,  he  had  earlier  been  an  inspector  with  the  Royal  Irish  Constabulary,  stifling 

rebellion  in  Ireland.    Translated  to  Africa,  he  was  to  become  one  of  Conrad's  Kurtz- 

figures, bringing "civilization" to the natives. 

He married in 1898 Adrienne Burns, née Shapland. He was found dead in bed at 

his residence, the Homestead, Barnes, on 14 September 1909; having committed suicide 

by poison. He was buried at the new Barnes cemetery. 

The  coroner's  jury  determined  that 

"the  poison  was  deliberately  taken 

whilst  temporarily  insane  after 

suffering  acutely  from  insomnia", 

they had heard evidence that Moor 

had suffered for the last four years 

on  his  return  from  Africa  with 

malaria  and  backwater  fever  that 

induced insomnia. 

Ralph Moore (seated in the centre) in Benin City. 
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Chapter Eight 

The Invasion of Benin 


he  deaths  of  so  many  officers  provided  the 

opportunity  that  Ralph  Moor  had  been  looking  for. 

T "Force" could now be safely used against Benin. 

On  12  January  1897,  Rear-Admiral  Harry  Rawson,  

commanding  the  squadron  at  the  Cape  of  Good  Hope  was 

appointed by the British Admiralty to lead an expedition to capture 

the Benin king and destroy Benin City. The operation was named 

Benin Punitive Expedition.                                            Admiral Sir Harry Rawson 

On 9 February 1897 the invasion of Benin kingdom began. A "punitive expedition" was 

organised under the command of Admiral Sir Harry Rawson, the commander in-chief at 

Cape Town. Within a month, an elite force of 1,200 British soldiers brought to the Benin 

River from 4,000 miles away. They came in from London, England,  Kingston,  Jamaica, 

Cape Town, South Africa and Malta in the Mediterranean Sea. This armada landed on the 

coast, and teamed up with several hundred black troops, locally recruited. Thousands of 

African porters were brought from the British military base at Sierra Leone. 

A  meeting  of  the  “Benin  River  Chiefs”  many  of  whom  were  opposed  to  Oba 

Ovoranmwen, was organised not only for the purpose of 

gathering  intelligence  from  them,  but  also  for  the 

purpose of reading to them the British proclamation on 

the  "massacre"  of  the  white  and  the  measures  which 

were to be taken against the Oba and his City. 

The Benin River Chiefs; Dogho, Fregene and others at Sapele  
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Bacon of his Book Benin; City of Blood, observed:  "It was impossible to tell from 

their faces what they thought, but it must have been with a shade of skepticism that they 

heard that the king was to be no more, his town taken and his priests, if possible killed, 

the Juju houses burned  and the Benin Juju forever broken ...."   

The invasion 

he invasion force of about 1200 British Marines, sailors and hundreds of Niger 

Coast  Protectorate  Forces  and  was 

T composed of three columns; the 

‘Sapoba’,  ‘Gwato’  and  ‘Main’  Columns.  The 

‘Sapoba’ column and the ‘Main column’ reached 

Benin City after 10 days of bitter fighting but the 

‘Gwato’ column was routed at Gwato. 

Landing at Ologbo; February 10, 1897                                          

Admiral Rawson's three-pronged attack on Benin City which began in February 1897 

was  no  pushover.  Each  of  his  advancing  columns  met  strong  resistance  from  the  local 

African population. Benin soldiers harassed the first one for several days. 

The  second  one  was  attacked  in  its 

base camp and the commanding officer 

was  killed.  Luckily,  Roth  recorded,  "no 

 white men were wounded; we all got off 

 scot-free."  This  providential  protection 

 was easily explained. "Our black troops, 

 with  the  scouts  in  front  and  a  few 

 Maxims, do all the fighting."  

British soldiers at Okha before the final assault on Benin City. 

The story of the third column is given in the diary of Felix Roth, a naval surgeon. 

He provides considerable evidence of the indiscriminate way in which British forces used 
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their machine-guns to mow down Benin resistance.  "We shelled the village, and cleared it 

 of  the  natives.  As  the  launch  and  surf-boats  grounded, 

 we  jumped  into  the  water...  at  once  placed  our  Maxims 

 and guns in position, firing so as to clear the bush where 

 the natives might be hiding." 

A Seven Pounder in action at Ughoton 

Before the invasion in February 1897, Rear Admiral Harry Rawson gave orders to 

the field commanders on what to do once Benin City was conquered. 

 “They  were  instructed  by  their  commander-in–chief  to  burn  down  all  Benin 

 kingdom’s towns and villages, and hang the king of Benin wherever and whenever 

 he was captured”.  

As arranged, the British traders, Brad Forshaw and John Swainson were allowed into 

Benin City. It was an extremely brave trek for the traders, as Ologbose had already sent 

out  guerrilla  parties  to  make  surprise  raids  against  the  British,  and  the  British  were 

sending scouts with snider rifles and spies into Benin territory. They brought the news that 

twelve  hundred  bluejackets  and  Marines  from  London,  Cape  Town,  and  Malta  had 

steamed  up  to  Brass  under  the  command  of  Rear  Admiral  Rawson.  The  brunt  of  the 

fighting was to fall on the well-seasoned men of the Niger Coast Protectorate Force, the 

unit  of  armed  constabulary  raised  by  Moor 

years  before.    In  addition,  there  were 

hundreds  of  African  carriers  brought  from 

Sierra Leone, Opobo, and Bonny. 

Marines landing at Ughoton  

Ralph Moor, having been mobilized with alacrity back from London, was already en 

route  to  Sapele  to  inspect  the  Cape  Squadron  with  Rear  Admiral  Rawson.  Ominously, 

they  were  equipped  with  seven-pounder  artillery  for  bombardment,  rocket  tubes,  and 

Maxim guns that spewed out six hundred rounds a minute. 
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John and Brad returned to Sapele the next day, never to visit again. 

Boisragon’s Accounts 

The following is an extract from the book “The Benin Massacre” by Boisragon who 

survived the ambush at Ugbine 

Boisragon who survived the ambush at Ugbine wrote “The King’s Compound was 

 occupied by the troops for the night, and the rearguard, which had been left on the bush 

 path, was brought up. Water was also issued to the men, leaving only one quart per man 

 as a reserve. The casualties this day had been very heavy. Dr. Fyfe,  R.N.,  Chief  Petty 

 Officer Ansell, R.N., and two marines had been killed; Captain Byrne, R.M.L.I., eight of the 

 Naval  Brigade  and  marines,  three  of  the  Protectorate  Force,  one  scout,  one  native 

 interpreter,  and  six  carriers  seriously  wounded,  and  six  of  the  Naval  Brigade  slightly 

 wounded. I believe, also, that some of the officers were slightly wounded, but being only 

 hit by pellets, did not return themselves as so. Major Searle of the Protectorate Force also 

 had a narrow escape, as he twice got bullets through his helmet while working the Force 

 seven-pounders.   

 As soon as the news of the massacre of our expedition arrived at home, on the 

 11th.  January, telegrams were sent at once to Admiral Rawson, C.B., commanding the 

 Naval Squadron at the Cape, to organize a Punitive Expedition as soon as possible, the 

 expedition, of course, being almost entirely a naval one, with the assistance of the Niger 

 Coast Protectorate Force. This expedition took Benin City on the 18th February, — only 

 about five weeks after the first telegrams. 

 Marvelously smart work, especially when one considers the distances most of the 

 expedition had to come, the extraordinary arrangements that had to be made for it in the 

 shape of  carriers from all parts of  West  Africa (between three and four thousand being 

 employed),  stores,  etc.  etc.,  and  last,  but  not  least,  the  nature  of  the  country  through 

 which they had to fight their way. 
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 As I have said before, the naval force was taken from H.M. Ships Theseus, Forte, 

 St. George, Phoebe, Philomel, Barrosa, Widgeon, Magpie, and Alecto, whilst an additional 

 force of marines was sent out in the P. & O. S.S. Malacca, which was to act as, and had 

 been fitted up as hospital ship. The first two ships, H.M.S. Theseus and Forte, came from 

 the Mediterranean Squadron, while the remainder belonged to the Cape Squadron. As I 

 have already mentioned, the Theseus, Forte, and St. George being too large to come over 

 the  bar  of  the Forcados  River,  anchored  off  its  mouth,  but  the  rest came  up  the  Benin 

 River through the Forcados River and Nanna Creek. 

 The main column was to advance on Benin City by what is called the Ilogbo route, 

 Ilogbo being a Benin village on the Ilogi Creek and supposed to be only about twelve or 

 fourteen miles from Benin City. The distance turned out to be about twenty-two miles. The 

 Ilogi Creek is the creek from which the Benin City people used to get their water, and at 

 that place was called the Ikpoba Creek. 

 Unfortunately  for  the  expedition,  it  soon  got  too  shallow  and  full  of  snags  and 

 obstructions to allow of any steam-launches or boats going up it, and being of any use to 

 the marching column. To reach Ilogbo the force landed at a place called Warrigi, a few 

 miles below Sapele on the Benin River, and marched about seven miles across to Ciri, a 

 friendly village on one side of the Ilogi Creek and about one mile below Ilogbo. When the 

 advance  began  it  had  been  the  Admiral's  intention  to  throw  a  wire  suspension  bridge 

 across the Ilogi Creek, but unfortunately the bridge could not be used owing to swamps. 

 The  Protectorate troops  arrived  at  Ciri  about  the  4th  of  February,  and  started  cutting  a 

 road back to Warrigi, while a party of carriers, with the help of some bluejackets, began 

 the road from the other end, and a very good road was ready for the Admiral’s inspection 

 when he came to visit Ciri on the 9th February. 

 Meanwhile there was a lot of work going on at Warrigi organizing the great number 

 of carriers that were to accompany the expedition. These men came from Sierra Leone 

 and the Gold Coast, and some, of course, were supplied by the Jakri Chiefs of the Benin 

 River, and belonged to many and various tribes of West Africa. In addition there was a 
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 force  of  some  hundred  or  more  scouts  raised  in  Lagos  by  Mr.  Turner,  a  travelling 

 commissioner  of  the  Niger  Coast  Protectorate,  and  officered  by  him  and  Lieutenant 

 Erskine, R.N. They looked a very brave sight in red shirts and fezes, and I believe did very 

 fairly well afterwards, especially considering that it had only been possible to give them a 

 very few days’ drill. 

 On the 10th February the remainder of  the  bluejackets and marines forming the 

 main  column  landed  at  Warrigi,  and  marched  across  to  Ciri  the  next  day,  so  that  the 

 advance on Benin City began on the 12th February. 

 The  Protectorate  Force  was  under  the  command  of  Lieutenant-Colonel  Bruce 

 Hamilton of the East Yorkshire Regiment, who had been sent out by the War Office with 

 the  following  special  service  officers,  Major  Langdon,  A.S.C.,  as  second  in  command. 

 Captains Walker, Scottish Rifles, and O’Shee, R.E. The officers actually belonging to the 

 Force present were Major Searle, the permanent second in command, Captains Ringer 

 Koe,  late  of  the  Royal  Irish,  Carter  of  the  Black  Watch,  Lieutenant  Cockburn  of  the 

 Queen’s Bays, and Lieutenant Daniels, a native officer, and as plucky as any white man. 

 Before  the  main  column  advanced  two  flanking  columns  had  been  sent  by  the 

 Admiral for the purpose of drawing away the enemy’s attention from the main attack, and 

 also to try and stop any fugitives escaping from Benin City. Unfortunately they were not 

 successful in stopping the King and his Juju men when they fled. One of these columns 

 went up the Jamieson River under the command of Captain M’Gill, R.N., and the other, 

 under Captain O'Callaghan, R.N., went up the Gwatto Creek. 

 Captain M’Gill’s force, which was made up from men of the Phoebe, Magpie, and Alecto, 

 proceeded  up  the  Jamieson  River  as  far  as  Sapobah,  landed  there  and  marched  to  a 

 place some four miles north of Sapobah where there were cross-roads from Benin City. 

 There they built a stockade. 

 On the 11th February this stockade was attacked by the Benin men from the dense 

 bush  which  surrounded  it,  and  Lieutenant-Commander  Pritchard  of  the  Alecto  and  one 
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 bluejacket were killed. After this the stockade was reinforced and strengthened. The Benin 

 men again attacked on the 20th, but, as they did not seem to care about coming to close 

 quarters,  there  were  no  casualties.  However,  the  same  day  they  attacked  a  column 

 proceeding  back  to  Sapobah,  and  killed  one  marine  and  wounded  two  others.  Captain 

 M’Gill’s  column  returned  to  Warrigi  on  the  24th  February,  having  previously  burnt  the 

 stockade. This, of course, was after Benin City had been taken, and when the naval force 

 was leaving the country. 

 The men forming the Gwatto column, under Captain O’Callaghan, came from the 

 Philomel, Barrosa, and Widgeon. On the 10th February Captain O’Callaghan burnt Gilli-

 Gilli, the frontier Benin City village on that side, and then proceeded on to Gwatto.  

 After  searching  the  bush  with  volleys  and  some  rounds  from  a  quick-firing  gun, 

 Captain O’Callaghan landed with a force of about eighty men. While they were engaged in 

 burning the town they  were attacked by a strong force of  Benin men,  who fought  most 

 pluckily from the bush for nearly an hour, although a number of them were seen to fall. 

 Then they had had about enough of it, and retired. 

 Captain 0’Callaghan having blown up two big houses with gun-cotton and burnt the 

 remainder of the town, then retired to his boats at the water-side without being attacked 

 again. None of the force were killed, but Lieutenant - Commander Hunt of the Widgeon 

 and  two  bluejackets  were  severely  wounded,  whilst  Captain  O’Callaghan  himself  and 

 some others were slightly wounded. 

 On  the  14th  February  the  column  went  back  to  Gilli-Gilli,  where  they  made  a 

 zereba.  However,  being  reinforced,  they  advanced  again  to  Gwatto  once  more  and 

 occupied  it.  For  two  days  the  Benin  men  attacked  them  from  the  bush,  but  with  little 

 success,  as  only  three  men  were  slightly  wounded,  whilst  the  Benis  lost  several,  and 

 eventually never attacked at all after the 18th. 

 On  the  25th  February,  a  company  of  the  Protectorate  Force,  under  Captain 

 Gallwey, D.S.O., arrived at Gwatto from Benin City without having been once attacked, 
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 which showed that the taking of Benin City had a great effect on the Benis. On the way 

 down.  Captain  Gallwey came across the scene of  the massacre of  our expedition,  and 

 buried the remains of our dear comrades that he found there, reading the Funeral Service 

 over  them.  Captain  O’Callaghan  embarked  his  force,  and  left  Gwatto  on  the  27th 

 February. 

 To  return  to  the  main  column:  but  before  starting  an  account  of  the  march  and 

 taking  of  Benin  City,  it  may  be  as  well  to  explain  that  this  column  had  to  fight  its  way 

 through twenty-two miles of dense bush country, along a narrow uncleared path that only 

 admitted of marching single file, and almost unceasingly attacked by an unseen enemy, 

 who used to creep up within twenty yards of the path before firing. 

 Add  to  this  no  water  to  be  found  on  the  march  and  the  excessive  heat  of  the 

 country, and some idea can be conceived of the work the column had to do. Of course the 

 Admiral,  now  Sir  Harry  Rawson,  K.C.B.,  was  in  supreme  command,  and  the  Consul-

 General of the Protectorate, now Sir Ralph Moor, K.C.M.G., accompanied him. 

 The advance on Ilogbo began at daylight on the 12th February, and owing to the 

 impossibility  of  using  the  wire  suspension  bridge,  on  account  of  the  swamps  opposite 

 Ilogbo, the force had to be conveyed by water. Though others came up later, there was 

 only  one  steam-launch  at  Ilogbo  at  the  commencement  of  the  attack,  which  towed  two 

 surf-boats and some canoes. This was worked by that indefatigable officer Captain Child, 

 R.N.,  Superintendent  of  the  Marine  Department  of  the  Protectorate.  Owing  to  these 

 circumstances only a comparatively small number of men could be taken to Ilogbo at one 

 time, and Captain Child and his launch were at work almost continuously for two days. 

 The first detachment to start were one company of blue-jackets and two companies of the 

 Protectorate troops, under Colonel Bruce Hamilton, who commanded the advance-guard 

 the whole way to Benin City. 

 As soon as this detachment landed they were at once attacked by the Benis from 

 the  bush,  and  Captain  Koe  of  the  Protectorate  Force  was  severely  wounded,  and 

 Lieutenant Daniels, the native officer, and one private of the Force slightly wounded. As 
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 the  successive  detachments  arrived,  Colonel  Hamilton  pushed  on,  driving  the  enemy 

 back, and soon occupied the Benin village of Ilogbo, which, as usual, was some distance 

 away from the landing-place, about one thousand yards. 

 The 13th February was occupied in getting over the whole of the column, with its 

 supplies and water. 

 The advance-guard started off again at daybreak on the 14th, and after proceeding 

 some distance, met with a strong resistance from the enemy until they reached a place 

 where  there  were  cross-roads,  and  where  the  enemy  had  apparently  made  their  main 

 camp. This day the Protectorate Force had one company sergeant-major and two privates 

 severely wounded. 

 From Ilogbo as far as a place called Agagi, the enemy had cut a path in the bush 

 parallel to the main path, to be used as an ambush path. They evidently were under the 

 impression that  our force would get  no farther than Agagi, as  the ambush path ceased 

 there. This ambush path was an excellent thing for our Force, as it enabled two columns 

 to  proceed  at  the  same  time,  and  only  necessitated  the  guarding  of  one  flank  by  each 

 column. On the 1 5th February the advance-guard did not start till noon, but soon after 

 starting  they  were  attacked  from  both  sides,  the  attack  gradually  extending  the  whole 

 length of the column. 

 This went on till they reached the enemy’s camp at Agagi village soon after three 

 o'clock  p.m.  Here  the  Force  had  another  private  killed,  and  some  of  the  scouts  and 

 carriers were wounded. It had been expected that some water would be found at Agagi, 

 but all the wells were found to be dry, so now every drop of water had to be brought up 

 from Ilogbo, some ten miles away. In consequence of this the Admiral decided to leave 

 the  Second  Division  of  the  Naval  Brigade  at  Cross  Roads  Camp,  while  he  with  the 

 advance-guard and First Division of the Naval Brigade made a dash on Benin City. 

 This flying column were to take with them the necessary ammunition,  four days’ 

 provisions and three days’ water (at the rate of two quarts for each officer or man and one 
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 quart for each carrier per day), — a terribly small quantity considering the work to be done 

 and the excessive heat. However, it was all that could be allowed. 

 The advance-guard halted at Agagi on the 16th. February, which place the Admiral 

 with the Consul-General and First Division Naval Brigade reached on the afternoon of that 

 date. 

 This flying column started again at daybreak on the 17th., and only reached another 

 village called Awoko, seven miles off, about two o'clock p,m., having had a running fight 

 nearly all the way and taken en route three camps of the enemy and one village. Luckily 

 the casualties this day were small; one scout killed, one scout and one carrier severely 

 wounded (the carrier died next day), and one bluejacket slightly wounded. 

 On the 18th February the column started for its final dash on Benin City, now only eight 

 miles off. As soon as the advance-guard started they were met with a heavy fire from the 

 back, and this continued more or less the whole day. 

 About 10.30 a.m., Chief Petty Officer Ansell of the Navy was shot through the head 

 from  a  distance  about  six  yards  off,  and  killed  at  once.  About  1.p.m.  the  column  came 

 across a stockade which commanded a narrow causeway with a deep ravine on each side 

 and had a few guns in it. 

 This stockade was immediately taken and blown up with gun-cotton. About three 

 hundred yards farther on a small village was reached, and as Benin City was reported as 

 being near, some shells from the seven-pounders and rockets were fired in the direction 

 the city was supposed to be. So good was the direction that next day some of the rocket-

 heads and the effects of  the explosion of  the shells were found in the city close to the 

 King’s Compound. I was also told by an officer who was present that it was reported that 

 the King and his Juju men had actually remained in Benin City up to this time, but that a 

 rocket coming fairly near them made them decide to quit. And quit they did, worse luck. 

 About one and a half miles from Benin City the column had their first experience of 

 the  sights  of  Benin  City,  for  they  came  across  two  human  sacrifices  in  the  path,  made 
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 most probably as Juju to stop the white men from entering the city. The wretched beings 

 had had their arms tied behind their backs, their mouths gagged with pieces of stick, and 

 had then been cut down and across their chests and stomachs, so that their entrails were 

 hanging out. 

 Some distance after this the bush path opened up into a broad road leading to the 

 city,  which  was  only  about  a  thousand  yards  away  now.  Here  the  enemy  made  a 

 determined stand, and here for the first time were any of them seen — a party of them 

 actually trying to charge the head of the column as it arrived at the open broad road. 

 On  arriving  at  the  broad  road  the  advance-guard,  consisting  of  the  Protectorate 

 Force, bluejackets from the St. George, and the marine battalion, formed into square. As 

 the square advanced it was met with a tremendously hot fire from both sides, and it was 

 during this time that poor Captain Byrne, R.M.L. I., who only reached England to die from 

 the effect of his wounds, was hit badly. Here also Dr. Fyfe, R.N., who had been attending 

 to Captain Byrne, was killed, also several marines. 

 The enemy took every advantage of their cover from the bush, and some of them 

 actually  climbed  trees  to  enable  them  to  get  a  better  chance  of  firing  at  the  column. 

 However,  some  of  the  officers  of  the  Force  made  capital  “rook  –  shooting”,  and  killed 

 several of the enemy in the trees. The enemy also had several old cannon firing from the 

 direction of what was afterwards found to be the King’s house. Two hundred yards from 

 the city the column broke into a cheer and charged; the enemy fled, and Benin City was 

 taken about two o'clock p.m. 

 After six days’ hard marching and fighting in the most extreme heat the men were 

 naturally much exhausted. 

 The King’s Compound was occupied by the troops for the night, and the rearguard, 

 which had been left on the bush path, was brought up. Water was also issued to the men, 

 leaving only one quart per man as a reserve. 
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 The casualties this day had been very heavy. Dr. Fyfe, R.N., Chief Petty Officer 

 Ansell, R.N., and two marines had been killed; Captain Byrne, R.M.L.I., eight of the Naval 

 Brigade and marines, three of the Protectorate Force, one scout, one native interpreter, 

 and  six  carriers  seriously  wounded,  and  six  of  the  Naval  Brigade  slightly  wounded.  I 

 believe, also, that some of the officers were slightly wounded, but being only hit by pellets, 

 did not return themselves as so. Major Searle of the Protectorate Force also had a narrow 

 escape,  as  he  twice  got  bullets  through  his  helmet  while  working  the  Force  seven-

 pounders. 

 On the 19th February two-thirds of the column with all the carriers were sent off to 

 get water. They found the Ikpoba Creek (called the Ilogi Creek farther down) some two 

 miles off, from which a plentiful supply was obtained. In fact, it was from this  Creek the 

 inhabitants of Benin City used to get all their water. Nearly all the boxes and stores of our 

 unfortunate expedition were found almost intact in the King’s Palace, but unluckily were all 

 burned by a fire which broke out on the 21st February and burned most of the town. In this 

 fire the house used for a hospital was burned, but, thanks to the promptitude of Captain 

 Campbell, R.N., all the wounded and sick were got out safely. Many of the officers of the 

 expedition lost all their kits in this fire. 

 The Naval Brigade was to have left Benin for their ships on the 20th February, but 

 as the Protectorate Force, who were to remain in Benin, were short of ammunition and 

 stores, Admiral Rawson decided to remain till the 22nd. The whole Force was engaged for 

 the  remainder  of  the  19th,  20th,  and  21st  February,  in  clearing  the  town  as  much  as 

 possible,  making  a  defensible  camp  for  the  Protectorate  Force,  and  destroying  chiefs’ 

 houses, sacrificial and crucifixion trees, and the whole of the Juju houses. 

 On the 19th February three of the Jakri carriers of our ill-fated expedition came in 

 from the bush terribly mutilated. They reported that as our troops approached the city all 

 the other wretched carriers of our expedition who had been brought there alive were at 

 once  killed,  but  that  no  white  men  had  been  brought  there.  All  had  been  killed  at  the 

 massacre. One of poor Mr. Gordon’s boys was also found alive at the bottom of one of the 
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 deep pits amongst a lot of dead bodies. Six Accra men from the Gold Coast also came in 

 from the bush heavily ironed. They had been captured while they were collecting rubber in 

 the Mahin Country to the north of Benin City. 

 On  the  21St  February  a  carrier  column,  escorted  by  men  of  the  Naval  Brigade, 

 arrived with stores and ammunition. The whole of the Naval Brigade left Benin City on the 

 22nd February, and arrived at Warrigi on the 24th, meeting with no more opposition; the 

 flanking columns also returned soon afterwards, and the whole embarked on their ships 

 on the 27th. 

 This ended the Punitive Expedition. Though they did not suffer much at the time, 

 one  regrets  extremely  to  hear  that  the  Naval  Brigade  suffered  badly  from  fever  and 

 malaria afterwards, the Cape Squadron having a very heavy sick-list from these causes, 

 including the Admiral. 

 I  suppose  some  short  description  of  the  horrors  of  Benin  City  must  be  given, 

 though they are almost too dreadful to be described. 

 Benin City was a large rambling town divided by a broad avenue, on the south side 

 of which were the King’s and big Chiefs’ Compounds, and on the north those of the lesser 

 Chiefs and people. All these houses were built of red mud and thatched with palm leaves, 

 part of the Kings own house and the Palaver House having iron roofs. 

  In the King’s part of the town were his own house and those of his own people, the 

 Palaver  House,  Juju  houses,  and  their  Compounds,  together  with  several  old  ruined 

 houses where former kings and chiefs were supposed to be buried  

 Close to the King’s house were seven large Juju Compounds, each two to three 

 acres in extent, in which most of the sacrifices were performed, and in which the people 

 used to sit while the priest performed the sacrifices. These were large grassy enclosures, 

 surrounded by mud walls. At one end of each, under a roof, were the sacrificial altars, on 

 which were placed the gods — carved ivory tusks, standing upright, on hideous bronze 

 heads.  In  front  of  each  ivory  god  was  a  small  earthen  mound  on  which  the  wretched 
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 victim’s forehead was placed. On the altars were several rudely-carved maces for killing 

 the  unfortunate  victims.  When  the  expedition  took  Benin  City  they  found  these  altars 

 covered with streams of dried human blood, the stench of which was too awful, the whole 

 grass portion of the Compounds simply reeking with it. 

   In the corners of these Compounds huge pits, 40 to 50 feet deep, werefound filled 

 with human bodies, dead and dying, and a few wretched captives were rescued alive. The 

 Palaver House, which was about 100 feet long and about 50 or 60 feet broad, had an iron 

 roof over the side walls but was open to the air in the middle. 

 The doors were covered with embossed brass. On the roof on one side wasa huge 

 bronze snake with a large head and in the center of the yard a bronze crocodile’s head. 

 The  King’s  house  was  much  the  same.  Amongst  its  decorations  were  several  square 

 patches of glass let into the beams over the King’s bed. 

 Outside, in the open space, the state of things was almost more frightful than in the 

 Juju Compounds — everywhere sacrificial trees on which were the corpses of the latest 

 victims  —  everywhere,  on  each  path,  were  newly-sacrificed  corpses.  On  the  principal 

 sacrificial  tree  facing  the  main  gate  of  the  King’s  Compound  there  were  two  crucified 

 bodies, at the foot of the tree seventeen newly-decapitated bodies, and forty-three more in 

 various stages of decomposition. 

 On another tree a wretched woman was found crucified, while at its foot were four 

 more decapitated bodies. To the westward of the King’s house was a large open space, 

 about 300 yards in length, simply covered with the remains of some hundreds of human 

 sacrifices in all stages of decomposition. 

 The same sights were met with all over the city. Such was the state of Benin City, 

 well named the City of Blood, on the 18th January 1897. Such had been the state of the 

 city for years, and it was by trying to see if he couldn’t put a stop to such a state of things 

 by peaceful measures, first of all, that poor Phillips and all our dear  
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 In conclusion, I should like to quote an extract from a letter of a comrade of the late 

 Mr.  Phillips  :  —  “It  was  the  disaster  which  befell,  on  4th  January,  the  ill-fated  pacific 

 mission, headed by Mr. Phillips, which led to the dispatch of an armed expedition under 

 Admiral  Rawson,  the  members  of  which  displaying  gallantry  and  endurance  beyond  all 

 praise, successfully accomplished its object and drove the monster from his throne and 

 country. 

 “The loss which the British nation has sustained during the last sixty years, through 

 the deaths of so many brave soldiers, bluejackets,  and civilians in the glorious work of 

 rescuing the native races in West Africa from the horrors of human sacrifice, cannibalism, 

 and the tortures of fetish worship, must ever be a matter of deep regret and sadness to all; 

 but it cannot fail to make us proud of our country-men who have nobly and courageously 

 done  their  duty  with  the  greatest  enthusiasm,  undergoing  hardship  and  privation 

 inseparable  from  the  trying  climate  of  the  West  African  Coast,  and  exhibiting  in  their 

 conduct an entire disregard of personal danger. 
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Chapter Nine 

The Destruction of Benin City 


he invading force reached Benin City on February 18, 1897., just under two 

weeks  after  the  landing  on  the  coast,  the  so-called  Punitive  Expedition 

T reached the city, which was taken despite unexpectedly strong resistance. 

The Oba and his high dignitaries had fled, and the city turned out to be almost deserted. 

The  British  installed  their  headquarters  in  the  royal  palace,  and  scoured  the  environs 

without success in search of the Oba and his retinue. 





Sepping Wright’s painting of the British final assault on Benin City 

In  a  courtyard  of  the  royal  palace,  under  a  thick  layer  of  dust,  the  occupiers  found 

hundreds  of  unusual  bronze  reliefs;  in 

other  rooms  and  shrines  of  the  palace, 

they came across further bronze artworks 

and  ivory  carvings.  These  objects  were 

gathered  to  take  them  back  to  England 

for subsequent defrayal of the cost of the 

war.  Photograph  of  the  British 

officers who have taken residence in the palace before the destruction 
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On the third day, a fire broke out which destroyed the palace and most of the city. 

The palace had to be evacuated in haste, and a portion of the art treasures discovered fell 

victim to the fire. After the accomplishment of his mission, Admiral Rawson left Benin, and 

the city was handed over to the local colonial administration. 

The  followings  are  extracts  are  details  of  the  destruction  of  Benin  City  from  the 

dairies of Bacon one of the officers of the British expeditionary Force that captured Benin 

City on February 18, 1897  

  “In  the  afternoon  a  strong  party  accompanied  by  the  Admiral,  went  to  burn 

Ojomo’s  compound,   a village just at the commencement of the Gwato (Ughoton) Road".    

“Early next morning I was sent  with a strong party of  Houssas and the  Theseus 

 sailors and marines to burn Ochudi’s compound the village belonging to the General, who 

 guarded the Ologbo and Sakponba. This was easily done resulting in the capture of one 

 Parrot. This compound consisted of about a Hundred houses, whose roofs made a good 

 blaze. Behind the buildings there was a huge Garden. 

 The same afternoon a large party under Captain Campbell proceeded to the Iye 

 Oba’s (Queen Mother) House and destroyed it, so burning one more of the head centers 

 of vice in the City".  

It was now Sunday, February 21st, the day before the marines were scheduled to 

leave Benin. Bacon reports:  "The usual demolitions were proceeded with, and a good deal 

 of  work  done.  It  was  our  last  day  in  Benin  and  none  of  us  were  sorry  except  for  the 

 protectorate officers who were to remain with the Houssas to settle the Country". 

Boisragon wrote ”   The Naval Brigade was to have left Benin for their ships on the 

 20th February, but as the Protectorate Force, who were to remain in Benin, were short of 

 ammunition and stores, Admiral Rawson decided to remain till the 22nd. The whole Force 

 was engaged for the remainder of the 19th, 20th, and 21st February, in clearing the town 

 as  much  as  possible,  making  a  defensible  camp  for  the  Protectorate  Force,  and 

 destroying  chiefs’  houses,  sacrificial  and  crucifixion  trees,  and  the  whole  of  the  Juju 
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 houses. Nearly all the boxes and stores of our unfortunate expedition were found almost 

 intact in the King’s Palace, but unluckily were all burned by a fire which broke out on the 

 21st February and burned most of the town. 

 In this fire the house used for a hospital was burned, but, thanks to the promptitude 

 of  Captain  Campbell,  R.N.,  all  the  wounded  and  sick  were  got  out  safely.  Many  of  the 

 officers of the expedition lost all their kits in this fire.       

 The Naval Brigade was to have left Benin for their ships on the 20th February, but 

 as the Protectorate Force, who were to remain in Benin, were short of ammunition and 

 stores, Admiral Rawson decided to remain till the 22nd. 

 The  whole  Force  was  engaged  for  the  remainder  of  the  19th,  20th,  and  21st 

 February,  in  clearing  the  town  as  much  as  possible,  making  a  defensible  camp  for  the 

 Protectorate Force, and destroying chiefs’ houses, sacrificial and crucifixion trees, and the 

 whole of the Juju houses. 

 On the 19th. February three of the Jakri carriers of our ill-fated expedition came in 

 from the bush terribly mutilated. They reported that as our troops approached the city all 

 the other wretched carriers of our expedition who had been brought there alive were at 

 once  killed,  but  that  no  white  men  had  been  brought  there.  All  had  been  killed  at  the 

 massacre. One of poor Mr. Gordon’s boys was also found alive at the bottom of one of the 

 deep pits amongst a lot of dead bodies. Six Accra men from the Gold Coast also came in 

 from the bush heavily ironed. They had been captured while they were collecting rubber in 

 the Mahin Country to the north of Benin City. 

 On  the  21St.  February  a  carrier  column,  escorted  by  men  of  the  Naval  Brigade, 

 arrived with stores and ammunition. The whole of the Naval Brigade left Benin City on the 

 22nd February, and arrived at Warrigi on the 24th, meeting with no more opposition; the 

 flanking columns also returned soon afterwards, and the whole embarked on their ships 

 on the 27th. This ended the Punitive Expedition.    

 Ling Roth in his book Great Benin wrote: ‘... if a city ever deserved its fate, that city 

 was the city of Great Benin.’ And he continues ‘…that the little war we waged was justified 

 beyond all expectation.  



278 











Benin City was finally destroyed on 22 February as British marines put the palaces 

and compounds of the great chiefs to the torch.  Worse was to come. After three days the 

fires got out of control, burning up what was left of the city as well as the equipment of the 

invading British force. Much of the carved woodwork in the Oba's palace was lost. 

The extraordinary collection of brass sculptures, depicting the chief events of the 

history of Benin's people, were looted and these treasures were removed by the British 

troops and subsequently auctioned by the Admiralty to defray the cost of the expedition. 

Most  of  the  over  1000  bronzes  were  bought  by  museums  in  Germany.  Only  a  handful 

found their way to the British Museum. 











Photographs of the ruins of the Oba palace 

To justify and to cover up this premeditated invasion of Benin, the deliberate and 

willful  destruction,  and  looting  of  her  heritage,  the  perpetuators  embarked  on  a 

comprehensive and sustained propaganda of disinformation to discredit their victim. 

Unfortunately  the  denial  of  this  heinous  crime  against  mankind  is  still  actively 

promoted till date by ‘respected’ European art historians and historians  



Photographs of the destroyed walls and great halls of the Oba palace  

Thus was destroyed the great city of Benin. 
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Then to ensure military security, and provide a clear line of fire for invaders in case 

of a counter-attack by Benin soldiers, the British troops blew down the high walls of the 

brunt down Oba Palace.. 













         



Paintings  of  the  Oba  palace  before  the  burning  by  Captain  George 

LeClerc Egerton, "Ju Ju Compound, Benin," 1897 
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Chapter Ten 

The Great Loot 


mmediately  after  the  British  invaders  secured  the  city,  they  began  looting  and 

destruction.  It  was  an  exercise  that  was  carried  out  by  all  members  of  the 

I expedition.  Monuments and palaces of many high-ranking chiefs were looted 

and destroyed, and finally on the third day the looted Benin king’s palace was deliberately 

set ablaze. 

Most  of  the  plunder  was  retained  by  the  expedition  with  some  2500  (official  figures) 

religious artifacts, Benin visual history, mnemonics and artworks being sent to England. 

Two days later, the looting of the palaces of the city’s nobles, the Queen mother’s palace, 

and 

the 

royal 

harem 

at 

Ugbekun 

quarters 

followed. 

Scenes of destruction of Ogo N’Erie  



Then, the palaces and the royal quarters were torched 

and  reduced  to  rubbles.  In  the  process  many  of  the 

terracotta,  wooden  and  coconut  shell  artefacts  and 

mnemonics,  which  the  invader  did  not  consider  valuable, 

were lost forever. 
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In  a  scenario  reminiscent  of  the  Spanish  destruction  of  the  Inca  civilization,  the 

king’s palace and the royal quarter were stripped of all their ivory and bronze mnemonics 

and  artefacts.  The  kingdom’s  most  extraordinary  collection  of  bronze/brass  sculptures, 

depicting the major events of the history of Benin's people was looted. 

These  state  treasures  of  the  Benin  kingdom  were  looted  by  the  British  troops  and 

subsequently auctioned by the Admiralty to defray the cost of the expedition. 

Capt. C. H. P. Carter & others posing with the brass plaques 

This photograph taken on February 20, 1897 shows Capt. C. H. P. Carter of the 

42nd.  E P Hill and other members of  the British Expeditionary Force sitting among the 

ruins of interior of the Oba of Benin palace, smoking, smiling.  On the ground in front of 

them are treasures of 13th.-16th-century art: brass plaques that once decorated the pillars 

of the oba's palace. 

Over  one  thousand  nine  hundred  of  these  plaques  were  found  in  a  palace 

storehouse, having been removed during rebuilding of sections of the palace destroyed 
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earlier by Ogbebor the Usuper in  1816.  Along with these powerful pictorial reliefs, the 

punitive  expedition  discovered  the  rich  artistic  culture  of  Benin  going  back  well  before 

Portuguese contact: Some of these treasures were privately looted. But many were taken 

back to Britain officially as "reparations. 

































This photograph shows British marines in the courtyard of the Oba 

palace before it was deliberately set on fire, 



The merchant, Vincent Brendan claimed that he witnessed the 

looting.  He  said  “I   saw  a  brass  Portuguese  horseman  pendant 

 sticking out from the back pocket of the corporal's trousers. Around 
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 his  rifle  stock,  one  private  had  a  brass  altar  ring  that  he  probably  didn't  know  depicted 

 bound  and  severed  heads,  and  decapitated  bodies  with  vultures  feasting  upon  them. 

A brass horseman 

Indeed,  the  closer  they  got  to  the  palace,  more  soldiers  dashed  hither  and  yon 

carrying all manner of spoils of war. Some of the carved tusks were so big and heavy it 

took two or more men to hoist one of them, and there was barely a beefeater who did not 

cradle an altar tableau or a head of the Oba under his arm. 

"I  say."  Brendan  fell  easily  into  the  beefeater  lingo.  "Would  it  be  possible  to  get 

some colors to accompany us back to Sapele?""Oh," said the corporal merrily, "I daresay 

you could take a whole regiment back with you. Everyone's blooming eager to get out of 

here. It's been a larky expedition, but we've seen enough human sacrifices to last us all 

month.   

Every  member  of  the  "Benin 

Punitive  Expedition"  took  part 

in the looting, on the third day 

burning  the  Oba's  palace. 

They returned home with over 

4500  religious  artifacts  and 

bronze  artworks.    But  not  all 

manufactures 

were 

confiscated in 1897. 



Photoghraph of hundreds of ivory tusks in bedchambers of Oba 

Ovonramwen 

Professor  Ekpo  Eyo  former  Director  General  of  the  National  Commission  for 

Museums & Monuments quoting Bernard Fagg the late Keeper  of  the British museums 

wrote in his article Benin: The Sack that was  “With regard to the well-known looting which 

 took place Fagg writes “Nor is there any evidence of significant looting in the city at large 

 or indeed that there was anything much there to loot that would attract an English sailor. 
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 The records of known Benin works show remarkably little that does not appear to have 

 come from the Palace ".  

The Oba Palace in ruins 

Then,  cheerfully,  he  admits  the  Palace,  of  course,  was  another  matter.  The 

brass/bronze plaques, were between 900 and 1000 were reported by cable to the lords of 

the Admirality by Admiral Rawson and became the official booty of the expedition to be 

sold to defray the cost of the pensions of the killed and the wounded. 

The remainder; bronzes, ivories, wood carvings and iron works were not reported 

but  shared  out  carefully  among  the  officers.  This  was  unofficial  loot  which  was  still  the 

custom of war in the nineteenth century however reprehensible we may now think itIn the 

following  months,  driven  by  greed,  the  British  invaders  systematically  plundered  and 

destroyed  a  large  part  of  the  city.  Residential  buildings  and  monuments  were  razed; 

shrines and tombs were frenziedly ripped open in the search for bronze, ivory and other 

treasures. As such mud relief artworks, murals and ancestral staffs, which decorated the 

walls of the city’s houses, shrines and tombs, were obliterated. The royal palace of Benin 

was one of the great cultural complexes of Africa, a continent that, according to Victorians, 

wasn't supposed to have anything like it. It was a court as big as a European town. "It is 

divided  into  many  palaces,  houses,  and  apartments  of  the  courtiers,"  reads  Olfert 

Dapper's enthusiastic 1668 account, "and comprises beautiful and long square galleries... 

resting  on  wooden  pillars,  from  top  to  bottom  covered  with  cast  copper,  on  which  are 

engraved the pictures of their war exploits and battles... 

Every roof is decorated with a small turret ending in a point, on which birds are standing, 

birds cast in copper with outspread wings." An engraving shows the soaring spires with 

their metal birds. 

The palace was gone, the city wrecked, a culture halted overnight. 

It was, indeed, a punitive expedition. 
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When  an  administration  of  sorts  was  ultimately  established  in  the  town,  a  large 

portion of  the Palace Grounds was converted into a farm that  produced the food crops 

with which the prisoners of the recently established Government prison were fed. 

Some years later a colonial officer observed;  “ I never saw the palace, and cannot 

 therefore describe it, but while wandering about its ruins I have come across holes in the 

 ground some 15 feet deep, which were in some of the divisions of the palace, and were 

 used by the late Oba as the burial place of those visitors whom he did not wish to see 

 again. The people still dig amongst the ruins of the palace for the bronzes the Oba and his 

 followers valued so much. 

 Mr. Erdmann, a well known German trader, on his last visit to Benin City informed 

 me that he had seen the palace just after its roof had been burnt off and had taken many 

 photographs of it. He said that the bronzes were ranged along the walls and served as 

 historical symbols, reminding the historian of  the chief  events of  the  past history of  the 

 Benin people. Unfortunately this much-respected trader died on his way home in the year, 

 1904”.   

These  looted  and  destroyed  mnemonics,  artefacts,  relief  artworks,  murals  and 

ancestral staffs, complemented the legends and folklore of the Edo people and they were 

the empire and the city’s recorded history. 
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Captain Barrows with looted ivories 

Captain Barrows of the Niger Coast Protectorate Force is photographed here with 

two ivory tusks looted from the palace of the Oba of Benin. Another officer of the British 

Expeditionary Force is photographed here with two ivory tusks looted from the palace of 

the Oba of Benin 

The  burning  down  of  the  Palace  took  place  on  Sunday  February  21,  1897,  three  days 

after the fall of Benin. 

It was also the last day before the departure of the Royal Marines from Benin. 

Before  burning  incident  the  Palace  was  turned  into  the  resident  of  the 

occupation force and it was there that they stored their ammunitions and other 

equipment. 

Service  Medal  awarded  to  members  of  the  Benin  Punitive 

Expedition 
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This 

photograph 

shows  looted  Benin 

artefacts 

being 

transported 

to 

the 

coast  for  shipment  to 

England. 









According to Barbara Plankensteiner, the colonial officers in charge of maintaining 

order  in  Benin  City  were  quick  to  take  interest  in  the  country’s  artistic  traditions  and 

became  the  first  collectors  and  foreign  patrons  of  Benin  art.  Sculpted  elephant  tusks 

dating from the beginning of  the British occupation can now be found in museums and 

private collections. 

Cyril  Punch,  a  British  trader  and  official  who  paid  several  visits  to  Benin  City 

between 1888 and 1891,    wrote  ‘It may be that Benin through foreign influence growing 

 from  a  Negro  into  a  civilised  town  long  ago…’  He  continues  ‘As  a  town,  Benin  was 

 inconsiderable….’  ‘There was no wealth, nor was there even power…’  

These and other accounts by western historians and writers who continue to parrot 

the distorted story of Benin or create new ones may seem like academic laziness. But the 

truth  remains  that  a  majority  of  them  cannot  still  accept  the  fact  that  a  black  African 

civilisation  developed,  flourished,  and  produced  remarkable  feats  without  outside 

influences. 
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Ten    years    after    the  

incineration 



and  

plundering    of    the    royal  

city    of    Benin  by    the  

British 



Punitive  

Expedition,  artefacts    that 

had  once  been  reserved  

for    the  Oba  had    become  

a  commodity  sold  on  the  

international  art market. 

This  Glass  negative,  taken  in  1907,  attributed  to  Wilhelm  Trautwein, 

shows  a  son  of  the  Eholor  of  Igbesanmwan  Guild  posing  with  objects 

taken  from  the  ancestral  altars  of  the  Eholor  before  they  were  shipped  to 

England. 
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Chapter Eleven 

The Surrender 


he  pursuit  of  Oba  Ovonramwen  and  Chiefs  who  left  the  city  before  its  fall 

provided another opportunity for violence against the people. 

T A report of 18th March, 1897, confirmed the killing of the Enogie of Orior for 

attempting to escape, while being forced to guide British officials to the king’s hideout. In 

the same report, another town to which the king was said to have recently escaped from, 

and  the  town  of  Amufi  were  destroyed.  Captain  Roupell  reported  burning  down  two 

villages and collecting their livestock during his pursuit of a chief on 23 April 1897. 

Such  wholesale  violence  terrorized  the  people  and  made  their  situation  and 

admitted with some regret that the chiefs were “afraid of the Whiteman…..It was a pity to 

have  burnt  their  houses”.   As  a  result,  he  resorted  to  cajolery  and  blackmail  that 

succeeded  in  making  many  chiefs  and,  later  on,  the  Oba  the  submitted  himself  to  the 

colonial officials. 

For a further six months, a small British force harried the countryside in search of 

the Oba and his chiefs who had fled. Cattle were seized and villages destroyed. Not until 

August was the Oba came back to his ruined city and 

surrendered. 

According to the notes of Ernst Roupell, the member of 

the  British  military  force  who  took  possession  of  this 

stool in Benin, Oba Ovonramwen was sitting on it when 

he  was  sentenced  to  exile  by  a  military  tribunal  in 

September 1897. 

Agba’ Ovonramwen   

Even before the deportation of the  Oba, the realities of the situation were made known to 

the chiefs”. 
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An immense throng was assembled to witness the ritual humiliation that the British 

imposed  on  their  subject  peoples.  The  Oba  was  required  to  kneel  down  in  front  of  the 

British  military  "Resident"  of  the  town  and  to  literally  bite  the  dust.    Supported  by  two 

chiefs, the king made obeisance three times, rubbing his forehead on the ground three 

times.  He was told that he had been deposed. 

Some weeks later, Ralph Moor, the orchestrator of these events, arrived to prepare 

the final humiliation. The Oba and his chiefs were then subjected to a show trial. 

The beaded flywhisk & Crown of 

Oba Ovonramwen 

Before   Oba   Ovonramwen  and  the  chiefs 

who were assembled at the consular court 

on the 7th of September, 1897, the Consul-General, Sir Ralph Moor, 

made  the  following  public  declaration:  ...  now  this  is  the  Whiteman’s 

 country, there is only one king in the country  and that is the Whiteman... Overami is no 

 longer king of  this country  – the Whiteman is 

 the only man who is king in this country and to 

 him only service is due... 

Oba  Ovonramwen  was  charged  with  the 

murder  of  Lt  Phillips.  Moor  was  the  judge. 

While the life of the Oba himself was spared, 

six  of  his  chiefs  were  condemned  to  death. 

Erhabor  the  Ologbose  continued  a  guerrilla 

struggle  against  the  British  for  another  two 

years. But he too was eventually captured and 

hanged. 

Oba Ovonramwen onboard the NCP 

yacht “the Ivy” on his way to exile 
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Oba Ovonramwen final act of surrender was to stem the slaughter of his people. 

Many of his chiefs and commanders as well as his soldiers considered his surrender an 

unbearable catastrophe and committed suicide rather than see the king humiliated. 

This  photograph  shows  Oba  Ovonramwen  sitting  on  a  wicker  chair  with  three 

African troops standing at attention in military uniform. The Oba wears an elaborate and 

voluminous velvet gown covering his whole body, barely revealing his chained ankles. 

On September 13, 1897, Oba Ovonramwen was 

gagged tied in a hammock and taken to Ughoton 

and  from  there  to  Sapele  and  placed  onboard 

the NCP yacht “the Ivy” to life exile in Calabar   

NCP yacht “the Ivy 

All  these  form  the  collections  of  one  of  Nigeria’s  foremost  professional  photographers, 

Jonathan Adagogo Green. He took these pictures aboard the SS Ivy, the ship conveying  

the monarch as it was anchored off the Bonny River on its way to Calabar. 

Green, a professional photographer was born in Bonny, 

in 1873. He was the son of a successful Ibani Ijaw palm 

oil trader, Chief Sunju Dublin Green, who worked closely 

with  foreing  traders  and  missionaries.  These 

relationships  might  have  helped  his  son’s  career.  He 

served as the  primary  photographer for the British and 

his own people, between the early 1890s and when he 

died  at  32.  Although  his  professional  stamp,  “J.  A. 

Green,  Artist  Photographer,  Bonny,  Opobo  &  co” 

concealed  his  African  identity  behind  his  British 

sounding name. 

Oba Ovonramwen in a wicker chair on board the “Ivy. 
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A significant number, led by some chiefs, maintained guerilla warfare against the British 

for almost two years until their leaders were captured and executed. The remaining arms 

of  the  resistance  thereafter  gave  up  their  arms  and  merged  back  into  the  general 

population.” 

Another  photograph  of  Oba 

Ovonranmwen  wearing  the 

same voluminous velvet gown 
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Benin Brass Plaques: Art in Captivity 
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Chapter One 

The Niger Coast Protectorate 


y  1899,  Benin  was  administered  as  part  of  the  Niger  Coast  Protectorate, 

which later became the Protectorate of Southern Nigeria in 1900. 

B Taking advantage of French expansion in the region the British government 

revoked  R.N.C.'s  charter  and  both  British  southern  territories  were  united  into  the 

Protectorate of Southern Nigeria. 

In  1906  the  Protectorate  was  merged  with 

the  Colony  of  Lagos  into  the  Colony  and 

Protectorate  of  Southern  Nigeria  and  from 

hence “Southern Nigeria” was administered 

as  three  main  provinces,  Western,  Central 

and  Eastern,  along  with  the  Lagos  colony 

with  which  it  had  been  merged  that  year. 

The Niger Coast Protectorate  

The Eastern province was run from Calabar, the Central Province from Warri, and 

the Western Province from Lagos.  The Central Province was also known as the Niger 

province.  It  consisted  of  the  Aboh,  Agbor,  Asaba,  Awka,  Benin,  Forcados,  Idah,  Ifon, 

Ishan, Kwale, Okwoga, Onitsha, Sapele, Udi and Warri districts. 

The protectorate of Northern Nigeria, on the other hand, was initially organized into 

13 provinces run by Provincial residents before Ilorin and Kabba were merged into one. 

The protectorates and colonies of Northern and Southern Nigeria were later amalgamated 

on January 1st 1914 to create “Nigeria In that same year. 
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The British Colonial Administration  

fter  the  deportation  of  Oba  Ovonranmwen  in  September  1897,  a  council  of 

chiefs  was  appointed.  This  council  carries  on  the  government  of  the  whole 

A Benin country, and is presided over by a British resident   

The  council  made  rules  for  governing  Benin  kingdom  and  her  former 

territories. This council exercised control over Benin chiefs; settled disputes between the 

chiefs, and in all, maintained law and order in the territories of Benin. This new political 

arrangement under British rule was complicated 

with the removal of the Oba who had been the 

politico-economic and spiritual head of Benin. 

This  meant  loss  of  sovereignty,  albeit, 

independence as the British Resident  took the 

position  of  the  Oba  and  classified  the  Native 

Council  chiefs  as  major  and  minor  with  utter 

disregard to the hierarchy of authority in Benin 

chieftaincy system.                 Capt. Roupell the 1st. Resident with his officials 





















The Fort built by the British in the heart of the Oba Palace in 1898 
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By  May  1897,  the  city  of  Benin  was  once  more  burstling  and  the  inhabitants 

returned. Those who returned were the chiefly class who could not endure the hardship of 

the interior villages that had fled to. 

The houses were rebuilt and the populace made their submission to the invaders. 



Drawing of Benin City made by an English officer in November 1897 

In his paper “The 1987 British Expedition in Historical Perspective: its Lessons and 

Challenges”, Dr. Victor Osaro Edo wrote “Changing fortune of the Benin chiefs in the new 

administrative  structure.  The  exit  of  the   Oba   created  a  vacuum  in  the  pre-British 

hierarchical political system for the institution of the monarchy. 

It turned the chiefs to stooges of the British as they easily succumbed to alien rule 

and undermined their positions and traditions of Benin. It became clear to the chiefs that 

their roles in the traditional political structure had been distorted by the incursion of alien 

values  and  system  of  government,  and  that  they  were  to  adjust  themselves  to  the 

changing situation. 

The continued resistance of Chiefs Ologbosere, Ebohon and Oviawe ensured the 

continuation of this orgy of violence against communities in areas where they are based. 

According  to  Robert  Home,  “The  Benin  territories  expedition….was  one  of  the  hardest 

bush  campaigns  ever  fought  in  British  West  Africa.  The  resistance  took  the  form  of 

subversive activities against the new government in Benin. 
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Thus the given to the instructions of the colonial troops during the uprising of 1906 was                   

“In the event of natives not complying with the instruction….the villages concerned will be 

considered unfriendly and dealt with accordingly” 

In 1906, the people of Owa had attacked the Forest Guards sent to instruct them to 

tap  rubber  and  for  this  a  section  of  their  town  was  burnt  by  troops  as  punishment  in 

addition to a fine. Earlier in  late 1905, colonial troops had visited Urhonigbe to enforce 

collection  of  tributes.  However,  the  end  of  armed  resistance  did  not  stop  the  use  of 

violence  against  the  people.  It  seems  to  have  been  a  deliberate  policy  to  continue  to 

terrorize the people into total submission. 

The colonial officials have painted a negative image of the people as bloodthirsty, 

maintained theri rampaging troops in the territory of some time. They were withdrawn in 

1904, returned 1906, and were thereafter deployed at will until the First World War. The 

incessant  use  of  military  force  terrorize  the  populace  and  instilled  the  fear  of  the 

Europeans and their agents in the people. 

The  European  became  synonymous  with  violence  and  the  people  summarized 

their experience of this time in the proverb: Ebo gha re, Evbemwen re meaning when the 

European arrives, trouble comes with him. 

The  severity  of  colonial  official  retaliation  registered  in  the  peoples  psyche. 

Henceforth,  punishment  among  the  Edo  that  was  considered  to  be  extreme  was 

declaimed by the proverbial query;  “Te ime gbe Ovbi’ebo?” did I kill a Whiteman?  This 

proverb expresses the people’s execration of the barbarity of British violence that can be 

likened to killing a fly with a sledge hammer. 

One  hundred  and  sixteen  years  later  the  phrase  “Te  ime  gbe  Ovbi’ebo  ra?”  still 

connotes an expression of oppression among the Benins. 

With  such  wanton  violence  on  the  part  of  the  British,  confronting  the  colonial 

administration  was  therefore  discounted  as  a  resistance  strategy;  instead  many  people 

deserted their communities to seek refuge in relative safety elsewhere from the reach of 

British  colonial  administrators.  While  much  has  been  documented  about  the  general 

oppression and exploitation of the colonized during the colonial rule by colonial officials 
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and  their  agents,  very  little  seems  to  be  written  about  the  cruelty  of  particular  colonial 

officials, which was also seriously felt by the helpless peasantry. 

The British Colonial administration also established a bipartite judicial system, with 

a  supreme  court  administering  British  law  and  native  courts  for  maintaining  customary 

law.  This  was  after  the  establishment  of  a  Council  of  Chiefs  by  the  British.  It  was 

composed  of  Okizi  the  Iyase,  Izevbokun  the  Oshodi,  Agho  the  Obaseki  and  Iyamu  the 

Inneh. Others were the Uwangue, the Ihaza, the Ima, the Obahiagbon, the Osague, the 

Ezomo, the Ehondor, the Ero and the Aiyobahan.    

 In his paper  “The 1987 British Expedition in Historical Perspective: its Lessons and 

 Challenges”,  Dr. Victor Osaro Edo wrote “Changing fortune of the Benin chiefs in the new 

administrative  structure.  The  exit  of  the   Oba   created  a  vacuum  in  the  pre-British 

hierarchical  political  system  for  the  institution  of  the  monarchy.    It  turned  the  chiefs  to 

stooges  of  the  British  as  they  easily  succumbed  to  alien  rule  and  undermined  their 

positions and traditions of Benin. 

It became clear to the chiefs that their roles in the traditional political structure had 

been distorted by the incursion of alien values and system of government, and that they 

were to adjust themselves to the changing situation.  

He  further  stated”  After  the  infamous  British  punitive  expedition,  the  subsequent 

dethronement and deportation of Oba Ovonramwen to old Calabar, the British colonialists 

had to find an alternative system of ruling the Benin Kingdom. 

They eventually established a Native Council. Having decided to set up the Native 

Council,  the British were faced with the  problem of  the redistribution  of  power  in Benin 

because they needed administrative assistants. They found a solution in the selection of 

some  chiefs  as  members  of  the  Benin  Native  Council  (B.N.C.).  The  selection  was, 

however, not determined by the existing tradition, but was based on chiefs who made an 

easy submission to the British officials. This Council was different in composition from the 

Oba’s council of the pre-British era.  Not all those who sat on the Oba’s council were now 

appointed to the Native Council. The traditional order of seniority of those chiefs appointed 

to the council was not respected. 
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For instance, the Osague who was the head of the Oba’s council was not regarded 

as such by the British officers. Instead, the Obaseki, a junior chief, was made the vice-

president of the Native Council. 

According to Prof. Igbafe, it would appear that each chief was selected because he 

was reckoned potentially useful to the administration. This Native Council formed the main 

instrument  of  government  during  the  interregnum.  It  represented  a  few  chiefs  of  the 

nobility  class  in  Benin.  It  combined  judicial  functions  with  legislation  and  was  directly 

controlled and presided over by the political officers, who were responsible for most of its 

administrative decisions. 















Members of the Native Council at the official opening of Agbado 

Market 



Principal chiefs 

of Benin City 

in 1906 
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The  Native  Council  represented  a  centralisation  of  power  in  the  extreme,  totally  at 

variance with Benin traditional practices. Unlike the Native Council, the pre-British central 

council  in  Benin  left  much  of  the  local  issues  to  the  villages  under  their  Enigie  and 

Edionwere. Prof. Philip Igbafe explains that the chiefs were ‘appointed as they showed a 

willingness to serve the victorious and ruling British officers.’  

This  photograph  shows  the  various  ethnic  nationalities  that  constituted  the  new 

ruling elites in British administration of the old Benin Empire. 

The  principal  building  is  the  British  residency,  which  is  constructed  of  brick  and 

timber.    A  primary  school,  supported  by  the  native  chiefs,  was  opened  in  1902,  and  a 

meteorological 

station 

was 

established in 1902.  In 1904, Benin 

City  was  placed  in  telegraphic 

communication  with  the  rest  of  the 

protectorate and with Europe. 

In 1906 Urhokpota Hall was built. 

The Official opening of 

Urhokpota Hall 

According  to  Dr.  Uyilawa  Usunalele,  the 

Benin Division was carved out of the core 

area  of  the  Benin  Kingdom  after  the 

British conquest of the kingdom in 1897. 

It was incorporated into and subordinated 

to  the  colonial  state  that  had  been 

established in the Nigerian area. 





Benin City in 1899 
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Chapter Two 

Para Rubber & the British  


ccording  to  James  Fernke,  British 

conquest  of  Benin  Kingdom  was 

A motivated in part by the region's 

wild  rubber  resources.  After  the 

capture of Benin in February 1897, Yoruba and 

Fante  tapping  gangs  moved  in  to  tap  rubber 

almost immediately. 

Dr. Ofonagoro wrote in 1979 that  this was part of  a larger move of  Hausas and 

Yorubas into the Anambara valley and Cross River territories, backed by the armed forces 

of the Royal Niger Company (RNC) and over local opposition. In Benin, it was an invasion 

by  Ilaje,  Ekiti  and  eastern  Yoruba;  erstwhile  vassals  of  Benin  into  the  Iyeke’Ovia 

territories.  Meanwhile  the  Ekas,  Ukuanis,  Urhobos  and  Isoko  poured  into  the  old 

Iyeke’orhionmwon territories claiming farmlands. 

Earlier  on,  British  firms  applied  for  concessions  to  work  Benin's  rubber.  In  May 

1898,  Gallwey  reported  that  he  had  received  a  telegram  from  Bleasby,  asking  for  a 

concession of fifty square miles to work both rubber and timber. 

Moor,  who  was  on  leave,  replied  that  he  was  opposed  to  the  granting  of  such 

Concessions  as  they  savoured  somewhat  of  monopoly  also  they  milk  the  country  too 

heavily without supplying commensurate feeding. 

The Royal Niger Company took advantage of  the removal of the Oba to expand 

into  Benin  Territory.  The  Royal  Niger  Company  agents  moved  into  subject  towns, 

encouraging them to ignore the British officers in Benin City, in order to divert trade. 

On  May  27,  1899  before  the  final  expedition  against  Ologbose,  Moor  wrote  to 

Chamberlain.  Moor  reported  that,  during  the  expedition  against  Ologbose,  arms  and 
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ammunition had found their way into the disaffected area from the territories of the Royal 

Niger Company, and were no doubt exchanged for the rubber. It was his belief that there 

had  been  a  general  league  between  the  rebels,  the  local  inhabitants,  and  the  Yorubas 

who were in the territories as traders in rubber". 

While some of the rubber trade had managed to find its way into Benin City, the 

majority  he  believed  had  been  pushed  into  the  territories  of  the  Royal  Niger  Company, 

whose  mark  had  been  found  on  kegs  of  powder  held  by  Ologbose’s  guerrillas.  Rubber 

continued to bleed into Royal Niger Company territory after this. 

Hitchens reported that he had personally inspected and assessed the value of the 

rubber forests belonging to nearly 100 Benin towns and villages, and created staffs of ex-

offcio  rubber  inspectors"  in  each  of  them,  proportionate  with  the  size  of  the  forest  He 

instructed locals in tapping, explained the regulations, and constituted every Benin an ex-

officio policeman to bring to justice any rubber gatherer infringing on the regulations." 

In  his  view,  the  Benin  responded  with  alacrity,"  exercising  such  restraining 

influence on prohibited rubber-tapping and adulterated rubber-producing that not a single 

rubber  gatherer  is  free  from  closèshadowing,'  and  not  a  single  ball  of  rubber  and 

prohibited  root  rubber  could  work  its  undetected  way  to  Lagos  or  our  own  trading 

factories." He did not believe it was possible for rubber to leave any portion of the Benin 

territories, even in the newly acquired Eastern districts. 

Moor's  regulations  were  initially  only  in  force  in  the  Benin  territories;  the  other 

rubber forests of Southern Nigeria were in areas where Native Councils had not yet been 

established, so that similar laws could be made there. Gallwey felt, however, that it would 

probably  be  found  advisable  to  issue  a  Proclamation  dealing  with  rubber  forests 

throughout the Protectorate. 

In 1900, the Forestry Proclamation was issued; this required licenses be acquired 

from the District Commissioner to tap rubber, provided details on the permitted methods of 

tapping, and were applied to all persons, not just foreigners. The Government wished to 

use  this  proclamation  to  begin  the  forced  creation  of  forest  reserves,  but  due  to  fierce 

opposition, this could not be implemented (von Hellermann and Usuanlele, 2009). 
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In 1904, Egerton suggested that the Forestry Department was then \fully organized 

and capable of exercising an efficient control over timber cutting and, in a lesser degree, 

over the proper tapping of rubber-bearing plants. 

The British Colonial Economy  

According to Chief Egharevba, before 1897, Edo villagers could control access to 

their  forest  resources.  In  principle,  land  in  Benin  was  considered  as  belonging  to  the 

people as a whole," with the Oba as trustee. In each town, village or clan, the Enogie or 

Odionwere was trustee, under the Oba's authority.  Bradbury wrote in 1957 that the village 

was  the  effective  landowning  unit,  with  no  smaller  group  holding  any  recognized 

permanent interest in land. 

Egharevba  claimed  any  Benin  person  could  farm  in  any  part  of  Benin  territory, 

though  outside  of  his  own  village  he  would  need  to  obtain  permission  from  and  give 

annual gifts to the local Enogie or Odionwere, until he settled permanently. 

Hunters in the forests of Benin,  native and non-native" were required to turn the 

hand of any animal killed to the Enogie of the local town, and the Oba was owed a leg and 

tusk of any elephant killed.  Critically, the only non-Edo who, before 1897, could exploit 

local resources were those who settled and assimilated in Benin villages. 

After  1897,  outsiders came  in  seeking  rights  to  farm,  fish,  and  reap  palm  fruits, 

and  effective  regulations  were  established  only  slowly  throughout  the  colonial  period  to 

control  these  demands.  Immediately  after  February  1897,  many  Yoruba  settlers 

succeeded  in  gaining  land  without  holding  title  through  the  Oba;  these  were  not 

regularized until 1914 . 

A colonial state apparatus and bureaucratic organs were established in the division 

to reorganize and re-orientate the economy for the profitable operation of British capitalist 

enterprise.  Because  of  these  essential  aims  of  colonialism,  the  colonial  state  was  in 

nature  and  character  interventionist.  It  was  vested  with  enormous  powers  which  were 

used to regulate and control social relations (especially labor, taxation, land and business) 



305 



so as to ensure the promotion of capitalist enterprise, while at the same time minimizing 

any threat to its development and profitability for British economy. 

The  new  colonial  capitalist  economy,  which  the  colonial  state  brought  into 

existence, depended at the initial stage on force labour.  It gradually used the imposition 

of  cash  needs  to  force  the  populace  into  producing  agricultural  raw  materials  and  or 

selling  their  labor  to  colonial  capitalist  enterprise.  The  result  was  an  agricultural  raw 

materials production economy, including private plantations and timber concessions, but 

dependent largely on peasants and increasingly on migrant labor. 

This kind of economy, as Majorie Mbilinyi has shown in colonial Tanzania, was not 

dependent  on  school-manufactured  skills.   But  in  spite  of  this  character  of  the  colonial 

economy, it still required certain specialized labour skills, training, and efficiency rates that 

were lacking in the pre-colonial economy and society. Only a small number of people with 

this kind of skill were required for the profitable operations of the colonial economy. 

Unlike the metropolitan capitalist economy where mass education was necessary 

for the production of labor power and the maintenance of capitalist relations of production, 

the  education  that  was  introduced  to  African  colonies  functioned  essentially  to  produce 

and pacify a small group of skilled and literate administrative functionaries and workers. 

Since  education  is  a  function  of  the  society  in  which  it  exists,  the  functional 

dissimilarities in education between the metropolitan capitalist countries and the African 

colonies  make  it  incorrect  to  use  the  same  concept  for  both.  Hence,  to  differentiate 

Western education as it obtains in the advanced metropolitan capitalist countries from the 

type introduced to the African colonies, the latter will be called colonial Western education. 

This  description  also  includes  missionary  education,  which  served  similar  functions  of 

rationalizing and perpetuating the colonial system and depended on financial and material 

aid from the colonial state. 
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The British Colonial Education  

In his paper,  Introduction, Growth and State Control of Colonial Western Education 

 -1897-1960, Dr. Uyilawa Usuanlele opined that three factors influenced the introduction of 

colonial western education into Benin Division by the colonial state. 

First, the prejudices of the British against the Benin Kingdom as barbaric and fetish 

ridden made the colonial state want to pursue a civilizing mission among the people. In 

the annual report of 1897, Benin was recommended for the establishment of a school to 

improve  the  people’s  lot.  It  was  hoped  that  the  Christian  missionaries  would  establish 

schools and would  be  assisted  by government, but  failing which the  government  would 

establish a school. The civilizing objective was initially taken very serious by the state and 

education was seen as the instrument for its achievement. 

Second,  the  pre-colonial  Benin  Kingdom’s  bureaucracy  and  educational  system 

were unsuited to the kind of skills, training, and rate of efficiency necessary for capitalist 

exploitation and domination of the human and material resources of Benin Kingdom. This 

problem  was  initially  tackled  by  simultaneously  import  skilled  and  literate  personnel  to 

service the lower echelons of the colonial administration and sending indigenous people 

out of the division for training in such skills. 

These solutions were expedient for the establishment and consolidation of colonial 

domination  and  exploitation,  pending  the  arrival  of  Christian  missionaries  to  establish 

schools. The title holders were urged to bring out their children for schooling in Calabar. 

By 1898, they had reluctantly sent only three of their numerous children. They sent 

only their dependents and slaves, because of their distrust of colonial officials believed to 

be using schooling in Calabar as a punitive measure against them. The title holders also 

feared that their children would be enslaved by Europeans in Calabar. 

When the pressure on them was increased, they demanded the establishment of 

schools in Benin City for their children instead. The initial response of the titleholders and 

the use of imported literate personnel were not in the interest of the colonial state. They 
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constituted  dangers  and  problems  for  the  continuity  and  practice  of  the  politically 

expedient and inexpensive administration, which was based on the use of members of the 

overthrown ruling aristocracy to mediate colonial domination. 

The  problem  arose  because  the  acceptability  of  literate  slaves  and  imported 

personnel  would  be  difficult  and  expensive  to  enforce.  They  lacked  and  pre-colonial 

ideological  control  and  influence  over  the  colonized  people  on  which  the  mediations  of 

colonial domination depended. 

The two immediate and expedient solutions also created politico-financial problems 

for  the  colonial  state.  This  was  the  third  factor  that  influenced  the  introduction  and 

establishment of colonial western education institutions in the division. The expensiveness 

of the immediate solutions conflicted with the colonial state’s policy of spending very little 

on the colonies. The high cost of these solutions is revealed by the fact that the colonial 

state bore the full cost of the maintenance and education of Benin pupils in Calabar.  Also 

there were the relatively high salaries and wages the colonial state paid to attract imported 

literate and skilled functionaries and workers. 

As  late  as  1914,  the  Governor-general,  Lord  Frederick  Lugard  was  still  battling 

with these problems when reported that:   The commercial interest of the country are no 

 less  hampered    than   the  government  lack  of  staff,  and  the  merchants  say    that   the 

 greatest boon which at this stage could be conferred on them is a better supply of reliable 

 natives to occupy posts of responsibility, at present filled by subordinate Europeans  at a 

 great cost and at a sacrifice of continuity.  

Imported  functionaries  as  an  elite  class      amongst  the  colonized  people  were 

expected  by  the  colonial  state  to  spend  their  wages  and  salaries  on  the  purchases  of 

imported European manufactures. This behavior was expected to be emulated by mass of 

colonized people. But these imported literate and skilled functionaries and workers were 

remitting  their  salaries  and  wages  home,  outside  the  division  and  the  colonial  territory. 

This  had  earlier  made  Consul  General  Moor  frown  on  the  behavior  of  these  imported 

literate personnel, who spend as little as possible in the area to which they were posted. 
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The problems were worsened by the slow and reluctant response of the Christian 

missionaries to the invitation to establish schools in the division. The reasons for this kind 

of response are still not clear. The Roman Catholic Mission (RCM) had acquired a site in 

Benin City in 1899, but the grant was cancelled by the colonial state in 1901. The Church 

Missionary Society (CMS) had been bedeviled with schisms during this period. A faction 

of the CMS led and organized personally by Bishop James Johnson had established itself 

in the division only in 1902, followed by the Southern America Baptist in 1923, the RCM in 

1924, the Salvation Army in 1926, and other denominations later on. 

Though the Muslims had come on the heels of the colonial conquerors as traders, 

artisans, workers, and so on and established Koranic schools for their wards, it was only 

in the late 1940s that they started  establishing schools that used the Roman script and 

English  as  the  medium  of  instruction  and  taught  secular  subjects  along  with  Islamic 

religious knowledge. 

Like  the  Christians,  they  were  also  bogged  down  by  their  sectarian  rivalries, 

manifested in the struggle between the Ahmadiyya and non-Ahmadiyya groups for state 

recognition.  Christian  missionary  education  in  the  Niger  Coast  Protectorate  area  before 

1900  was  functionally  inadequate  for  the  needs  of  the  colonial  administration  and  the 

trading  firms.  All  these  problems  made  the  colonial  state  introduce  colonial  Western 

education institutions to the old Benin Kingdom. 

In  1901,  the  colonial  state  provided  materials  while  the  pre-colonial  titleholders 

mobilized labor for the building and establishment of an elementary school, Government 

School, Benin City, for a purely secular education.  Moral instructions were introduced into 

its curriculum only in the late 1910s. Apart from a special class for training government 

employees, females and industrial craft sections were also added to the school in 1905. 

It was a day school and the medium of instruction from the beginning was English. 

Financial  support  for  the  school  was met  through  a  general  levy  collected from  the 

populace  by  the  pre-colonial  titleholder;  hence  it  was  usually  mistakenly  referred  to  as 

chiefs’ contribution. 
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Financial  support  was  also  obtained  through  fees  paid  by  some  pupils.  The 

educational  model  that  informed  the  establishment  of  this  school  was  a  British  class-

structured one in which the elementary school catered for the training of the working-class 

elements. 

The Emancipation of Slaves  

After the conquest of Benin, one of the institutions attacked by the British colonial 

administration was Slavery and slave ownership. In his book “Slavery and Emancipation 

in Benin, 1897–1945” Professor Philip A. Igbafe wrote “Slavery and pawning were closely 

related though different institutions in pre-colonial Benin society. 

At  Benin,  the  Portuguese  initially  bought  slaves  for  resale  on  the  Gold  Coast, 

where enslaved Africans were traded for gold. Because of this, the southwestern coast of 

Nigeria and neighbouring parts of the present-day Republic of Benin became known as 

the "slave coast." 

In the late sixteenth century, the Portuguese looked to the Bight of Benin for its 

supply of African slaves. By then they were concentrating activities on the Angolan coast, 

which supplied roughly 40 percent of all slaves shipped to the Americas throughout the 

duration of the transatlantic trade, but they always maintained a presence on the Nigerian 

coast. Nigeria kept its important position in the slave trade throughout the great expansion 

of the transatlantic trade after the middle of the seventeenth century. Slightly more slaves 

came  from  the  Nigerian  coast  than  from  Angola  in  the  eighteenth  century,  while  in  the 

nineteenth century perhaps 30 percent of all slaves sent across the Atlantic came from 

Nigeria. 

Over the period of the whole trade, more than 3.5 million slaves were shipped from 

Nigeria  to  the  Americas.  Most  of  these  slaves  were  Igbo  and  Yoruba,  with  significant 

concentrations of Hausa, Ibibio, and other ethnic groups. 

This ancient town of Badagry was founded around 1570s A.D. by Benin soldiers. 

Before its existence, people lived along the Coast of Gberefu and this area later 

gave birth to the town of Badagry. Though founded by Benin soldiers, the ancient town 
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served mainly the Oyo Empire, which was comprised of Yoruba and Ogu people as its 

main  port  for  the  slave  trade.  In  the  early  1500's,  slaves  were  transported  from  West 

Africa to America through Badagry. 

Also Africans were taken to Europe, South America and the Caribbean. The slaves 

came mainly from West Africa. The slave trade became the major source of income for 

the Europeans in Badagry. 

In  many  areas  of  Nigeria  and  indeed  West  Africa,  colonial  rule  signified  the  end  of  the 

slave trade but domestic slavery was left undisturbed for quite a long time. The earliest of 

the slave dealing ordinances merely contained clauses in favour of manumission. 

In Benin, however, for quite peculiar reasons, the British attack on slavery came 

with the first entry of British troops into the area.  First, emancipation was used to facilitate 

British occupation. Later, the drive for manumission was a strong expression of the British 

commitment to a principle which grew out of the  ad hoc  adoption of measures favouring 

emancipation. 

In the attack on slavery and pawning in Benin, the native courts were heavily relied 

upon as well as the use of  ordinances  and proclamations. The abolition of  slavery and 

pawning created a welter of problems on the social, economic and political planes”. 
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Chapter Two 

Old Benin Territories under the Britsh 


Urhobo Nation 

efore  the  Fall  of  Benin  City  in  1897,  African  middlemen  played  important 

roles which in assisting the colonial government to achieve its objects. They 

B were known in those days as Political Agents. Three such Political Agents 

were  known  to  the  early  history  of  the  British  administration  in  Urhoboland.  They  were 

George Eyube, Tom Falladoh AKA Abetu, from Akure and Chief Dore Numa. 

The two major expeditions, namely, the Nana and the Benin Expeditions, though 

not  directly  connected  with  Urhobo  land,  had  a  very  far  reaching  effect  on  the  Urhobo 

people as a whole. Chief Nana was respected and feared for his wealth and power, and 

the  Oba  of  Benin  for  his  suzerainty  and  spiritual  power.    Most  Urhobo  people  did  not 

believe that the Oba could be, and was in fact captured by the white-man because of their 

belief in his juju power to transform himself into a spirit. 

With the surrender of the Oba of Benin, the Urhobo people had no choice but to 

submit to the conqueror.  The frantic activities of the British Resident of the Warri Province 

to suppress linkages with  Benin after the restoration of  the monarchy in  Benin City are 

well documented in British Administrative reports since 1914. 

In  his  paper,  Urhobo  and  the  Mowoe  Legacy,  G.  G.  Darah  wrote  that  “Fiercely 

independent and instinctively democratic and egalitarian, the Urhobo never succumbed to 

the intimation from imperial Britain. For example, on the eve of the invasion of Benin in 

February 1897, the British directed the Urhobo to send fighters to join the imperial army. 

The Urhobo unequivocally rebuffed the order and told the British that they would not take 

part  in  an  unjust  war  against  a  friendly  neighbour.  The  Urhobo  expression  of  revolt  so 

jolted  the  British  that  the  punitive  expedition  against  Oba  Ovonramwen  of  Benin  was 
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extended to his Urhobo monarchical ally, King Oghwe of Agbarha-Otor. He was captured 

and exiled along with Ovonramwen to Calabar in 1897. Both monarchs died in exile. 

Esan Dukedoms 

nojie Ogbidi Okojie, Onojie of Uromi (1857 - February 3, 1944) was a ruler of 

the Esan Dukedom is still remembered for his opposition to British rule. 

O According to Uromi dynastic traditions, Onojie Ogbidi Okojie was born in the 

seventh month of  gestation,  coming 14th in 

the line of succession to the Uromi throne. 

As  an  Edo  monarch,  he  believed  in 

his  divine  right  to  wield  absolute  power. 

Those  beliefs  motivated  his  opposition  to 

British  Rule,  which  led  to  his  first  exile  to 

Calabar  in  1900  after  the  fall  of  Benin 

kingdom.                                     Onojie Ogbidi Okojie with his Consorts. 

At the end of nineteenth century what is now Nigeria,  the old order was crumbling, 

yielding to the new British colonial system. After the Royal Niger Company transferred its 

territories  to  the  British  government,  the  latter  expanded  and  strengthened  its  control, 

unseating the traditional rulers. 

In 1900, Uromi was invaded by the British troops. Unlike Chief Nana of Brohimie, 

who opposed a strong resistance to the British troops when his domain was invaded, with 

100 cannon, several shot-guns and over 5,000 slaves at his disposal, Okojie I, who had 

no modern weapons, but only Dane guns, bows and arrows, held out for six months, until 

he was betrayed by Iyahanebi, his "younger brother”, and had to surrender to the British. 

As a consequence of his stiff resistance, in 1900 he was exiled to Calabar, where 

he met Oba Ovonramwen, late Oba of Benin, who had been exiled there by the British. He survived  the  ordeal  in  detention  and  returned  home  to  be  crowned  the  14th  Onojie  of 313 



Uromi  in  1909.    Back  home  in  Uromi,  he  adapted  to  the  British  system  of  government 

through "indirect rule",  establishing his court at Ubiaja. Still, he did not fully accept the new system  of  government,  countering  it  with  passive  disobedience  and  maintaining  his 

opposition  to  British  rule.  He  kept  governing  his  subjects  as  his  forebears  had  always 

done, until he was deported again, this time to Benin, in 1917. 



His presence in Benin upset Omo N’Oba Eweka II, , who objected to the British Resident at Benin against Okojie's presence there.  In 1924, he was transferred to Ibadan. 

In 1926, he made a dramatic escape to Uromi, was arrested and taken back to Ibadan, 

until he was finally released in 1931. 

From 1931 until his death in 1944 he consolidated his power in Uromi. 

Ekiti  

rom  the  1880s,  agents  of  the  British,  especially  Christian  missionaries 

penetrated the Yoruba interior in an endeavour to end the wars, in particular, 

F the wars of liberation Ekiti’ parapo communities waged against Ibadan since 

October, 1879. In June, 1886, political-cum-military officers got the belligerent parties to 

sign a truce and in March, 1893, Governor Carter of Lagos visited Ibadan and Ekitiparapo 

camps  of  Igbajo  and  Imesi-Ile  and  terminated  the  war,  got  the  leaders  to  sign  treaties 

which  prohibited  slavery  and  slave  trade,  human  sacrifices  and  the  use  of  weapons  to 

settle conflicts. 

The  British  administration  in  Lagos  (which  had  authority  over  Yoruba  hinterland  from 

1893) proclaimed a general emancipation for slaves and ordered slaves who so wished to 

return to their former homelands. As a result, numerous citizens of  Ekiti in general and 

Ado in particular returned from captivity forth with. 

The  British  established  its  colonial  rule  on  vast  territories  and  in  1900,  a  number  of 

districts became Nigeria. Eventually, further reorganizations led to the creation in January, 
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1913 of Ekiti District, with headquarters in Ado-Ekiti. That was a landmark from where to 

begin the discussion of today, modern times, a period characterized by the emergence of 

new things, phenomenal growth and development of old kingdom and its Chief city, Ado-

Ekiti. 
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Chapter Three 

Oba Ovonramwen in Calabar 


1897-1914 









Oba ovonramwen with his family in Calabar c 1906 

A short history of Calabar 

he  coast  in  this  region  was  named  "Calabar"  by  the  Portuguese  explorer 

Diogo Cao. The reason for choosing this name is unknown, since it was not 

T used by the Efik people. 

The  city  of  Akwa  Akpa  was  founded  by  Efik  families  who  had  left  Creek  Town, 

further up the Calabar river, settling on the east bank in a position where they were able to 

dominate  the  slave  trade  with  European  vessels  that  anchored  in  the  river,  and  soon 

becoming the most powerful in the region. Akwa Akpa, also known as Duke Town to the 

British, became a center of the slave trade, where slaves were exchanged for European 

goods. 
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The main ethnic group taken out of Calabar as slaves were the Igbo, although they 

were  not  the  main  ethnicity  in  the  area.  Most  slave  ships  that  transported  slaves  from 

Calabar  were  English,   around  85%  of  these  ships  being  from  Bristol  and  Liverpool 

merchants. Conditions were brutal. 

In 1767, six British slaving vessels were lying in the Calabar river at a time when 

the  people  of  Duke  Town  and  Old  Town  were  feuding.  By  prearrangement  with  the 

leaders  of  Duke  Town,  the  leaders  of  Old  Town 

were invited on board for a conference to settle the 

dispute, with guarantees of their safety. They were 

seized, with some kept as slaves and a few handed 

over to Duke Town where they were executed. 

Illustration from Calabar and Its Mission (1890) by Hugh Goldie 

The slave trade was banned by a British decree of 1808, and slavery was banned 

in  all  British  territories  in  1833,  although  traders  from  other  nations  continued  to  buy 

slaves at Calabar until 1842. In that year, King Eyamba V of Duke Town and King Eyo of 

Creek  Town  signed  a  treaty  agreeing  to  stop  trading 

slaves. With the suppression of the slave trade, palm oil 

and palm kernels became the main exports. 

In  1846  a  Christian  mission  was  established  by 

the  United  Presbyterian  Church  between  Duke  Town 

and  Henshaw  town,  with  the  support  of  King  Eyo.  The 

mission  was  headed  by  Hugh  Goldie,  who  wrote  an 

account  of  Calabar  in  his  1890  book   Calabar  and  its 

 Mission. That year the chiefs requested British protection 

for  Calabar,  but  the  reply  from  Lord  Palmerston, 

received  in  1848,  was  that  it  was  not  necessary  or 

advisable to grant the request. 

King Duke of Calabar in 1895 
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However, the British would treat the people of Calabar favorably if they would give 

up their practice of human sacrifice. At the time, it was common for wives and slaves of an 

important man to be sacrificed on his death. 

On the death of King Eyamba in 1847, it was proposed that King Eyo become sole 

ruler,  which  the  British  favored.  However,  the  Duke  Town  leaders  did  not  agree,  and 

selected Archibong Duke as the new king. In 1850, both kings agreed to suppress human 

sacrifice. British influence continued to grow, as did acceptance of Christianity. 

The chiefs of Akwa Akpa placed themselves under British protection in 1884.  King 

Archibong III of Calabar Kingdom was crowned in 1878 with  his regalia sent directly by 

Queen Victoria of United Kingdom. 

From  1884  until  1906  Old  Calabar  was  the  headquarters  of  the  Niger  Coast 

Protectorate, after  which  Lagos  became  the  main  center.  Now  called  Calabar,  the  city remained an important port shipping ivory, timber, beeswax, and palm produce until 1916, 

when the railway terminus was opened at Port Harcourt, 145 km to the west. 

The rulers of the Calabar city state, and successors in the traditional state, were 

Ekpenyong  Offiong  Okoho  (1786–1805),  Ekpenyong  Effiom  Okoho  Eyamba  III  (reigned 

1805–1814),  Effiom  Edem  Ekpo  Effiom  I  Eyamba  IV  (reigned  1814–1834)and  Edem 

Ekpenyong Offiong. 

Other kings were Okoho Eyamba V (reigned 1834–1847), Effiom Okoho Asibong I 

Ekpo Minika (reigned May 1849 - February 1852), Ededem Effiom II (reigned April 1852 - 

August  1858),  Eyo  Asibong  II  (reigned  March  1859  -  August  1872),  Edem  Asibong  III 

Eyamba VIII (reigned 1872 - May 1879) and Orok 

Edem  Eyamba  IX  (reigned  1880–1896)  during 

whose  reign  Oba  Ovonramwen  N’Ogbaisi  was 

exiled to Calabar in February 1897. 

In 1908 the British made an agreement with the 

Efik Kings that they would no longer use title of 
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King (Edidem), but instead as titular rulers would have the title Obong of Calabar. 
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Chapter Four 

The Benin War of Resistance 


1897-1899 

hile the British Resident was President of the Benin Native Council who 

administered and exercised control over Benin territories in the name of 

W the British crown.  The council made rules for governing the territories; 

exercised  control  over  Benin  chiefs;  settled  disputes  between  the  chiefs,  and  in  all, 

maintained law and order in the territories of Benin. 

The guerrilla warfare was directed against this completely new political situation. 

Therefore, it may be reasonable to conclude that the war aim of the guerrilla leaders was 

the restoration of the ‘sovereignty and territorial integrity’ of Benin. In this case, it was not 

the  pursuit  of  an  insurgent  route  to  power.  Like  other  political  movements,  it  was  the 

continuation of military opposition, albeit, resistances to British rule. 

On this basis, it is doubtful if the idea was to prolong the Anglo-Benin conflict as 

the guerrilla leaders were also conscious that a new era of colonial domination had been 

ushered with the British conquest. Although the two leaders in organising the resistance, 

leadership of the movement shared the ideology of sovereignty was central to the survival 

of the guerrilla fighters. 

According to Dr. Benson Osadolor, the flight of Oba Ovonramwen and his palace 

retinue from Benin City until his submission on 5 August 1897 has been adduced in Benin 

oral history as one of the main reasons for the emergence of the guerrilla movement. 

The  Ologbose’s  guerrilla  movement  lasted  from  February  1897  to  until  1899.  He  was 

better  organised  in  his  activities.  Of  the  war  chiefs  in  pre-colonial  Benin  army,  the 
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Ologbosere  was  the  only  military  commander  who  continued  the  struggle  against  the 

British invaders.  

On the other hand, Ebeikhinmwin’s goal was to hinder effective British control in 

the  Benin  territories.  In  the  pursuit  of  this  goal,  he  also  targeted  Benin  chiefs  or  their 

interests described as “collaborators” who accepted to serve with the British in the colonial 

administration. 

His movement lasted from 19th. February 1897 to May 1897. Though this was a 

short  period,  Ebeikhinmwin  wrecked  considerable  havoc  with  his  military  activities.    A 

colonial  Intelligence  Report  explains  that  when  Captain  Roupell  attempted  to  visit  the 

Esan territory in April 1897, but ‘considerable opposition’ was offered by Ebeikhinmwin.                 

The report points out that ‘owing to the hostile attitude of Abekinni (Ebeikhinmwin), 

it was decided to make an exemplary expedition against him, which was accordingly done 

on April 27 1897, but with little success.’ In a sense, Ebeikhinmwin distinguished himself 

again as a great  warrior; as Front  Commander, he had defeated the British column on 

Ughoton route, demonstrating his military prowess in action with British forces. 

The circumstance under which Ebeikhinmwin was defeated has been explained by 

Egharevba:  He seized three women of the Oshodin of Uselu and was preparing to extend 

his depredations to Okeluhen when a report of him was brought to the Acting Resident 

Captain E. P. S. Roupell, who at once set out with a few soldiers to attack him. He was 

unexpectedly surrounded when he was working in his farm, without guns and ammunition 

with him and not all aware of the danger. 

After being shot and wounded in the leg, he was captured and brought to Benin 

City in May 1897. After a trial he was executed in June of the same year. 

Ebeikhinmwin’s  soldiers  and  followers  were  able  and  brave  warriors  as  he  was 

himself. Robert Home’s account supports this view. According to him, “In April Lieutenant 

 Roupell  with  eighty  Niger  Coast  Protectorate  Force  troops  and  a  Maxim  destroyed 

 Ebekin’s camp and killed several of his men, and shortly after Ebekin, wounded in the leg, 

 was captured and executed at Benin.” Roupell himself may have shot him, because in his 

 report,  he  wrote:“…I  fired  on  with  my  revolver  hitting  him  in  the  leg,  whether  this  was 
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 Ebekin or not I do not know but he is reported to have been hit in the leg.” Of course, he 

was  Ebekhinmwin  the  guerrilla  fighter  whom  the  British  were  determined  to  eliminate 

because of the military resistance activities of his movement. 

From the account of how he was captured, it is probable that some Benin chiefs 

who were “collaborating” with the British, and who were probably victims of his guerrilla 

war betrayed Ebeikhinmwin. The Oshodin of Uselu whom his group attacked and seized 

three women, was a member of the Benin Native Council.  Before this attack, some of the 

chiefs in the council or at least, those related to them were already victims. 

Oba  Ovonramwen,  in  his  hideout  at  Erua,  sent  messages  to  him  to  stop  the 

attacks, but he ignored the Oba. He is reported to have said: “I shall never yield to the 

instructions  of  the  Oba  who  fled  when  the  British  troops  were  approaching  the  City  on 

February 19th., 1897 and shamed the land.” 

This was a manifestation of the social disruption that accompanied British conquest 

of  Benin.  The  Oba  could  no  longer  be  obeyed.  The  oral  tradition  recorded  by  Jacob 

Egharevba explains that the insurgency of Ebeikhinmwin began ‘when he heard that the 

City had been captured and the Oba had fled.’  On the other hand, the Ologbose, a Benin 

war chief, relocated ‘to his war camp at Eko Ologbosere where he continued worrying with 

the British troops over  two years in order to avenge the capture and deportation of  his 

father-in-law the Oba.’  

From his camp, he moved to Okemue in the Esan territory, where he continued the 

resistance against the establishment of British rule. 

The Ologbose’s guerrilla movement on the other hand, lasted from February 1897 

to until 1899. He was better organised in his activities. Of the war chiefs in pre-colonial 

Benin army, the Ologbose was the only military commander who continued the struggle 

against the British invaders. The Iyase and the Ezomo who were senior war commanders, 

and the Imaran, a war chief, had accepted to serve the British conquerors in the Native 

Council. 

Shortly after the fall of Benin, a force of the Royal Niger Company Constabulary 

under  Lieutenants  Carroll  and  Fitzgerald  attempted  to  crush  the  Ologbose  resistance 
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movement at Okemuen; nine of the constabulary were killed and seventy wounded; more 

than all the battle casualties suffered by Rawson’s expedition, while about fifty Edo were 

killed, either during the fighting or in subsequent reprisals  

The  early  successes  of  the  Ologbose  prompted  the  agents  of  the  Royal  Niger 

Company to negotiate with him, but Ralph Moor complained bitterly to the Foreign Office 

of  the  activities  of  the  RNC,  and  in  November  1897,  Lieutenant  Roupell  at  Benin  also 

wrote to complain about the duplicity of the Royal Niger Company. 

The Royal Niger Company took advantage of the removal of the Oba to expand into Benin 

territory. Royal Niger Company(RCN) agents moved into subject towns, encouraging them  

Moor  reported  that,  during  the  expedition  against  Ologbose,  the  arms  and 

ammunition which Ologbose fighters were using had found their way into the disaffected 

area from the territories of the Royal Niger Company. Moor further stated that there were 

no doubts that the guns were exchanged for the rubber. 

In  September  1897,  during  the  Benin  trials,  Erhabor  the  Ologbose  was  tried  in 

absence, found guilty and condemned. 

This further intensified the guerrilla warfare as the base of his operation at Okemue 

and Eko Ologbose became a camp for all those disaffected with British colonial rule.  As 

Robert Home explains, “men from the defeated Benin army and those un-reconciled to the 

new  order  gathered  at  Okemue.  Rifle-pits,  trenches  and  ambush-paths  were  made  all 

around the town, and it was from there that the Ologbose drove off the RNC expedition of 

June 1897, killing Lieutenant Fitzgerald. 

In 1898, all military actions directed against the Ologbose were without success. 

The patriotic chiefs continued to govern their areas of Jurisdiction in defiance of the 

colonial power. Ologbose in charge of Ehor, Ebohon in charge of Okemue and Oviawe in 

charge  of  Igieduma  and  Uhi.  They  stopped  people  in  these  communities  from  going  to 

Benin to pledge allegiance to the new government. British symbols of authority like flags, 

outpost and rest houses were destroyed. 

Furthermore, spies were used to keep track of what the new government was up 

to.  Despite  early  effort  of  the  British  officials  in  Benin  to  reconcile  them  to  the  new 
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government, these chiefs adamantly maintained their non-cooperative attitude. to ignore 

the British officers in Benin City, in order to divert trade. 















Battle of Oke’emuen 1898. 

The result was a reconnaissance in the territories of Ologbose and Ebohon of May 

1898 and “Benin Territories Expedition of 20th April to 16th May 1899, which ended their 

resistance to British rule. 

Atrocities committed by the British expeditionary force in these communities were 

worse than earlier ones. This was because according to Galway, “So long as they (Chiefs) 

are at large, so long will the prestige of the government hang in the balance”. 

The pursuit of the chiefs between 1897 and 1899 became a seasonal affair that 

trailed by an orgy of violence and destruction. 

Reports of the reconnaissance of these communities in 1898 by Acting. Resident, 

R.K.  Granvile,  confirmed  the  burning  and  destruction  of  the  towns  of  Eko 

Ologbosere,Ovbi-Ehor, Isure and Okemue. 

The situation was made worse of the people of the area by the rivalry between the 

Niger Coast Protectorate administration, which had conquered Benin and the Royal Niger 

Company administration, which was laying claims to part of the territory. 

In  January  1898  the  town  of  Erua  which  once  played  host  to Oba  Ovonramwen 

between February and August 1897, was burnt by the RNC, which was trying to annex 

these areas through the encouragement of the rebel chiefs to whom they were supplying 
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arms.  The  expedition  of  1899  was  even  more  violent  as  the  reconnaissance  troops 

reported  their  destruction  of  every  community  on  their  way  to  the  territory  of  the  rebel 

chiefs. 

In the rebel territory itself, the rebuilt  towns of Okemue and Eko Ologobse were 

again destroyed and all houses leveled to the ground, while the towns of Ekpon, Idumere, 

Udo and Ugiamwen, Oviawe’s camp, and parts of Igbanke were reported to have been 

destroyed in the expedition between 20th. April and 11th. May 1899. 

Their farms were burnt and troops were stationed in Okemue. 

In May of the same year, an expedition headed by Acting Resident Granville went 

to  the  Ehor  district  in  an  attempt  to  capture  or  subdue  Ebohon  and  the  Ologbose,  but 

merely succeeded in burning a few villages. 

The Intelligence Report admits that “the rebel chiefs were in a strong position in the 

bush, and it was realised that considerable time and organisation would be necessary to 

dislodge him.’  

On 20 April, 1899 an expedition left Benin City for military confrontation with the guerrilla 

warriors.  The  expedition  was  planned  by  Sir  Ralph  Moor  who  came  to  Benin  with 

reinforcement for the garrison and a large number of carriers. The force comprised 250 

Niger  Coast  Protectorate  Force  troops,  Maxims,  a  rocket-tube,  including  scouts  and 

carriers. 

.                                 

Erhabor  the  Ologbose  alongside  Oviawe,  Ebohon  and  others,  two  year  guerrilla 

war of resistance against the British ended when he was captured by the people who got 

frustrated  with  the  British  tactics  of  destroying  houses  and  food  crops  of  any  town  and 

villages that harboured him. 

Thus  after  a  considerable  and  bitterly  enduring  military  confrontation,  Ologbose 

and  Ebohon  were  not  captured  by  the  British  military  but  the  local  people  to  save 

themselves from further violence and starvation arising for the burning of their farms by 

the vengeful British. Oviawe died from injuries he sustained. 
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The patriots were handed over to the British Colonial officials On 27 May 1899, Ologbose 

was “tried”, sentenced and executed a month later, on 27 June, 1899 and this put an end 

to armed resistance. . 

The British success in squelching armed resistance by these chiefs was facilitated by the 

help of some Benin Chiefs who were said to have been co-opted into the administration 

with the promise that they would be placed in charge of the various towns to be covered 

by the expedition. 



Ologbose in chains 

awaiting execution  
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Chapter Five  

Restoration of the Monarchy 

Oba Eweka11 reigned 1914-1933 

rince Aiguobasinmwin was crowned the Oba of Benin 

on  July  24,  1914.  Benin  kingdom  once  more  had 

P monarchy.  Indeed, the splendor of that coronation 

ceremony is what initially triggered the interest of the late Chief 

Jacob Egharevba to write down the history of the Benin people.     

Although the aim was that the Oba as the sole paramount 

native authority ought to be the ultimate authority but his powers 

were compromised due to the innovations that became evident in 

the British indirect rule in Benin at this period 

Eweka N’Ologbe Oba of Benin 

In  the  words  of  Dr.  Ekhagueosa  Assien  “Two  events,  each  of  enormous 

significance, took place conjointly in that single act. The first event was that Benin land 

had once again become a kingdom, with the restoration of the monarchy.  The Ibie and 

Ukpilla districts of Kabba province of “Northern Nigeria” were merged with their kith and 

kin in the Benin province of “Southern Nigeria” in 1918”        

The followings are extracts from Dr. Ekhagueosa Assien book ………….. 

“a  sequence  of  happenstances  coalesced  into  the  full  fruiting  of  the  dynastic 

 Restoration  in  Prince  Aiguobasinmwin:  Aiguobasinmwin  was  a  love-child,  born  by  a 

 woman who, during the period of her pregnancy, was nominally the wife of another man 

 Chief Ogagun. The name: Aiguobasinmwinogie: "No subject-citizen disputes ownership-
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 rights with the Oba of Benin", was given to the new-born baby by the cuckolded husband, 

 in acceptance of, and acquiescence in, the wrong done to him. This was in recognition of 

 the lofty societal status of the philandering young man who had cuckolded him. The young 

 man  was  the  Edaiken,  the  Crown  Prince  of  the  Benin  kingdom  and  Empire,  Idugbowa, 

 later Ovonramwen, Oba of Benin”.  

 As  a  result  of  the  above-mentioned  circumstance  of  his  birth,  Prince 

 Aiguobasinmwin, as an adolescent, was side-lined for the throne, in favour of his junior 

 half-brother Prince Usuanlele.  He left Benin City with his mother Dame Eghaghe to his 

 mother's ancestral village of Ekhor in the Isi district of the kingdom and he learned to be a 

 subsistence farmer and an oil-palm fruit harvester. These activities helped to augment his 

 and his mother's living expenses.  Later some untoward incidents occurred in the Palace 

 of Oba Ovonramwen in Benin City. To bring about a resolution of the problems the Oracle 

 decreed  the  recall  of  Aiguobasinmwin  from  Ekhor  village,  and  his  re-instatement  to  his 

 rightful position as the Edaiken, the Crown Prince of the kingdom. Prince Usuanlele was, 

 by  that  same  token,  demoted  to  the  second  position  in  the  line  of  succession.    Royal 

 messengers  were  dispatched  to  Ekhor.  When  Aiguobasinmwin  arrived  in  state  at  the 

 Palace of his father, bathed in the white chalk of sanctification and rejoicing Ovonramwen, 

 in  a  great  public  ceremony  sat  the  Prince  on  his  laps,  and  holding  him  to  his  breast 

 pronounced him the heir to the throne of Benin. 

 Not that Aiguobasinmwin was in truth the first male child fathered by Ovonramwen. 

 He was not. Ovonramwen's first-born son was Prince Ehigie, later the Enogie of Uwaan 

 village  in  the  Ozoguor  group  of  villages.  But  the  circumstances  under  which  the 

 adolescent Prince Idugbowa fathered Ehigie were so casual that Ehigie was never at any 

 time in any serious contention for succession to the throne. Ehigie's mother accepted this 

 quite early and did not object to her son acquiring the Ikharo facial markings which Benin 

 Princes did not wear”. Thus when Prince Aiguobasinmwin was confirmed in 1914 by the 

 colonial  authorities  as  the  next  Oba  of  Benin  he  went  to  Prince  Ehigie  and  ritually 

 "purchased" Ehigie's seniority from him. Ehigie formally surrendered it to him in a short 



328 



 ceremony. He then prayed for Aiguobasinmwin, wishing that the restored office would be 

 a blessing to the Oba-elect, and to the kingdom. 

 In  1899  two  years  after  the  fall  of  Benin  City,  Prince  Aiguobasimwin  returned  to 

 Benin City built himself a house in Ogbe Quarters. Once again he sustained himself and 

 his household largely by subsistence farming. 

 Dr.  Benson  Osadolor  wrote  “The  local  colonial  administration  made  efforts  to 

 accommodate Aiguobasinmwin in the changed circumstances of the Benin City of the first 

 decade  of  the  Twentieth  Century.  He  was  offered  the  District  Headship  of  the  Agbor 

 territories in 1900. This gift led to his nearly losing his life when the Agbor people rose 

 against  him.  Their  grouse  was  that  his  father  Ovonramwen  had  been  on  the  verge  of 

 moving militarily against Agbor town when the Benin/British War aborted the expedition. 

 The cause of the quarrel between Ovonramwen and Agbor had to do with the activities of 

 the  Royal  Niger  Company  of  Sir  Taubman  Goldie.  Had  Ovonramwen  had  the  time  to 

 move against Agbor he would  have, in effect,  inadvertently been at  war with the Royal 

 Niger Company. 

 Aiguobasinmwin  undertook  a  Meet  -  the  -  people  tour  as  the  District  Head  of 

 Agbor. An argument arose in the Council Hall over some matter of protocol which had to 

 do  with  the  seating  arrangement  between  the  Benin  Prince  and  the  Obi  of  Agbor. 

 Tempers  flared  and  the  people  moved  against  Aiguobasinmwin  and  his  entourage  with 

 cudgels and matchettes. As the Prince retreated from his attackers, dodging their blows 

 as best as he could he stepped backwards - into the gaping mouth of an uncovered well. 

 He made a great somersaulting leap backwards, successfully clearing the chasm of the 

 well. His attackers stopped in their pursuit. 

 He  arrived  Benin  safely,  and  the  British  authorities  sent  Chief  Osula  to  take  his 

 place in Agbor. It was said that the ankle which initiated the great backward spring which 

 saved the day grumbled periodically thereafter throughout the life time of the monarch”. 
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Thereafter Prince Aiguobasinmwin became a well-known Government Contractor. 

He  was  one  amongst  those  involved  in  the  construction  of  the  first  roads  in  the  Benin 

territories. Some civil works in the City were also awarded to him, like the filling up and 

obliteration of the Agbodo pond, the six hundred - year old body of muddy water near the 

walls  of  the  old  Palace.  The  pond  was  the  scene  of  one  of  the  struggles  between  the 

Princes Esigie and Arhuanran, sons of Oba Ozolua, four hundred years earlier. 

In course of the period Oba Ovonramwen was in exile, the colonial authorities in 

reoccupied Benin British troops when it was rumoured that Prince Aiguobasinmwin was 

on the verge of launching an attack on the British. He was said to have planned to drive 

the colonialists out of Benin to avenge his father's deportation . 

 In the episode of 1906 troops were moved again into Benin City, and army units in 

 other places put on the alert. Investigations revealed the alarms to be false.  The rumour 

 of  1906  must  have  arisen  because  on  the  First  day  of  January  of  that  year  Sir  Ralph 

 Moore, the conqueror of Benin and the jailer of Ovonramwen in Calabar, lost power. He 

 lost  it  to  the  Governor  of  Lagos  when  the  Protectorate  of  Southern  Nigeria  was 

 amalgamated with the Lagos Colony and Protectorate. Calabar became just a provincial 

 headquarters  instead  of  the  capital  of  a  country  she  had  been  for  fifteen  years.  Moor 

 returned home. To the conquered Edos the movement of the Government to Lagos and 

 the exit of Sir Ralph must have seemed like a form of liberation, with the jailer walking 

 away and leaving the prison doors wide open. The local officials in Benin, led by Resident 

 James Watt, compelled to carry out an administrative policy which they did not see any 

 need for, decided to eat their cake and still have it: they would abide by the new directive 

 and yet maintain the status quo aute.   Chief Agho the Obaseki would continue to run the 

 show in Benin, but with a change of nomenclature, from "Chief" to "Oba". 

 It was here that Prince Aiguobasinmwin's strength of character, and the hardiness 

 which had been built into him by all of his previous experiences stood him in good stead in 

 the  struggle  he  had  to  wage,  so  that  the  Restoration,  which  was  now  inevitable,  was 

 vested in the same Oronmiyan dynasty which had lost it seventeen years earlier. In his 



330 







 fight  against  the  overwhelming  influence  and  contrariwise  disposition  of  the  Resident; 

 James Watt, Prince Aiguobasinmwin reached outside Benin for help. He appealed to the 

 Ooni of Ife and the Alaafin of Oyo as well 

 as  the  British  monarch  King  George  V. 

 In  Benin  City  itself  the  pact  which  was 

 made two hundred years earlier between 

 Oba Ewuakpe and the Benin City chiefs: 

 that the office of the Oba of Benin would 

 be occupied only by the First Son of the 

 deceased  monarch,  to  the  exclusion  of 

 all  others  -  came  powerfully  into  play, 

 and ultimately carried the day. 

  

Coronation of Oba Eweka N’ologbe 

 Prince  Aiguobasinmwin  was  given  the  nod  by  the 

 British, but on a probation period of one year.  All the fears of 

 James  Watt  were  written  down  as  the  do's  and  dont's  with 

 which  the  restored  office  was  hedged  round.  Effective  power 

 was left in the hands of Chief Obaseki, now re-titled the Iyase 

 of Benin.  But what had been achieved proved sufficient for the 

 good  of  Edoland,  and  of  the  near-areas  of  Nigeria  running  a 

 culture  derived  from  Edoland.  And  it  resulted  in  the 

 encouragement of the codification of the seven centuries of the 

 history of the restored Benin dynasty.  
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Picton  states  that  Eweka  II  set  about  to  rebuilt  Benin  City  when  he  was  made 

Oba:  “Eweka  set  about  the  wholesale  reinvention  of  Benin  City,  reviving  its  ritual  and 

 ceremonial  culture,  making  the  best  of  such  political  authority  as  the  colonial  overlords 

 would  allow  within  their  policy  of  government  by  indirect  rule,  and  commissioning  the 

 writing  of  an  authorized  history  of  the  city,  kingdom  and  empire,  by  a  local  chief.  Oba 

 Eweka also commissioned new works of art, setting up altars dedicated to his father and 

 grandfather,  and  their  predecessors:  the  artists,  after  all  had  not  been  exiled  nor  their 

 skills somehow taken away from them. 

 It was altogether the  greatest  and most successful of  all anti-colonial projects in 

 sub-Saharan  Africa.”  Picton  further  states  that  “The  prestige  of  kingship  and  the 

 ownership of works of art are indeed so intertwined that it should come as no surprise that 

 there is hunger in Benin City for the return of the material looted in 1897” 







A palace gateway rebuilt by Oba Eweka 11 
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Oba Akenzua II CMG  reigned 1933 to 1978  

mo’NOba  Akenzua  II  CMG,  whose  princely  name  was  Okoro 

Ede’orhogbunyunmwun succeeded his father Oba Eweka II to the throne as 

O Oba of Benin.  

Before becoming Oba, he was trained in royal duties and was also well educated. 

He was a prominent and salient figure in the nation's colonial and post colonial public life 

and was a member of the Western House of Chiefs and the Mid West House of Chiefs. 

He was also a cabinet minister in the Western region. He started his education at a few 

schools in Benin, including the Benin Government School and ended his formal education 

at King's College, Lagos where he succeeded academically and also in sports. 

He finished at King's College in 1918, and then started work as a transport clerk in 

the Benin native authority; he later worked as a secretary to his father Omo N’Oba Eweka 

II.  He  also  spent  a  few  years  in  Abeokuta  studying  native 

administration  before  he  was  appointed  as  a  district  head  of 

Ekiadolor and later given the traditional title of Edaiken of Uselu. 

He  was  crowned  the  Oba  of  Benin  in  April,  1933  .  He  was  a 

supporter  of  Benin  arts  and  contributed  to  success  of  the  Edo 

historian Chief J. U. Egharevba's written works on Benin history. 



Oba Akenzua   with the beaded regalia of Oba ovonramwen 

First  Oba's  conference  held  at  Benin  City  in  1937.  Benin  Divisional  Council  museum 

opened in 1947. Began the campaign for the creation of Mid-Western Region (now Bendel 

State). Earl of Plymouth visited Benin City on February 24, 1935. Edo College established 

1937. 
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Her Majesty, Queen Elizabeth II visited Benin, on 9th February, 1956, to pay him a 

courtesy visit. 

Appointed  Chancellor  of  the  University  of  Ahmadu 

Bello, Zaria on 9th March, 1966. His era witnessed 

intellectual,  cultural,  social  and  econornic 

advancement. The first partisan  political group that 

emerged  during  this  period  was  the  BENIN  TAX 

PAYERS ASSOCIATION. 

Oba Akenzua 11 welcoming Queen Elizabeth II 

The success recorded by the tax payers association has more to do with the fact that it 

was spearheaded by late H. O. Uwaifo alias Udonmwenigbomon, who was also a product 

of Kings College , Lagos . Added to that was the support granted by Iyase Okoro Otun, 

who  as  leader  of  the  commoners  had  the  responsibility  and  obligation  to  bring  the 

grievances and political demands of the commoners to the Oba- in “Council. 

On  a  subtle  term,  the  agitation  appears  to  have  more  to  do  with  the  rise  of  cultism 

imported from the Yoruba country, known as the Reformed Ogboni Fraternity. 

The  Ogboni  in  its  fundamental  origin  is  the  secret  service  body  within  the  Oyo’mesi 

traditional hierarchy, created by the Oyo traditional power brokers to check the excesses 

of  the  Alafin  of  Oyo.  This  cult  was  brought  to  the  public  by  Revn.  Ogunbiyi,  a  Yoruba 

Anglican  Bishop  who  wanted  to  use  it  to  consolidate  activities  within  the  church. 

Some of the pioneers of the fraternity were blood relation of the Oba of Benin. In spite of 

the intended good work the original founders of the body secretly preached and adhered 

to,  the  same  body  was  often  utilized  to  promote  partisanship  and  abuse  of  political 

powers. The body was accused of suffocating administrative authorities with cultś bias by 

using  same  in  determining  mobility  in  the  emerging  colonial  administrative  set-up.  The 

perceived  political  persecution  coupled  with  a  veiled  threat  to  tamper  with  the  Benin 

monarchy,  provoked  a  counter-balancing  group,  which  gave  rise  to  the  Otue-Edo.  The 

emergence  of  Otue-Edo  paved  way  for  partisan  political  activities  aimed  at  restoring 

certain core political balance. 
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(1) To protect the monarchy from the onslaught of neo-republican agitators inspired by a 

new source of wealth who felt that the sole native authority created by the British under 

the  platform  of  in-  direct  rule  could  not  sufficiently  accommodate  their  own  political 

interest. 

(2) To establish a platform that could provide competing opinions relative to the emerging 

partisan political order. 

(3) And to put a stop to the consistent intimidation of those not sharing the views, vision 

and membership of Ogboni Fraternity. 

People like Late Pax Osifo, were instrumental in the intellectual exposition of the mission 

of  the  Otue’Edo  founded  in  1950.  Many  of  the  known  personalities  who  founded  and 

nourished the group were late Chief Omo Osagie, Mr. Aghonghon Osa, Mr. James Aro, H. 

I. Ogbeide, Mr. Eric Imafidon, Madam Imadoriza, Madam Ugiomon, Madam Abulu etc. 

As time went by, the moderating role of secret cults became overbearing and the 

consequences  of  this  inspired  a  militant  group  founded  in  Ogboka  area  precisely  at 

Ezomonrugho  residence,  now  known  as  Sakponba  Road,  Benin  City.  For  historical 

record,  Ogboka  Quarters  in  the  Benin  metropolis,  is  the  premier  home  of  politics,  both 

traditional and contemporary in Edo land. This event later took a dramatic turn. 

The  militant  group  known  as  Owegbe,  harnessed  traditional  powers  to  confront 

their  perceived  enemies,  particularly  those  who  exploited  their  access  to  administrative 

and judiciary powers to harrass them. 

The aftermath of this was the battle fought at midnight called Okuo’Arenegbe vbe’ 

Ason. This midnight battle led to the complete sacking of many villages by burning down 

of houses of Ogboni members who were reported to have previously attacked Owegbe 

members at Iyekorionmwon area of Benin Division. 

After  this  battle,  the  partisan  political  divide  became  more  pronounced  as  the 

various  interest  groups  aligned  with  the  emerging  political  parties  before  Nigerian 

Independence in 1960.  The pioneer political parties like the NCNC had to negotiate an 

alliance with the Otue-Edo which became known as NCNC/OTUE-EDO ALLAINCE. 
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One of the viable parties that sought serious political relevance in Edo politics was 

the ACTION GROUP. The Otue-Edo /NCNC Alliance recorded victory in the 1954 regional 

elections.  The  persecution  experienced  by  Edo  people  under  the  Western  regional 

government  was  quickly  recognized  by  Omo  Oba  Akenzua  who  set  in  motion 

enlightenment campaign for the creation of Mid-Western State in 1963. 

With profound support coming from his subjects and his political contemporaries, 

the  state  became  the  only  state  created  in  modern  Nigeria  through  democratic 

parliamentary procedures. 

Following the death of Iyase Okoro-Otun in 1943, efforts by the Oba in November 

1947 to abolish the title of Iyase "Prime Minister" on account of his experience during the 

water rate agitation were strongly opposed. Opposition was mobilised by the new "Benin 

Community  Tax-Payers  Association"  primarily  formed  to  pressure  Oba  Akenzua  11  to 

confer the title of Iyase on a literate individual. 

Thus he reconsidered his position, even though supported by a group of chiefs and 

prominent  citizens  including  Omo-Osagie,  Egbe  Omorogbe,  Ogieva  Emokpae,  J.  O. 

Edomwonyi, D.E. Uwaifo, C.Y. Legemah etc. These chiefs and other men later created 

the Edo Young People's party. 

After an unsuccessful attempt to confer the title on Idehen, then the Esogban of 

Benin, Oba Akenzua eventually conferred it in April 1948 on Hon. Gaius Obaseki, son of 

the late Iyase Agho Obaseki, under pressure from British authorities. 

As the Iyase, Gaius Obaseki was executive Chairman 

of the newly re-organized Benin Divisional Council while Oba 

Akenzua II was the President.  Anyway, having accepted the 

Iyase  situation,  on  October  16th,  1948,  Oba  Akenzua  II 

addressed  the  inauguration  of  what  was  known  as  the 

"Reformed  Benin  Community",  formed  by  Chief  Humphrey 

Omo-Osagie  in  Benin:    Akenzua  further  advised  the 

Reformed  Benin  Community  to  unite  all  the  Edos,  critically 

study the Richards Constitution, which was due for review, and make the creation of the 
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new  region  the  main  focus  of  the  organization.  Therefore,  with  Oba  Akenzua11  in  the 

lead, they walked out. 

Many  who  had  tormented  Oba  Akenzua  in  the  difficult 

days  of  the  1930s  and  early  1940s  became  royalist. 

Meanwhile,  Oba  Akenzua  had  to  preside  over  the 

residual  bitterness  that  accompanied  the  recruitment 

drive  for  Reformed  Ogboni  Fraternity  followed  by  the 

uprising of 1951 in Benin division. 

In his address, Oba Akenzua II said, among other things 

that Midwesterners were seeking freedom, "not only from 

the white man, but also from foreign african nations “Benin-Delta was a sovereign nation 

before the occupation of the country by the British." Oba Akenzua also said, "The divide 

and rule policy of the British Government had done much harm to the national solidarity of 

Benin-Delta  Province  in  the  past  but  as  God  now  wants  things  to  be  what  they  were 

before the advent of the British Government, that is, the Yoruba State for the Yorubas and 

Benin-Delta  State  for  the  "BENDELITES",  that  is,  the  inhabitants  of  the  Benin-Delta 

Province, steps should now be taken without 

further  delay  or  fear  to  move  the  British 

Government to repair the damage they have 

done  by  restoring  the  national  status  of 

Benin-Delta  Province  before  they  transfer 

power back to the Nigerians from whom they 

have taken it." 

During the celebration  of  African arts and culture tagged  Festac 77,  he made available fine works of art from Oba Palace in Benin for the celebration  
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Oba Erediauwa CFR reigned 1979-Date 

Crown  Prince  Solomon  Akenzua  ascended  the  ancient  Benin 

throne with the title Erediauwa. Before his ascension to throne the 

attended,  many  schools  and  Cambridge  University  London.  He 

also held many governmental posts at state and federal levels 

He modernized the palace courtyard and created many Enigie to 

help administer various parts of the kingdom. 

The  six-footer  Oba  was  born  on  June  23,  1923,  and  he 

graduated  with  a  B.A.  (Tripos)  in  law  at  Kings  College, 

Cambridge, England. 

Prior  to  his  ascension  to  the  throne,  he  served  in  several  top  Federal  (national) 

public service positions in different parts of Nigeria such as Lagos, Enugu, and Ahoada. 

During  the  Nigerian  civil  war,  the  Oba  in  his  capacity  as  Permanent  Secretary 

(Political) participated in the "Aburi" talks which was aimed at resolving the crisis. While he 

was a Crown Prince and Edaiken, he had gained administrative experience by working in 

local government. 

Oba  Erediauwa,  after  the  most  qualitative  education  in  England's  prestigious 

Cambridge  University  as  a  historian,  lawyer  and  administrator,  worked  and  rose  to  the 

very top of both the Regional and Federal Civil Service. 

He knew, worked with, and advised all the Military heads of state, as well as the 

potential leaders that would eventually emerge with civilian government. 

As crowned prince, he was Prince Solomon Aisiokhuoba Igbinoghodua Akenzua. 

But he was crowned as Oba Erediauwa. It was as part of the rites of ascendancy to the 

revered Benin throne that he got the title “Erediauwa,” interpreted to symbolically mean 

“Ere have straightened prosperity in order.” 
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Oba 

Erediauwa 

was 

crowned  on  March  23, 

1979,  as  the  38th  Oba  of 

Benin. Oba Erediauwa, like 

his  father  Oba  Akenzua  II, 

and  his  grandfather  Oba 

Eweka  II,  ascended  the 

throne  of  the  Benin 

Kingdom  in  the  throes  of 

impending and profound political changes and re-orientation in Nigeria. 

One of the most respected Africa monarch. An author, his high educational background 

help bring to light the correct history of Edo people and the ancient Benin Empire, one of 

Africa  oldest  kingdom.  Omo  N’Oba  Erediauwa  is  a  leader  with  a 

charming personality and background. Oba Erediauwa is the mature 

fruit  of  the  seed  his  grandfather,  Eweka  II,  planted  and,  his  father 

Akenzua  II  properly  nurtured;  a  new  Oba,  groomed  and  well-

equipped,  steeped  in  the  culture,  norms  and  traditions  of  the  old 

Benin Kingdom, but prepared for 

Nigeria of the 80s and beyond. 

Oba  Erediauwa's  era  has  witnessed  tremendous 

intellectual,  cultural,  social,  and  economic  growth. 

Dynamism is one of his chief assets because he has 

succeeded in maintaining and improving the role of the 

Edo  monarchy  in  the  face  of  massive  modernization 

onslaughts from varied sources. 

His mother Iy’oba Aghahouwa N’ ovbi Erua who 

was installed Iy’Oba in 1981 and lived in her palace at 

Lower Uselu. She translated in 1999. 
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Iy’oba Aghahowa 

Since the days of the Ogiso dynasty 300-1150 AD, no king was allowed to have a sibling. 

This was also to avoid undue influence of the person of the Oba, hence the Benin adage  

 omo  okpa  ekpen  bie;  the  leopard  has  an  only 

child.  The  mother  of  the  heir  apparent  was 

secluded from the harem. Since the reign of Oba 

Esigie 1504-1550 once an Oloi produces the heir 

apparent, she would be prepared for her role as 

the  future  queen  mother  and  she  is  denied  any 

sexual pleasure for the rest of her life. 

Oloi  Aghahowa  reversed  this  one 

thousand years tradition. After producing the heir 

apparent or crown prince, she went further gave 

birth  to  six  other  royal  children  amongst  whom 

are,  the  Late  Prince  Felix  Akenzua,  the  Late 

Prince  David  Akenzua,  Prince  Edun  Akenzua,  Enogie  of  Obazuwa’Iko,  Prince  Godwin 

Akenzua,  Enogie  of  Oke’odighi,  Princess  Florence  Akenzua  and  Princess  Gladys 

Akenzua.  This  made  Iy’oba  Aghahowa  the  first  Oloi  to  produce  an  Oba,  Enigie  and 

princesses in the last 250 years of Benin history. 

Since 1507, when Oba Esigie created the Iy’oba title and conferred it on his mother 

Olio Idia ever since every Qba has followed this custom. Iyoba Iheya the mother of Oba 

Ovonramwen was the last queen mother to hold court at Lower Uselu when the British 

punitive  expedition  that  destroyed  the  city  of  Benin  deposed  exiled  her  son  and  also 

looted and burnt her palace. 

After the restoration of the monarchy in 1914, Oba Eweka 11, r.1914-1933 was not 

allowed to install his mother Eghaghe as Iy’oba by the British colonial administration. In 

1921,  Ariowa  the  mother  of  Oba  Akenzua  11  died  some  12  years  before  her  son 

ascended the throne in 1933. Thus when Oloi Aghahowa n’ovbi Errua was installed Iyoba 

in 1982, she is the first Oloi to be so elevated since Oba Ovonramwen N’Ogbaisi installed 
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Oloi Iheya his mother Iyoba in 1890. Iy’oba Iheya was deposed in 1897 when the British 

Punitive expedition conquered Great Benin. 

The Iy’oba position provides the picture of both complimenting and the ambiguous 

roles of gender and sex in Benin. In her role, Iyoba Aghahowa had achieved recognition 

projected her individuality and attained immortality in the memory of the Edo person. 

Iyoba  Aghahowa’s  title  Iy’oba  honours  her  for  her  achievement  in  child  bearing 

because until the reign of Oba Akenzua 11, the olio that bears the oba’s first son and heir 

apparent  has  no  other  children.  In  bringing  forth  the  reigning  Oba,  she  was  elevated 

above  all  other  olois  (queens)  and  equated  to  the  highest  level  of  the  eghaevbo  n’oire 

(town chiefs) and this portrays the privileges the oba accords her. 

When  she  translated  immortality  in  1998,  she  was  giving  the  full  royal  funeral 

obsequies of an Iy’oba including the Ekkasa rites and rituals. Once again Iyoba Aghahowa 

was the first Iy’oba so accorded the royal funeral obsequies in the  last 150 years by a 

reigning Oba. 

It was Oba Akenzua 11 performed the installation ceremonies for his grandmother 

Iy’oba Eghaghe in 1933 and his own mother Ariowa in 1935; both posthumously thereby 

keeping the age long tradition alive. He also performed their funeral obsequies  

Iyoba  Aghahowa  was  an  epitome  of  Benin  womanhood,  a  devoted  mother  and 

queen,  protagonist  in  the  sustenance  of  Benin  culture  and  values  as  well  as  being  a 

humble and charismatic personality.  



The Omo N’Oba is seen as a quintessential icon of royalty and splendour. During the 30 

years of his charismatic reign, the Benin kingdom has remained unified, peaceful and has 

witnessed  expansion.  This  is  attributed  to  his  large  and  stately  personality  and  the 

handling of issues before him with a rarity of wisdom. 
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The Edoid People  

The  languages  of  Edoid  people  are  some  two-to-three  dozen  languages  spoken  in 

Southern Nigeria, predominantly in the former Bendel State. The name Edoid derives from its  most  widely  spoken  member,   Edo, the  language  of  Benin  City, 5  million  native  and secondary speakers. 

Delta Edos: The Delta Edos are the Degema, Epie, Ẹgẹnẹ (Engenni) North-Central  Edos:  The  North-Central  Edo  group  is  comprise  of  Edo  (Benin), 

Ivbiosakon  (Ora,  Emai,  Iuleha), Esan  (Ishan)  Yekhee:  Ghotuo, Yekhee, Enwan, Igwe, 

Ikpeshi, Okpela (Ivbie North, Arhe),  Ososo, Sasaru, Uneme, Ihievbe and Uokha.  

Northwestern  Edo:  The  Northwestern  comprises  of  the  Osse  River  group; Ehuẹun–

Ukue, Iyayu–Uhami. Others in this group are the Okpamheri, Akuku, Idesa, Okpe, Oloma 

and Aduge.    Ihievbe, Uokha, and Aduge are unclassified within their branches. 

Southwestern  Edos  :  The  Southwestern  Edos  are  the    Isoko, Urhobo, Eruwa, Okpe, 

Uvbie 

Edoid Phonology 

Proto-Edoid is reconstructed as having a contrast between oral and nasal consonants and 

oral  and  nasal  vowels  typical  for  the  region.  However,  in  some  Edoid  languages  nasal 

vowels have been reanalyzed as allophones of oral vowels after nasal consonants, and in 

others nasal consonants have been reanalyzed as allophones of oral consonants before 

nasal  vowels,  reducing  the  number  of  phonemically  nasal  consonants. Urhobo  retains 

three nasals, /m, n, ɲ/, and has five oral consonants with nasal allophones, /ɺ, l, ʋ, j, w/; in 

Edo this is reduced to one phonemic nasal, /m/, but eight additional consonants with nasal 

allophones,  /p,  b,  t,  d,  k,  ɡ,  kp,  ɡb/;  and  in  Ukue  there  are  no  indisputably  phonemic nasals and only two consonants with nasal allophones, /l, β/. 
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Esan 

san pronounced  aysan, is one of the major ethnic groups of the Edo people. 

The name 'Esan' owes its origin to Benin and was once corrupted to 'Ishan' by 

E colonial Britain. Esan land is bordered to the south by Benin, to the south-east 

by Agbor, to the north and east by Etsako, to the west by River Niger. 

Although  some  contemporary  historians  tend  to 

associate  the  Ishan  people  with  the  migration  theory  of 

people  who  came  from  the  Middle  East,  we  have  to  point 

that  there  is  no  evidence  in  Benin  or  anywhere  else  to 

support that theory.  There is a sizeable group, though, who 

can trace their origin to UHE which is Chief J.U. Egharevba 

identified as modern day Ile Ife.  The Ishan-speaking people 

of Edo, especially in Southern Nigeria, have lived where they are now, for thousands of 

years. 

The major town such as Uromi, Ewatto, Igueben, Iruekpen, Irrua, Ubiaja, Ebele, 

Ehor, Ekpoma, Egoro Eguare, Ewu, etc in central Edo land. There are 35 clans each of 

which is headed by an Onojie namely Irrua, Ekpoma, Uromi, Ubiaja, Egoro and Ekpon. 

Others  are  Ewohimi,  Emu,  Ewatto,  Wossa,  Amahor,  Igueben,    Idoa  14.  Illushi,  Ifeku, 

Iyenlen and Ohordua. 

There  Onojie  in  other  dukedoms  such  as    Okhuesan,    Oria,  Onogholo,  Orowa, 

Opoji, Ogwa, Okalo, Ebelle, Ewu, Ogboha, Uroh,  Uzea, Udo, Urohi 32. Ujiogba, Ugun, 

Ugbegun and Ukhun. 

The relations between Benin and Esan chiefdoms in the northern borders throw 

more light on the collaborative scheme. Among the Esan chiefdoms, each Onojie was 

lord supreme of  his community, owing allegiance only to the Oba of Benin before the 

advent of the British.' This allegiance meant services and tribute to the Oba, who in turn 

had “protective agreement” and “peace treaty” with each Onojie. 
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Before 1800, the Oba of Benin had regularly requested for their military services in 

the  prosecution  of  wars  of  expansion  or  reconquest  of  rebellious  states.  Also,  Benin 

traditional historical accounts and various documentary sources confirm that virtually all 

the Benin princes who were engaged in dynastic struggles or civil wars had to seek refuge 

in any of the Esan chiefdoms. 

Moreover, before the title of Ezomo became hereditary in early eighteenth century, 

most of the renowned warriors who were rewarded by the Oba of Benin with that title were 

of Esan origin. 

Ekpoma 

It has been historically accepted that Onogie Ijiebomen who came from Idumebo 

quarters in Benin, was the founder of Ekpoma and he was the first Onogie of Ekpoma. He 

settled in the present Square in about 1463 and in due course, his family and extended 

family  formed  the  nucleus  of  the  present  Square.  Ekpoma  is  the  administrative 

headquarters of Ekpoma Kingdom. 

Ekpoma Kingdom is made up of villages or units who acknowledge the Onogie of 

Ekpoma as their Supreme Traditional Authority. The Onogie is the uniting link for all the 

villages/units and are bound together as one territory. The inhabitants of Ekpoma, with a 

few exceptions, trace their origin to Benin. 

The  twelve  community  units  that  occupy  the  area  referred  to  as  Ekpoma  are 

Eguare, Ihunmudumu,  Ujemen, Emaudo, Illeh, Ujoelen, Emuhi, Iruekpen, Uke, Idumebo, 

Uhiele and Ukpenu. 

Since 1463 AD, Ekpoma has been ruled by successive Onogies and their rule has 

produced peace among other communities in Ishan. 

Uromi 

Ogbidi Okojie, Onojie (king) of Uromi (1857 - February 3, 1944) was a ruler of the 

Esan people in what is now Edo State in Nigeria, still remembered for his opposition to 

British rule. 
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 Onojie  Ogbidi  Okojie  with  his 

Consorts 

According  to  Uromi  dynastic 

traditions, Onojie Ogbidi Okojie was born 

in  the  seventh  month  of  gestation, 

coming 14th in the line of succession to 

the  Uromi  throne.  As  an  Edo  monarch, 

he  believed  in  his  divine  right  to  wield  absolute  power.  Those  beliefs  motivated  his 

opposition to British Rule, which led to his first exile to  Calabar in 1900 after the fall of 

Benin kingdom. 

Uromi and the British 

At the end of nineteenth century what is now Nigeria,,  the old order was crumbling, 

yielding to the new British colonial system. After the Royal Niger Company transferred its 

territories  to  the  British  government,  the  latter  expanded  and  strengthened  its  control, 

unseating the traditional rulers. 

In 1900, three years after the fall of benin City, Uromi was invaded by the British 

troops.  Unlike  Chief  Nana  of  Brohimie,  who  opposed  a  strong  resistance  to  the  British 

troops when his domain was invaded, with 100 cannon, several shot-guns and over 5,000 

slaves at his disposal, Okojie I, who had no modern weapons, but only Dane guns, bows 

and  arrows,  held  out  for  six  months,  until  he  was  betrayed  by  Iyahanebi,  his  "younger 

brother”, and had to surrender to the British. As a consequence of his stiff resistance, in 

1900  he  was  exiled  to  Calabar, where  he  met  Oba  Ovonramwen, the  deposed  Oba  of Benin, who had been exiled there by the British. 

He  survived  the  ordeal  in  detention  and  returned  home  to  be  crowned  the  14th 

Onojie  of  Uromi  in  1909.  Back  home  in  Uromi,  he  adapted  to  the  British  system  of government through "indirect rule", establishing his court at Ubiaja. Still, he did not fully accept  the  new  system  of  government,  countering  it  with  passive  disobedience  and 
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maintaining his opposition to British rule. He kept governing his subjects as his forebears 

had always done, until he was deported again, this time to Benin, in 1917. 



His presence in Benin  upset Omo N’Oba Eweka II, , who objected to the British Resident at Benin against Okojie's presence there. In 1924, he was transferred to Ibadan. 

In 1926, he made a dramatic escape to Uromi, was arrested and taken back to Ibadan, 

until he was finally released in 1931. From 1931 until his death in 1944 he consolidated 

his power in Uromi. 

His first son Prince Uagbale Okojie was crowned Onojie of Uromi in 1944. 

Igueben  

Igueben was founded around 1516, during the reign of the Benin monarch, Oba Esigie 

(1504–1550), who was one of the warrior kings of the great kingdom. 

War had broken out between the Kingdom of Benin and the Attah of the Igala Kingdom 

based at Idah, a town on the banks of the Niger River. Oba Esigie sent warriors in pursuit of men from Idah who had invaded Benin City. The Igala kingdom subsequently had to 

pay a yearly tribute to the Oba for this transgression. 

On their way to Idah, these warriors camped at a spot for a number of days before setting 

out on the final lphase of the campaign. Some months later when they had successfully 

accomplished their mission, they were returning home from Idah, they passed the night on 

the same camp ground. Whilst resting there, they found that the pellings of the yams they 

fed on during their outward journey had germinated and blossomed. Searching for food 

and water, they found lots of succulent fruit and vegetables as well as many animals to 

hunt. The water from the springs also tasted good.  They were very impressed with the 

fertility of the soil in this area. 

A  further  survey  of  the  place  showed  that  the  landscape  was  flat  and  had  no  rocks  or 

mountains; this they thought would be good for farming. There were lots of palm, coconut, 

and walnut trees together with a variety of fruit like, wild berries, peppers, okra, melon, 
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pumpkin, and plantain. There were also a wide variety of vegetables like water-leaf which 

grew  easily  and  quickly.  They  found  that  tubular  root  crops  like  yams,  germinated  and 

matured quickly. 

The  warriors  decided  to  settele  there  and  that  was  how  the  Igueben  Dukedom  was 

founded. 

Ubiaja 

Ubiaja is a dukedom in the Esan South-East Local Government Area (LGA),  Edo State, 

Nigeria.  

The date of Ubiaja's founding is not known, but the kingdom of which it was the capital 

was founded in 1463 by immigrants from the Benin Empire. The town is said to have been 

founded  by  a  man  called  Edeikholor,  treasurer  of  the  Benin  empire  during  the  reign  of 

Ewuare the Great.  The name may be a variant of "Obi’aza", meaning the royal treasurer, 

or may come from "obize",  a type of  fish that  helped Edeikholor cross a stream, a fish 

which the people of Ubiaja still abstain from eating 



Emai  

he Emai people are a group of people that inhabit a sizable part of Afenmai 

land  in  the  northwest  Edo  state  of  Nigeria. They  are  a  people  of  Edo 

T extraction currently scattered around the Owan River. Emai territory is 

bounded on the south by Erah, on the west by Ora, on the east by  Ihievbe and on the 

north by the peoples of  Uokha and Ake. All of  these groups of  people are bounded by 

ancestry to a common founder, a person called Imah 
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Early history and migration 

Imah  (or  Imaran)  was  believed  to  be  born  to  an  Ubini,  Prince  Kuoboyuwa,  around  the 

fourteenth century AD (circa 1415). His father was the eldest son of Oba Ewuare and heir 

apparent  to  the  throne.  Young  Imah,  emotionally  shattered  by  the  sudden  death  of  his 

father, found life miserable in the palace household, and with his grandfather's blessing 

decided to migrate with his immediate family. 

The young troubled prince found a home at Ugboha (a word meaning "near home" or "by 

the okha tree") close to the present-day ancient town of Uokha. The Uokha people, also of 

Ubini extraction, are located near the Kukuruku Hills of what is today Ihievbe-Ogben town close to Edoland. The area is believed to have been unclaimed and uninhabited at that 

period of time. Amidst this thickly dense forestation Imah made a home for his family. It 

came to be called Eko-Imah or Ehe-Imah which means "Imah's camp" or "Imah's place." 

Over time this was corrupted to Emai (meaning "our own" or "our land is good"). 

At one time the place was dominated by the okha trees common in the Nigerian Guinea 

savannah belt. Imah is said to have been cured mysteriously by one of these trees when 

he  was  ill,  thus  giving  the  town  of  Uokha  its  name.  This  is  the  origin  of  the  Eseokhai 

festival, commemorating the trees that had given Imah both refuge on his journey and a 

cure for his ailment. 

Imah was survived by a son, Uzuanbi. In his old age Imah decided to return to the land of 

his  ancestors  in  Ubini,  leaving  Uzuanbi  and  his  family  behind.  Shortly  afterward,  word 

reached Uzuanbi of the death of his father in Ubini. This forced Uzuanbi to return to Ubini 

to perform his father's burial rites. On the completion of these rites he returned with two 

wives, Odidi and Oron. While Odidi had three children, Oron was reportedly barren. The 

children of Odidi were Owunno, Oruamen and Urle. 

Today the people of Emai occupy the towns of Uanhumi, Ovbiwun, Afuze, Eteye, Ogute, 

Evbiamen, Evbiamen Ugboha, Okpohunmi, Ojavun and Ojavun-Ago. Due to the need for 

expansion  and  the  growing  population  of  the  Emai  people  they  were  forced  to  move 

southward, which resulted in clashes with neighboring clans. An example is the famous 
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skirmish  with  the  people  of  Erah  which  ensued  in  a  war; this  memory  remains  as  the 

famous  war  of  "Ogodo  bi  Isagua"  (meaning  "war  of  mud  and  death")  which  forced  the 

Erah people to move further south. This war was mainly fought by the descendants of Urle 

and  Erah  while  the  movement  of  Ogute from Emai-Ugbowa  led  to  the  expulsion  of  the 

Uhonmora  Ora  peoples  and  the  founding  of  Ogute  and  Ago  Ojavun  to  the  Eme-ora 

borders. 

Emai kingship and leadership 

In keeping with Benin traditions, the people of Emai had the "odion evbo," which 

was the oldest man from the oldest town (Uanhumi)  to be their king. The discussion of the leadership tussle also throws more light upon the population increase and the reason why 

there was subsequent migration from Ugbokha. 

During the burial rites of his father in Ubini, it is believed that Uzuanbi had an affair 

with the wife of another man and she bore a male son who was in fact his eldest child. 

This  child  suffered  considerable  hostilities  as  regards  acceptability  and  difficulty  in 

effectively  winning  the  leadership  support  of  Owunno,  whose  descendants  are  today 

Evbiamen, Okpohumi and Ojavun. He left his descendants to be supported only by Urle, 

who  are  today  Eteye  and  Afuze.  This  would  make  the  people  of  Uanhumi,  Afuze  and 

Eteye to be the first to leave the parent settlement of Emai-Ugbowa. 

The  reason  for  the  skirmish  was  the  fact  that  Owunno  refused  to  accept  the 

seniority  of  Uanhumi  who  was  supported  by  his  brother  Urle.  This  is  the  reason  why 

Uanhumi and the people of Urle had to leave and remained close to each other. 

Traditionally, the oldest man in Uanhumi is the Ode Edion of  Emai  Regent  King 

and is known to choose his speaker or prime minister from Uze, a tradition that existed till 

the  late  18th  century.  Due  to  the  emergence  of  colonial  rule  and  the  use  of  traditional rulers  as  district  officers  for  the  purposes  of  tax  collection  by  the  British  colonial government, the prime minister usurped the position of Ode Edion of Emai from Uanhumi, 

which was presumably weak and small in size at the time. 
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Since every town had its cults regarding the rights to ascension of positions, this 

right was at that time left exclusively to Uanhumi, but today the descendants of Urle of the 

Uze (now called "Afuze") and Eteye lineage have succeeded in ruling effectively. Though 

the most revered and oldest of deities is still at Uanhumi, the throne was lost to the Afuze 

who have produced four heirs to the throne as Oloje of Emai. 

The  people  of  Ovbiowun  to  this  day  have  a  parallel  kingship  known  as  Oloje  of 

Ovbiowun and celebrate their separate festival of Ese-Okhai, meaning "benefits from the 

okah  tree."  Today  there  exists  only  one  way  to  have  common  consensus:  if  only  the 

powerful rulers of Urle and the rest of Emai are magnanimous enough to unite the Eije 

Cult (the cult of chiefs) with the aim of a single ruling hierarchy. This remains to be seen. 

The right to kingship is extended to all male children at birth who are unarguably 

descendants of Imah and are capable of obeying and participating in the princely duties of 

the Eije Cults. 

Okpella Clan 

kpella  Clan  is  strategically  located  on  the  Northern  fringes  of  Edo  State 

bordering  Kogi.  It  is  one  of  the  major  gateways  opening  Edo  State  to  the 

O North of Nigeria. Home to several solid minerals industries and several 

agricultural products, it is the third largest clan in Edo State as recorded in 

the 2006 population census. 

Linguistic  evidence  has  also  proved  that  Okpella  language  belong  to  the  Edoid 

group.  Infact  there are over a thousand Okpella words that  are similar to Benin.  It was 

migrations,  new  discoveries  occasioned  by  environmental  changes  that  brought 

differences to bare on Okpella from the parent language. 

The Okpella people have semblances in their traditional institutions with those of 

Benin.  The  use  of  coral  beads,  beaded  crowns,  the  ‘Ikpema’  (music)  to  celebrate  the 
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‘Ethame’ traditional titles have Benin colouration Similarly the Otu idaetche festival which 

takes place at about every 20 years was among other reasons, to remember their arrival 

from  Benin.  Benin  works  of  art  especially  wood  carving  and  basket  weaving  were  also 

carried down to Okpella. It need be pointed out that traces of this works of art survival in 

Ogiriga and Utegie villages of Okpella today. 

The founder and father of  Okpella was a man called Ikponwusa meaning ‘I give 

thanks to God’. He was said to have migrated from a place called Ekae in Benin during 

the  tyrannical  rule  of  Oba  Ozolua.  Oral  tradition  has  it  that  Ikponwusa  later  corrupted 

Ikpomaza left Benin with his beautiful wife Eveva who was a twin. His departure was said 

to have been hastened by attempt by royal forces to take his wife. In another version, he 

was said to have left Benin to hunt for leopards. It should be recalled that leopard skins 

were  exported  by  Benin  Empire  to  Portugal  in  the  15th  century.  The  above  accounts 

strongly suggest that Okpella origin lies in Benin. 

Ikpomaza  arrived  at  a  place  called  ok’uviogbe  a  small  stream  in  Ogute-Okpella. 

There, he had three children namely rite, Ase (oteku) and Otuma (Ekuri). They also met 

two aborigine groups which are Okhu at Amori cave and Ekpema also at Ekpema rock. 

These  aborigines’  languages  were  similar  to  that  of  Okpella,  indication  that  they  also 

migrated from Benin at a much more earlier period. It suffice to note that these two groups 

have been completely absorbed by Okpella today. It need be mentioned that the founder 

of  Okpella  was  addressed  to  as  Okpea  N’kpomaza  meaning  “the  man  Ikpomaza.  The 

word Okpella was a corruption of Okpea. This was a consequence of British imperialism in 

Nigeria of which Okpella was an integral part. 

After  the  earliest  settlements  in  Okpella,  continued  identity  with  Benin  was 

maintained.  The  situation  was  such  that  corpses  were  sent  to  Benin  for  burial.  This 

became  progressively  difficult  considering  head  portage  as  a  means  of  transportation 

especially when there were heavy corpses to convey. 

Consequently,  the  system  was  discouraged.  In  the  same  vein,  Benin  traditional 

facial marks were also used by the people of  Okpella. However the use of tribal marks 
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was halted because it exposed the people as easy targets of attacks by the Yoruba and 

Northern invaders. 

Another  area  where  continued  identity  and  loyalty  to  the  Benin  Monarch  was 

pursued could be found in the submission of every leopard skin, killed in Okpella and to 

him. Up till now, there is a popular say in Okpella which states that “any hunter who kills a 

leopard  has  to  undertake  a  compulsory  journey  to  Benin”.  This  system,  was  later 

discontinued because it was bound by loyalty to the Oba of Benin rather than the use of 

force. Infact, there is no historical record to prove that Okpella was ever subjected to any 

military  attack  or  conquest  by  Benin,  their  ancestral  home.  The  relationship  was  very 

cordial and this has survived up to our time. 

As a corollary to the above, many Okpella legends, tabes and folklores are highty 

woven around a mythical personality called the Oba. Besides, some references are being 

made to the Ogiso period in Benin history and the construction of the Benin Moat. 

It  is  pertinent  to  note  at  this  juncture  that  Okpella  was  conquered  by  the  Nupe 

jihadists in about 1850. However, there were series of wars fought with the Nupe to shake 

of their imperialism. The last was in about 1893 when Okpella defeated the Nupe army. 

The effort for revenge  by the Nupe was frustrated in  1897 when they fell to the British 

colonial  forces.  Consequently,  Okpella  which  was  essentially  part  of  Nupe  in  political 

rather then geographical and cultural connection was also taken over by the British. 

The situation was such that a District office was established in Iddo-Okpella under 

J.C.  Walker  between  1911-1917  when  Sidney  Smith  took  over.  Okpella  was  known  as 

Kukuraku South of Kabba Division of Northern Nigeria. During this period, the British had 

to grapple with the problem of tax evasion in Okpella. Thus, a commission of inquiry was 

instituted to unravel the reasons for tax evasion in Okpella especially as taxation formed a 

large part of revenue to the British imperialists. The report however revealed that Okpella 

are Edo speaking people and that taxation is alien to their culture. More over, their culture 

was  a  far  cry  to  that  of  their  neighbours  in  Kabba  Division.  Therefore,  it  was 

recommended that Okpella should be merged with their Southern Etsako brothers. 
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Thus, they were re-united back to where they rightly belongs and ever since then 

loyalty to the Oba of Benin has never been in doubt. Some sensitive issues affecting the 

people are sometimes brought to the Oba of Benin for advice and intervention. Infact, the 

writer  led  a  delegation  of  Okpella  Students  Union  to  the  Oba  palace  to  seek  royal 

intervention on the crisis rocking the Bendel Cement Company, Okpella in 1995. There 

are a plethora of similar cases coming from Okpella to Benin. 

Afenmai  

fenmai  or  Afemai  is  an  ethnic  language  of  the  group  of  people  living  in  the 

northern part of the old Benin Kingdom. Today, the Afenmai speaking people 

A occupy six local government areas of Edo state: Etsako West, with 

headquarters in Auchi, Etsako Central, Etsako East, Owan East, Owan West and Akoko 

Edo. These make up the northern Edos. Afemai ethnic group is subdivided into different 

dialects, but some groups of people of this ethnicity generally speak and understand each 

other. 

History 

Afemai, is made of several kingdoms and clans; some of which are large villages 

and townships ruled traditionally by monarchs. Many of these clans seem to have their own  oral  versions  of  the  origin  of  Afemai  as  well  as  its  own  starting  point  in  history. 

Historical  accounts  claimed  that  they  migrated  from  Benin, during  the  tyrannical  rule  of 

Oba Ewuare, who was the greatest warrior legend and the most outstanding king in the 

history of Benin Empire.  

The title Ewuare (Oworuare), meaning it is cool or the trouble has ceased” and as 

a result the war is over. The title symbolizes an epoch of reconciliation, reconstruction and the return of peace among the warring factions in Benin between 1435-1440 AD. 
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It was shortly after this critical period of war that Akalaka and his two sons Ekpeye 

and Ogba migrated further southeast to first settle at  Ula-Ubie,  and  subsequently other 

groups moved out of Benin City and migrated northward. However, has recently become 

clear that there were people living in Afemailand prior to the migration from Benin City. 

The  Afemais  do  not  have  a  central  traditional  ruler,  but  some  of  the  prominent 

traditional  institutions  and  rulers  in  Afemai  land  are  the  Okumagbe  of  Weppa  Wanno 

(Agenebode),  Ogieneni of Uzairue (Jattu),Aidonogie of south Ibie, Otaru of Auchi, Oba of 

Agbede, Otaru of Igarra, Oliola of Anegbette, Okumagbe of Iluleha clan 

The Aviawun Clan 

viawun  (Iviawu)  is  one  of  the  major  clans  in  Afenmai.  It  comprises    Unone, 

Arua, Ogbona and Iriakhor. Awun is the father of Unone Arua Ogbona Iriakhor 

A and Awun migrated from Benin Kingdom and settle in the present Fugar. 

Unone and Arua make up the present Fugar. 

Awun is said to be migrated from Benin Kingdom during the 15th Century and he 

left Benin Kingdom because of iron hand the Oba of Benin was applying on its subjects. 

He  first  settle  at  Jettu  and  the  native  of  Jettu  did  not  welcome  him  and  he  migrated 

eastward and settle in the present Fugar. 

It was said that when he arrives Fugar, he did not met any big tree and the only 

tree he met that can shade him and his family was not big enough. This particular tree is 

still  exist  to  the  present  day.The  tree  is  name  Agbado.  It  is  a  traditional  tree  and  no 

Aviawun descendant  is dare to cut down the  tree.  Today it  is a tourist  attraction and a 

traditionally revered tree. 
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The Ekperi  

he Ekperi speak an Edo language and trace their origins to the Edo kingdom 

of Benin in their orthodox history. Nevertheless, they and other northern Edo 

T peoples living in eastern Nigeria's Etsako local government area share such 

cultural institutions as title associations and masking traditions with their riverain Igala and Igbo neighbors, who live to the east, across the Niger River. 

Numbering about 15,000 or more, the Ekperi occupy settlements dispersed over 

400  square  miles  west  of  the  Niger  River  in  the  southeastern  corner  of  Etsako  local 

government area in Edo State. Benin City is some  70 miles to the north, but Idah, the] 

Igala capital, is only 15-20 miles to the west, located on the opposite bank of the Niger. 

The Ekperi claim to have migrated from Benin in the early sixteenth century during 

the  Benin  civil  war  known  as  Okwu-Oba  (Alonokua  n.d.:3).  Bradbury  in  1957  collected 

local  histories.  He  also  further  suggested  that  they  and  the  neighboring  Uzairhue, 

Avianwu, and Uwepa-Uwano descend from a common Edo ancestor, Oluku. 

At  the  time  of  Ekperi's  departure  from  Benin,  Benin  and  Idah  were  engaged  in 

open warfare, and both kingdoms record the settlement of fringe areas in the aftermath of 

conflict. The prevalence of night societies and title systems like those of the Igala and Igbo 

suggests that a local population inhabiting the area prior to the sixteenth century absorbed 

Igala influence (Eboreime 1978:2; see also Borgatti 1976c, 1979c, 1989(Boston 1962:380-

81; Dike 1976: 6/2-5).). 
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The Owan  

riginally Owan was under the western region. Initially Sabongida Ora was the 

O headquarter of Ivbiosakon according to a Goverment gazette No 42 of 

August 4th 1967. 

On  February  14th  1967,  a  sole  administrator  Mr  D.B  Patridge  was  appointed  to 

investigate the issues arising from the location of the headquarters in Sabongida Ora. The 

head  quarter  was  subsequently  changed  to  Afuze  and  the  Ivbiosakon  was  changed  to 

Owan. Later Owan was divided to East and West and the headquarter of Owan East was 

Afuze and Owan West was headquartered at Sabongida Ora. 

In 1200AD, Odion founded Uokha land while in 1463AD, Ima founded Emai land. 

Irimo  founded  Iuleha  land  in  1465AD.  Ekpega  founded  Ikhin  land  in  1465AD  and  in 

1482AD, Okpamen Uguan founded Ora land. 

Oba Ozolua is traditionally regarded  as the ancestor of  the Owans/Ora. He was 

known  as  Prince  Okpame  before  he  became  known  as  Oba  Ozolua.  He  had  sought 

refuge in Uwokha in Ivbiosakon areas in c1473. From Uwokha, Oba Ozolua founded Ora 

and other villages. Oba Ozolua was a warlord. He crushed the people of Uzea near Uromi 

when  there  was  a  revolt  and  extended  this  carnage  to  Uromi  when  the  Onojie  was 

reported to have been rude to his messengers. 

He went up through Akoko land, campagning into Nupe lands where he acquired a 

lot  of  sophisticated  weaponry  then.  He  attacked  the  Igallas  and  Igbirras  in  the  present 

Kogi and Kwarra states. After spending the greater part of his life in Ora, he left behind his 

son Uguan and returned to Benin City to ascend the Benin throne. But before he left, he 

proclaimed everybody free men and free women, entitled to enjoy the privileges of Edo 

Princes  and  Princesses,  for  all  the  services  they  had  rendered  him  in  his  military 

campaigns. 
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That  is  why  the  Oras  call  themselves  today,  the  “Children  of  Ozolua”.    Major 

festivals and ceremonies in his honour in most towns on the Ora clans. Some of these are 

Owewe,Orimiyan,Oisa,Aselegun,Ekhae,Ukpasa and funeral rites. 

Sabongida is an Hausa name given to Ora by Hausa settlers who came to make 

Evbiobe home after the British reoccupation in 1906. Today,Ora people want to reverse 

the name Sabongida-Ora to Evbiobe. 

It was believed that at Uokha,Okpame-Uguan associated with Obazua and Irimo at 

Uokha.  It  is  already  established  that  Irimo  was  the  founder  Iuleha  clan.  At 

Oukha,Okpamen also met Okpowewunma who later married Ororuah.Okpamen and his 

followers wandered south to Iregbe from where the Ora clan was founded 

Another  version  has  it  that  when  Okpame  Uguan  was  banned  from  Benin,  he 

moved  towards  Edo  north  with  his  followers  and  they  settled  in  Ozalla.From  Ozalla  he 

went further and set up a camp with his cousin Obazua.They were both farmers. 

On  one  of  their  farming  expeditions,they  met  some  other  migrant  who  identified 

himelf as a prince of the Benin kingdom. Among the people they met was Akpowowuma, 

the father of Ororuah.They all went back together and settled at Uokha,which is further 

down Edo north. 

Ororuah  stayed  with  them  for  some  time,  got  married  and  his  wife  became 

pregnant. 

When  Okpamen  visited  his  cousin  Obazua,  he  met  Ororuah's  wife  under  labor. 

Spiritual  divination  revealed  that  the  woman  under  labor  must  be  removed  from  Uokha 

immidiately to Iregbe, or else the baby will die. 

Obazua  was  the  soothsayer  who  predicted  this  occurrence.  When  she  got  to 

Iregbe, woods that were used to dry leopard meat were used to set up fire to keep the 

nursing  mother  warm  .In  Ora  language,leopard  means  Ekpen.The  baby  delivered  was 

named Orai’ Ekpen which means in Ora language means leopard wood. 

The  nickname  of  Okpame  was  Uguan  meaning  "I  will  not  serve  anybody'.This 

made Ora people not to have an Oba or King till date. 
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Iregbe is significant in Ora history because it was the place Okpame-Uguan settled 

in  when  he  left  Uokha  with  his  pregnant  wife.  His  son  Ora  Ekpen,  was  born  in  Iregbe. 

Iregbe has ceased to exist today as a settlement and village. It was renamed Odorere and 

had  become  a  burial  ground  for  Ora  people.  It  is  a  bush  behind  Ojavun  village-[on  the 

west side of Ojavun toward Avbiosi-Iuleha]. Because of its location,Ojavun people refused 

Ora  people  from  taking  dead  bodies  across  their  village  to  Iregbe  that  had  become  a 

cemetery.There is a river in Iregbe called today river Iregbe 

Okpame bore Ora Ekpen in Iregbe.  As the child grew  up he  left them and went 

back to Benin following the death of his father-the Oba. He went back to Benin to inherit 

the Obaship as he was the next in line to ascend to the throne. Ironically ,the king makers 

in Benin refused has ascension to this throne. 

Oran Ekpen married six wives from Uokha and each wife had two children .This 

made all his children to be 12 in Iregbe.From Iregbe or Odorere,the moved to Ugbubezi 

from where they settled in their present settlement.The most senor child of Ora Ekpen is 

Umale  or  Imale.  Umale  turned  out  to  be  very  lazy  and  un  ambitious.  He  was  a 

disappointment. His brothers [with the exception on his brother of the same mother called 

Obe]colluded among themselves and killed him. Obe his blood brother then reported this 

occurrence  to  their  father.  As  a  result  of  this  occurrence,  Ora-  Ekpen  dispersed  all  the 

children to different settlements that formed the six major clans that made the present day 

Ora.[the six major clans represents the six wives of Ora Ekpen].The six major clans that 

represents  the  first  sons  of  each  wife  are  Ohia,Ovbiokhuanrin,Evbiobe,Uhonmora,Oke 

and Eme. 

In  1953,  Omo  N’Oba  Akenzua  II  created  18  traditional  councils  in  the  six  unit 

villages  of  Ora.  Ohia  got  Eson,Olaye  and  Uwaya.  Ovbiokhuanrin  got  Esama,Osai  and 

Ebolor  while  Uhonmora  got  Osula,Ogua  and  Osiogua.  Oke  got  Obaraye,Ezama  and 

Ebagua with Eme’Ora getting Ozague,Auen and Osasomoyon 

After over five hundred years, the Oje of Ora was resuscitated and conferred on 

Chief J.O Agbi of Ohia on 8th.of December, 1987. He died in 1999. 
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He  was  suceeded  by  Chief  Matthew  Porta  Imona  from  Ovbiokhkhuanrin.  The 

highiest shrine or Ikute in Ora land Ora-Ekpen bi Uguan at Evbiobe. 

The  twelve  children  of  Ora-Ekpen  in  order  of  seniority  are  as 

follows:Umale,Ahiedu,Akhauize,Odu,Obe,Ibiaro,Eghomi,Owato,Uguanroba,Ohela,Agba 

and Ofebe 

Iru-Ekpen 

fter  Umale  was  killed,  the  other  children  could  not  see  their  father  eye  to 

eye.This brought about a belief in Ora that children of Obe see and tourch a 

A dead body as Obe,the same mother with Umale was able to see their father as 

he  did  not  have  any  guilt  conscience.  He  eventually  buried  his  brother  on  his  father’s 

orders. 

Before  Umale  was  killed,  he  had  a  child  named  Iru  from  a  wife  called  Ayamon. 

Because  of  how  her  husband  was  killed,Iru's  mother  ran  away  with  him  to  Ekpoma.He 

married and eventually settled today at  the present  day Iruekpen[Iru-Ekpen].Incidentally 

Iru-Ekpen is the grandson of Ora-Ekpen.Iruekpen is today geographycally next village to 

Ora 

The  Era  people  originally  migrated  from  Ora:  They  are  children  of  Oran-Ekpen. 

Similarly, Ezeruah ,a sister to Iru married and bore the following children: Ekhorome and 

Eralere.Ekhorome  was  in  constant  disagreement  with  his  uncle  Obe[his  father's 

brother]Obe sent him to Ovbiowun where he settled and had a quarter of his own for his 

family. As a result of the disagreements they had in Ovbiowun, he left with his family and 

settled in present day Erah. 

This was part of the famous Erah-Ovbiowun war.Geographically, Erah is close to 

Ora and Ozalla where their grandparents and cousins call home 

Ugbubezi and Atoruru are hamlets of a large expanse of farmlands between the 

extreme mid west side of  Sabongida  -Ora and south western part of  Iuleha.It  is a very 
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fertile land that is good for cultivation of palm oil,rubber,Ogbolo.The Urhobos,Itsekiris,Oras 

and Aomas from Iuleha inhabit this farmlands as farmers.The ownership of this expanse 

of land is currently being disputed by Avbiosi-Iuleha on one side and the Ora people on 

the other side. 

Ohia became the senior son of Ora Ekpen after the death of Imale. He committed a 

heinous offence of impregnating his father’s wife. Consequently seniority fell on his next 

senior  son  Ovbiokhuan.  Obe  was  rewarded  with  spiritual  authority  because  of  his 

closeness to his father Ora Ekpen. 

The Urhobo  

he  Urhobo  people  are  located  in  the  present  Delta  State  of  Nigeria.  They 

occupy  the  southern  portion  of  the  Benin  lowland  and  the  floodplains  and 

T swamps of the petroleum-rich Niger delta. With a population of some two 

million  people,  the  Urhobo  people  are  the  5th  largest  ethnic  group  in  Nigeria  and 

constitute the largest single ethnic group in Delta State. 

In traditional African political organization, the Urhobo nation consists of twenty-two 

autonomous republics or "clans" with a common ancestral origin. The clans are: Agbarha, 

Agbarha-Ame  (Agbassa),  Agbarho,  Agbon,  Arhavwarien,  Avwraka,  Eghwu,  Ephron-oto, 

Evwreni, Idjerhe, Oghara, Ogor, Okere, Okparabe, Okpe, Olomu, Orogun, Udu, Ughelli, 

Ughievwen, Ughwerun, and Uvwie. The earliest political system in most of Urhoboland is 

a mixture of the kingship system and the rule by elders. Depending on the clan and the 

system of administration, the king or clan head is called the Ovie or Orodje or Osuivie, 

Okobaro, Okpako or Okpara-Uku and such title may be hereditary in some clans. 

While  the  kingship  system  maintained  a  highly  centralized  type  of  government  with  the 

king assisted by a council of chiefs, the clan head (in the rule by the elders system), is 

assisted in the day-to-day administration of the polity by titled officers selected from the 

various age grades recognized in the clan. 
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History 

Various writers have given interesting accounts of the Portuguese discovery of Benin in 

1472,  of  the  trade  and  the  missionary  activities  that  followed  the  discovery,  and  of  the 

keen  competition  which  other  European  nations  like  England,  Holland  and  France  etc., 

successfully  organized  against  Portugal  in  her  exploits  in  the  Bight  of  Benin.  For some 

420 years, the selling and buying of commodities between Europeans and Africans of the 

Benin Coast had brought about a civilization, a culture contact, exchange of ideas, and a 

mingling  of  peoples  about  which  the  Urhobo  people  in  the  hinterland  knew  practically 

nothing.  How  much  the  Europeans  on  the  coast  knew  about  the  Urhobo  people  was 

clearly very little since there was no direct contact of any kind; the Europeans relied on the 

different stories which African traders of the coast, mainly Itsekiri, told them. 

What seemed to be the earliest reference on record to the Urhobo people was made by 

 Duarte Pacheco Pereira,  who, while describing  Rio Dos Forcados (Forcados River) said 

among  other  things.  "Further  in  the  interior  is  another  country  called    Subou,  which  is 

densely populated. . . ." 

According to Chief A. Salubi history of the Urhobos originally published in Journal of the 

Historical  Society  of  Nigeria  of  December,  1958,  the  Urhobo  people  form  one  of  the  7 

indigenous ethnic groups of the people in the Delta Province of Western Nigeria. These 

groups are in four Administrative divisions, one of which is Urhobo Division. It is therefore 

the Urhobo division that is referred to broadly in this paper as the Urhobo Country. 

The Urhobo country (except that part of it lying to the east and bordering on the Niger and 

its creeks) constitutes the main dry land of the Delta Province. Generally, all the country is 

flat and well within the zone of the evergreen tropical forest dominated by the ubiquitous 

West Coast oil-palm. The division is bounded on the South by Western Ijo Division, on the 

West  by  Warri  Division  on  the  East  by  Aboh  Division,  and  on  the  North  by  the  River 

Ethiope except at the north west where the line embraced a strip of land on the right bank 

of the River. 
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The people are given to agriculture and owing to their system of shifting cultivation and 

the habit of living in small scattered groups in villages; the bulk of the vegetation consists 

of secondary growth springing up rapidly on temporarily abandoned farmlands. 

Between 1839 and 1840 Dr. Daniell and Mr. John Beecroft navigated the Benin River and 

attempted to learn something about the Urhobo country and its people. 

According  to  Dr.  Daniell    "The  Subo  country  consists  of  an  extensive  series  of  fertile 

plains,  thirty  miles  above  Reggio,"   "beautiful y  ornamented  with  park  --  like  clumps  of 

trees and verdure of the freshest tint. . ." 

Beecroft's purpose of exploring the Benin River in April, 1840, was to ascertain whether 

an approach through the river to the main body of the Niger, without having to go through 

the  pestiferous  swamps  of  its  delta,  was  possible.  That  took  him  to  the  highest  point 

navigable on that part of the River leading to the Urhobo country. Beecroft says that the 

name given to the district by natives lower down the river who represented it as forming 

part of the Kingdom of Benin was  Sooba.    

In the narrative of his voyage of the Niger in 1854, Dr. William Balfour Baikie wrote of the 

Urhobo as a "people speaking a distinct language who bring palm-oil to the trading ships, 

and who are called Sobo, being tributary to Benin".  Writing in 1863, Sir Richard Francis 

Burton  confirmed  what  appeared  clearly  to  be  an  earlier  information  by  Beecroft  and 

added  "I  believe  that  the  word"  (Sooba)  "applies  to  the  greatest  part  of  the  country 

between Abo on the Niger, the Warri River, and the southern branch of the Benin which 

bounds it on the north. . . ." "At Warri we were within one day's row of the Sobo people." 

Fifty  years  after  Beecroft's  attempt  had  passed,  and  still  Europeans,  on  the  coast  or 

elsewhere,  did  not  know  much  about  the  Urhobo  people.  Thus  in  1890,  Sir  Alfred 

Moloney, then Governor of Lagos, told a London audience what at best was hearsay that 

in  addition  to  "the  Benins,  Jakrymen,  and  Ijohs,  much  was  heard  in  these  parts  of  the 

Issobos  or  Sobos,  who  were  described  as  people  tributary  (they  have  been  so  for 

generations)  to  .  .  .  Benin."  He  described  them  as  industrious,  agricultural  and  oil 
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manufacturers,  and  their  language  as  having  great  affinity  with  the  Benin  language  in 

many ways. 

About the same period, the Intelligence Division of the War Office in England, recorded 

the Sobos and the Binis as occupying the country north of the Warri, west of the Niger, 

and west and east of the Benin River; they were described as seeming to be a shy and 

timid  race,  given  to  agriculture  rather  than  trade  and  as  being  more  or  less  under  the 

suzerainty of the King of Benin. 

For many years, European traders on the coast wanted to reach the interior people who 

were the oil producers, but the African middlemen who were natives of the coast, did not 

permit them. It was a part of the middlemen's design deliberately to malign or blackmail 

the interior people to the Europeans, and the Europeans, to the interior people.(22)  

The total exclusion of the European traders from any contact with the hinterland people 

suited the middlemen's purpose eminently well. As agents between the interior and the 

coast, many of them had become very wealthy and influential, a position which they very 

jealously  guarded.  The  jealousy  was  based  on  the  fears  of  losing  their  powerful 

advantageous position. 

Age and Gender Classification 

In those clans where the age grade system is recognized, the men are categorized into 4 

age grades, namely: Ekpako, Ivwragha, Otuorere, and Imitete age grades, based on age, 

life achievements, and contributions to the community. The women are also categorized 

into three age grades, namely: Ekwokweya, Evweya, and Emete age grades, based on 

child-bearing  status.  The  Ekpako  and  Ekwokweya  age  grades  assist  in  the  day-to-day 

administration of the clan and serve as custodians of the Urhobo culture. While the Imitete 

and Emete age grades clean and sweep the streets, run errands and perform domestic 

duties,  the  Otuorere  age  grade  performs  heavy  duties  like  bush  clearing,  building  of 

shrines,  construction  works,  burial  and  other  social  services.  The  working  class  and 

warriors belong to the Ivwragha age grade. 
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Occupations 

The natural terrain of Urhoboland afforded the Urhobo people their traditional occupations 

of farming and fishing. During the colonial era, the production of palm oil and palm kernel 

from the stands of oil palm trees which are native to Urhoboland was highly encouraged 

by the British colonial government. The British also found the area and climate ideal for 

the cultivation of rubber and cocoa as cash crops. 

Language and Beliefs 

Though  the  Urhobo  people  speak  a  universal  Urhobo  language,  some  clans  speak 

different dialects which may not be understood by other Urhobo people. Urhobo culture is 

unique  and  distinct  from  other  Nigerian  cultures.  The  beliefs  of  the  Urhobo  people  are 

based on spiritual forces which govern the harmony of the universe and their culture is 

characterized  by  strong  extended  family  ties,  respect  for  elders,  and  taboos  against 

stealing,  incest,  murder,  dishonesty  and  so  on.  Many  Urhobo  customs  have  influenced 

other  ethnic  groups  around  them  just  as  it  has  been  influenced  by  them  also  through 

cultural interaction and inter-marriages. These ethnic groups around Urhobland  include: 

Ijaw, Itsekiri, Isoko, Benin, and kwale. 

Like many people of the world, the Urhobo people are undergoing a cultural and political 

renaissance. 

Isoko  

he Isoko Land  is one  of  the most densely populated  areas in  Nigeria, with 

about 300 persons per square kilometre compared with the average of 198 

T for Delta State and 130 for Nigeria. The consequence has been a shortage of 

farmland  which  is  accentuated  by  oil  exploration  activities  in  the  region.  Many  of  the 

estimated over 475,000 Isoko people are migrants to other parts of the country, residing in 
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Ughelli, Warri, Sapele, Benin, Ijebu  Ode, Ondo, Lagos, Kano  and  predominately  in  the rural  agricultural  land  areas  of  Benin,  Ondo  and  Ijebu-Ode.  Also,  some  300,000  Isoko 

people  are  permanent  indigenes  of  Ndokwa  East  of  Delta  State  and  Sagbama  Local 

Government area of Bayelsa state. Isoko Land is essentially rural with no urban and semi-

urban  centres.  Isoko  land  is  within  the  economic  shadow  of  the  vibrant  industrial, 

commercial  Warri  metropolis  and  the  result  has  been  largely  of  backlash  effects,  with 

most of the young men and women in addition to available capital in Isoko land graduating 

to Warri sub-urban area. The residual population is mainly involved in agriculture, small-

scale  commercial  and  industrial  enterprises.  Against  this  background  of  the  petty 

economic activities, massive unemployment of youths is very high, the quality of life is low 

and  below  the  standard  of  living  recommended  by  the  United  Nations  Development 

Organization  and poverty is rife in Isoko Land. 

Language 

The Isoko ethnic group is one of the smallest minority ethnic groups in the Niger Delta 

region of Nigeria in West Africa, occupying an area of about 1,200 square kilometres, with 

a residual population of over 750,000 by 2001 census. The language spoken by the Isoko 

people is the Isoko language. It is linguistically similar to that spoken by the neighboring 

Urhobo.  

Origins 

While people believe that the Isoko people originated from the Benin Kingdom, others, like 

Professor Obaro Ikime, believe this to be untrue. Ikime states "If there is any aspect of the 

history  of  the  various  peoples  of  Nigeria  about  which  no  one  can  speak  with  any 

exactitude, it is that which deals with the origins of our peoples. "[2] The belief that most of the  Isoko  groups  are  of  Benin  origin  were  views  held  and  expressed  in  the  1960s  and 

1970s.  These  views  were  "decidedly  simplistic  and  were  based  on  British  Intelligence 

Reports of the 1930s"[2] and Ikime's field work of 1961-1963. 
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The Onicha clan  

The Onicha clan is part of 'Anioma', the towns with Onicha in their name on the West bank 

of  the  river  Niger  are  kin  with  the  Onicha  in  Anambra,  that's  the  problem  with  seeing 

traditional lands through the eyes of 20 year old states. The Benin Empire had citizens 

who weren't necessarily Bini, but were from Benin. The Onicha people told the Europeans 

that they are of Bini stock because they migrated from there. 

Usually during any cultural event Anioma people like to reminisce about the inherited Bini 

culture. It is their heritage whether some people like it or not. You may dispute how the 

heritage was acquired but not whether the heritage is there. 

We must not forget that the foremost Igbo leader of recent time was Nnamdi Azikiwe a 

pan Igboist  in tune with his Bini affinity through Onitsha. So my Igbo brethren, take a chill 

pill and let us enjoy this thread. I am Anioma and also proud of my Igbo heritage but I am 

cognizant of my Bini heritage too. 

These  pictures  are  regal  and  reminds  me  of  the  ogbanigbe  and  Ine  festival  of  Anioma 

mostly Ezechima clan  of Isseles, Obior, Onitsha Ugbo etc. 

Ezechime  

gbuefi,  still  on  Ikhimen  or  Ezechime,  my  understanding  of  the  exodus  of 

people who fled towards anioma land, particularly the Onitsha Ado People, 

O was that they came from Ile Ife, settled in Benin until one day the Oba of 

Benin  who  was  paying  homage  to  gods  of  the  land  refused  to  do  so  to  the that  of  the 

Orisa Ado as it was called then.  In annoyance the Onitsha people left. 

it becomes a tradition as for ikhimien ( ezechime) . 

the  migration  into  onitcha  was  one  aspect  ,  another  bini  ,migrant  also  called 

aigbogidi -a warrior also conquered the place and led people there , but ezechime and 

other bini migrant met igbo people there and met also the  igala people , that is why the 

old  onitcha  language  contained  many  bini  ,igala  and   igbo  words  ,but  looking  at  the 
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distance  of bini to  onitcha , it is  quite true that igbo people were living in onitcha , before 

binis  came ,and igala people too were there , but  they were not organised and  they  did 

not  have a monarchical government ( or a king) untill ezechime and  aigbogidi came and 

as bini warriors they gained upper  hand and re-organised the  place and  put  in place a 

monarchical system  of government as they had  in  benin. 

The word  aigbogidi means a great amphibious animal in bini language and this  

have been changed to   agbogidi or egbogidi , this is also the  title of  most bini related 

kings  in anioma area of delta state . 

ezechime moved through many towns and  villages , so  if you are moving from 

bini  to  onitcha  ,  you  must   pass  through  some  towns  ,  so  if  we  take  the  writings   of 

Nyandel the  Dutch  man and historian  that visited benin and  settled in agbor in 1702, he 

said there was a great  migration of families moving from Benin and settling  into Agbor 

and  Obior ,and eventually this  people moved through many other towns along anioma 

area and  eventually into Onitcha . this was also recently reconted  when the Oba of Benin 

celebrated his 30th coronation ceremony last  year in Benin. 

One of the  Benin chiefs who  led the migration was called Ovior and he settled in 

the area now called obior , you can see how time  changes language and  names . That is 

why many other communities along isele-uku, onitcha-olona , refer to  ezechime as their 

core founder of their towns. 

the agbor people also have some  links with ezechime although he was not the 

founder  of  agbon( agbor) as the communitiy  have existed for a thousand years before 

chime , but tradition  have  it that  ezechime went to obior and  later through isele uku and 

eventually to onitcha , where he had 8 children and seven  of this children died as a result 

of witch craft that he  encountered there , probably from the original people of the land 

(igbo), so he beat a retreat  and ran back  to agbor in a place called isimien ( ali-isimien) in 

agbor and settled there with the last remaining child , a girl and this girl was to later give 

birth to owuwu , who  later became king of agbor . ,but prior to  that time agbor people 

believe according to some agbor tradition that ezechime was from agbor and that it was 
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the dispute of who will become king  of agbor amongst two brothers that made chime to  

steal the ofor and ufie staff of authority from the ogua ogbe ( royal palace ) . 

onitcha  town  was  founded  aroung  the  16th  century  and   in  the  book  ,  a  short 

history  of  benin  by  the  great  bini  historian ,but  all  i  know  is  that  all  the  stories  point  to 

some truths  like brotherly relationship of the towns  mentioned ,but as for  who is  more 

correct  ,  i  do   not  know  ,  as  i  would  rather  rely   on  onitcha  people  to  tell  us  from  their 

history  .  but i  do   know  that  before  ekumeku  war  with   the  british  that   onitcha  was  an 

anioma te 

Onicha, Isele,Ezi & Obomkpa 

These five clans originally were not attached as such to the Benin kingdom. It was Oba 

Ehengbuda  who  invaded  these  settlements  in  about  1600  and  forced  them  to  become 

vassal states to the Benin kingdom. 

The  story  was  that  when  they  arrived,  the  people  of  Issele  Uku  quickly  accepted  their 

imperialism unlike the people of Onicha who fought to defend the country. 

In the course of the war many Onicha people were dispersed , some  group fled to their 

farms hence the name Onicha’Ugbo , another smaller group left Onicha Ugbo to colonize 

an Ogwashi Uku settlement was later called Onicha Olona while another son of Onicha 

Ugbo moved to their former site and re-founded it by calling the settlement Onicha Uku. 

The last group according to traditional accounts, another Onicha group moved to found 

Onicha Mmili now call Onitsha’Ado. This is why Issele’Uku makes such frivolous claim of 

being the " clan head " . The Onichas were battered while Obior being a smaller sub clan 

held by a female descendant of Eze’chime despite its antiquity was seen as being inferior 

to them. 

According to the account , when they left Benin , they settled in Agbor. This was in about 

1530 . It was in Agbor they gradually became Igbo speaking. It should also be known that 

originally  Agbor  was  Edo  speaking,.  It  was  from  the  13th  century  ,  that  Eka  of  Agbor 

began  to  be  Igbo  speaking  as  interactions  with  the  Igbo  speaking  peoples  Of  Ubulu  , 

Ozalla and other places  as well as Igbo migrations into the community  became stronger. 
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This is why the dialect spoken in Agbor is a relict dialect. It was more widespread. It when 

more Igbo speaking peoples especially large Nri groups began to arrive that the present 

Aniocha and Ukwu’ani dialects began to differentiate from the original dialect. Thus , this 

how  they  changed  from  being  Edo  speaking  to  become  Igbo  speaking. 

In  addition,  place  names  in  several  Umu’ezechime  towns  proves  a  connection  with  the 

Benin people. In Issele Uku for instance , the royal qtr is called Ishi’Ekpe and this was 

apparently derived from Eha’Ekpen in Benin. 

In Onicha Ugbo there is a part of the town called " Usenu " derived from " Uselu " from 

Benin probably because Uselu is the domain of the heir apparent of Benin and they being 

descendants  of  Ezechime's  first  son    thus  his  heir  apparent.  This  should  also  be  seen 

from that perspective. 

The Ogbanigbe festival of Obior, Igbodo and Onicha Ugbo is named after an Edo word. 

Another reason why they assimilated so easily is that they mingled with people who were 

purely of Igbo stock shortly after they settled. For example, when the people of Issele Uku 

arrived, they met an Nri group already on the land. These people were the ones who gave 

them the land to settle. This is why all Obis of Issele Uku who are of Ezechime stock are 

installed by the Onishe of Issele Uku who is of Nri stock. 

Though Obomkpa is classified as an Ezechime town , they are actually connected 

to them via marriage. A daughter of Ezechime whose name I am not sure of married a 

native doctor from Nri and when he wanted to take her to his country after their marriage 

and his initial settlement in Obior, the wife was already heavy with pregnancy and could 

go no further. As a native doctor, he was said to have ritually secured the site with " Mkpa 

" leaves; hence the name Obomkpa and decided to make their his home. 

The Eka Clans 

he Eka clan is made up of eleven independent groups and a metropolis. All 

eleven Ika clans speak a common language, the Ika language, with a cluster 

T of dialects, which belongs to the Igboid group. Although earlier colonial 

documents written by F. Marshall in 1936, Whiting Stanfiel, and M. Simpson also in 1936 
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as well as Denton who compiled his own report in 1937 have referred to the present Eka 

people as Ika speaking people. 

As a matter of fact  the present Ika people have not always been the only group 

known  by  the  name,  Ika.    Forde  and  Jones  used  the  term  Ika  for  a  wider  community, 

which included the present  Ika group and also  to represent  the inland parts of  the four 

groups that make up the western Igbo group; Aniocha, Oshimili, Ika and Ukwuani. 

There  has  been  no  reliable  documentation  or  account  of  such  pattern  of  formation  of 

kingdoms in the Ika area. There is no word in Ika language for 'kingdom' 

There  is  no  centralized  system  of  authority,  decision  making,  or  social  control,  but 

potential exists to unite a large number of local groups for common defense or warfare… 

The internal organization is similar in principle to that of the lineage or clan. Just how the 

lineages are expressed and maintained varies from society to society. One system is for 

two or more clans to see themselves as related, even though each group generally will act 

autonomously  in  managing  its  affairs.  However,  the  sense  of  common  identity  can  be 

called into play for defense" 

All  eleven  Ika  clans  are  bound  together  by  shared  language,  custom,  culture  and  an 

unclear  but  strong  belief  in  their  oneness,  though  not  like  that  which  exists  within 

individual clans. 

Agbor 

In  1936,  Simpson  quoted  Talbot's  reference  to  the  Origin  of 

Agbor  documented  by  the  Dutch  historian  traveller  Nyendael 

that  describes  an  exodus  from  Benin  before  his  visit  in  1702. 

This exodus involved two families one of them "settled in Agbor 

while the other went to Obior." 

Obuseh in his own account of Agbor oral tradition claimed that 

the village of Agbor-nta was the original headquarters of the old 

Agbor  kingdom  several  centuries  before  Christ,  while  the  first 

king to be accounted for in Ika oral tradition was Dein  who reigned 1270 to 1307.  This is 
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ambiguous since the kings of Agbor are traditionally called Dein unless one assumes that 

the title must have started from the first king of Agbor. 

The headquarters of Agbor has been moved several times until the recent in 1935 to Ime-

obi. The reasons for the movement of the headquarters several times have been given as 

farming  convenience  and  wars  of  succession.  Since  the  old  Agbor  had  always  faced 

threats from the old Benin kingdom, it is also possible that the security of the headquarters 

from external invaders was an important consideration in the constant relocations of the 

headquarters. 

In emphasising the relationship between all the Ika clans, Obuseh recounts Agbor legend 

that states that all the founders of the Ika clans were related by blood. One of the kings of 

Agbor, Igbudu, fearing for his security sent his children, apart from Owuwu who was later 

crowned the Obi of Agbor after him, to settle distant from Agbor to form out posts against 

enemies. One of his children named Ika was sent south as protection against the Aboh 

people  and  founded  Otolokpo  clan,  another  son,  Ede,  was  sent  east  and  founded 

Umunede'. 

This, according to Agbor clan's legend, was how all the clans were founded. Agbor's oral 

tradition  claims  that  all  the  Ika  clans  were  part  of  the  Agbor  Kingdom. This  kingdom,  it 

claims,  was  ruled  over  by  the  Obi  of  Agbor  with  other  clans  as  vassal  states  ruled  by 

chiefs or perhaps kings that were subordinate to the Obi of Agbor. 

Chief Jacob Egharevba, in 1930, wrote that in 1624, there was a dispute amongst 

Agbor princes as to  who  will become the  Obi of Agbor and it  caused lots  of fighting , so 

Oba Ohuan had to settle the  dispute by  inviting both  princes and he told one to stay in 

benin , with  Ihama of Ihogbe and  the other was crowned Obi and made to go  back  to 

rule . 

According  to  Benin  dynastic  records  the   prince  from  Agbor  came  with   many 

servants  ,  wives  ,  slaves  and  property  and  when  he  later  died  in  Benin,  the   Ihama 

became very rich as he inherited all  his property. 

Alisimie  village  was  founded  by  a  great  hunter  from  Benin  called  Ene  while  his 

friend, Adagbe, who migrated with him founded the quarter of Alijemisi in Alisimie village. 
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People  that  fled  Uteh-Okpu  clan  and  sought  refuge  in  Agbor  clan  after  a  kingship 

succession dispute founded Aliokpu village. 

There  are  also  villages  that  were  founded  by  people  who  moved  far  way  from 

Agbor. For instance the village of Ekuku-Agbor that is located in the far south of Ika south 

local government surrounded by villages of the Abavo and Owa clans and those of the 

Ukwuani speakers, was founded by by Ose the Ologbosere of Agbor who was sent by the 

king  of  Agbor, Obi  Madu,  to  stop  the  incursion  of  the  Ukwuani  people  into  Agbor  land. 

Influential farmers founded the villages of Agbor-nta, Ewuru, Alihagwu and Alidinma while 

Ohumadia, the Elema (Agbor chief), who was sent to protect the southern border of Agbor 

land, founded the village of Oki. 

Abavo 

bavo  shares  borders  with  Agbor  clan  in  the  north, 

Owa  clan  in  the  east,  the  Edo  speaking  people  of 

A Uronigbe in the south. Abavo clan, also known as 

Awuu,  comprises  of  five  villages:  Ogbe-Obi  (Abavo  Central), 

Azuowa (made up of four quarters: Ekwueze, Ekwuoma, Okpe, 

Oyoko), Udomi, Igbogili, Obi-Ayima.   In the account gathered by 

Forde and Jones in 1967 on the founder of Abavo, it was said 

that Awu who had the title of Eze was himself from a place called 

Awu. 

Irenuma 11 Obi of Abavo 

This, perhaps, was stating the obvious that Awu was from Abavo. However, Abavo oral 

traditions  collected  by  Amokwu  and  Jegbefume  claim  their  founding  father,  Awu,  had 

migrated  directly  from  Benin  .  According  to  Abavo  oral  tradition,  their  founding  father, 

Awu, was originally from Benin. He escaped from Benin kingdom around the 15th or 16th 

century to avoid being sacrificed and later settled at Abavo. 
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Owa clan 

Geographically,  Owa  clan  shares  borders  with  Agbor  clan  in  the  west  by  the  Orogodo 

River and Abavo clan, in the north Orogodo (Agbor metropolis), in the east by Umunede, 

Otolokpo  and  Ute-Okpu  clans.  Owa  clan  is  made  up  of  the  seven  villages  and  a 

metropolis: Oyibu, Alizomor, Owa Alidinma, Ufie, Aliro, Owanta, Owa-Eke, Boji-Boji Owa 

which is a metropolitian capital of Owa kingdom. 

Forde and Jones 1967 as well as Isichei 1983 wrote Owa 

has  its  origin  in  Nri,  Northern  Igbo.  The  founder  of  Oyibu 

village also know as Owa Oyibu was Odogu son of Ijie of 

Ute-Okpu; another Ika clan who is from Nri while "the other 

villages found in Owa clan are derived from Benin or other 

Agbor groups" . Oyibu village is the political centre of the 

Owa clan. 

Efezomon 11 Obi of Owa 

According to Whiting writing in 1936, Owa oral tradition has it that Odogu angrily left Ute-

Okpu  and  settled  near  the  present  site  of  Oyibu  village  because  his  brother,  Okpu, 

inherited  everything  after  his  fathers  death,  while  Odogu  was  away  serving  the  Oba  of 

Benin in wars. However Ufie, the founder of Ufie village presently in the Owa clan, had 

already settled in the present site of Ufie village on the directive of the Oba of Benin who 

had bestowed on him the Obi title. After Odogu settled in Oyibu, it was claimed that Ufie 

invited  Odogu  to  his  Ikenga  festival.  Odogu,  impressed  by  the  festival,  decided  to 

celebrate  it  himself  at  Oyibu.  He  then  invited  Ufie.  According  to  the  legend,  Odogu 

deceived Ufie into taking a subservient role during a ritual sacrifice thereby serving him. 

This action was observed by Odogu's subjects then proclaimed Odogu as greater than 

Ufie. Odogu then took the Obi title from Ufie. This, it is claimed, accounts for why Ufie is 

today a village in the Owa clan. Ozomo, Odogu's brother who followed him from Ute-Okpu 

founded Alizomo village while Omi and his wife Iro who came from Benin founded Aliro 
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village. Okue who came from Benin founded Owanta village. Later, Adie later arrived from 

Ute-Okpu to found Idumu Adie, a quarter in Owanta (Whiting 1936). 

According to oral tradition, Ekei and his wife Abor who migrated from Benin when Ise was 

the Obi of Owa founded Owa-Eke village (Whiting's 1936). However the village of Owa-

Eke initially moved away from Owa due to problems with Ise the Obi of Owa and settled at 

Owanike in the Benin Kingdom but the Owanike village later split and one part returned to 

Owa-Ekei  in  Owa  still  considering  themselves  as  subjects  of  the  Oba  of  Benin  while 

serving the Obi of Owa. Ugbebo who was sent there by Obi Gbenoba of Owa to protect 

Owa  traders  buying  guns  and  gunpowder  from  the  Kwales  founded  Alidinma  village 

(Whiting 1936). 

Concerning  Boji-Boji,  Whiting  (1936)  stated  that  "when  the  troops  that  came  to  Agbor 

station in 1906 the usual camp followers settled on the other bank of the Orogodo River 

where  the  settlement  is  known  by  the  delightful  name  BOJI-BOJI.  Nearly  every  tribe  in 

Nigeria is represented and the only educated and progressive element in Owa is found 

here. They were originally allotted their land by the District Commissioner and later came 

under the control of the Obi of Agbor. In 1926 there was a dispute as a result of which the 

portion south of the main Agbor-Asaba road came under the Owa and is recognised as 

being part of the Owa village lands of Owanta and Owekei" (1936: 7). 

Ute-Okpu Clan 

Ute  Okpu  shares  common  borders  with  Agbor  and  Otolokpo  clans  in  the  north,  Ekuku 

Agbor in the south, Idumuesa and Owa clans in the west and Ute-Ogbeje clan in the east. 

Ute-Okpu is made up of eight villages (Marshall 1936):, Ibi-Agware, Owele, Ogbe, Idumu 

Eze Aje, Odah, Alihe, Alumu, Enugu. 

Ute-Okpu people claim two sources of origin: Benin and the Igbo side of the Niger. In his 

account of the origin of the Ute-Okpu clan, Marshall (1936) stated that the original founder 

of Ute-Okpu was called Ute who migrated from Nri near the present Onitsha in Anambra 

State,  Eastern  Nigeria,  after  a  quarrel  with  the  Eze  of  Nshi  (Nri).  He  settled  near  the 
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present  location of  the  village  of  Ibi-Agware. He had two sons Okpu  and Odogu,  Okpu 

later became the Obi of Ute-Okpu while Odogu later founded Oyibu village in Owa . 

The dual claim in the origin of Owa clan appears to indicate the presence of an original 

Igbo  group  before  there  was  contact  with  other  groups  of  Benin  origin.  Isichei 

hypothesised that the present Ika region may have been inhabited by a group of people of 

Igbo origin. 

Isichei also hypothesised that there was a possibility that they existed in the location of 

Owa  clan  before  Odogu  became  their  leader  their  leader.  It  is  not  unusual  for  most 

Nigerian clans to trace the origin of their clan to their king's origin. The first King is always 

considered the founding father of the clan even if some of these kings emerged or were 

imposed on them long after the founding of the clan. For instance the history of Benin is 

always  traced  to  the  first  Oba  of  Benin,  Oranmiyan,  who  himself  was  from  the  Yoruba 

town of Ife. This, however, does not mean that the people of Benin are certainly from Ife 

themselves. Likewise, the Ika clans think of their history in 'dynastic terms'. 

Ute-Ogbeje Clan 

. Marshall wrote in 1936 that Ute-Ogbeje is made up of four villages Ogbe Obi, 

Ogbe Akpu, Emike, and Akpama. 

F The origin of Ute-Ogbeje, like those of many other Ika clans, is surrounded in 

myth. According to Marshall, the Ute-Ogbeje people claim that Ogbeje was the brother of 

the Oba of Benin and came with him to discover a place to live. The two brothers travelled 

by canoe. As they were paddling along a bird called Ukpoko dropped a snail into Ogbeje's 

canoe. Ogbeje threw the snail overboard and land immediately surrounded him. Ogbeje 

decided to settle on this new land while the Oba moved on. Ogbeje then had a son, Inai, 

who succeeded him. Inai was extremely cruel and many of his subjects fled and formed a 

new settlement called Ute-Okpu. 

This  account,  however,  seemed  to  contradict  that  of  Ute-Okpu.  Marshall  writes  further:  

"There appears to be no doubt that there was some connection between Ute-Ogbeje and 
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Ute-Okpu, but it is not impossible that the two branches of the Ute clan got separated in 

their easterly migration and came back at different times" . 

Idumuesah clan 

Idumuesah shares boundary with Ute-Okpu clan in the east, in west and south west by 

Abavo clan and Owa clan in the north. Idumuesah was founded by a group of people that 

migrated from Ugboha in Ishan, north of Ika community (Forde and Jones 1967; Whiting 

1936).  Whiting  (1936:  22)  states  that  "It  is  uncertain  whether  they  came  to  their  first 

settlement in what is known as the Agbo bush between Oyibu and Aliro before or after 

Odogu". He stated that Ibile, one of the founders, is said to have come from Ugboha in 

Ishan Division and to have joined with Abu from Aboh in Kwale District in settling in the 

Agbo  bush.  Oje  and  Ilor  came  from  Uromi  in  Ishan  Division  and  joined  them  (Whiting 

1936). Idumuesah consists of four villages, which may once have been quarters (Idumu):  

Iliobome, Aliobo, Alioje, Alilor It should be known that the name Idumuesa means seven 

quarters (Idumus) but the above list of current villages shows only four villages. 

It is claimed that, "the other three which were said to have been very small, have returned 

to  their  home  towns  in  other  districts"  Whiting  in  1936  stated  in  his  report  that  Owa 

claimed that Idumuesah served the Obi of Owa (Obi Ise) and revolted later but Idumuesah 

denied this. But the people of Idumuesah, for some controversial reasons, left their first 

settlement for their present site, which is south east of Oyibu but, according to Whiting, 

"they are unable to say why they left their old settlement". 

N.E Whitings' hypothesis is that "Owa, after overcoming Ufie by trickery, became full of 

their  importance  and  tried  to  claim  over-lordship  over  Idumuesah  who  refused  and  left 

their  settlement.  Whatever  their  particular  reason  for  leaving  the  main  reason  was  to 

escape from Owa and it is unlikely that they would settle on any other land claimed by 

Owa”. 

In the early part of the 20th century, according to Whiting, "one Aholor was sent by the Obi 

of Owa with some Oyibu people to settle there and to be Obi of Idumuesah. He caused 

considerable  trouble,  committing  arson  and  was  eventually  fined  and  ordered  to  leave 
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Idumuesah. The Oyibu people were ordered to return to Oyibu and troops went to effect 

this evacuation. Aholor returned and was chased and eventually captured at Nsukwa. On 

his way to Agbor under escort he fell in a well near Igbodo and was drowned. His son 

Obakpolor  tried  to  raise  a  claim  to  the  Obi  title  but  was  ordered  not  to  return  to 

Idumuesah. 

During  the  colonial  period,  1906,  Idumuesah  was  placed  under  Owa  clan  but  became 

independent  in  1907.  However,  Whiting  recounts  that  the  British  resident,  in  1915 

recorded  that  no  Obi  in  Idumuesah  could  be  recognised.  The  polittical  authority  in 

Idumuesah is vest in age. The “Onyeichen” the oldest man) of Aliobome village is always 

the clan head. 

Whiting  cited  the  record  of  the  resident  that  in1919  and  1920  the  elders  of  Idumuesah 

were informed that they were subordinate to Owa clan and that they raised no Objection". 

The reasons for these decisions were not given. It is most likely the subordination referred 

may  have  had  to  do  with  their  role  or  representation  in  the  district  court,  then  in  Owa, 

where  clans  in  the  area  were  represented  during  the  colonial  period.  Idumuesah  has 

remained  an  independent  clan  like  the  other  ten  Ika  clans  even  though  it  has  no 

monarchical system found in the other Ika clans. 

Mbiri clan 

Mbiri clan lies in the north east of Agbor clan and off the Lagos-Benin-Onitsha highway. 

Mbiri's  oral  tradition  claims  that  Arun  who  migrated  from  Iwaisi,  or  the  native  doctor's 

quarter in Benin founded Mbiri. Arun, a hunter, reached the present site of Mbiri on one of 

his hunting expeditions and settled down there. Mbiri's oral tradition also claims that Arun 

had  four  sons  three  of  whom  were  responsible  for  the  founding  of  the  following  towns: 

Ewuhimi, Mbiri and Igbanke. The fourth son is claimed to have returned to Benin. 

Mbiri adopted the monarchical system, based on Benin tradition, found in most Ika clans. 

According to the 1932Intelligence report , "1n 1915 the Mbiris attempted to put themselves 

directly under the Oba of Benin, and sent a large sum of money to the Oba to gain this 

end. It is obvious that it was at this time that the present Chief went to Benin and received 
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the title of Obi from the Oba, along with the Ada, or ceremonial sword, which forms part of 

the regalia of this title. They were again visited by the district District Commissioner who 

told them that they were part of Agbor District and could not therefore come under Benin". 

The Mbiri clan has the same political system as other Ika clans. 

Umunede clan 

Umunede  occupies  a  strategic  location  along  the  Lagos-Benin-Onitsha  highway. 

Umunede shares its borders with Agbor clan in the east, Igbodo in the north, Akumazi in 

the  east,  Otolokpo  and  Owa  clans  in  the  south.  There  are  four  villages  (ogbe)  in 

Umunede: Ogbe, Obi, Idumuilege, Idumugba, and Idumuile. Although there of the villages 

above  still  retain  the  idumu  (quarter)  prefix  in  their  names  they  are  villages.  These  are 

perhaps some examples of quarters expanding in size and then forming villages. 

Umunede's oral tradition, like those of most of the Ika clans, traces their origin to Benin. 

However, Stanfield in 1936 stated his observations of the Umunede people:  

From legend of their origin are of Benin descent, but in their language and social structure 

they  resemble  closely  the  Ibos  of  the  Ogwashi  and  Ubur’ukwu  clans  in  the  old  Asaba 

Division. 

According  to  Stanfield  "there  were  no  titles  in  Umunede  until  1919  when  the  then  Eze 

named Niago obtained the “Ada” from Eweka 11, Oba of Benin whose mother hailed from 

Umunede. This resulted in the first Obi title and the start of the monarchical system like 

those found in some of the Ika clans. 

Otolokpo 

tolokpo shares borders with Umunede and Akumazi clans in the north, Ute-

Ogbeje clan in the east, Ute-Okpu in the south and Owa and Umunede in 

O the west. There are seven villages in Otolokpo Ogbe-Obi, Idumu–Oji, 

Achala, Idumu-Okete, Idumu-Obome, Umuhu and Alugba 

According to Stanfield Gbobo, from Benin founded all villages apart from Umuhu, formed 

by migrants from Agbor, and Alugba village formed by migrants from Ute-Ogbeje. 
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Akumazi and Igbodo clans 

kumazi clan shares borders with Umunede in the west,  Igbodo in the north, 

Otolokpo  in  the  South  and  the  Anoicha  speaking  town  of  Obior  in  the  east 

A while Igbodo occupies an area in the north east of the present Ika North local 

government area. It share border with Akumazi in the south, Mbiri in the west, the Ishan 

groups in the North and the Anoicha groups in the east. 

According to Fordes and Jones who wrote in 1967ike many of the Ika clans, the 

people of Akumazia trace their origin to Benin. 

In the final analysis, while Owa and Ute-Okpu, Ute-Ogbeje have their origin in both 

Nri  in  Igboland  and  Benin  Kingdom,  Agbor,  Abavo  Ute-Ogbeje,  Akumazi,  Umunede, 

Igbodo and Mbiri trace their clans to a single source, Benin. Idumuesah traces its origin to 

Esan  land  but  there  also  are  villages  that  may  have  been  established  by  people  of 

Ukwu’ani  origin.  While  Otolokpo  traces  its  origin  to  Benin  there  are  also  villages  in 

Otolokpo that trace their origin to Agbor. 

The relationship among all the Ika clans appear to be mainly in their being former subjects 

of the Oba of Benin, their Benin origin as well as a population shift, for various reasons, 

which resulted in movement or relocation of villages from one clan to another forming new 

allegiances as well retaining their former relationship with their origin. 

Oguta  

Oguta is a city on the east bank of Oguta Lake in southeast Nigeria. Oguta was one of the first territories used by the British to advance into the Igbo hinterland. As of 2007 Oguta's 

population was estimated at 22,298. 

It is divided into two townships separated by its popular lake: Oguta 1 and Oguta 2.. 

Neighbouring towns include Izombe (an oil and gas settlement), Akri, Nkwesi, Nnebukwu, 

Orsu-Obodo, Egwe, and Egbuoma, border town with Anambra State.  
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The  Oguta  kingdom  was  established  in  like  manners  to  the  Benin  Kingdom  of  Nigeria. 

Many  people  in  Oguta  believe  that  the  Oguta  people  migrated  from  the  ancient  Benin 

Kingdom. They  argue  that  the  administrative  set  up,  titles  and  common  names  have 

similarities to those of Bini people. Although the people of Oguta do not call their king Oba 

as the Bini do, both kingdoms have some striking parallels. The Binis have Iyase, in Oguta 

it  is  called  Iyasara, there  is  Ogine  among  the  Bini  and  Ogana  in  Oguta. Palm  oil  and plantain  are  called  ofigbo  and  ipa  in  both  Edo  language  and  Oguta  dialect  to  this  day. 

Although the Oguta people speak a dialect of the Igbo language, some of their words are 

unmistakably of Bini origin. 

The traditional ruler of Oguta, actually Ugwunta meaning, Little Hill is the Eze-igwe. He 

governs through a council of ministers called Oririnzere, chief of which is the Ogana or the 

Speaker. 











Lagos  

Lagos was  originally inhabited by the  Awori subgroup  of  the  Yoruba people. Under the leadership of their Olofin, the Awori moved to an island now called Iddo and then to the 

larger Lagos Island. In the 15th century, the Awori settlement was at acked by the Benin 

Empire following a quarrel, and the island became a Benin war-camp called "Eko" under 

Oba Orhogba, the Oba of Benin at the time. 

Lagos was a war camp for members of the Benin Empire, who referred to it as  Eko. The 

Yoruba still use the name Eko to refer to Lagos.  Lagos, which means "lakes", was a name 

given  to  the  settlement  by  the  Portuguese. The  present  day  Lagos  state  has  a  high 

percentage  of  Awori,  who  migrated  to  the  area  from  Isheri  along  the  Ogun  river. 
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Throughout history, it was home to a number of warring ethnic groups who had settled in 

the area. During its early settlement, it also saw periods of rule by the Benin Kingdom. 

Ekenika  played  a  prominent  role  in  Oba  Orhogbuaś  military  campaigns  that 

brought the Lagoon lands all the way to the Atlantic Ocean where it is known as the Bight 

of Benin, under the control of Benin. He was a commander in Orhogbuaś maritime army, 

and  the  first  person  to  step  on  the  uninhabited  Island  of  Lagos.  He  beat  back  Aworisćounter  attacks  from  the  mainland.  The  Aworis  had  noticed  some  discarded  ebieba leaves, (used in wrapping food by the Benin soldiers), floating on the water. They were 

tropical  forest  leaves  strange  to  the  brackish  mangrove  swamplands  of  the  lagoon  so, 

they  knew  they  had  strangers  in  their  midst  and  attacked  from  the  direction  the  leaves 

were coming. 

Ekenika was rewarded with the title of Ezomo of Benin. Ekenika was 

set up at Uzebu quarters in Benin City by Oba Orhogbua, to closely 

monitor Beninś most important route, territories and population, and 

to  provide  regular  backing  for  the  Lagos  camp.    Both  Lagos  and 

Uzebu habitations, therefore, came on stream at the same time. 

Uzebu was at the western outskirt of Benin, straddling the cityś gateway to the sea 

through Ughoton, the lagoon territories and people, under the control of Benin from that 

area, and opened Edo to Europe and the world.  The Uzebu quarters served as training 

ground and store of weapons for the soldiers of the lagoon campaigns. The Portuguese 

would have lent a hand, particularly in the training and use of fire arms and cannons. 

Portuguese  explorer  Rui  de  Sequeira  visited  the  area  in  1472,  naming  the  area 

around  the  city   Lago  de  Curamo;  indeed  the  present  name  is  Portuguese  for  "lakes". 

Another  explanation  is  that  Lagos  was  named  for  Lagos,  Portugal  -  a  maritime  town 

which, at the time, was the main centre of Portuguese expeditions down the African coast, 

and whose own name is derived from the Latin word  Lacobriga. 
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In 1603, Andreas Joshua Ulsheimer, a German surgeon, aboard a Dutch merchant 

ship,  visited  Lagos.  He  later  described  it  as  a  large  frontier  town  surrounded  by  strong 

fence and inhabitant by "none but soldiers and four military commanders, who behave in a 

very stately manner." The Lagos visited by Ulsheimer and his trading colleagues nearly 

four centuries ago was in many ways highly developed. Each day its four commanders 

came together as  a court and each day two  envoys were  dispatched to take decisions 

back to their ruler in Benin. Ulsheimer wrote that to do so, was a common practice in all 

towns  under  the  suzerainty  of  Benin.  Ulsheimer's  brief,  but  revealing;  description  is 

remarkable in many ways. 

It confirms  Benin oral traditions of  conquest and occupation of  Lagos during the 

sixteenth century. Egharevba has described how Oba Orhogbua of Benin (c. 1550-1578) 

occupied  the  island  of  Lagos,  established  a  military  camp  there  from  that  base  waged 

wars upon some of the people, described as rebels against his authority, in the immediate 

interior. Orhogbua, Benin traditions say left Lagos when he learnt of a coup against him at 

home. But he left behind in  Lagos, a military camp under three  generals,.  His son and 

successor, Ehengbuda (c. 1578-1606) on his journey to Lagos, is said to have drowned in 

River  Aghan,  roughly  mid-way  between  Benin  and  Lagos,  when  his  boat  capsized. 

Ulsheimer’s  description  reveals  the  situation  in  Lagos  towards  the  end  of  Oba 

Ehengbuda’s reign. 

Ulsheimer also gives us the first account, documenting the transformation of Lagos 

from  fishing  camp  to  a  trading  centre,  and  from  an  autonomous  settlement  to  a  Benin 

tributary. Lagos Lagoon was known to European traders by 1485, when it first appeared 

on maps, but the town of Lagos was not included. Nor was it mentioned by Portuguese 

and later Dutch merchants who were trading in the area with the Ijebu in cloth, slaves and 

ivory by1519. 

Oral evidence indicates that the Portuguese were sufficiently interested in the trade 

in  this  area  to  have  established  themselves  in  the  Ijada  quarter  of  Ijebu-Ode.  But  their 

written documents as those of other foreign traders are silent concerning a town of Lagos 

for most of the sixteenth century. 
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Nonetheless, Benin extended its military and trading pressure along a corridor from 

Benin City as far as West Allada by 1530 and it is possible that step  by step it opened 

staging,  provisioning,  and  rest  camps  along  the  route.  Benin's  armed  forces  were 

surprising large. 

A  Dutch  source  of  the  seventeenth  century  indicates  the  King  of  Benin  could 

mobilize  from  20,000  to  10,000  men  and  move  contingents  of  them  through  the 

waterways between Benin and Allada in war canoes built to hold from 50 to 100 armed 

soldiers each. It is quite likely that Benin  recruited, by choice and by force, troops as it 

moved,  for  its  armies  were  too  large  to  have  moved  as  a  single  body,  in  a  single 

campaign,  from  one  source.  Lagos  was  probably  one  of  many  recruitment  zones  and 

camps. 

Oba Akitoye was the 11th Oba of Lagos. He was a grandson of former Oba Ologun 

Kutere. He ruled from 1841 to 1845, when he was deposed by his nephew Kosoko, and 

was reinstated with the help of British troops to rule from 1851 to his death in 1853.  He is 

known  for  having  tried  to  ban  slave  trading.  He  experienced  opposition  from  Madam 

Tinubu,  a  then-slave  trader  and  adversary  to  British  involvement  in  Lagos,  and  was 

overthrown by his nephew in 1845. He then met British troops, whose country had banned 

slave trading in 1807, and conspired to regain his seat in return for the suppression of the 

slave trade among the Yoruba people of Lagos. He overthrew his nephew in 1851, signed 

a treaty with the British to end the slave trade in Lagos, and ruled for two more years. He 

was succeeded by Oba Dosunmu. 

Lagos  was  formally  annexed  as  the  British  Lagos  Colony  in  1861.  This  had  the 

dual effect of crushing the slave trade and establishing British control over palm and other 

trades. The remainder of modern-day Nigeria was seized in 1887, and when the Colony 

and  Protectorate  of  Nigeria  was  established  in  1914,  Lagos  was  declared  its  capital, 

continuing  as  such  after  the  country's  independence  from  Britain  in  1960.  Along  with 

migrants from all over Nigeria and other West African nations were the returnee ex-slaves 

known as Creoles, who came from Freetown, Sierra Leone, Brazil and the West Indies to 384 



Lagos.  The  Creoles  contributed  to  Lagos'  modernisation  and  their  knowledge  of 

Portuguese architecture can still be seen from the architecture on Lagos Island. 

Lagos experienced rapid growth throughout the 1960s and 1970s as a result of 

Nigeria's economic boom prior to the Nigerian Civil War. Lagos was the capital of Nigeria 

from  1914  up  to  1991.[11]  The  city  was  stripped  of  its  status  when  the  Federal  Capital 

Territory was established at the purpose-built city of Abuja. On November 14, 1991, the Presidency  and  other  federal  government  functions  were  finally  relocated  to  the  new 

capital city of Abuja.  



Idoani Confederacy 

he Idoani Confederacy is a traditional state based in the town of Idoani in the 

Ose Local Government Area of Ondo State, Nigeria. The origins of the state 

T date back at least to 15th century, when the Oba Ozolua "the Conqueror" (c. 

1481–1504)  fathered  the  Alani  of  Idoani,  which  he  made  a  vassal  state  of  the  Benin 

Empire. 

The  present  confederacy,  which  dates  to  1880,  includes  six  eastern  Yoruba 

communes:  Ido,  Amusigbo,  Isure,  Iyayu,  Isewa  and  Ako.  Some  of  these  had  two 

concurrent rulers in the past. The communities that formed the confederacy had suffered 

during  the  19th  century  wars,  with  many  people  migrating  to  other  areas.  During  the 

struggle with the combined forces of Ijesha and Ekiti in 1879 they were forced to ask for 

help from Ibadan, and formed the confederacy the next year. 

British missionaries introduced Christianity in the late 19th century, along with new 

farming methods, and Idoani became part of the Lagos colony, later the protectorate of 

Nigeria. The communities were merged in 1921. The first confederate traditional ruler was 

appointed after the death of Alani Adesunloye Atewogboye on 3 January 1921. Falade I 

ruled  as  Alani  from  1921  to  1958,  and  was  succeeded  by  Akingboye  Falade  II  on  his 

death. 
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Idoani  is  a  quiet  small  town  in  Ondo  State  of  Nigeria  where  the  Federal 

Government  College,  Idoani,  is  located.  It  is  the  seat  of  the  Idoani  Confederacy,  a 

Nigerian traditional state. 

Idoani  is  under  the  Ose  local  government.  The  people  of  Idoani  whose  major 

occupation used to be farming, are peace loving. The people speak about three different 

languages, some of these languages are different from the major Yoruba language of the 

south-western  Nigeria.  Quite  a  number  of  people  still  ride  bicycles  to  farm  which  is  a 

growing  culture  in  the  western  world  today.  Idoani  comprises  six  major  quarters  of 

Owani,Amusigbo, Iyayu and three others. Amusigbo and Iyayu are not separated with any 

walls  or  boundaries.  The  difference  between  the  six  quarters  is  noticeable  in  the 

difference  between  Iyayu  language  and  that  of  other  five  quarters.  Iyayu  language  has 

been described as non-Yoruba, while others' have all Yoruba linguistic affinity. As a matter 

of  historical  fact,  the  Iyayus,  Amusigbos,  Owanis  and  the  rest  have  different  historical 

background. 



Ilajes  

he  Ilajes  are  a  distinguished,  distinct  linguistic  group  of  the  Yoruba  stalk 

made up of four geo-political entities namely Ugbo, Mahin, Etikan and Aheri. 

T  They were said to have left Ile Ife their original ancestral 

home/settlement in the 10th century.  They mainly occupy the Atlantic coastline of Ondo 

State of Nigeria while a large population of them settles on land in the hinterland.  The 

area they occupy today remains the Ondo State of Nigeria only outlet to the sea. 

ILAJELAND is bounded by the Ijebus to the West, the Ikale to the North, the Itsekiri to the 

East.  The APOI and Arogbo Ijaw to the North East, while the Atlantic ocean formed the 

southern boundary.  No doubt, the Ilajes are one of the most dynamic and enterprising 

people  in  Nigeria.    Their  aquatic  skill,  coupled  with  their  high  adaptation  ability  enable 

them  to  conquer  their  hash  geographical  environment  and  turn  it  to  a  big  advantage. 

Consequently,  they  were  able  to  build  large  communities  like  Ugbonla,  Aiyetoro,  Zion 

PePe and Orioke. 
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Sao Tome Edos  

ccording  to  Ferraz  The  language  that  feature  most  prominently  in  the  Sao 

Tomense  Portuguese  based  creole  are  Bini,  better  known  as  Edo  ....and 

A Kongo. 

Ferraz evidence shows that people from the Niger Delta and we can interprete his 

Edo in a broader sense to include other Edoid and related languages and dialects such as 

Edo(Bini),  Isoko,  Urhobo  (all  Edoid)  Isekiri  ended  up  speaking  a  kind  of  pidgin 

Portuguese. Proof of this is supplied by the impressive list of words of Edoid (especially 

Edo or Bini origin in Sao Tomense as reported by Ferraz (1978). Sao Tome and Principe 

is an island on the Gulf of Benin and situated near modern day Gabon. 



The Epie and Atissa 

he Epie and Atissa are two small tribes that live along Epie Creek, northeast 

of Yenagoa, Bayelsa State, Nigeria. Together, they are commonly known at T the Epie-Atissa. This people were established by migrants both from Ijaw 

tribes to the south and from the Engenni to the north. The Engenni people are considered to be an offshoot of the Edo people. As a result, the Epie-Atissa shares cultural aspects of 

both the Ijaw and the Engenni.  

Epie-Atissa settlements include: Onopa, Igbogene, Kpansia, Ogu, Edepie, Yenaka, 

Opolo, Swali, Ikolo, Ekenfa, Yenagoa, and Biogbolo.  They speak the Epie language.  

The Epie and Atissa remain two separate tribes. The Epie have villages that run 

from Igbogene to Amarata namely Igbogene, Yenegwe, Akenfa, Agudama Epie, Akenpai, 

Edepie,  Okutukutu,  Opolo,  Biogbolo,  Yenizue  Gene,  Kpansia,  Yenizue  Epie,  Okaka, 

Ekeki, Azikoro and Amarata. The Atissa have villages that run from Onopa to Ikolo to Ogu 

to Agbura namely Onopa, Ovom, Yenagoa, Bebelibiri, Yenaka, Ikolo, Famgbe, Obogoro, 

Akaba, Ogu, Swali, and Agbura. 
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The  Epie  language  is  recorded  somtime  in  the  1970s  to  have  about  12000 

speakers spread across igbogene to amarata, but within the last 30years the numbers of 

living speakers have greatlly reduced. Though there is no current record of the present 

numbers of speakers.The Epie language is not spared from the global epidemic that has 

befall most of the worlds little languages.The forces that have contributed greatlly to the 

decline  in  the  numbers  of  speakers  are  not  new  .Urbanisation  and  westernisation  are 

factors  though,but  another  major  problem  that  has  contributed  to  the  decline  is  the 

absence  of  certain  cultural  norms  that  one  usually 

find  in  other  Nigerian  ethnic  group.for  example  the 

traditional chiefs and elders of council are very young 

men  and  women  ,some  of  them  in  thier  20s.these 

young  people  have  lost  touch  of  the  basic  cultural 

heritage  and  hence  not  capable  of  transfering  it  to 

the younger generations 



Ovie  of Uviwe 
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Egedege N’okaro  

Prior to the British Punitive Expedition, all homes were mud houses.  Egedege N’Okao is 

the  oldest  surviving  two-storey  mud  and  brick  structure  in  Benin  kingdom.  Today  the 

cultural edifice is a blend of architectural styles dating from its original 1906 construction 

and additions the most recent times. It is a Local Historic Landmark and is included in the 

places visited by newly invested chiefs. 

When constructed in circa 1906, Egedege N’Okao was highly atypical for Benin City. The 

soils of the Ikpoba river valley provided plenty of clay deposits suitable for brick making. In 

fact,  the  bricks  that  were  manufactured  locally  at  Ikpoba  River  were  also  used  in  the 

construction of the Urhokpota Hall which incidentally is also a hundred years old this year 

2006 However, to build these large structures with burnt brick took many laborers to make 

bricks and skilled bricklayers to construct the building. 

   In  1906,  it  took  a  man  of  great  wealth  to  build  a  brick  mansion  such  as  the 

Egedege N’Okao. The brick walls are 12 to 20 inches thick. The original items that 

dominated  the  house's  interior  and  exterior  remain  in  the  wooden  ceiling  and 

treated  wooden  beams  imported  from  England  by  Resident  Creawe  Read.  The 

delicacy of the front porch that is supported by six heavy columns.  The exterior of 

the  building  at  one  time  displayed  Brazillian  influence.  Although  some  of  the 
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dwelling's  original  interior  woodwork  was  replaced  during  a  remodeling  in  1950s 

and 1960s. The window frames, and doorframes are original, dating from the 1906. 

The verandah is spacious and the house is well ventilated. 

  Family tradition indicates that the plans for the home were brought from England. 

Since pattern books of house plans were common at that time and were often sent 

over from England, this is quite likely. The floor plan is typical of Edwardian style. 

Oral family tradition also indicates that the brick mould was made in England. 

  The Builder 

  Resident Creawe Read supervisor while Iyamu Osawe. Iyamu the Inneh , the son 

of Osawe was born in Benin City and inherited the ancient bungalow from where 

he built the Egedege N’Okao. 

  Local  historian  stated  that  Iyamu  who  became  the  Inneh  of  Oba  Eweka’s  reign, 

dominated the lucrative trade with the Europeans for years before the First World 

War.  There are indications that the workmen were skilled as bricklayers and used 

the red earth “Ulakpa” in the place of mortar. It is probable that Iyamu's slaves or 

servants assisted with the construction of  the house and the manufacture of  the 

brick,  but  it  is  obvious  that  the  Egedege  Nokaro  is  the  result  of  very  skilled 

laborers. 

This fact that this type of construction required high levels of skill is 

supported by the high level preservation.  The house is the statement of a noble 

man who knew and could afford the best workers in the construction of brick walls, 

brick partition walls 18 inches thick, and fine steps. 

   

   

   

   

   
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   

   

   



Egedege N’okaro  



  Prior  to  the  British  Punitive  Expedition,  all  homes  were  mud  houses.    Egedege 

N’Okao  is  the  oldest  surviving  two-storey  mud  and  brick  structure  in  Benin 

kingdom. Today the cultural edifice is a blend of architectural styles dating from its 

original 1906 construction and additions the most recent times. It is a Local Historic 

Landmark and is included in the places visited by newly invested chiefs. 

  When  constructed  in  circa  1906,  Egedege  N’Okao  was  highly  atypical  for  Benin 

City. The soils of the Ikpoba river valley provided plenty of clay deposits suitable for 

brick  making.  In  fact,  the  bricks  that  were  manufactured  locally  at  Ikpoba  River 

were also used in the construction of the Urhokpota Hall which incidentally is also a 

hundred  years  old  this  year  2006  However,  to  build  these  large  structures  with 

burnt brick took many laborers to make bricks and skilled bricklayers to construct 

the building. 

   In  1906,  it  took  a  man  of  great  wealth  to  build  a  brick  mansion  such  as  the 

Egedege N’Okao. The brick walls are 12 to 20 inches thick. The original items that 

dominated  the  house's  interior  and  exterior  remain  in  the  wooden  ceiling  and 

treated  wooden  beams  imported  from  England  by  Resident  Creawe  Read.  The 

delicacy of the front porch that is supported by six heavy columns.  The exterior of 

the  building  at  one  time  displayed  Brazillian  influence.  Although  some  of  the 

dwelling's  original  interior  woodwork  was  replaced  during  a  remodeling  in  1950s 

and 1960s. The window frames, and doorframes are original, dating from the 1906. 

The verandah is spacious and the house is well ventilated. 
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  Family tradition indicates that the plans for the home were brought from England. 

Since pattern books of house plans were common at that time and were often sent 

over from England, this is quite likely. The floor plan is typical of Edwardian style. 

Oral family tradition also indicates that the brick mould was made in England. 

  The Builder 

  Resident Creawe Read supervisor while Iyamu Osawe. Iyamu the Inneh , the son 

of Osawe was born in Benin City and inherited the ancient bungalow from where 

he built the Egedege N’Okao. 

  Local  historian  stated  that  Iyamu  who  became  the  Inneh  of  Oba  Eweka’s  reign, 

dominated the lucrative trade with the Europeans for years before the First World 

War.  There are indications that the workmen were skilled as bricklayers and used 

the red earth “Ulakpa” in the place of mortar. It is probable that Iyamu's slaves or 

servants assisted with the construction of  the house and  the manufacture of  the 

brick,  but  it  is  obvious  that  the  Egedege  Nokaro  is  the  result  of  very  skilled 

laborers. 

This fact that this type of construction required high levels of skill is 

supported by the high level preservation.  The house is the statement of a noble 

man who knew and could afford the best workers in the construction of brick walls, 

brick partition walls 18 inches thick, and fine steps. 
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